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[bookmark: _Ref140607608][bookmark: _Toc185412131][bookmark: _Toc190707073][bookmark: _Toc190707082][bookmark: _Toc190707132]A. Introduction
IMPORTANT NOTICE
Confidentiality and publicity
[bookmark: _9kR3WTr266457I4gkrsiuzz]This document, the information herein and any attachments (including any email that accompanies it), any oral briefing in connection with it, any question-and-answer session that may follow that briefing and any further additional materials distributed in connection with it (either through the Jaggaer portal or otherwise) is strictly confidential and has been prepared by GBN, and is being provided to those parties which are interested in submitting a PSQ for the Project and their advisers (each a relevant person).  Such information may not be divulged to any other person or entity or disclosed, disseminated or reproduced in any form or further distributed, directly or indirectly, or published in whole or in part, for any purpose, except as required for the purposes of evaluating the transaction to officers, directors, employees and agents of a relevant person, which shall be informed of the confidential status of such information and be bound by the same confidentiality requirement and as required by applicable law or regulation, as requested by regulatory authorities, or with the written consent of GBN or its affiliated entities or its affiliates' respective shareholders, subsidiaries, directors, advisers, representatives, agents, or employees (Affiliates). Any failure to comply with this restriction may constitute a violation of any applicable laws or regulations. Any person shall treat and safeguard, as strictly private and confidential, the contents of this PSQ and take all reasonable steps to preserve such confidentiality.
This PSQ is directed only at relevant persons. This PSQ must not be acted on, nor relied upon, by persons who are not relevant persons. If a recipient of this PSQ is in doubt as to the matters contained in this PSQ, including whether such recipient falls within the definition of relevant person, an authorised person specialising in advising on transactions of the kind contained in this PSQ should be consulted. Solicitations resulting from this PSQ will be responded to only if the person concerned is a relevant person. Any person who is not a relevant person who has received this PSQ must return it to GBN immediately.
[bookmark: _9kMHG5YVt488679K6imtukw11]By receiving this PSQ, any person will be deemed to have represented, warranted and undertaken to GBN and its Affiliates that such person: (i) is a relevant person; (ii) has read and agrees to comply with, and be bound by, the restrictions and undertakings set out in this disclaimer; (iii) understands the legal and regulatory sanctions attached to the misuse, disclosure or improper circulation of the PSQ; and (iv) will use the information in the PSQ solely for evaluating that person's possible interest in the Procurement and not for any other purpose. 
Applicants shall not undertake (or permit to be undertaken) at any time, whether at this stage, any subsequent stage in this Procurement or after any contract award related to this Procurement, any publicity activity with any section of the media in relation to this Procurement or the information contained in this PSQ other than with the prior written agreement of GBN, including in respect of the content of any publicity. 
Disclaimer
Any disclaimers or limitations in this PSQ (whether appearing under the heading of disclaimer or otherwise) shall apply to and be for the benefit of GBN and any advisers and representatives acting on behalf of GBN, and shall continue to apply and to be enforceable by GBN or any of the foregoing.
The information in this PSQ has been prepared by GBN in good faith but does not purport either to be accurate, comprehensive, complete or exhaustive or to have been independently verified.  Additionally, this PSQ does not purport to contain all the information that an Applicant may require to submit a PSQ. Applicants are fully responsible for their own interpretation of the information contained in this PSQ, and they are to use it as they consider appropriate, subject to the rules and constraints set out in this PSQ, and at their own risk.  
No reliance may be placed on any prospective dates or events referred to in this PSQ. These are provided for illustrative purposes only, and such dates are subject to change and such events may or may not occur as indicated in this PSQ. Certain prospective events described or referred to herein are outside GBN's control and may or may not occur. In addition, no representation or warranty is given as to the achievement or reasonableness of, and no reliance should be placed on, any projections, targets, estimates, or forecasts contained in this PSQ and nothing in this PSQ is or should be relied on as a promise or representation as to the future. No person, other than GBN's procurement department/representative, has been authorised by GBN to give any information or to make any representation on behalf of GBN and, if any information or representation shall have been given or made, any such information or representation shall not be relied upon as having been so authorised.
The information contained in this PSQ does not include all the legislation that is applicable in relation to this PSQ, this Procurement and/or the OE contract. In producing their PSQ Submissions, Applicants shall satisfy themselves as to the requirements of any applicable legislation.
GBN does not owe any duty of care to any recipient either in relation to the information contained in this PSQ or any other information that a potential contractual party is provided with at any time, other than as may arise out of a written agreement between the relevant parties at some future date. Applicants must undertake such research, investigations and due diligence as they see fit before entering into any contract and raise queries with GBN as needed.  Applicants must satisfy themselves as to the nature, extent, volume and character of the requirements of the OE contract, their obligations described in this PSQ, the extent of the personnel, equipment, assets, plant and machinery which may be required and any other matter which may affect their PSQ Submissions, pricing, projections or financial modelling.  
GBN and its advisers, representatives or agents acting on GBN’s behalf accept no liability (directly or indirectly) to the extent permitted by law, to any Applicant arising out of or in connection with this PSQ, including without limitation, for any error or misstatement in, or omission from, this PSQ or for any negligence or misrepresentation or for disclosure of information originating from a Applicant.
Neither GBN nor its advisers, representatives or agents acting on its behalf make any express or implied representation or warranty with respect to this PSQ and no responsibility or liability (except in the case of fraud) is accepted by any of them with respect to the adequacy, accuracy, reasonableness or completeness of the contents of the information or of any other document or information (written or oral) supplied at any time in connection with this Procurement. 
Any summaries or descriptions of documents or contractual arrangements contained in any part of this PSQ cannot be and are not intended to be comprehensive, nor any substitute, for the underlying documentation (whether existing or to be concluded in the future) and are in all respects qualified in their entirety by reference to them.  If there is any inconsistency between a summary of any document contained within this PSQ and the document itself, the terms of the document itself are to prevail. 
Where this PSQ states that GBN "may" take a particular action, GBN "reserves its rights" in relation to a particular action or the giving of consent, GBN may take the relevant action, exercise the relevant right or give the relevant consent (or not, as the case may be) in its absolute discretion (to the extent permitted by law) and GBN is under no obligation to do anything. 
None of the information in this PSQ can constitute a contract or part of a contract, nor does it constitute an invitation or offer to enter into any contract. Only the express terms of any written contract with any selected Preferred Bidder, as and when it is executed, shall have any contractual effect in connection with the matter to which the information relates.
Applicants shall be responsible for and shall bear all their own costs, charges and expenses relating to any preparation and submission of expressions of interest, any subsequent negotiations, PSQs and contractual arrangements (if any) in connection with this Procurement. Save as expressly set out in the OE contract, in no circumstances will GBN be liable for any such costs incurred by Applicants, irrespective of the outcome of the competition, nor if the competition is cancelled, altered or postponed.
GBN expressly reserves the right: 
to terminate this Procurement at any time; 
to negotiate with one or more parties at any time; 
without prior discussion with any Applicant, to modify the rules, evaluation and award timetable, programme and procedures set out in this PSQ or any other procedures relating to this Procurement provided that such modifications will be notified to Applicants; and 
to amend the proposed scope/nature of this Procurement in any way from that described in this PSQ.
In no instance will GBN be required to give any reason for such termination or alteration of the process. Applicants will not be reimbursed for any costs, expense or loss suffered or incurred as a result of or otherwise in connection with this PSQ or any other subsequent part of this Procurement, including any bid costs.
Neither the issue of this PSQ nor any related procurement process commits GBN to award the whole or part of the OE contract to any party or any person.
GBN's decision as to whether or not a PSQ Submission complies with this PSQ shall be final.
GBN shall not be bound to accept any PSQ.
Although the scope defined provides a good indication of the subject-matter of the Procurement, GBN’s needs and the characteristics required of the supplies, works and services to be procured, GBN reserves the right to add detail and make amendments at a later stage.
Nothing in this PSQ shall be construed as legal, financial or tax advice to any Applicant. The information is not intended to provide the basis of any decision (including any investment decision) and should not be considered as a recommendation made by GBN or its representatives. Each person to whom the information contained in this PSQ is made available must make their own independent assessment of the opportunities described in the information contained in this PSQ after making such investigation and taking such professional advice as they deem necessary.
The OE contract(s) are being procured in accordance with the Procurement Act 2023 (PA 23). Applicants must ensure they understand the processes that must be followed to comply with the PA 23.
By accepting this PSQ, each relevant person agrees to be bound by the limitations and restrictions set out above.


[bookmark: _Toc190707074][bookmark: _Toc190707083][bookmark: _Toc190707133]Background
Great British Nuclear ("GBN") is seeking expressions of interest from suitably experienced organisations, with the capability to provide essential independent assurance and specific task deliverables with extensive technical and programmatic subject matter expertise.
This Procurement Specific Questionnaire Instructions ("PSQ Instructions") document and accompanying form of PSQ ("PSQ") are made available to suppliers who are considering expressing interest in the opportunity ("Applicants").  The Contracts have been advertised by GBN in the Tender Notice dispatched on 03/06/25, reference number 2025-000027. The interim statement of requirements is appended at Appendix F and the draft Contract for the procurement is appended at Appendix E. The draft Contract is being provided to Suppliers for two reasons. First, the draft Contract is being provided to Suppliers so that they can understand the nature and scope of the opportunity to assist Suppliers in reaching an informed decision on whether to respond to this PSQ.  Second, due to the accelerated timescales for the procurement, GBN is providing Suppliers with early sight of the draft Contract as Suppliers may submit comments relating to material issues with the draft Contract. Further details can be found at paragraph 20 of Section G. GBN requests that Suppliers submit any comments on the draft Contract as soon as possible. GBN intends to award the Contracts in accordance with the Procurement Act 2023 using the Competitive Flexible Procedure.
[bookmark: _Toc185412134][bookmark: _Toc190707075][bookmark: _Toc190707084][bookmark: _Toc190707134]General
[bookmark: _Toc190707076][bookmark: _Toc190707085][bookmark: _Toc190707135][bookmark: _Toc185412135]The PSQ 
[bookmark: _DV_M14][bookmark: _Toc185412133]To be considered for participation in this public procurement process, Applicants must submit a PSQ response before the PSQ response deadline on 09/07/25 at 17:00 BST which is compliant in all respects with the requirements and instructions set out in these PSQ Instructions.
This PSQ Instructions Document and accompanying PSQ set out instructions in relation to: 
The information Applicants must provide as part of a PSQ response; and
The preparation of a compliant PSQ response. 
This PSQ Instructions Document also provides Applicants with information about:
GBN; 
The Contract;
The procurement timetable; 
How PSQ responses will be assessed; and 
The process that GBN intends to follow to select Applicants to be invited to the tender stage. 
The PSQ contains and includes the appendices and supporting documents referred to in this PSQ Instructions document. These documents have been made available on the JAGGAER eSourcing Portal which may be accessed at https://beisgroup.ukp.app.jaggaer.com/'
The PSQ also includes electronic forms and templates which must be completed and returned as part of the PSQ response.
Applicants must provide all the information requested in the formats specified and comply with any stated word or page count requirements. 
Applicants must ensure that they have read all parts of the PSQ.
Further Procurement Documents will be produced by GBN and made available to Applicants at the appropriate stage of the procurement through the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal. 
[bookmark: _Toc185412136][bookmark: _Toc190707077][bookmark: _Toc190707086][bookmark: _Toc190707136]Procurement stages and indicative timetable
GBN has conducted an early market engagement exercise in relation to its proposed approach to procuring up to two Owner's Engineers. The questions circulated to the market are appended to this PSQ Instructions document at Appendix C. 
GBN intends to undertake this procurement in accordance with the indicative timetable described within the Briefing Document at Appendix B.
GBN reserves the right to make changes to the procurement stages and indicative timetable.  GBN will inform Applicants of any changes.
Dates and times for key activities at the PSQ stage will be confirmed in the PSQ documents.
[bookmark: _Toc185412137][bookmark: _Toc190707078][bookmark: _Toc190707087][bookmark: _Toc190707137]PSQ Overview
The PSQ is available to complete on the JAGGAER eSourcing Portal. The PSQ Questions are reproduced in the PSQ form at Appendix D and this PSQ Questionnaire includes guidance on how to respond to the questions.  
The PSQ Questions have been designed to assess Applicants on a pass/fail basis to determine which Applicants will be invited to proceed to the ITT stage.
The PSQ is divided into a number of sections. Applicants must respond to each section of the PSQ. Responses will be assessed by GBN in accordance with sections C-F.
[bookmark: _Toc185412138][bookmark: _Toc190707079][bookmark: _Toc190707088][bookmark: _Toc190707138]PSQ - Evaluation Approach
[bookmark: _DV_M64][bookmark: _DV_M65]GBN will assess PSQ responses in two stages: 
[bookmark: _DV_M66]Stage 1: A compliance and eligibility check will be undertaken to ensure that PSQ responses are complete and have been completed and submitted in accordance with the instructions in the PSQ Instructions document.  Part 2 will consist of an evaluation assessment against the mandatory and discretionary grounds for exclusion and any other standardised questions included in Part 2. 
[bookmark: _DV_M67][bookmark: _DV_M68][bookmark: _DV_M69]Applicants may be rejected at this stage if:
The PSQ response is not compliant; and/or 
They fail to meet the minimum standards and pass/fail requirements in Part 2 (including the questions on mandatory and discretionary grounds for exclusion).
[bookmark: _DV_M70][bookmark: _DV_M71]Stage 2: Compliant PSQ responses will be assessed on a Pass/Fail basis against:
The economic and financial standing (EFS) criteria; and
The additional project specific technical and professional ability questions
[bookmark: _DV_M75][bookmark: _DV_M76]These sections will be evaluated on a Pass/Fail basis and all PSQ applicants that pass will be taken through to the next stage of the procurement. GBN reserves the right to reject a PSQ response in its entirety if the applicant is assessed to have failed one or more questions in this PSQ.
[image: A logo with red and blue text

Description automatically generated]

	EUS\ZAMATT\408799015.04  OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL

	1



	EUS\ZAMATT\408799015.04  OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL

	1



	  
	1


OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL

[bookmark: _Toc140605757]B. Definitions applying to the PSQ Instructions document
[bookmark: _Toc190707089][bookmark: _Toc190707139]In these PSQ Instructions, the following terms shall have the following meanings, unless the context otherwise requires: 
"Applicants": economic operators, including a group of economic operators or a Consortium, who submit a PSQ;
"Associated Person": persons connected with the Applicant, for example a sub-contractor;
"Consortium": a group of suppliers;
"Consortium Member": an individual supplier within a Consortium;
"Contracting Authority": Great British Nuclear (05027024); 
"Contract": The Owner's Engineer Contract; 
"Invitation to Tender Response Deadline": [the date and time will be released with the Invitation to Tender (Stage 2 of this procurement process)]
"Key Subcontractor”: Key Subcontractor means a Subcontractor that is to be appointed under a Key Subcontract.
“Key Subcontracts” means those Subcontracts which: 
1. are single/sole source contracts; or
2. have a value exceeding £5,000,000 when considered in the aggregate with all subcontracts entered into or to be entered into between the OE Consultant and the relevant subconsultant in respect of their works.
"Owner's Engineer" means the role of [the Contractor] per the terms of the Contract;
"Lead Applicant": the Consortium Member responsible for leading the consortium for the purposes of the procurement process; 
"PSQ": this PSQ and any appendices or annexes.

C. Summary Table of Evaluation Approaches for all PSQ questions
EVALUATION METHODOLOGY – OVERVIEW
Please note that if any PSQ question is evaluated as a 'fail', the Applicant may be excluded from the procurement process.
	PSQ Section
	Questions
	Score
	Assessment Methodology 

	Preliminary Information
	1-3
	N/A
	Information only 

	Preliminary Information 
	4 (Debarment – Supplier)
	Pass
	The Applicant (or if applicable, Lead Applicant) answers No.

	
	
	Fail
	The Applicant (or if applicable, Lead Applicant) answers Yes.

	Part 1
	5a-c
	N/A
	Information only

	Part 1
	5d (Exclusion information – Supplier)
	Pass
	The Applicant (or if applicable, Lead Applicant) answers No.

	
	
	Fail
	The Applicant (or if applicable, Lead Applicant) answers Yes.

	Part 2A
	6-8c
	N/A
	Information only 

	Part 2A
	8d-9
	Pass
	The Applicant (or if applicable, Lead Applicant) answers No.

	
	
	Fail
	The Applicant (or if applicable, Lead Applicant) answers Yes.

	Part 2B
	10
	N/A
	Information only

	Part 2B
	11
	Pass
	The Applicant (or if applicable, Lead Applicant) answers No.

	
	
	Fail
	The Applicant (or if applicable, Lead Applicant) answers Yes.

	Part 3A

	12-22
	
	Please see Section [D] – Economic and Financial Standing Detailed Evaluation Methodology for Part 3A (Questions 12-22) 

	Part 3A
	23-28
	
	Please see Section [E] - Detailed Evaluation Methodology for Part 3A(Questions 23-28)

	Part 3B
	Requirements for central government departments, their executive agencies and non-departmental public bodies
	Please see section F


[bookmark: _Toc140605759][bookmark: _Toc140605760]D. Economic and Financial Standing Detailed Evaluation Methodology for Part 3A (Questions 12-22)
[bookmark: _Toc190707090][bookmark: _Toc190707140]Economic and Financial Standing evaluation approach
Economic and Financial Standing will be assessed on a Pass/Fail basis. GBN will first assess the risk level of Applicants for each economic and financial standing (EFS) criterion in Part 3A (Questions 12-22) of the PSQ. 
In relation to each EFS criterion, GBN has identified examples of “high risk” indicators. If any high risk indicators have been identified, a list of potential mitigating information that an Applicant may choose to submit as additional assurance and evidence of mitigations to risk factors are indicated in table 2. If the Applicant has not provided an acceptable rationale or adequate risk mitigation evidence in relation to those indicators, the Applicant may Fail the EFS assessment and be disqualified from the competition. Where any high risk indicators have been identified, Applicants maybe given an opportunity, at GBN’s complete discretion, to provide further clarifications and explanations before any decision is taken to disqualify the Applicant from the competition.
[bookmark: _Toc190707091][bookmark: _Toc190707141]Instructions on how to respond to the EFS questions
Applicants are required to provide both historical and current performance and financial data to support the EFS assessment.
Applicants are asked to complete the Cabinet Office’s Financial Viability Risk Assessment (FVRA) Template. 
The FVRA Template allows for amounts to be entered in £000s within the Template. If the Applicant’s reporting currency is not GBP, values must be entered in the reporting currency. The Applicant must then input what currency has been used and input the exchange rate with GBP as the quote currency. The exchange rates used must align to the following principles: 
a) [bookmark: _Hlk141085331]For Profit & Loss and Cashflow items exchange rate must be based on average over the applicable reporting period. 
b) For Balance Sheet items exchange rate must be the rate at date of applicable balance sheet.
c) [bookmark: _Hlk141086110]Please specify the reporting currency and exchange rate in the cells specified within the FVRA Template. Please include the source of all exchange rates applied in the ‘Bidder Clarification’ columns of Tab 4.1a Lead. 
GBN reserves the right to review and recalculate currency conversion in line with the principles specified. 
The FVRA Template calculates ratios and provides a Red, Amber, Green risk rating for each ratio. 
The FVRA Template risk ratings are determined by thresholds that have been proposed by the Cabinet Office for Gold (critical) procurements in all sectors. 
If the FVRA Template gives a Red or Amber risk rating for any of the ratios, the Applicant must provide commentary including: 
d) Reasons for the Red or Amber rating, 
e) Mitigating activity that the organisation has undertaken / will undertake to manage this risk; and,
f) An update on current position (reflecting that Accounts data is historical)
Applicants do not need to submit the same information multiple times and may refer to information submitted in response to other parts of Part 3A (Questions 12-22) of the PSQ as part of this commentary. Further guidance can be found in the FVRA Template and the criteria set out below. 
Where forecast financial information is provided, please detail any inflation assumptions that have been used. GBN may ask for more explanation and justification for assumptions used if it is considered that these will have an impact on the assessment of the EFS criteria. 
Applicants must confirm that there are no material post balance sheet events, contingent liabilities and losses, credit/risk ratings or other business issues arising since the date of the last audited financial statements that materially impact the Economic and Financial Standing of the economic operator. Where there are, the Applicant must provide an explanation for these and explain what mitigations are in place.
Applicants may be required to provide additional information on request to evidence that they meet the EFS criteria. Where Applicants have relied upon a future event to evidence the EFS criteria, GBN reserves the right to Pass an Applicant conditionally between the PSQ stage and Contract Award until the event has taken place. 
Applicants are permitted to rely on the financial standing of a group or parent company or fellow consortium member to evidence the EFS criteria, if that other entity is willing to provide appropriate security or support in the form of a parent company guarantee, continued funding commitment from investors or equivalent. Guarantees or equivalent will need to be provided to GBN, but an Applicant will be able to commit to providing a guarantee following notification that they have been successful at the PSQ stage of the competition and within 2 months of receiving the Invitation to Tender (ITT). 
[bookmark: _Toc190707092][bookmark: _Toc190707142]Application to Consortia, Joint Ventures and SPVs
Applicants should note that where a consortium or joint venture is proposed and the members are sharing financial risk or financial commitment, then Part 3A Questions 12-16, including providing a completed FVRA tool, must be completed by all members of the consortium/JV. In this situation, each member must complete the FVRA template. The evaluation may be undertaken for each member of the consortium which completes the FVRA template, especially if there is legal liability and responsibility towards them.
Where the group is proposing to create a separate legal entity, such as a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV), they should provide details of the actual or proposed percentage shareholding of the constituent members within the new legal entity. They should also provide the name for the new entity and details of its legal and operational structure.
The assessment of different bid structures will be based on the information provided in Table 1. Table 1 provides further detail of how each metric will be assessed for each bid structure. 
	Table 1 – Summary of Bid Structure

	Member
	Role
	Estimated percentage (%) of the Applicant’s Total Contract Value to be delivered by the Member

	[•]
	[•]
	[•]

	[•]
	[•]
	[•]

	[•]
	[•]
	[•]

	[•]
	[•]
	[•]

	[•]
	[•]
	[•]



Where the metric is proportionate (i.e. Turnover Ratio) the percentage of the contract that each party will be delivering will be used to calculate the metric. The contract value for the purpose of this assessment is filled in the FVRA sheet to calculate the relevant metric. Below is a worked example: 
Table 2 – Example of metric calculation based on proportionate test
	Consortia member
	Percentage of contract that will deliver
	Metric (a) Calculation

	Consortia member 1
	40%
	(Annual Turnover / Annual Contract Value) * 40%



Any updates to the consortium, joint venture, SPV arrangements or any other bidding model must be provided during the procurement process.
If bidders may not be able to demonstrate capacity through EFS assessment on a standalone basis, GBN will seek ‘joint and several’ guarantees from the major shareholders (i.e. not ‘proportionate’) or consortia members to mitigate the risk. A written commitment to provide such guarantees will be sufficient at selection stage.
[bookmark: _Toc190707093][bookmark: _Toc190707143]Subcontractors
For prime and sub-contractor arrangements, financial information required in PSQ [Part 3A Questions 12-16] should be provided for all sub-contractors which the Applicant is relying upon to meet the selection criteria (i.e. any company in the supply chain which is being relied upon to demonstrate any aspect of the required experience or capability), and any other proposed entity upon which the Applicant wishes to rely (e.g. where an Applicant  is relying on the financial resources of a parent or group company or another entity such as a key stakeholder or subcontractor).
[bookmark: _Toc190707094][bookmark: _Toc190707144]Publicly available information
GBN reserves the right to seek further financial information from Applicants and other relevant companies if required and to carry out its own review of publicly available information. 
It is for the Applicant to ensure that the information about it published by the public sources publicly available financial information is correct and GBN accepts no liability if it relies upon information from the same that is incorrect. Should public information be used in the assessment, the Applicant will be given an opportunity to provide clarification should there be concerns with how that information impacts upon the financial assessment. 
[bookmark: _Toc190707095][bookmark: _Toc190707145]Ongoing EFS Monitoring
If the Applicant is successful at this PSQ stage, GBN reserves all rights to monitor the Economic and Financial Standing of the Applicant throughout the procurement and also during the performance of the contracts if they Applicant is successful in this procurement, in particular additional EFS assessments may be conducted in advance of providing funding (if applicable) and the Applicant may be required to provide additional information programme, including pre-Award of this contract. At a minimum, additional assessments against the criteria will be conducted between tranches of funding and the Applicant may be required to provide additional information.
The successful Applicant will be responsible for reporting changes to its organisational structure, including the use of subcontractors and contractual Financial Distress Events.
[bookmark: _Toc190707096][bookmark: _Toc190707146]Economic and Financial Standing Evaluation Criteria
Further information in relation to the evaluation criteria, methodology, evidence required and examples of what determines a high-risk assessment, are set out below:
GBN will have the discretion to ask for additional information or clarifications, which may include forward looking information, as necessary to complete the assessment. 
	Table 3 – EFS Evaluation Criterion

	
	Criteria
	Assessment Methodology
	Evidence Required
	Examples of what determine high risk assessment

	1.
	The Applicant is not in any financial difficulty or subject to any financial or corporate governance issues that would inform the EFS assessment. 
Corresponds to PSQ Questions 12-16. Information provided in response to any Part 3A (Questions 12-22) question may be used in the assessment of this criteria. 
	· Financial Viability Risk Assessment (FVRA) template outcome.
· Review of press releases and public media statements. 
· Review of share price trend, if applicable. 
· Trend analysis of financials to see growth over time. 
· Review of credit score, if applicable. 
· Review of Auditor Report, if applicable. 
	· Applicant’s completed FVRA template.
· Two years of audited accounts for the Applicant and any other entity that has submitted an FVRA tool, or other financial information as detailed in question 16. 
· Confirmation / explanation of any post-balance sheet events, additional information in questions 17-21
If high risk: 
· Evidence of additional committed support e.g., Parent Company Guarantee, Funding Guarantee, Indemnity 
· Additional assurances listed for each financial metric.
	· Poor performance track record at company or parent level assessed based on ratio tests in FVRA (any metric falls under high risk)
· Negative press releases and reputational concerns
· An unexplained sudden or prolonged share price drop
· Decreasing Net Asset Value (NAV) year on year, if history is available. 
· Low or negative NAV 
· A ‘poor’ lending score 
· A qualified auditor report 
· Material issues with risks/controls/processes/ misstatements per the (audited) financial statements. Indication of Applicant being in insolvency/ restructuring/ wind up process 
· Significant balances owed, legal claims or undelivered work. 

	2.
	The Applicant can meet all its current financial obligations for a minimum of 12 months from the point of the PSQ submission date, as listed in the procurement timetable.
Corresponds to PSQ Question 22 Information provided in response to any question may be used in the assessment of this criteria
	· Assessment of current net cashflow (positive/negative) 
· Assessment of next 12 month forecast cash flow against current forecast obligations (current liabilities and operating costs
	To be evidenced by: 
· Current cash flow 
· Forecast cash flow for 12 months from the point of the PSQ submission date 
If high risk: 
· If current or forecast cashflow is negative, supplementary evidence is proof of access to funds (committed fund injections, credit facilities) to cover the 12 months of financial obligations expected.
· Evidence of additional committed support e.g., Parent Company Guarantee, Funding Guarantee, Indemnity 
· Plan details of future fund raises within the next 12 months.
· Forecasts of additional future revenue streams and costs (signed by Financial Director) 
	· Net Cash flow is negative
· Cash and Cash Equivalents do not cover 12 months of obligations (current liabilities and operating costs): (Current Assets-Current Liabilities)/Operating costs
· Next 12 months of operating costs and current liabilities are not covered by current balance sheet’s NAV, i.e., multiple of NAV/operating costs <1



Table 4 – Financial Robustness Metric and associated thresholds
The information provided in response to the questions in Part 3A (Questions 12-22) of the PSQ (Economic and Financial Standing) will be assessed as described in Section D of the PSQ.
Table 4 explains what the Pass/Fail section assesses, the basis of calculation and the threshold for a Pass or Fail. Applicants should read this in conjunction with Section D of the PSQ.
	 
	Metrics
	Calculation 
	Threshold

	 
	 
	 
	Low Risk
	Medium Risk
	High Risk

	1
	Turnover Ratio
	Annual Turnover/Expected Annual Contract Value
	> 2.0x
	1.5 – 2.0x
	< 1.5x

	2
	Operating Profit Margin
	Operating Profit/ Annual Turnover
	>10.0%
	5.0 – 10.0%
	< 5.0%

	3
	Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio
	Net Debt / EBITDA
	< 2.5x
	2.5 – 3.5x
	> 3.5x

	4
	Net Debt and Net Pension Deficit to EBITDA Ratio
	(Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit) / EBITDA
	< 4.0x
	4.0 – 5.0x
	> 5.0x

	5
	Net Interest Paid Cover Ratio
	Earnings Before Interest and Tax / Net Interest Paid 
	> 4.5x
	3.0 – 4.5x
	< 3.0x

	6
	Acid Ratio
	(Current Assets – Inventories) / Current Liabilities
	> 1.0x
	0.8 – 1.0x
	< 0.8x

	7
	Net Assets Balance
	Total Assets – Total Liabilities
	> Nil
	> Nil
	< Nil

	8
	Group Exposure Ratio
	Group Exposure / Gross Assets
	< 25%
	25 – 50%
	> 50%





Table 5 Additional assurance required in the case of meeting the medium risk or high-risk threshold criteria:  
The table below outlines the list of potential mitigating information that an Applicant may choose to submit as additional assurance and evidence of mitigations to risk factors indicated within the EFS tool submission. Where metrics obtain other than a “Low” risk outcome, the Authority permits adjustment for non-underlying items or exceptional items, given that they are considered material and out of the ordinary course of business, on the basis that this is likely to provide a better representation of underlying performance. 
For each metric, the additional assurance/mitigation steps are shaded in grey. These are aligned with Cabinet Office Guidance (EFS_Guidance_Note.pdf (publishing.service.gov.uk).
	Additional Assurance
	Ratio1
	Ratio2
	Ratio3
	Ratio4
	Ratio5
	Ratio6
	Ratio7
	Ratio8

	Provision of a Parent Company Guarantee
Note that for Joint Ventures and Consortia, joint and several guarantees from the major shareholders (i.e. not proportionate) or consortia members is required.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Information regarding new contracts won since the publication of its financial results or the full impact of which is not fully reflected in the accounts used for the assessment.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Information regarding profitable new business won or loss-making business closed since the publication of its financial results, the full impact of which is not fully reflected in the financial statements used for the assessment.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Information regarding one-off costs or expenses that unduly affected the Operating Margin and/or EBIT for the period(s) under consideration and are unlikely to be repeated to the same extent in future years.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Information regarding ability or plans to repay debt from sources other than the generation of free cash flow from operations.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Information regarding elements of debt, deferred consideration or pension deficit which are only due for repayment in the long-term or debt which is held with other companies in the same group which is not likely to be required to be repaid.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Information regarding the bidder’s access to further liquidity, for example, level of undrawn facilities available; access to financial markets and/or new equity through equity markets. If the bidder plans to repay existing debt with new debt, clarification as to why this would be sustainable should be provided. 
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Information regarding the value of any intangible assets such as goodwill which have not been included in the balance sheet (although the value of purchased goodwill is included in balance sheets, the value of self-generated goodwill is not) and/or any other assets which may have been included at an undervalue.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	Information regarding the nature of the short-term liabilities which may include creditors and accruals not immediately due for settlement.
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	



Definitions 
Table 6 – Description of metric calculations
	Reference
	Metric
	Means of Assessment
	Description

	1
	Turnover Ratio
	Bidder Annual Turnover / Expected Annual Contract Value
	Bidder Annual Turnover 
· Revenue calculated in accordance with IFRS15.
· Only includes revenue generated by an entity in the course of its daily core business operations. Excludes reimbursements, other income, other operating income, the entity’s share of the revenue of associates, joint ventures and any other group entities which are not fully consolidated.
Expected annual contract value
· £21.4million

	2
	Operating Margin
	Operating Profit / Revenue
	Operating Profit
· Annual turnover (as defined in a) less cost of sales and operating expenses incurred in the course of daily core business operations.
· Excludes interest, tax, the entity’s share of the results of associates, joint ventures and any other group entities which are not fully consolidated.
Bidder Annual Turnover 
· As defined in 1.
· Where an entity has an operating loss (i.e. where the operating profit is negative), Operating Profit should generally be taken to be zero.

	3
	Net Debt To EBITDA Ratio
	Net Debt / EBITDA
	Net Debt = Bank overdrafts + Loans and borrowings, including balances owed to other group members + Finance leases + Deferred consideration payable – Cash and cash equivalents, including short-term financial investments.
· All interest-bearing liabilities (other than retirement benefit obligations) should be included as borrowings as should, where disclosed, any liabilities (less any assets) in respect of any hedges designated as linked to borrowings (but not non- designated hedges). Borrowings should also include balances owed to other group members.
· Deferred consideration payable should be included in Net Debt despite typically being non-interest bearing.
· Cash and cash equivalents should include short-term financial investments shown in current assets.
EBITDA = Operating profit + Depreciation charge + Amortisation charge

	4
	Net Debt and Net Pension Deficit to EBITDA Ratio
	(Net Debt + Net Pension Deficit) / EBITDA
	Net Debt
· As defined in 3
Net Pension Deficit
· The difference between Retirement Benet Obligations and Retirement Benefit Assets. 
EBITDA
· As defined in 3

	5
	Net Interest Paid Cover Ratio
	Earnings Before Interest and Tax / Net Interest Paid
	Earnings Before Interest and Tax = Operating profit
Net Interest Paid = Interest paid – Interest received 
Where Net interest paid is negative (i.e. the entity has net interest received), the outcome of the test will be regarded as ‘low risk’.

	6
	Acid Ratio
	(Current Assets – Inventories)/ Current Liabilities
	Current assets
· Total current assets as shown on the face of the Statement of Financial Position in a standard set of financial statements.
Current liabilities
· Total current liabilities as shown on the face of the Statement of Financial Position in a standard set of financial statements.

	7
	Net Assets Value
	Total Assets – Total Liabilities
	Total Assets 
· As shown on the face of the Statement of Financial Position of a standard set of financial statements.
Total liabilities
· As shown on the face of the Statement of Financial Position of a standard set of financial statements.

	8
	Group Exposure Ratio
	Group Exposure / Gross Assets
	Group Exposure 
· The sum of balances owed by Group Undertakings and Contingent liabilities assumed in support of Group Undertakings
· Balances owed by (i.e. receivable from) Group Undertakings are shown within Fixed assets or Current assets either on the face of the Balance Sheet or in the relevant notes to the financial statements. In many cases there may be no such balances, in particular where an entity is not a member of a group or is itself the ultimate holding company of the group.
· Contingent liabilities assumed in support of Group Undertakings are shown in the Contingent Liabilities note in a standard set of financial statements. They include the value of guarantees and security given in support of the borrowings of other group companies, often as part of group borrowing arrangements. Where the contingent liabilities are capped, the capped figure should be taken as their value. Where no cap or maximum is specified, the outcome of the test should automatically be regarded as ‘ High risk ’.  
Gross Assets
· The sum of Fixed Assets and Current Assets as shown on the face of the Balance Sheet.
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E. Detailed Evaluation Methodology for Part 3A (Questions 23-28)

	PSQ Section
	Section name  
	Score
	Assessment Methodology 

	23
	Insurance
	Pass
	Applicant responds “Yes”.

	
	
	Fail
	Applicant responds “No”.

	24a
	Data Protection – resources in place?
	Pass
	Applicant responds “Yes”.

	
	
	Fail
	Applicant responds “No”.

	24b
	Data Protection – detailed facilities and measures
	Pass
	The response provided demonstrates that the Applicant has the technical facilities and measures (including systems and processes) in place, or will have in place by contract award, to ensure compliance with the UK GDPR and DPA 2018 and does not give any significant concerns for the evaluators.  Applicants will be expected to demonstrate an understanding of their obligations under UK GDPR and DPA 2018 and either set out how they are compliant with UK GDPR and the DPA 2018 or set out an outline plan for ensuring compliance with UK GDPR and the DPA 2018 ahead of contract award.  

	
	
	Fail
	The response does not demonstrate that the Applicant has the technical facilities and measures (including systems and processes) in place, or will have in place by contract award, to ensure compliance with the UK GDPR and the DPA 2018 and/or gives rise to significant concerns for the evaluators.

	25
	Health and safety

	Pass
	The Applicant describes health and safety arrangements which are aligned to the nuclear sector and account for managing health and safety effectively through the supply chain.  The Applicant provides, at outline level, the framework of policies and procedures that are in place to manage Health and Safety.

	
	
	Fail
	The Applicant does not provide assurance that effective health and safety arrangements are in place for itself and the supply chain

	26
	Technical and Professional Ability - Demonstrate the availability of the required capability and skills

1. Technical Capabilities
The following technical skills and services will be required to deliver Consultant activities, including support to the Client regulatory licensing and consenting tasks:
1. Core Design Authority
2. Safety Case
3. BAT Case
4. Chemistry 
5. Civil Engineering 
6. Commissioning 
7. Control & Instrumentation 
8. Construction, incl. CDM
9. Conventional Waste 
10. Criticality 
11. Cyber Security (incl. Security by design) 
12. Decommissioning 
13. Electrical Engineering 
14. Environmental Protection 
15. Engineering Management 
16. Equipment Qualification
17. Emergency Planning & Response 
18. External Hazards 
19. Fault Studies
20. Fuel & Core Design
21. Human Factors
22. Internal Hazards
23. Leadership and Management for Safety, Supply Chain and Quality 
24. Mechanical Engineering
25. Protective Security (incl. Security by design) 
26. Probabilistic Safety Analysis (PSA) 
27. Radiological Protection
28. Radioactive Waste Management 
29. Reactor Core Physics
30. Requirements Management
31. Safeguards (incl. Safeguards by design)
32. Safety Case Analysis and Techniques (incl. Safety by design) 
33. Severe Accident Analysis (SAA)
34. Structural Integrity 
35. System Engineering 
36. Training and Operations

2. Programme Delivery Capabilities 
The following programme skills and services will be required to deliver OE activities: 
37. Planning and Scheduling 
38. Cost Estimating and Cost Management 
39. Risk Management 
40. Scope Management 
41. Change Management 
42. NEC Contracts 
	Pass
	Applicant responds “Yes” to either:
a. It has all skills and capabilities within its organisation
b. It has all skills and capabilities within its bidding consortium
c. It has all skills and capabilities within its bidding consortium and supply chain
d. By the Invitation to Tender Response Deadline, it will have all skills and capabilities within its organisation
e. By the Invitation to Tender Response Deadline, it will have all skills and capabilities within its bidding consortium
f. By the Invitation to Tender Response Deadline, it will have all skills and capabilities within its bidding consortium and supply chain

	
	
	Fail
	Applicant responds “No”.

	27
	UK Designated Sensitive Nuclear Information and Export Control Management
Applicant confirms its ability to handle UK Designated Sensitive Nuclear Information and Export Control Management
	Pass
	Applicant responds “Yes”.

	
	
	Fail
	Applicant responds “No”.

	28
	Conflicts of Interest 
a) Is the Tenderer aware of any actual, potential, or perceived Conflicts of Interest as defined in paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ? 
 b) The Tenderer is also required to complete the 'Bid Team' template in the form set out in Appendix A of the PSQ Instructions so that GBN can verify the Tenderer's response to Question 28. 
 c) If the Tenderer is aware of any actual, potential, or perceived Conflicts of Interest as defined in paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ Instructions, the Tenderer is required to upload a statement explaining the nature of the Conflict of Interest and the Tenderer’s proposed mitigation measures to satisfy the requirements of paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ. 
Response requirements: 
 1.	The Tenderer is required to complete and submit the Bid Team Template set out at Appendix A to the PSQ. 
2.	If the Tenderer has confirmed that an actual, potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest exists, the Tenderer is required to prepare and submit a statement explaining the nature of any Conflicts of Interest and the Tenderer’s proposed mitigation measures to satisfy the requirements of paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ. .
	Pass
	The following criteria must be met: 
1.	a ‘Bid Team’ template in the form set out at Appendix A has been completed in full; and 
2.	The Applicant has either: 
a)	confirmed on an unqualified basis that no Conflict of Interest exists; or 
b)	indicated that an actual, potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest exists and has provided evidence in its response that demonstrates to GBN's satisfaction that its proposed mitigation measures meet the requirements of paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ. 

	
	
	Fail
	One or more of following criteria apply: 
1.	In response to Question 28, the Applicant has indicated that an actual or potential Conflict of Interest exists, but it has failed to provide evidence in its response that demonstrates to GBN's satisfaction that its proposed mitigation measures meet the requirements of paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ; and/or  
2.	In response to Question 28, the Applicant has indicated that an actual or potential Conflict of Interest exists and, notwithstanding any mitigation measures that have been proposed, GBN otherwise considers that the Conflict of Interest cannot be effectively remedied. 
3.	In response to Question 28, the Applicant has not confirmed on an unqualified basis that no Conflict of Interest exists. 
4.	A ‘Bid Team’ template in the form set out at Appendix A has not been completed in full. 
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[bookmark: _Toc140605762]F. Detailed Evaluation Methodology for Part 3B
	Section
	Requirement
	Score
	Assessment Methodology 

	3B
	Question 29

	For information only

	3B
	Question 30
	Pass
	Applicant responds “Yes”.

	
	
	Fail
	Applicant responds “No”.

	3B
	Question 31
	Pass
	Applicant responds “Yes”.

	
	
	Fail
	Applicant responds “No”.

	3B
	Question 32(a) and (b)

	GBN will make an assessment of the Applicant’s responses to questions 32(a) and (b) in order to determine whether it has an effective and reliable supply chain management system in place. This is done by looking at two aspects of the supply chain management system:
(a) Whether the Applicant has made payments of 90% of invoices in accordance with the contractual terms that it applies to its supply chain; or
(b) Whether, overall, the Applicant has paid its suppliers promptly; payment of 95% of invoices within 60 days is considered an appropriate measure of overall payment promptness.
These questions should be measured over a twelve month period and the Applicant must demonstrate that it meets the required standard (paid their supply chain within agreed terms and paid 95% of invoices within 60 days) in at least one of the two previous six month periods (“reporting periods”). The Applicant must provide details of the agreed terms

	
	Question 32(c)
	With respect to question 32(c), if the Applicant has not paid all invoices within the agreed contractual terms in at least one reporting period, it must explain why this was the case in order to pass. And, if the Applicant needs to submit an action plan under 32(d), that plan must also cover the actions the Applicant is taking to improve payment of its suppliers within the agreed terms.
The evaluation methodology to be applied when assessing 32(c) is set out below
	Applicant’s performance

	Assessment criteria and methodology

	Outcome

	Applicant pays all supply chain invoices within agreed terms.
	Applicant meets the required standard
	Pass

	Applicant does not pay all supply chain invoices within agreed terms, but provides an explanation which demonstrates that effective and appropriate supply chain practices are in place. The Applicant will have effective supply chain practices if it has the ability to implement and monitor payment terms proactively.

	Applicant meets the required standard
	Pass

	Applicant does not pay all supply chain invoices within agreed terms and does not provide an explanation why this is the case
	Applicant does not meet the required standard
	Fail




	
	Question 32(d)
	With respect to question 32(d), if the Applicant has not met the required standard of payment of 95% of all invoices in 60 days in at least one reporting period, the Applicant will still pass provided:
(a) After the Applicant has removed intercompany payments from the calculations, it paid 95% of all invoices within 60 days in at least one of the previous two reporting periods.
(b) The Applicant has paid between 90% and 95% of all its invoices within 60 days in at least one of the previous two reporting periods (after removing intercompany payments if relevant) and it demonstrates that it has a compliant action plan to achieve the required standard in future.
(c) The Applicant is a new entrant to the market (trading for less than 12 months). In these circumstances Applicants should not be disadvantaged and should therefore pass question 32. The Applicant is still expected to respond to questions 30 and 31 and pass.

The evaluation methodology to be applied when assessing question 32(d) is set out below.

	Applicant’s performance

	Assessment criteria and methodology

	Outcome

	The Applicant is a new entrant to the market.
	Applicant is not required to provide evidence and is only required to identify themselves as a new entrant.
	Pass

	Applicant paid ≥95% of all supply chain invoices in 60 days in at least one of the previous two six month reporting periods.
	Applicant meets the required standard
	Pass

	Applicant pays ≥95% of all supply chain invoices in 60 days in at least one of the two previous six month reporting periods after removing intercompany payments.

	Applicant meets the required standard
	Pass

	Applicant pays ≥90% < 95% of all supply chain invoices in 60 days in at least one of the two previous six month reporting periods after removing intercompany payments (if relevant).
	Applicant demonstrates action plan that includes (as a minimum) the following:
1. Identification of the primary causes of failure to pay:
(a) 95% of all supply chain invoices within 60 days; and
(b) (if relevant) all supply chain invoices within agreed terms.
2. Actions to address each of these causes. 
3. Regular reporting on progress to the Applicant’s audit committee (or equivalent).
4. Plan signed off by a director.
5. Plan published on its website. (This can be a shorter, summary plan)
	Pass

	
	No action plan or action plan does not include all of the above features.
	Fail

	Applicant does not pay ≥90% of all supply chain invoices in 60 days in at least one of the two previous six month reporting periods after removing intercompany payments (if relevant)
	Applicant’s payment performance falls substantially below the required standard.

	Fail




	3B
	Question 33

	Question 33 is marked on a Pass/Fail basis. The evaluation methodology to be applied when assessing question 33 is set out below.

	Applicant’s response

	Assessment criteria 

	Outcome

	1. Carbon Reduction Plan ("CRP") submitted which: confirms the Applicant’s commitment to achieving Net Zero by 2050, contains emissions reported for all required Scopes (in accordance with the required methodology), indicates the environmental management measures that the Applicant will be able to apply when performing the contract. The reporting period falls no more than 12 months prior to the date of commencement of the procurement. Where the CRP applies to the Applicant and its parent, please see requirements detailed in box 2 below
	Applicant has met the requirements
	Pass

	2. Where the CRP applies to the Applicant and its parent, the requirements of the CRP are met in full, as set out in the Technical Standard and Guidance, and all of the following criteria are met if:
• The Applicant is wholly owned by the parent;
• The commitment to achieving net zero by 2050 is set out in the CRP for the parent and is supported and adopted by the Applicant together with a statement that this will apply to the Applicant;
• The environmental measures set out are stated to be able to be applied by the Applicant when performing the relevant contract; and
The CRP is published on the Applicant’s website

	Applicant has met the requirements
	Pass

	3. Parent CRP fails to meet the requirements of the CRP and additional requirements listed at item 2 above; or

CRP not submitted; or

CRP fails to confirm Applicant’s commitment to achieving Net Zero by 2050; or

Emissions in the CRP are not reported for any Scopes or only for some Scopes, without an explanation why; or

Reporting period is more than 12 months from the date of commencement of the procurement.; or

Applicant fails to indicate the environmental management measures that the Applicant will be able to apply when performing the contract.
	Applicant does not meet the required standard
	Fail

	4. Emissions in the CRP not reported for any Scopes or only for some Scopes, but Applicant provides an acceptable explanation why; or

Reporting period is more than 12 months from the date of commencement of the procurement, but provides an acceptable explanation why; or

Applicant is a new entrant to the market and confirms this, together with a commitment to publish a full CRP prior to contract commencement. 
	Applicant has met the requirements
	Pass




	3B
	Questions 34 and 35

	Applicants are required to detail their current and baseline GHG emissions in questions 34 and 35. The responses to questions 34 and 35 are for information only.

	3B
	Question 36
	For information only. If Applicant is a new entrant (i.e. operating for less than 12 months, please state N/A: New Entrant.

	3B
	Question 37a
	Pass: 
· Applicant is not a relevant commercial organisation; or
· Applicant is a relevant commercial organisation and has confirmed the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 are met and that its statement includes the requirements listed in 37a-f.
Fail: 
· Applicant is a relevant commercial organisation and has not confirmed the requirements of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 are met and that its statement includes the requirements listed in 37a-f. 

	3B
	Question 37b
	For information only.

	3B
	Question 38
	Pass:

Applicant selects yes.

Fail: 

Applicant selects no.

	3B
	Question 39
	Pass:
· Applicant does not have prime contractors or subcontractors in the supply chain that are Russian/Belarusian; or;
· Applicant has identified prime contractors or subcontractors in the supply chain that are Russian/Belarusian and provides details of these and has committed to substituting these suppliers prior to contract commencement. Details should include supplier name, main office address and persons of significant control and scope of services provided by the supplier.
Fail: 
· Applicant responds Yes to 38 but fails to provide a list of the supply chain or to identify Russian/Belarussian companies/Government within supply chain; or;
· Applicant responds Yes to 38 but where Russian/Belarussian companies/Government are identified within the supply chain an acceptable substitution or solution to substitute prior to contract commencement is not provided.



G. PSQ Conditions and Further Instructions
1. [bookmark: _Toc190707097][bookmark: _Toc190707147]Introduction 
The PSQ sets out the rules for and conditions of expressing interest as well as guiding Applicants through the PSQ process in order to ensure that PSQ responses are both compliant and comprehensive.  Without limiting any other provision in this PSQ, Applicants who breach any of these conditions may be rejected.  Applicants are strongly advised to make sure that each person involved in the preparation of its PSQ response has access to the PSQ as well as the accompanying Procurement Documents.
This PSQ is provided only to those Applicants who have expressed interest in the Contract.  The PSQ is provided on the condition that it is used in connection with the PSQ response and for no other purposes.
Where any reference is made in this PSQ to obtaining GBN’s consent, any such consent shall be at GBN’s sole and absolute discretion.
Where it is stated in this PSQ that GBN “may” take a particular action, “reserves its right” in relation to a particular action or gives consent, GBN may take the relevant action, exercise the relevant right or give the relevant consent (or not, as the case may be) at its sole and absolute discretion to the extent permitted at law, but GBN is under no obligation to do anything.  Where GBN intends to take particular considerations into account when exercising its discretion, this is explained in the relevant section of the PSQ.
[bookmark: _Toc190707098][bookmark: _Toc190707148]Evidence and self-certification
GBN reserves the right to request evidence from Applicants to verify the self-declarations made by the Applicant before inviting any Applicant to the PSQ stage. GBN also reserves the right to carry out a verification of self-certification from Applicants before any award decision is complete or before any award decision is taken.
[bookmark: _Toc190707099][bookmark: _Toc190707149]Applicants
GBN is keen to ensure that the opportunity presented by this procurement process is open to a wide market and that there is adequate competition. 
The resources, range and depth of skills needed to perform the Owner's Engineer role are such that Applicants may wish to form Consortia and/or to rely on subcontractors to deliver elements of the works and/or services.  This may, for example, apply to organisations who consider that on their own they do not have the capacity to perform the Contract and wish to rely on the capacity or capacities of others.
[bookmark: _Toc190707100][bookmark: _Toc190707150]PSQ responses from single entities are also welcome
Instructions on expressing interest as Consortia are set out in PSQ Section G below.
For the purposes of responding to the PSQ, Applicants may rely on subcontractors to demonstrate evidence of technical and professional abilities to provide the works and services.
Applicants (including Consortia and any parties to a Consortium) may only submit one PSQ response.
[bookmark: _Toc190707101][bookmark: _Toc190707151]Contract value
For the avoidance of doubt, the stated contract value is the estimated value of the Contract opportunity to the market excluding VAT as stated in the Tender Notice and FTS Notice Applicants should be aware that the actual value of the Contract may be different and may be higher or lower than the estimated value since the actual value will depend on a number of factors.  Further information is provided within the Tender Notice. 
[bookmark: _Toc190707102][bookmark: _Toc190707152]Consortia and relying on capacities of other entities
The following instructions apply only to Applicants submitting as a Consortium:
Lead Applicant must be identified that shall submit a PSQ response on behalf of all Members (the PSQ sets out which responses need only be provided by the Lead Applicant on behalf of the Consortium and those which need to be provided by each Member).
The Lead Applicant shall be responsible for all communication with GBN during the procurement process.
As part of its PSQ response, the Applicant must submit a structure diagram identifying the roles and relationships between the Parties, including all relevant companies, their respective parent and if applicable ultimate holding company(ies).  The structure should ensure that, as a minimum, it identifies the entity or entities who are being relied upon to meet the economic and financial standing or any other Minimum Standard laid out the PSQ. 
If awarded a Contract, each of the Parties in the Consortium shall be jointly and severally responsible for the due performance of the Contract with GBN.
Applicants (including any Parties to a Consortium) who are expressing an interest as a Consortium may only submit one PSQ response although some PSQ Questions require each Member in a Consortium to provide a response as explained further in this PSQ.
GBN does not require those Consortia, who intend to do so, to form a single legal entity at the PSQ phase.  GBN will consider contracting with a Consortium, provided always that the Parties in any unincorporated Consortium are jointly and severally liable for all of the obligations and liabilities of the Consortium under the Contract.  The nature of the Contractor(s), assumption of liability and the terms of any parent company guarantee or guarantees will be specified and defined at ITT stage and GBN's detailed requirements in this regard will be set out in the ITT.
Where the Applicant is a Consortium and the Applicant wishes the PSQ response to be assessed accordingly, all Parties in any such proposed Consortium must complete the PSQ response as explained in this PSQ.  For the purposes of assessment, as detailed in the PSQ, where GBN requires information about each Party Member in any proposed Consortium, each Member is required to complete the relevant PSQ Questions and to submit any supplemental documents as indicated.
Subject to the terms of and guidance in this PSQ, Applicants who are expressing interest as a Consortium may rely on the capacity and abilities of an individual Member or Members in a Consortium.  Applicants must follow the guidance given in this PSQ Instructions and in the PSQ itself about how to complete each PSQ question.  Some PSQ questions require a combined response on behalf of the Consortium as a whole and others require responses relating to each Member in a Consortium.
If the Applicant is a Consortium, the following information must be provided within the PSQ response at Part 1:
names of all Consortium members;
the lead member of the Consortium (the “Lead Applicant”); and
if the Consortium is not proposing to form a new legal entity (e.g., an incorporated joint venture), full details of the proposed arrangements within a separate attachment to the PSQ response to be uploaded to the attachments area of the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal.
Applicants should note that GBN may require the Consortium to assume a specific legal form if awarded the Contract, to the extent that a specific legal form is deemed necessary by GBN for the satisfactory performance of the Contract. 
The Consortium will be required to provide a single composite PSQ response in accordance with the detailed instructions for Consortia. 
GBN recognises that arrangements in relation to a Consortium may be subject to future change.  Applicants should therefore respond on the basis of the arrangements as currently envisaged.  Applicants are reminded that GBN must be immediately notified of any changes, or proposed changes in relation to a Consortium so that a further assessment can be carried out by applying the Assessment Methodology to the new information provided.  GBN reserves the right to deselect an Applicant prior to the award of any Contracts, based on an assessment of the updated information.
If an Applicant wishes to rely at PSQ stage on the skills or experience of another entity, for example a group company or parent company, it must be able to demonstrate that it will have access to these skills and experience during the performance of the contract. 
If an Applicant is unsure how to classify and communicate its contracting arrangements in the PSQ or has any other queries on this section of the PSQ Instructions, then it should raise a query before expressing interest. 
Applicants should note that GBN may disclose the names of each Applicant invited to PSQ in the PSQ documents which includes but is not limited to the names of each Consortium and its constituent Members.  By expressing interest in this procurement, Applicants are deemed to give consent to the disclosure of its name by GBN in the PSQ documents and, accordingly, Applicants waive their rights of confidentiality in this respect.
[bookmark: _Toc190707103][bookmark: _Toc190707153]PSQ Instructions restrictions 
A particular supplier may not apply as more than one Applicant, whether as a single Applicant or as a Member to more than one Consortia.  Applicants should note that this restriction does not apply to subcontractors.
[bookmark: _Toc190707104][bookmark: _Toc190707154]Further conditions
GBN reserves the right to treat as ineligible any Applicant who is guilty of serious misrepresentation in providing any of the information required by this PSQ.
In accordance with the Procurement Policy Note (PPN 01/2022), all PSQ Applicants must identify prime or sub-contractors (i.e. those being relied on to deliver under the Contract) in their supply chain with Russian/Belarusian companies/Government.  This information should be provided during the selection stage of the procurement process and include the fuel supply chain.  
Participants will also be required to set out their Persons of Significant Control. 
GBN is entitled to ask any PSQ Applicant to substitute a sub-contractor in the supply chain that is a known Russian and/or Belarusian supplier. 
GBN is entitled, upon validation that a supplier is a Russian or Belarusian company, to take steps to exclude the Russian or Belarusian company from the procurement exercise, provided that the supplier is constituted or is organised under the law of Russia or Belarus; or where the Persons of Significant Control information states Russia or Belarus as the place of residency. 
GBN reserves the right to exclude an Applicant at any stage of the procurement process if it fails to satisfy any of the PSQ requirements (or having satisfied all of those requirements, circumstances change, and it no longer satisfies any of those requirements).
During the procurement process, Applicants are required to confirm to GBN:
Whenever there is a proposed change in a Consortium structure or other change; and
At ITT stage that there has been no change to the information provided to GBN at the PSQ stage, as part of its PSQ response.
If there is either a proposed change or actual change to the information provided at the PSQ stage, GBN reserves the right to re-assess the Applicant against the PSQ requirements and to reject any Applicant, as the case may be who no longer satisfies any of those requirements.
[bookmark: _Toc190707105][bookmark: _Toc190707155]Bid costs
Applicants will be solely responsible for any costs they incur in relation to the procurement process, however incurred. GBN shall not incur any liability (including, without limitation, in respect of any costs or expenses of, or loss suffered or incurred by, the Applicant) in respect of the PSQ or any other subsequent stage of the procurement process, whether or not GBN has varied any aspect of the procurement process or abandoned the procurement process for any reason.
[bookmark: _Toc190707106][bookmark: _Toc190707156]Right to vary or abandon the procurement process
GBN reserves the following rights:
to PSQ and/or award the Contract in part, in whole or not at all;
to vary the procurement process, requirements, evaluation criteria, evaluation approach, timetable or the proposed scope/nature of the PSQ in any way from that described in this document or in any other procurement document; and
to abandon the procurement process at any time and for any reason.
GBN shall not be liable for any bid costs in the event of any variation or abandonment of the procurement process.
[bookmark: _Toc190707107][bookmark: _Toc190707157]Conditions governing PSQ responses
Nothing contained in this PSQ, or in any other communication made between GBN and any other party, shall be taken as constituting a contract, agreement or representation between GBN and any other party (excluding a formal award of contract made by GBN or any formal express legal agreement).
GBN has not made, and will not make, any contract, agreement or representation that a contract shall be offered in accordance with this PSQ and/or in accordance with any communications with any other party (including any timetable for the award of contract), or at all.
GBN does not accept any responsibility for any pre-contract representations made by or on its behalf, or for any estimates made by Applicants of resources to be employed in meeting GBN’s requirements, or for any other assumption which Applicants may have drawn or will draw from any pre-contract negotiations.
GBN is not committed to any course of action as a result of issuing this PSQ or any other communication between GBN and any other party. 
GBN may refrain from considering, or may reject, any PSQ response if it is not in accordance with all of the requirements and conditions set out in this PSQ or any of the provisions of this PSQ as a whole. GBN may reject an Applicant at any stage of the process if it comes to light that the Applicant has breached any of the requirements and conditions set out in this PSQ or any of the provisions of this PSQ as a whole.
[bookmark: _Toc190707108][bookmark: _Toc190707158]Conflicts of Interest
[bookmark: _Ref190706319]GBN is mindful to avoid Conflicts of Interest and any undue influence or other prejudice to competition or the performance of the Contract (or other GBN contracts) which may arise as a result of such Conflicts of Interest. Accordingly, GBN intends to take appropriate measures to prevent, identify and remedy Conflicts of Interest arising in the conduct of this procurement procedure so as to avoid any distortion of competition and to ensure equal treatment of all Tenderers.   
Tenderers shall read and agree to this paragraph ‎‎12 and by submitting a Tender shall be deemed to have done so.  
In particular, but without limitation, Tenderers must note that GBN is likely to regard a Conflict of Interest arising where: 
A Tenderer and/or Associated Person has been or is directly involved in advising GBN on matters relating to the SMR Programme or in the preparation of documents or information relating to the SMR Programme, this procurement and/or the Contract;   
A director, company secretary, or staff member from a Tenderer and/or an Associated Person is related to one of the officers or board members of GBN, and/or HM Treasury and/or the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero;   
A staff member, consultant, or contractor currently employed or engaged by the Tenderer and/or an Associated Person has been previously engaged by GBN and/or the Department for Energy Security and Net Zero (whether directly or indirectly via its suppliers) in relation to the SMR Programme or in the preparation of documents or information relating to the SMR Programme, this procurement and/or the Contract;   
Any of the situations described in paragraphs 12.7 or 12.8 below have arisen or are likely to arise in future; and/or 
Any other circumstances where a person or organisation may be in a position, or be perceived to be in a position, where they could misuse confidential information of GBN in relation to the SMR Programme, this procurement and/or the Contract to give an unfair advantage to a Tenderer in this procurement.   
Subject to paragraphs ‎‎12.5 to ‎‎12.7 below, the above circumstances will not lead to automatic disqualification on the grounds of a Conflict of Interest, although GBN reserves the right to reject a Tenderer or exclude an Associated Person in accordance with paragraph ‎‎12.16 below. Accordingly, Tenderers are encouraged to bring any such situation to GBN’s attention at the earliest opportunity, irrespective of whether the Conflict of Interest involved is actual, potential or perceived. Each case will be reviewed individually.   
Specific Conflicts of Interest requirements for this procurement
[bookmark: _Ref190706081]In addition to the circumstances set out in paragraph ‎12.3, GBN has also taken the position set out in paragraphs ‎‎12.6 to ‎‎12.7 below to ensure that Conflicts of Interest between contractors working on the SMR programme are minimised.
[bookmark: _Ref190706089][bookmark: _Hlk190786222]It is GBN’s view that, because some of the contracts that GBN intends to award as part of the SMR Programme will involve the appointment of a contractor to manage and/or oversee work (or such other role which may create a Conflict of Interest) being carried out by other suppliers (or Subcontractors to the same) appointed by GBN, a Conflict of Interest would arise if a supplier were awarded both contracts.   
In particular, GBN has identified two main concerns that GBN expects to be addressed by Tenderers if they have potentially conflicting roles within the SMR Programme:
The OE Consultant must not have responsibility for assuring its own work (or work in which it has an interest); and  
No situation should exist where a parent/group company board of directors is considering prioritising incentives over liabilities between contracts on the same project (for example where contractual liabilities for the OE Consultant doing or omitting to do something conflicts with (and is potentially less than) an incentive reward that the OE Consultant or group company may receive on their TP or other contract).   
Within this context, GBN would consider the following, non-exhaustive, situations to amount to a potential Conflict of Interest:
the OE Consultant also has a contract to deliver scope on the SMR project for which they are OE Consultant (including but not limited to Technology Partner, Delivery Partner, other engineering or construction providers); or   
the OE Consultant has a parent / related or subsidiary company relationship with any supplier that has a contract to deliver scope on the same SMR project for which they are the OE Consultant (including but not limited to Technology Partner, Delivery Partner, other engineering or construction providers); or  
the OE Consultant is a member of a consortia or joint venture which has a contract to deliver scope on the SMR project for which they are OE (including but not limited to Technology Partner, Delivery Partner, other engineering or construction providers); or  
the OE Consultant has a shareholding in a Joint Venture or SPV which has a contract to deliver scope on the SMR project for which they are OE (including but not limited to Technology Partner, Delivery Partner, other engineering or construction providers); or  
is nominated as a key subcontractor to a supplier or consortium member with a contract to deliver scope on the SMR project for which they are OE (including but not limited to Technology Partner, Delivery Partner, other engineering or construction providers). A key subcontractor means a Subcontractor that is to be appointed under a Key Subcontract. “Key Subcontracts" means those Subcontracts which:   
are single/sole source contracts; 
have a value exceeding £5,000,000 when considered in the aggregate with all subcontracts entered into or to be entered into between the OE Consultant and the relevant subconsultant in respect of their works.  
GBN’s approach to COI for the OE Consultant procurement means that any company appointed as a lead tenderer or consortia member of an OE cannot be a lead tenderer, consortium member or key subcontractor on any other contract for the SMR Project on which they are the OE, unless the Tenderer can satisfy GBN that any Conflict of Interest is adequately managed to meet GBN’s COI intention outlined above. If an OE Consultant intends to appoint any key subcontractor (as defined above) to deliver part of the OE Consultant scope, such key subcontractor must be identified and must also declare any potential COI and proposed mitigation.  
GBN acknowledges there is a limited market for the supply of the OE Consultant scope, and suppliers may consider teaming arrangements. On that basis, GBN will be requiring bidders to declare any COI and proposed mitigations in their PSQ response.   
GBN will assess proposed measures against its concerns outlined in this paragraph 12 and the criteria for question 28 (Conflicts of Interest) and reserves the right to ask any bidder for further clarification on their proposals during PSQ evaluation and during the ITT stage, which may necessitate requesting additional information which GBN may take into account in evaluation. It is GBN’s intention to allow bidders a reasonable opportunity to satisfy GBN’s concerns arising from initial evaluation of Tenderer's responses to question 28 (Conflicts of Interest). GBN reserves the right to make any award of preferred bidder subject to successful satisfaction of COI mitigations and may request additional information up and to the point of contract signature.   
Tenderers are also advised that the ability of an OE Contractor to be awarded further contracts relating to the SMR Programme will be subject to any specific rules established in those future procurements relating to the prevention and/or management of Conflicts of Interest.  GBN cannot confirm what those rules might entail as they will be decided on a case-by-case basis.     
Tenderers' obligations relating to disclosing and monitoring Conflicts of Interest
GBN encourages an open and transparent approach and a “when in doubt, notify” culture throughout GBN and its supply chain, and takes Conflicts of Interest seriously. Each individual or company who is or wishes to be engaged on the SMR Programme, whether as a consultant or contractor to GBN or as part of the GBN supply chain, should be mindful of the obligations owed to GBN regarding Conflicts of Interest.   
Tenderers are reminded that:
In response to PSQ Question 28, they are required to identify Conflicts of Interest and provide details of their Bid Team (see PSQ Appendix A);   
[bookmark: _Ref190706279]if a Conflict of Interest is identified in response to PSQ Question 28 (or otherwise comes to GBN’s attention) the Tenderer will be required to demonstrate to GBN’s satisfaction that it is able to manage the risk or potential risk without prejudice to the procurement, the Contract or the SMR Programme.   
Tenderers must continue to ensure on an on-going basis that any person or organisation engaged directly or indirectly in connection with the preparation of their Tender does not have, and could not reasonably be seen to have, any Conflict of Interest in connection with GBN or the SMR Programme. Steps must be taken to identify all such persons or organisations who have knowledge of the SMR Programme (including in particular this procurement and the Contract/s) acquired through previous or concurrent roles. Tenderers are required to notify GBN of all such cases, stating the measures taken, or which they propose to take, to ensure that no unfair advantage will arise. Failure to meet this obligation may result in the rejection of a Tender and/or disqualification of a Tenderer (and/or exclusion of a Party/Guarantor/Subcontractor) from this procurement.   
Tenderers should note that GBN reserves the right at its sole discretion to reject a Tender and/or disqualify a Tenderer (and/or exclude a Party/Guarantor/Subcontractor) from this procurement where there is an actual, potential or perceived Conflict of Interest involving the Tenderer (and/or a Party/Parent/Guarantor/Subcontractor). It is for GBN in its sole discretion to determine whether the relevant Conflict of Interest (whether actual, potential or perceived) is manageable taking into account all relevant circumstances and the potential impact on the conduct of this procurement and the SMR Programme more generally.   
Tenderers must also monitor whether any such Conflicts of Interest may arise via key subcontractors who are involved in the preparation of their Tender and notify GBN accordingly.   
Tenderers should note that the procurement timetables of the various SMR Programme procurements will not necessarily align and therefore Tenderers should be mindful that this paragraph ‎‎12 of the PSQ may require a successful Tenderer to choose either:  
to enter into the Contract and commit to withdraw from another ongoing GBN procurement; or
to withdraw from this procurement in order to enter into another contract concerning the SMR Programme.
[bookmark: _Toc190707109][bookmark: _Toc190707159]Non-canvassing, bribery and non-collusion
Applicants must not (and shall ensure that their Associated Persons, subcontractors, Consortium Members, advisors or companies within its group do not) directly or indirectly canvass any Minister, public sector employee, member, director, employee, representative or adviser of GBN, agency, arm’s length body or government department regarding this procurement process or attempt to procure any information from the same regarding the procedure process (except where expressly permitted within the PSQ or subsequent documents in the procurement process).  Any attempt to do so may result in disqualification from this procurement process.
Applicants must not (and shall ensure that their Associated Persons, subcontractors, Consortium Members, advisors or companies within its group do not):
Fix or adjust any element of the PSQ response and subsequent PSQ by agreement or arrangement with any other person;
Communicate with any person, other than GBN's nominated procurement lead, the value, price or rates to be set out in the PSQ, or information which would enable the precise or approximate value, price or rates to be calculated by any other person;
Enter into any agreement or arrangement with any other person, so that person refrains from submitting a PSQ response or PSQ;
Share, permit or disclose to another person, access to any information relating to the PSQ response or PSQ with any other person; or
Offer or agree to pay or give or does pay or give any sum or sums of money, inducement or valuable consideration directly or indirectly to any other person for doing or having done or causing or having caused to be done any act or omission in relation to the PSQ response or PSQ, any other PSQ or proposed PSQ, except where such prohibited acts are undertaken with persons who are also participants in the Applicant's PSQ response, such as subcontractors, resellers, consortium members, advisors or companies within its group, or where disclosure to such person is made in confidence in order to obtain quotations necessary for the preparation of the PSQ or obtain any necessary security.
If an Applicant breaches the above paragraph, GBN may (without prejudice to any other criminal or civil remedies available to it) disqualify the Applicant from further participation in the procurement process.
GBN may require an Applicant to put in place any procedures or undertake any such action(s) that GBN in its sole discretion considers necessary to prevent or curtail any collusive behaviour.
Each Applicant must complete and sign the Certificate of Non-Collusion and Non-Canvassing.
[bookmark: _Toc190707110][bookmark: _Toc190707160]Right to amend or vary the documents
GBN reserves the right not to proceed to the subsequent stages of the procurement process and to amend or vary the procurement process, requirements, evaluation criteria, evaluation approach, timetable or the proposed scope/nature of the PSQ in any way from that described in this PSQ or in any other procurement document.  You will not be reimbursed for any costs, expenses or loss suffered or incurred as a result or otherwise in connection with the PSQ or any other subsequent part of the PSQ process. 
[bookmark: _Toc190707111][bookmark: _Toc190707161]Confidentiality
GBN reserves the right to disclose any information provided by any Applicant in relation to the procurement process to any or all of its advisers or to other public bodies.
Applicants must be aware that GBN intends to publish the names of the Applicants at each relevant stage of the procurement process.
Subject to the exceptions referred to in this paragraph, the information in the PSQ and the accompanying Instructions is made available by GBN on the condition and understanding that:
Applicants shall not copy, reproduce, distribute or pass the information to any other person at any time or allow any of these things to happen; 
Applicants shall not use the information for any purpose other than for the purposes of making, or deciding whether to make, an expression of interest; and
Applicants shall not discuss information nor any aspect of this procurement process in the media nor make any media or publicity statement or comment in relation to it without the express consent of GBN in writing.
[bookmark: _9kR3WTr2664ACLAwrly6xkz][bookmark: _9kMHG5YVt4886CENCytn08zm1]Applicants shall treat all information relating to their PSQ response as strictly confidential and where the information needs to be copied to parties supporting the Applicant or Consortium Member then the Applicant shall require such parties (Disclosees) to also treat the information as strictly confidential. The Applicant will remain responsible for any breach by its Disclosees. The Applicant may disclose, distribute or pass information to another person associated with its PSQ response (including but not limited to, for example, a Consortium Member, the Applicant's insurers or advisers) if either:
this is done for the sole purpose of enabling a PSQ response to be made and the person receiving the information undertakes in writing jointly for the benefit of both the Applicant and GBN to keep the information confidential on the same terms as set out in this paragraph; and
the Applicant obtains the prior written consent of GBN in relation to such disclosure, distribution or passing of information (GBN’s consent may be on such conditions as it sees fit (including as to entry into legally binding confidentiality undertakings)).
Applicants must clearly indicate by highlighting specific text, figures and diagrams, etc., which parts of their PSQ Submission are to be considered commercially sensitive and confidential and why they are considered to be so, along with the time period for which they will remain confidential in nature.
No person, other than GBN's commercial team or representative, has been authorised by GBN to give any information or to make any representation on behalf of GBN and, if any information or representation shall have been given or made, any such information or representation shall not be relied upon as having been so authorised.
[bookmark: _Toc190707112][bookmark: _Toc190707162]Freedom of Information Act and Environmental Information Regulations
GBN is subject to the requirements of the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (EIR), the subordinate legislation made under the FOIA or EIR and any guidance and/or codes of practice issued (from time to time) in relation to such legislation. Applicants should be aware of GBN's obligations and responsibilities under the FOIA and EIR to disclose, on written request, recorded information held by GBN. Information provided by Applicants in connection with the OE Contract and the Procurement, or with any OE contract that may be awarded as a result of this Procurement, may therefore have to be disclosed by GBN in response to such a request, unless GBN decides that one of the statutory exemptions under the FOIA and/or the EIR applies.  
If the Applicant considers that any of the information provided in its PSQ Response is commercially sensitive (meaning it could reasonably cause prejudice to the Applicant if disclosed to a third party) then it should be clearly marked as "Not for disclosure to third parties".  The Applicant must also provide reasons why it considers the information is exempt from disclosure under the FOIA or EIR. 
Any statement identified by an Applicant as commercially sensitive must be set out in a completed version of the Confidential Information Form in Section J.  Applicants should note that statements should be made against specific areas of their PSQ response and statements such as "The entirety of the response" or "All pricing information" will not be accepted by GBN.
GBN will endeavour to consult with the Applicant and have regard to comments and any objections before it releases any information to a third party under the FOIA or EIR. However, GBN shall be entitled to determine in its absolute discretion whether any information is exempt from the FOIA or EIR or is to be disclosed in response to a request for information.  GBN will make its decision on disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA or EIR and can only withhold information if it is covered by an exemption from disclosure under the FOIA or EIR.
[bookmark: _Toc190707113][bookmark: _Toc190707163]Language
All stages of the procurement process will be conducted, and all documents will be prepared, in the English language. All responses to PSQ Questions and all PSQ responses must be prepared in the English language.  To the extent that the original versions of any supporting documents were not prepared in the English language, Applicants will be required to provide a certified translation of those documents.
[bookmark: _Toc190707114][bookmark: _Toc190707164]Governing law
The procurement process and all subsequent contracts will be governed by the laws of England and Wales and subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.
[bookmark: _Toc190707115][bookmark: _Toc190707165]Clarification Questions from Applicants
An Applicant may submit a clarification question to GBN at any time prior to the relevant deadline for submitting clarification questions, being 02/07/2025 at 17:00 pm BST.
Any questions about this Procurement should be submitted in writing via Jaggaer. This should be used for all queries and requests for clarification regarding the Procurement to provide an effective and auditable trail. An Applicant's queries will be secure and cannot be seen by any other Applicants.
Applicants are required to adhere to the following process when submitting clarifications to GBN:
All clarifications must be submitted to GBN using the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal;
Multiple clarifications may be submitted in a single submission; 
Each clarification should be clearly identified within a submission, and Applicants should identify, as a minimum, the area of the procurement documentation to which the clarification relates; and
Sufficient detail should be provided so that each clarification is clear, unambiguous, and sets out the issue/question/query, as appropriate.
Applicants should ensure that all clarification questions to GBN:
are marked as being considered by the Applicant as either general or specific/confidential in nature;
do not identify the Applicant asking the question (where such questions are of a general nature);
are marked, by using the subject heading on Jaggaer, with one of the following titles:  “Commercial”, “Technical” or “Social Value”; and
identify the paragraph and sub-paragraph of the PSQ to which the clarification question refers (if any). 
GBN intends to conduct the Procurement in a way which is fair, transparent and does not risk distorting competition nor unfairly discriminate for or against an Applicant. Accordingly, Applicant should be aware that if in GBN's view:
Questions and answers are of a general nature, GBN will provide copies of such questions, together with answers, to all Applicants in a suitably uniform and anonymous form;
Questions and answers relate only to the solution proposed by the Applicant asking the question and are commercially sensitive (or there is no good reason, consistent with PSQing probity, for disclosing questions and answers to all Applicants), GBN will provide copies of such questions, together with answers, only to the Applicant seeking clarification; or
Questions are of a general nature, but the Applicant seeking clarification has marked them as specific/commercially sensitive, GBN will contact the Applicant to check whether the Applicant wishes to withdraw such questions prior to answers being provided. In the event of the relevant questions not being withdrawn, GBN will provide copies of the questions in a suitably anonymous form, together with answers, to all Applicants. GBN retains the right to provide an answer to any such question to all Applicants where, in GBN's view, to do so would benefit this Procurement or is otherwise required in accordance with the Procurement Act 23.
Any clarification question that GBN receives and subsequently issues to other Applicants will not identify the originator of the question.
Any attachments submitted as part of clarification questions should be clearly labelled. 
Clarification questions received after the clarification deadline will not be answered, although GBN reserves the right to respond at its own discretion in exceptional circumstances. However, the clarifications portal will remain open for general communications until the PSQ Response Deadline.
Responses to clarification questions raised during this procurement process will be published periodically to all Applicants as the case may be. This will be provided in a Questions and Answers format. 
Material Issues Table
In producing the current draft of the Owner’s Engineer Contract at Appendix E (Contract), GBN has sought to balance, in a fair and reasonable manner its own interests, the interests of the OE Consultant and the interests of other stakeholders. GBN therefore considers that the terms of the Contract should be acceptable to the Applicants, without further amendment and GBN shall be under no obligation to negotiate or accept any proposed amendments by Applicants.
Applicants are however provided with the opportunity to submit material issues relating to the Contract.  Applicants may complete and submit the Material Issues Table at Appendix G (Material Issues Table) to capture the Applicant’s proposed amendments to the Contract where the Applicant considers that those items either may prevent the Applicant from submitting a Tender for the Contract at ITT stage or if the provision were changed it would enable the Applicant to improve its Tender, for example reduced pricing. The Applicant must provide clear justification for each proposed amendment. GBN is not obliged to accept any proposed amendments to the Contract and the Material Issues Table is for information only. 
The deadline for submitting the Material Issues Table shall be set out in the Invitation to Tender and is expected to be one week following publication of the Invitation to Tender. Applicants are therefore encouraged to submit the table as soon as possible during the PSQ stage.
[bookmark: _Toc190707116][bookmark: _Toc190707166]Authority Clarifications
GBN may raise clarification questions with Applicants at any stage during the procurement process. This will be undertaken using the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal. Applicants should note that this is not an opportunity to expand on their submissions, rather to provide clarification in response to GBN's queries. Clarification responses will be used for review purposes.
Authority Clarifications will be published by GBN as and when required during the PSQ stage.  Authority Clarifications will be posted to the "Notifications" section on Jaggaer and Applicants will receive an electronic notification via Jaggaer. 
Authority Clarifications may contain the following:
any information regarding the Procurement or the PSQ which GBN wishes to share with all Applicants to ensure equality of information;
details of any new data in Jaggaer, the Virtual Data Room or any updates to such data; and 
any other information which GBN wishes to publish. 
In the event of an inconsistency between an Authority Clarification and the other elements of the PSQ, such Authority Clarification will take precedence. In the event of inconsistency between Authority Clarifications, the most recent Authority Clarification issued by GBN will take precedence.
[bookmark: _Toc190707117][bookmark: _Toc190707167]Change in circumstances
If any of the information provided within a PSQ response changes at any subsequent stage in the procurement process, the Applicant is required to notify GBN immediately.
In the event that an Applicant proposes a change in the membership of its Consortium following the submission of its PSQ response (or subsequently at ITT stage, or during ITN stage, or at any stage during the procurement process) the Lead Applicant must immediately inform GBN of such change (whether this relates to additional members, departing members or any other change in circumstances relevant to the PSQ assessment).  This will allow GBN to reassess the Applicant's changed response to the PSQ as appropriate.
GBN reserves the right to refuse to consent to proposed changes in Consortia or to deselect any Applicants (at ITT and award stage) whose proposed change would mean that they would no longer satisfy any of the requirements for Assessment Stages 1, 2 and 3 set out above or if such proposed change/change in circumstances would have such an effect on the ranking of the Applicant that it would no longer be selected to be invited to PSQ.
Applicants must advise GBN if there is any change to their legal status and/or composition during or after the procurement process, and GBN reserves the right to disqualify Applicants where changes occur.
[bookmark: _Toc190707118][bookmark: _Toc190707168]Award Commitment
A response to this PSQ does not guarantee that an Applicant will be invited to PSQ or awarded a contract and nothing in this PSQ should be interpreted as a commitment by GBN to award Contracts to any Applicant.
GBN reserves the right at its sole and absolute discretion, at any time and without cost to GBN, to the extent permitted by law:
to terminate or suspend, for any reason, any part of or the whole of this procurement process and/or to withdraw this PSQ at any time or to re-invite responses on the same or any alternative basis;
to waive any requirements of this procurement process;
to vary any requirements and/or procedures relating to the procurement process;
to reject all or any Applicants at any time;
not to proceed with the ITT stage in whole or in part;
to omit or vary scope at any time, including for the avoidance of doubt during the course of the procurement.
Neither the issue of this PSQ nor any related procurement process commits GBN at any time to award the whole or part of the Contract to any party or any person.
[bookmark: _Toc190707119][bookmark: _Toc190707169]Verification 
GBN reserves the right to disqualify any Applicant who provides information or confirmations which later prove to be untrue, incorrect or misleading. GBN reserves the right to take whatever steps it deems reasonable to verify the truthfulness or accuracy of any statement made by any Applicant within their PSQ response. This may include but is not limited to:
Cross-referencing any statement made by the Applicant within their PSQ response with any other statement made by the Applicant within their PSQ response (and where an Applicant is a Consortium, any statement made by a Member within their PSQ response with any statement by any other Member within its PSQ response);
Obtaining financial information from Companies House or a competent credit referencing agency;
Undertaking checks with client representatives identified within the Applicant’s PSQ response; and
Undertaking reference site vPSQs.
GBN reserves the right to require the submission of any additional, supplementary or clarification information as it may, at its absolute discretion, consider appropriate.
The submission of a completed PSQ response will be deemed to imply the Applicant's acceptance of the foregoing provisions without qualification.
[bookmark: _Toc190707120][bookmark: _Toc190707170]Subcontractors
Subcontractors may feature in more than one Application.  This creates a potential risk of collusion as between Applicants.  Therefore, Applicants need to take appropriate steps to ensure that there is no collusion.  In particular, Applicants shall use best endeavours to ensure that:
their subcontractors disclose whether they are participating in other applications/PSQs;
subcontractors are aware that they should not treat any Applicant unfairly or unequally.  That does not necessarily mean the same terms, conditions and prices should be offered to all Applicants because different factors or considerations may well apply.  It does, however, mean that there must be sound and justifiable reasons why different terms, conditions or prices are offered to avoid accusations of any price fixing, cartel or other anti-competitive behaviour; and
any information passing between the Applicant and the potential subcontractor relates solely to the construction of the subcontract arrangements and its impact on the PSQ response/PSQ.  Any information provided by one party to the other must be provided on a strictly "need to know" basis as set out above and subcontractors must not act as a conduit for the sharing of confidential or commercially sensitive information as between Applicants.
Information relating to the subcontract/subcontractor arrangements must only be passed from a potential subcontractor "up" to an Applicant and not from an Applicant "down" to the proposed subcontractor.  This is to ensure that a potential subcontractor has no access to information to cross fertilise between PSQ responses/PSQs.
Particular care will be needed to ensure that proposed subcontractors are not present at PSQ preparation meetings or meetings with GBN where they may gain access to confidential and PSQ/PSQ sensitive information.
Particular care should also be taken in the completion of the Statement of Non-Collusion.
If GBN considers that there has been any co-operation or collusion which actually or potentially undermines or distorts competition, it reserves the right to reject the compromised PSQ(s) and exclude the relevant Applicants from the process.
Applicants should seek clarification from GBN if they are uncertain about this or any other potential conflict situation.
If an Applicant at the point of completing the PSQ does not have a supply chain and/or subtractors, but does at a later stage, the Applicant may be asked to provide a response to the PSQ applicable supply chain questions to the extent that it can. 
[bookmark: _Toc190707121][bookmark: _Toc190707171]Publicity and marketing
Applicants shall not undertake (or permit to be undertaken) at any time, whether at this stage or after any Contract award, any publicity activity with any section of the media in relation to the Project or the Contract other than with the prior written agreement of GBN.
Without limiting PSQ [Part 1], Applicants shall not and shall procure that any associated Party/Guarantor or subcontractors, representatives, agents and/or advisors do not do any of the following without obtaining the prior written consent of GBN:
make a public statement or communicate in any form with the media in connection with this procurement process;
Use any trademarks, logos or other intellectual property rights associated with GBN; 
Represent that the Applicant is directly or indirectly associated in any way with GBN or that it’s or their respective products and/or services are in any way endorsed by GBN; or
Do anything or refrain from doing anything which would have an adverse effect on or embarrass GBN.
Applicants must notify GBN, via the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal, of any enquiries received from the media regarding this competition.
If Applicants are in any doubt regarding the publicity and marketing arrangements, then they must seek further guidance from GBN through the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal.
Specifically, but without limiting PSQ Condition 19 (Confidentiality), Applicants should not without the prior written consent of GBN refer to the Project, this procurement process and/or their PSQ response:
In social media (for example, on Twitter);
In their marketing materials for example brochures and annual reports; and/or
In any speeches, presentations, seminars or academic papers.
[bookmark: _Toc190707122][bookmark: _Toc190707172]Copyright
The copyright in this PSQ and the accompanying Procurement Documents is vested in GBN, and they may not be reproduced, copied or stored in any medium without the prior written consent of GBN.
All Information, this PSQ, and any Procurement Document issued with or supplemental to it, are and shall remain the property of GBN and must be returned upon demand.
[bookmark: _Toc190707123][bookmark: _Toc190707173]Provision of further information by Applicants
GBN reserves the right to require the submission by an Applicant of any additional or supplemental information or clarification as it may, in its absolute discretion, consider appropriate.
Applicants shall not submit any unsolicited additional or supplemental information.  Unsolicited means that it has not been requested as part of the PSQ requirements for a PSQ response, or sought by GBN as described above.
[bookmark: _Toc140605763]
H. Using the Procurement Portal
1. [bookmark: _Toc190707124][bookmark: _Toc190707174]Instructions for using the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal
1. GBN uses the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal to manage all aspects of this procurement process and Applicants should only contact GBN through the Jaggaer eSourcing portal.  Applicants are reminded that it is their sole responsibility to ensure that their contact details are kept up to date within the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal.
1. GBN will not enter into exclusive discussions regarding the requirements of this procurement process with Applicants.  All communications between GBN and Applicants must be via the Jaggaer eSourcing portal.  This may be in the form of direct correspondence between GBN and each individual Applicant or between GBN and all Applicants. 
1. Applicants should note that during the procurement process they, or their advisors, should not contact GBN or any of its employees or advisors or any third parties connected to GBN (but not so as to prevent or restrict any business as usual communications unconnected with the procurement process) other than through the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal as instructed above.
1. Registration on the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal can be accomplished by accessing the following link: https://beisgroup.ukp.app.jaggaer.com/
1. When accessing the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal for the first time, Applicants will need to accept the Terms & Conditions and click ‘continue’ entering your correct business and user details. Note your chosen username and click ‘save’, this will generate an email with your temporary password. 
1. Once logged onto the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal, technical guidance relating to the use of Jaggaer can be found in the Help Centre that can be accessed via the helpdesk feature. 
1. Applicants will only be able to access the eSourcing Event once registration has been completed. 
1. Once potential Applicants have completed the registration process referred to above, the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal home page may be accessed via the same link: https://beisgroup.ukp.app.jaggaer.com/
1. For further assistance with regards registering on the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal, please consult the available help. 
Phone: 08000 698 632
Email: customersupport@jaggaer.com 
1. [bookmark: _Toc190707125][bookmark: _Toc190707175]Contact Email Address
Applicants must ensure that contact details for the individual who will be conducting the communication on behalf of your organisation or Applicant Group is the official contact on your Jaggaer eSourcing Portal registration. 
1. [bookmark: _Toc190707126][bookmark: _Toc190707176]Communication and/or Notification Messages
Any communications or notifications in connection with the Procurement, both at the PSQ stage and beyond, will be issued by GBN to Applicants using the messaging facility within the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal. 
Communications or notifications sent via the messaging facility may relate to and represent material changes to information previously provided.  Accordingly, until the Procurement has fully concluded, Applicants must log into the eSourcing Event at regular intervals, to check for messages and access their content. 
Email prompts will only be sent to the nominated contact.
All messages sent via the Jaggaer eSourcing Portal will be retained within the messages section of the Event.  The messages and information therein may be accessed and reviewed at any time.
[bookmark: _Toc190707128][bookmark: _Toc190707178]Instructions for responding to this PSQ
Download the files and set up additional users
Before considering a response to this PSQ, Applicants should ensure that they have downloaded and read all the relevant files from Jaggaer.  All files are important and contain information which may have a considerable bearing on the success of a PSQ Submission.
If an Applicant requires that additional people have access to the PSQ, the user management link on the main page of Jaggaer should be used to add additional users.
All clarifications sent during the PSQ Stage will be notified via the secure messaging feature within Jaggaer to the authorised representative on behalf of the Applicant.  If Applicants want the notifications to go to other users within their organisation, then this can be achieved by accessing the Applicant's "User Rights" area in Jaggaer and enabling other users to receive messages. 
Attachments will be available for Applicants to download from the question itself or via the "Projects Attachments" section of Jaggaer.
Read all instructions carefully
Applicants should read all the instructions relating to this PSQ carefully as Applicants who submit incomplete PSQ Responses may be deemed non-compliant. 
GBN will only take account of information which is specifically asked for within the PSQ. Submissions must be correctly referenced in accordance with the requirements in the relevant instructions. GBN will not evaluate information which has not been included by an Applicant in its PSQ Response and may not evaluate information which has been incorrectly referenced.  
Preparing the PSQ
The PSQ Submissions will be completed using an electronic form (the PSQ Submission Form) which can be accessed via Jaggaer.  It may be possible to respond to some questions in this PSQ simply by answering the questions on screen in the PSQ Submission Form on Jaggaer.  In most cases, the Applicant will need to prepare additional material as part of its PSQ Submission, which can be uploaded at any time into the PSQ Submission Form before the relevant Closing Deadline.
Users should be wary that after periods of inactivity, they will be logged out of Jaggaer.  This may result in draft responses not being saved.  It is the Applicant’s responsibility to ensure that it saves draft responses regularly when using Jaggaer.
Character restrictions applicable to the relevant question will be provided in the instructions on Jaggaer.
Answering questions and providing evidence.
Applicants are required to answer all the questions and provide all the additional information requested within the PSQ, in accordance with the specific instructions set out in the PSQ Instructions. 
Some questions will be marked with a red asterisk on the PSQ Submission Form in Jaggaer.  These are designated as mandatory questions.  This is no indication of the questions' weight or importance and all questions should be answered regardless of the mandatory marker.  At any stage Applicants may validate their response by selecting "Validate Response".  This will highlight the mandatory questions still requiring a response (marked with a red asterisk) and the number of non-mandatory questions that remain.
Applicants will not be permitted by Jaggaer to submit their PSQ Submission until all mandatory questions are answered.
Applicants must not cross reference their answers from any one question to another question unless instructed to do so by GBN.  Applicants are also not permitted to cross-reference to their SQ submission. Only information included in the response to the specific question will be evaluated in respect of that specific question, unless GBN's instructions provide otherwise. Cross referenced material which does not comply with an instruction of GBN will not be reviewed or evaluated by GBN.
Applicants must answer all questions accurately and as concisely as possible. To the extent any page limits are expressly required by the PSQ, Applicants must ensure that they follow any specific guidance. Supporting information must be presented as instructed in each of the questions. Note that any A3 pages will be counted as two A4 pages per side. 
If the PSQ Submission exceeds any page limit given in the specific submission in this PSQ, then GBN will not consider information which is beyond the page limit stated. 
Text must be in Arial 11 point font, single spaced (other than supporting information which is not created for the Procurement process or any mark-up of the OE contract).  Page margins must be set at minimum 2.5 cm. 
Headers and footers may be included in the page margins and may include paragraph numbering, page numbering, section numbering, copy numbering, etc. 
PSQ Submissions should not include general promotional or marketing material unless it is responsive to a requirement of this PSQ and is referenced accordingly.
How to submit supplementary documents
In some cases, it will be necessary for Applicants to submit supplementary documents in the form of electronic files to respond to or provide evidence in their responses to certain questions.  Applicants should only submit supplementary documents when it is necessary to respond to a question and/or where the submission of supplementary documents has been requested by GBN.  
Applicants must not embed documents inside supplementary documents. GBN will not review the content of embedded documents.
File formats
Most file types can be used to support a PSQ. If Applicants have any doubts about the format or software they intend to use for their response, they should contact GBN using the secure messaging system on Jaggaer. 
Save in respect of questions which have prescribed file types, it is strongly recommended that Applicants upload documents as an Adobe PDF file for non-financial responses and MS Office™ Excel for financial data. Applicants should note that all files uploaded onto Jaggaer cannot be amended by anyone and that original files uploaded by Applicants will be maintained in an unaltered state on the system for the duration of this Procurement.
Each file must be page-numbered consecutively, include a contents list (which is not included in the page limits) and each page of the submission should identify the part and sub-part reference at the top of each page. 
Applicants are advised to check with the Jaggaer helpline before submitting responses in uncommon formats.
Jaggaer only allows for a single attachment to be attached to any one question.  If the Applicant's response to a question requires more than one attachment or the question otherwise required multiple files, this can be achieved by placing them into a zip file clearly labelled and then attaching the zip file as a single attachment.
File naming
Any files that the Applicant submits in relation to the PSQ should be given a file name which corresponds to the relevant requirement for the file set out on the PSQ. for example:
"[Applicant] – Rate Card"
Any files that Applicants submit in the general attachments folder (if permitted) will be displayed in alphabetical order, with no folder structure. If Applicants are uploading additional files for any reason, it is essential that the Applicants name the files in an appropriate way. GBN requires the use of a consistent naming strategy, as requested in the text of the PSQ or based on the Applicant's code name and the relevant PSQ requirement, for example:
"[Applicant] – [ ]"
Notes regarding file uploads
Applicants should regard 52MB as the maximum file size for any individual file.  Files less than 2MB will be displayed reasonably quickly but bigger file sizes will create a delay in displaying the evidence or supporting material.  We recommend that attachments be limited to 2MB, to the extent possible. 
Ensure the PSQ is complete
All the files submitted by Applicants will be made visible to GBN, so before submitting a PSQ, Applicants should check the entire response to ensure all files have been uploaded. 
Each Applicant is responsible for ensuring that its PSQ is complete and comprehensive in all respects and that all files upload prior to the relevant Closing Deadline.
Upload the PSQ
Completed PSQ Responses should be submitted via Jaggaer by the relevant Closing Deadline. GBN reserves the right to reject PSQ Responses received after the relevant Closing Deadline. Please note that each Closing Deadline is a precise date and time. 
GBN will not consider PSQ Responses uploaded or submitted by any other means than via Jaggaer unless otherwise stated in writing by GBN.
Applicants are strongly advised to follow the guidance found on Jaggaer.
Check that the upload was successful
After submitting a PSQ Submission (including any saved uploads), Applicants must remember to publish the PSQ Submission. Jaggaer will inform Applicants of any late clarifications being issued after they publish their PSQ Submission.
Importantly, should any late clarification occur, Applicants may need to re-publish their PSQ Submission to signify that they have read, understood and accepted the changes.
Once an Applicant has published their PSQ Submission, Jaggaer will specify within the portal interface that the PSQ Submission has been successful.  Applicants will also be able to see the "status" of their submission under the "Monitor" tab within Jaggaer. If an Applicant is unable to see any indication on Jaggaer that the PSQ Submission has been submitted within one (1) hour of publishing, the PSQ Submission may not have been submitted correctly and the Applicant is strongly advised to contact the Jaggaer helpdesk immediately at customersupport@jaggaer.com.
Jaggaer will always inform Applicants when they have successfully published their PSQ Submission.
Other general instructions for responding to the PSQ
Applicants are required to submit data in the specific formats, covering the specified periods and in sufficient detail as required by the PSQ. Should the Applicant fail to provide the required information to a standard that satisfies the express requirements of the PSQ, the PSQ may be non-compliant based on the evaluation criteria.
GBN cannot be held responsible if it does not receive a PSQ by the relevant Closing Deadline.
If GBN requires an Applicant to clarify any of its responses to the PSQ for the purposes of carrying out its evaluation activities, it may (but is not obliged to) seek additional information or clarification from the relevant Applicant in certain circumstances. However, GBN reserves the right not to take any further information received into account in the evaluation where to do so would be contrary to GBN's obligations under procurement law, including the overarching procurement objectives contained within section 12 of the Procurement Act 2023.
If GBN requests additional information from the Applicant in accordance with paragraph 5.12(c) above, the Applicant must provide a timely response via Jaggaer.
[bookmark: _Ref153995448]Deliberately misleading, false or fraudulent information will lead to the PSQ being non-compliant and disqualification of the relevant Applicant from this Procurement.
Where accessible, checks may be made by GBN of the information submitted by the Applicant with reference to publicly available data.
PSQs must be in English.  However, where original documents provided as supporting information which are not created for the PSQ (e.g. company financial reports) are not in English, the original document should be provided as well as a certified translation. This means that: 
[bookmark: _9kR3WTr26648BL8do8wvwjOTAH89MN846ecBAIL][bookmark: _9kR3WTr2664BERK18z0DEzvxdkyvEDw5EAG348e][bookmark: _9kR3WTr26649AHH63ojiu3z56zfm0xGFy7GCIhd]the translation has been prepared by a member of a professional translation body, such as the Chartered Institute of Linguists, the Institute of Translation and Interpreting, or the Association of Translation Companies; and
the translator must confirm in writing on the translation:
that it is a true and accurate translation of the original document;
the date of the translation; and
their full name, contact details and details of their professional accreditation.
In this regard, only the English version will count towards any page or word counts set out in the PSQ.



I. Exclusion Grounds: Public Procurement
1. [bookmark: _Toc190707080][bookmark: _Toc190707129][bookmark: _Toc190707179]Mandatory Exclusion Grounds
Listed in Procurement Act 2023, Schedule 6. See the Schedule for full text and definitions.
Corporate manslaughter or corporate homicide
An offence under section 1 of the Corporate Manslaughter and Corporate Homicide Act 2007 (corporate manslaughter or corporate homicide).
Terrorism
An offence listed in section 41 or 42 of the Counter-Terrorism Act 2008 (terrorism offences, and offences having a terrorist connection, in respect of which the notification requirements under Part 4 of that Act apply), other than an offence under section 54 of that Act.
Theft, fraud, bribery etc
An offence at common law of conspiracy to defraud. 
An offence under any of the following sections of the Theft Act 1968—
(a)sections 1 to 13 (theft, robbery, burglary, etc);
(b)sections 17 to 21 (fraud and blackmail);
(c)sections 22 and 23 (offences relating to stolen goods);
(d)section 24A (dishonestly retaining a wrongful credit);
(e)section 25 (going equipped for stealing etc).

An offence under section 3 of the Theft Act 1978 (making off without payment).
An offence under section 113 of the Representation of the People Act 1983 (bribery of electors).
An offence under section 178 of the Road Traffic Act 1988 (taking motor vehicle without authority etc).
An offence under section 327, 328 or 329 of the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (money laundering offences).
An offence under section 2, 3, 4, 6 or 7 of the Fraud Act 2006 (fraud offences).
An offence under section 993 of the Companies Act 2006 (fraudulent trading).
An offence under section 1, 2 or 6 of the Bribery Act 2010 (bribery offences).
Labour market, slavery and human trafficking offences
An offence under the Employment Agencies Act 1973 (offences relating to employment agencies) other than an offence under section 9(4)(b) of that Act.
An offence under section 31(1) of the National Minimum Wage Act 1998 (refusal or wilful neglect to pay the national minimum wage).
An offence under the Gangmasters (Licensing) Act 2004 (offences relating to gangmasters).
An offence under section 1, 2, 4 or 30 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 (slavery and human trafficking offences).
An offence under section 27 of the Immigration Act 2016 (failure to comply with labour market enforcement order).
Organised crime
An offence under section 28 of the Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 2010 (agreeing to become involved in serious organised crime).
An offence under section 45 of the Serious Crime Act 2015 (participating in activities of organised crime group).
Tax offences
An offence at common law of cheating the public revenue.
An offence under the law of any part of the United Kingdom consisting of being knowingly concerned in, or in taking steps with a view to, the fraudulent evasion of a tax.
In this paragraph, “tax” means a tax imposed under the law of any part of the United Kingdom, including national insurance contributions under—
(a) Part 1 of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992, or
(b) Part 1 of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits (Northern Ireland) Act 1992.
An offence under section 45 or 46 of the Criminal Finances Act 2017 (failure to prevent facilitation of tax evasion).
Cartel offence
An offence under section 188 of the Enterprise Act 2002 (cartel offence).
Ancillary offences
In relation to an offence otherwise referred to above, any of the following offences—
(a) aiding, abetting, counselling or procuring the commission of the offence;
(b) in Scotland, being art and part in the commission of the offence;
(c) an offence under Part 2 of the Serious Crime Act 2007 (encouraging or assisting crime) in relation to the offence;
(d) inciting a person to commit the offence;
(e) attempting or conspiring to commit the offence.
Offences committed outside the United Kingdom
An offence under the law of a country or territory outside the United Kingdom which would be an offence otherwise referred to in this Part of this Schedule if the conduct constituting that offence was carried out in any part of the United Kingdom.
For the purposes of this paragraph, an act punishable under the law of a country or territory outside the United Kingdom constitutes an offence under that law, however it is described in that law.
National security
A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier in relation to contracts of a particular description if an appropriate authority determines that the supplier or a connected person—
(a) poses a threat to the national security of the United Kingdom, and
(b) would pose such a threat in relation to public contracts of that description.
Misconduct in relation to tax
A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the supplier or a connected person has been liable to a penalty under—
(a) section 69C of the Value Added Tax Act 1994 (transactions connected with VAT fraud) except where the penalty is reduced under section 70 of that Act, or
(b) section 25 of the Finance Act 2003 (evasion of tax or duty).
The supplier or connected person is not to be treated as having been liable to such a penalty unless HMRC has assessed the amount of the penalty and the time for any appeal or further appeal relating to the penalty has expired or, if later, any appeal or final appeal relating to it has been finally determined.
A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier if a penalty has been payable by the supplier or a connected person under—
(a) Schedule 24 to the Finance Act 2007 (errors in tax documentation), or
(b) Schedule 41 to the Finance Act 2008 (failure to notify and certain VAT and excise wrongdoing),
but only where the conduct giving rise to that penalty was deliberate.
Such a penalty is not to be treated as having been payable unless—
(a) if the penalty has been assessed, the time for any appeal or further appeal relating to the penalty has expired or, if later, any appeal or final appeal relating to it has been finally determined, or
(b) a contract has been made between HMRC and the supplier or connected person, under which HMRC undertook not to assess the penalty or (if it was assessed) not to take proceedings to recover it.
A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier if—
(a) the supplier or a connected person has entered into or carried out tax arrangements that are abusive (within the meaning given in section 207 of the Finance Act 2013), and
(b) adjustments have accordingly been made under section 209 of that Act (countering tax advantages), including as it applies under section 10 of the National Insurance Contributions Act 2014.
Adjustments are not to be treated as having been made until they can no longer be challenged, whether on appeal or otherwise.
A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the supplier or a connected person has been found by HMRC, in exercise of its powers in respect of VAT, to have engaged in an abusive practice.
The supplier or connected person is not to be treated as having been found by HMRC to have engaged in those arrangements or practices until the finding can no longer be challenged, whether on appeal or otherwise.
A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the supplier or a connected person has incurred a defeat in respect of notifiable tax arrangements they have entered into.
Competition law infringements
(1) A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the CMA has made a decision under the Competition Act 1998 that the Chapter I prohibition (within the meaning given by section 2 of that Act) has been infringed by an agreement or concerted practice—
(a) to which the supplier or a connected person was party, and
(b) which was a cartel (within the meaning given by paragraph 4(1) of Schedule 8A to that Act).
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply if the CMA did not impose a penalty on the supplier or connected person in respect of the infringement because the supplier or connected person was an immunity recipient (within the meaning given by paragraph 14 of Schedule 8A to the Competition Act 1998).
(3) In this paragraph, references to the CMA include references to a regulator referred to in section 54(1) of the Competition Act 1998 in circumstances where it exercises functions concurrently with the CMA in accordance with that Act.
Failure to cooperate with investigation
A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier if—
an appropriate authority has given the supplier or a connected person notice under section 60(6) of the Procurement Act 2023 (requests for documents or other assistance in connection with investigation),
the supplier or connected person has failed to comply with the notice to the satisfaction of the authority before the end of the period specified in the notice, and
a Minister of the Crown has made a determination that the failure to do so was sufficiently serious so as to warrant constituting a mandatory exclusion ground.
Equivalents outside the United Kingdom
A mandatory exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the supplier or a connected person—
(a) has been subject to a penalty or a decision by a regulator, court or other authority outside the United Kingdom, where the conduct giving rise to that penalty or decision is conduct that would give rise to a penalty or decision referred to in any of paragraphs [1.11] to [1.12] if committed in the United Kingdom, in circumstances where the penalty or decision would be a mandatory exclusion ground, or
(b) has had a tax advantage counteracted outside the United Kingdom, in circumstances where the supplier or connected person would have incurred a defeat of the kind referred to in paragraph [1.11] had the tax advantage arisen in respect of tax payable in the United Kingdom.
[bookmark: _Toc190707081][bookmark: _Toc190707130][bookmark: _Toc190707180]Discretionary Exclusions Grounds
Listed in Procurement Act 2023, Schedule 7. See the Schedule for full text and definitions.
Labour market misconduct
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if any of the following orders has been made 
against the supplier or a connected person—
(a) a slavery and trafficking prevention order, an interim slavery and trafficking prevention order, a slavery and trafficking risk order or an interim slavery and trafficking risk order under Part 2 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015;
(b) a labour market enforcement order under section 18 of the Immigration Act 2016.
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the supplier or a connected person has engaged in conduct outside the United Kingdom that the decision-maker considers could result in any such order being made if the conduct occurred in the United Kingdom.
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the decision-maker considers that there is sufficient evidence that the supplier or a connected person has engaged in conduct (whether in or outside the United Kingdom) constituting (or that would, if it occurred in the United Kingdom, constitute) an offence referred to in—
(a) section 1, 2, 4 or 30 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015.
Environmental misconduct
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if—
(a) the supplier or a connected person has been convicted of an offence (whether in or outside the United Kingdom), and
(b) the conduct constituting the offence caused, or had the potential to cause, significant harm to the environment, including the life and health of plants and animals.
Insolvency, bankruptcy, etc
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the supplier or a connected person has—
(a) become bankrupt,
(b) become subject to insolvency or winding-up proceedings,
(c) had its assets subject to administration or receivership, including by a liquidator or court,
(d) entered into an arrangement with its creditors,
(e) become subject to a petition or application for any such procedures or arrangements, or
(f) in any jurisdiction, been subject to a procedure or an application the decision-maker considers to correspond to any procedure or application mentioned in paragraphs (a) to (e).
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the supplier or a connected person has suspended or ceased carrying on all or a substantial part of its business.
Potential competition law violations
(1) A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the decision-maker considers that an agreement or concerted practice to which the supplier or a connected person is party has infringed—
(a) the Chapter I prohibition (within the meaning given by section 2 of the Competition Act 1998), or
(b) any substantially similar prohibition applicable in a jurisdiction outside the United Kingdom.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply where—
(a) the supplier or connected person is an immunity recipient (within the meaning given by paragraph 14 of Schedule 8A to that Act), or
(b) a regulator or other authority outside the United Kingdom has granted the supplier or connected person immunity from penalties in respect of the infringement.

A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the decision-maker considers that the supplier or a connected person has infringed—
(a) the Chapter II prohibition (within the meaning given by section 18 of the Competition Act 1998), or
(b) any substantially similar prohibition applicable in a jurisdiction outside the United Kingdom.

A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if—
(a) the CMA has made a decision under the Competition Act 1998 that the supplier or a connected person has infringed the Chapter II prohibition, or
(b) a regulator or other authority outside the United Kingdom has made a decision that the supplier or a connected person has infringed any substantially similar prohibition.

(1) A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the decision-maker considers that the supplier or a connected person has engaged in conduct constituting—
(a) an offence under section 188 of the Enterprise Act 2002 (cartel offence), or
(b) a substantially similar offence under the law of a country or territory outside the United Kingdom.
(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply if—
(a) the CMA has given written notice to the supplier or connected person under section 190(4) of the Enterprise Act 2002 (immunity from prosecution for cartel offences) in connection with the conduct, or
(b) a regulator or other authority outside the United Kingdom has determined that the supplier or connected person is immune from prosecution in respect of the conduct.

Professional misconduct
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the decision-maker considers that the supplier or a connected person has engaged in professional misconduct which brings into question the supplier’s integrity.
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if a court, regulator or other authority has ruled that the supplier or connected person has engaged in such professional misconduct.

“Professional misconduct” includes conduct involving—
(a) dishonesty;
(b) impropriety;
(c) a serious breach of ethical or professional standards applicable to the supplier (whether those standards are mandatory or not).

Breach of contract and poor performance
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if—
(a) the supplier has breached a relevant contract, and
(b) the breach was sufficiently serious.

A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if—
(a) a court has ruled that the supplier breached a relevant contract, and
(b) the breach was sufficiently serious.

A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if the supplier—
(a) has not performed a relevant contract to the regulated authority’s satisfaction,
(b) was given proper opportunity to improve performance, and
(c) failed to do so.

A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if a contracting authority has published information under section 71(5) in respect of the supplier (information concerning either breach or poor performance).

Acting improperly in procurement
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if a decision-maker considers that—
(a) the supplier has acted improperly in relation to any procurement, and
(b) in so doing, the supplier put itself at an unfair advantage in relation to the award of a public contract.

A supplier might act improperly in relation to a procurement by—
(a) failing to provide information requested by the contracting authority;
(b) providing information that is incomplete, inaccurate or misleading;
(c) accessing confidential information;
(d) unduly influencing the contracting authority’s decision-making.

National security
A discretionary exclusion ground applies to a supplier if a decision-maker determines that the supplier or a connected person poses a threat to the national security of the United Kingdom. 


[bookmark: _Toc140605767]J. Confidential Information Form
Standard PSQ Template
FOR COMPLETION BY PSQ APPLICANTS
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Appendix A: Bid Team Template
1. In accordance with PSQ Question 28, Applicants are required to provide details of their team working on and/or providing input to the PSQ and the Applicant's preparation for this procurement (including employees, contractors, consultants and professional advisers as far as these are known at this PSQ stage) (‘bid team’) including name, position, role within the Applicant’s bid team for this procurement and employer (if not the Applicant) and confirm that no Conflict of Interest exists for each member of the bid team in accordance with paragraph 12 of Part G of the PSQ. Responses are required in the form of the template given in this PSQ Appendix A.
2. The table below must be completed and returned electronically with the PSQ response. Tenderers are referred to the PSQ for details about completion and the response deadline.
3. The Applicant is permitted to add further rows to this template if deemed necessary.
	Name
	Job Title
	Role / Outline of Responsibilities
	Employer
	Has the named bid team member had any prior involvement in the SMR Programme? (Yes/No)
	If ‘Yes’ please state the date(s) of involvement
(Start Date / End Date)

	
	
	
	
	[Yes / No]
	[mm/yyyy – mm/yyyy]

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	

	Please insert rows for additional Bid Team members if required
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Appendix E: Draft Owner's Engineer Contract




Appendix F: Interim Statement of Requirements 



	Clause ref
	Proposed change in tracked changes
	Justification for change and impact on tender

	
	
	

	
	
	

	
	
	

	
	
	

	
	
	

	
	
	

	
	
	


Appendix G: Material Issues Table
Please insert rows for additional changes if required
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[bookmark: _Hlk190783489]Owner's Engineer Evaluation Briefing Document

Background

This tendering process is for contracting an Owner’s Engineer (OE) as part of Great British Nuclear’s (GBN) Small Modular Reactor (SMR) programme. The OE will provide essential independent assurance to GBN’s SMR Project Intelligent Client (IC), supporting the deployment of first-of-a-kind (FOAK) nuclear technology in the UK and facilitating GBN’s goal to reach a Final Investment Decision (FID) for up to two SMR projects. As such, through this procurement process, GBN intends to award up to two OEs – one per SMR project. Further detail of the role of the OE and the scope of services GBN intends for it to deliver can be found in the [Statement of Requirements].

Route to Market

After undergoing a detailed optioneering exercise, GBN deemed that the chosen route to market for the OE procurement is a Competitive Flexible procedure under the new Procurement Act 23 regulations. The ability to adapt and customise this procurement process is critical to achieving optimal value for money outcomes within the OE procurement.

		Stage 1: Participation Stage



		Selection Questionnaire and Grounds for Exclusions

		Economic and Financial Standing

		Technical and Professional Ability



		Supplier passed to Stage 2 if they fulfil Stage 1 criteria



		Stage 2: Invitation to Tender



		Technical Criteria

		Commercial Criteria

		Social Value Criteria







Procurement Timetable

The estimated timetable for the procurement is as follows: 

		Activity 

		Estimated Start

		Estimated Finish



		Participation (Stage 1) period

		3rd June 2025 

		1st July 2025



		Invitation to Tender (Stage 2) period 

		August 2025 

		September 2025 



		ITT Evaluation period 

		September 2025 

		October 2025 



		Contract award

		March 2026



		Mobilisation 

		March 2026







Stage 1: Participation

The Competitive Flexible procedure has been chosen to allow GBN to customise its procurement process for the Owner’s Engineer to include a Participation Stage (Stage 1). This stage will be used to assess Tenderers based on: 

i. Exclusion grounds; 

ii. Economic and Financial standing; and 

iii. Technical/Legal conditions of participation

The ability for GBN to include a Participation Stage (Stage 1) via the Competitive Flexible procedure enables GBN to ensure that Tenderers have the minimum required capabilities, experience and standards to perform the role effectively.

If the Tenderers pass Stage 1, they will receive the invitation to tender as part of the Stage 2.  

Stage 2: Invitation to Tender

Tenderers will be asked to submit responses against a number of qualitative and cost questions, split into the Technical, Commercial and Social Value envelopes. All envelopes add up to a total of 100% with the following weightings:

· Technical (60%)

· Commercial (30%)

· Social Value (10%)

Each envelope is split into multiple sections. All sections add up to 100%. Each section within each Envelope is split into multiple questions. All questions within a section add up to 100%. 

As part of the Technical evaluation, GBN has elected to design its procurement to include a Technical Interview to open a dialogue with Tenderers. A select number of Tenderers will be invited to take part in the Technical Interview dependent on their score relative to other Tenderers in the overall Stage 2 evaluation. For the avoidance of doubt, the score in question will be the Tenderer’s score across all envelopes.  

The Technical and Social Value envelopes of the tender in Stage 2 will be scored on the basis of GBN’s confidence that the Tenderer can deliver the contract competently. 

		Score

		Threshold



		0%

		Unacceptable



		15%

		Very low confidence



		30%

		Low confidence



		50%

		Moderate confidence



		75%

		High confidence



		100%

		Very high confidence







The Commercial Envelope will be scored on a relative basis to other Tenders. 

The full scoring criteria, methodology and process for submitting Stage 2 responses will be clearly explained in the Invitation to Tender documentation for Stage 2. This will be released to those Tenderers that pass Stage 1 and are invited to tender in Stage 2.

Clarifications

Throughout the entire tendering process, GBN will field clarification questions from Tenderers within stated parameters. All communications with Tenderers will happen via the Jaggaer e-procurement portal. 

Contract Award 

After a comprehensive evaluation and moderation process to determine the winning Tenderer(s) and completing an internal governance process to confirm this decision, GBN will formally award contract(s). A mandatory standstill period will be observed after the contract award date, before a 4-week OE mobilisation period ahead of full delivery of the services.

GBN retains the right to award zero contracts throughout this procurement process and also retains the right to cancel the procurement at any time throughout the procurement process. GBN will not be liable for any Tenderer costs associated with cancelling this procurement at any time and on any grounds. 
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FOREWORD

As we continue to move forward with our ambitious programme at Great British Nuclear, we are seeking to engage with key industry partners to shape the future of our delivery model. Our programme represents a significant opportunity for collaboration in the nuclear sector, and we are eager to work with capable partners who share our vision of making new nuclear projects happen to bring secure, reliable and sustainable energy to the UK whilst retaining a culture of collaboration and safety, both of which are paramount to GBN’s vision. 

This engagement marks an important step in our early market approach, designed to create a transparent and open dialogue with potential Owner’s Engineer providers. In this pack, you will find an introduction to GBN and an overview of our SMR programme objectives. A more detailed section follows, outlining the key responsibilities and complexities associated with the role of Owner’s Engineers within this context. We recognise that this role requires a high level of technical expertise, and we are committed to ensuring that our approach reflects the capabilities and insights of the market.

Finally, we have included a series of questions aimed at understanding the market's appetite for involvement in our programme. These questions will help us gather intelligence that may influence our procurement strategy and ensure that the delivery model we construct is aligned with the industry's strengths and capabilities.

We encourage all participants to engage openly and provide thoughtful responses to the questions posed. Your insights will be invaluable as we continue to refine our approach and lay the groundwork for a successful partnership. We look forward to hearing from you and exploring opportunities to collaborate on this exciting venture. 

Thank you for taking the time to review this early market engagement pack. We appreciate your participation and look forward to your feedback.



Beverley Grey

Commercial Director, Great British Nuclear 
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Glossary

		Acronym		Term

		COD		Commercial Operation Date

		DevCo		Development Company

		DESNZ		Department for Energy Security and Net Zero

		DP		Delivery Partner

		FID		Final Investment Decision

		FOAK		First Of A Kind

		GBN		Great British Nuclear

		GW		Gigawatt

		HMG		His Majesty’s Government

		LOD		Line of Defence

		OE		Owner’s Engineer

		PM&I		Project Management & Integration

		PMO		Project Management Office

		SMR		Small Modular Reactor

		TP		Technology Partner (including Responsible Designer)
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DISCLAIMER

Participants shall be responsible for and bear their own costs, charges and expenses relating to the preparation and expression of interest in this market engagement. 

Participants are bound by the terms of the Non-Disclosure Agreement entered into prior to receiving this early market engagement pack. In respect of Owner’s Engineer market engagement, save as specifically permitted by the terms of the NDA, such information must not be copied, reproduced, distributed or passed to any other person at any time.

This market engagement exercise is an informal exercise and does not indicate a commitment to progress to a procurement, contract or other commercial activity.  
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PURPOSE OF THIS ENGAGEMENT
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1.1 Purpose of this engagement

Great British Nuclear (GBN) is seeking to informally obtain early market feedback on its proposed approach to procuring up to two Owner’s Engineers. 

This pack aims to provide a brief introduction to GBN and the Owner’s Engineer approach being considered, to secure near- and long-term independent assurance capability which is a key function within the proposed delivery model. 

This exercise aims to provide necessary background information to participants to support their submission of responses.

Feedback will be utilised to help inform GBN’s intended approach to evolving the Owner’s Engineer delivery model by building upon our understanding of key factors that will shape it, including but not limited to: scope, risk, conflicts of interest, commercial contracting and associated procurement process, collaboration and incentive mechanisms.

This pack includes questions in relation to which GBN is seeking a response from participants. 

Any documentation issued by GBN as part of this current Early Market Engagement exercise will also be published at the time of a formal procurement process to ensure equality of information to non-participants in this exercise.

Note: The information contained within this pack reflects the current options under consideration by GBN. We reserve the right to amend and/or update the Owner’s Engineer delivery model and these options in future.
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1.2 timeline

Issue Invitation and NDA

		Nov 24		Dec 24		Jan 25		Feb 25		Mar 25						



Execution of NDAs

Issue of Early Market Engagement Information Pack

Supplier Review and Response Time [15 working days]

GBN Review of Responses

GBN/Supplier 1:1 engagement as required







GBN Post Engagement Review

Conclusion of Early Market Engagement 



















		Nov 24		Dec 24		Jan 25		Feb 25		Mar 25						
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INTRODUCTION TO GBN
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2.1 Introduction to great British nuclear

GBN was officially launched in 2023 to rejuvenate the UK’s nuclear industry and drive forward the delivery of the nuclear programme.



https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/civil-nuclear-roadmap-to-2050 
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INTRODUCTION TO THE SMR PROJECT
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SMR Programme Objectives

3.1 Introduction to the smr project

GBN’s Portfolio objectives are to deliver (up to) 24GW of New Nuclear generating capacity by 2050.

GBN’s SMR Programme objectives are to:

Demonstrate that SMRs can be deployed reliably, quickly and in a repeatable manner, supporting future fleet deployment.

Deliver up to two SMR projects progressing to Financial Investment Decision (FID), with a view to COD in the mid-2030s

Promote the growth of the UK’s nuclear development capability and market.

Address the delivery challenge faced by the nuclear industry by:

reducing the overall capital cost,

reducing overall construction risk and length utilising modern methods of construction, 

streamlining design replication.

Support the inclusion of a significant proportion of systems and structures designed for modularisation, factory assembly and flexible logistics solutions.

Procure SMR technologies within delivery models that benefit Social Value imperatives.

Deliver a robust project framework underpinned by key regulatory, economic and commercial considerations in laying a credible basis for future, repeatable SMR deployment, in order to attract private sector investment for both the FOAK project(s) (private finance at FID being an objective) as well as future fleets.



DESNZ

GBN

SMR Programme

Other Programmes (future TBD)

SMR Project 1*

SMR Project 2*

*GBN reserve the right to award up to 4 projects, but GBN’s intent is to award 2.
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		Financing												

		Organisational												

		Project Delivery												

														

		Tranche 1		Tranche 2a		Tranche 2b		Tranche 3a		Tranche 3b		Tranche 3c		Tranche 4

		The project is defined, delivery team is established, governance structures are put in place, key roles and responsibilities are assigned and resource mobilisation is underway.		The project design is moved through concept and preliminary stage, with fundamental design decisions agreed, initial safety principals established, and early planning for delivery (including identification of long lead items) is underway. 
Design maturity commensurate to support the early needs of the planning and consenting programme is delivered.		The detailed design is completed, along with supporting safety, security, and environmental justifications. All necessary works to support early site mobilisation, procurement of delivery contracts, and delivery estimates of cost, schedule and risk are completed.		All necessary site works to support nuclear construction are completed, including site preparation, enabling works, associated developments and bulk earthworks.		The SMR plant is constructed, assembled, manufactured and installed on site, along with the completion of all other main project construction works.		The plant is commissioned, with nuclear fuel loaded and grid synchronisation completed. 
The operating organisation is fully developed in preparation for commercial operations.		The SMR plant enters commercial operation and is operated and maintained for its lifetime. 



Phases



Project Initiation Stage Gate

1. Initiation

4. Operations

1. Project Establishment

2a. Initial Planning

4. Operations

2b. Detailed Planning

2. Definition

3. Execution

3a. Non-nuclear Construction

3b. Nuclear Construction

3c. Commissioning

Tranches

Milestones



Preliminary Design Complete Stage Gate



Detailed Design Complete Stage Gate



Commercial Operations



Final Investment Decision



First Nuclear Construction



MM2



MM3



MM4

3.2 SMR Project Phases, Tranches and Milestones
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3.3 Introduction to the smr project

GBN’s intent initially is to deliver up to two SMR projects. The intention is that there will be one DevCo appointed in respect of each SMR project, which 

will be initially formed within GBN.



A strategic decision will be taken prior to/around FID for one DevCo per technology/SMR project, based on; scale, requirement for single focus and to ‘ring-fence’ individual TP’s IP/know-how to safeguard value leakage. 

 

Potential trigger points for the transition: 



Nuclear Site Licence requirements driving need for SMR project standalone capability pre-FID

The introduction of private finance requiring a DevCo special purpose vehicle for the privately financed project.

Technology Partner 2

Technology Partner 1

GBN

SMR Project 1

SMR Project 2





 



SMR Project 1

SMR Project 2

DevCo 1

DevCo 2

Technology Partner 2

Technology Partner 1





(Future state) 





Start state: 

GBN launch individual SMR integrated project teams (journey to FID).

Structured from the outset with the intent to transfer into two DevCos at appropriate point

Future state: 

Individual DevCos to manage the delivery of either an SMR project post-FID or a subsequent fleet of SMRs of the same technology. 

Delivery Partner and supply contracts operate within respective project(s)
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3.4 Gateway reviews
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PROPOSED ENTERPRISE MODEL
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4.1 Enterprise model hierarchy

DESNZ

GBN

Project DevCo (DevCo Client)



Delivery Partner

Supply Chain







		Organisation		Description		Role(s)		Primary Responsibilities

		DESNZ		DESNZ sets the policy and strategic
direction and approves business case(s)		Strategic governance
Programme sponsor		Policy and legislation development

		GBN		GBN secures the funding, generates and owns the business case, specifies requirements for DevCo (Client), and holds DevCo accountable for delivery		Project sponsor
Programme owner		Technology selection
Site selection and acquisition
SMR programme management
Project DevCo establishment

		Project DevCo
(DevCo Client)		DevCo (the Client) is responsible for delivering the outturn benefits required by GBN.
(This will initially be undertaken by GBN until the function is transferred to DevCo)		Project developer
Overall project integrator
Nuclear Site Licensee
Design Authority
Intelligent Customer /
Intelligent Client		Securing project finance
Procurement of Project Agreements
Safety / environmental / security case ownership
Securing necessary planning consents and permits
Future plant Operations

		Delivery Partner (DP)		Organisation that works with the DevCo in specific capacities providing key project delivery capability which may include technical and delivery integration of the full scope.		Project Director
Delivery Integrator
Technical Integrator
Supply Chain Integrator 		Delivery Integration (PM, PMO, H&S) 
Commercial Management & Procurement
Baseline & Change Management
Construction Management 
Technical Integration & Interface management

		Supply Chain		Organisation(s) appointed by the DevCo to deliver the project in line with requirements		Construction
Engineering		Non-nuclear Design
Construction



Enterprise Hierarchy
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Transition of role in the Enterprise model

4.2 Enterprise Model evolution



Foundation Capability
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PROPOSED SCOPE AND ROLE PROFILES

5
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5.1 Outline of Role of OWNER’s Engineer(s)

The OE will be stood up alongside the foundation organisation and will transition to support the DevCo enduring capability. 

It is expected that the OE will perform the following role(s), having DevCo’s interest as their primary focus as the client friend: 

Provide independent comment on technical and commercial aspects of the project (e.g. cost, schedule, risk).

Be the DevCo Intelligent Customer’s independent expertise provider, with the OE developed in a collaborative manner whilst DevCo retains the controlling mind. Where appropriate, this may include LOD2 assurance and support decisions relating to scope, budget, risk, delivery, and contract compliance, supporting deep dives into areas of perceived high risk. 

Provide independent advice to changes/decisions above LOD1 delegated levels of authority that require approval as part of governance process. 

Supplement the DevCo Intelligent Customer-employed capability by having access to industry appropriately trained and experienced professionals, including access to independent light water reactor technology knowledge. 
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5.2 Outline of Scope of owner’s engineer(s)

It is anticipated that the selected OE will work with the IC to develop a schedule of planned activities and remain available to support emergent and unscheduled activities. SMR TPs have not been selected, and SMR project baseline schedules have not been set.  Therefore, the scope of the OE is at an outline definition in relation to the programme sections below; these core services are relevant to the whole scope of the Project (i.e. TP and non-TP). 



Design Assurance



OE Scope Coverage

Review of the Contractor(s) Master Information Delivery List and identification of deliverables to be submitted for review / approval in support of the IC. 

Review and acceptance of project deliverables in support of the IC. 

Assurance of compliance of design deliverables

Assurance of changes/deviations to design submissions and audit reports. 

Assurance of compliance with the Client’s Requirements and Contractor’s Proposal. 

Assurance of compliance with planning/consenting conditions. 

Assurance of compliance with additional requirements, as applicable. 

Attendance at key design and safety reviews / milestones, including project gated reviews, constructability reviews, HAZOP reviews, Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) reviews, and Construction Design and Management (CDM) reviews. 

Support to the management of Project requirements, including technical advice on any changes to these requirements throughout delivery. 

Review and technical support to the production of contracts / technical specifications / performance requirements for Owner’s Scope work packages.

Assurance on construction and commissioning activities to ensure compliance with all relevant requirements. 

Review of Inspection and Test Plans (ITPs) (or equivalent) covering manufacturing, assembly, construction activities and identification of key witness and hold points. 

Attendance at manufacturing and assembly witness and hold points. 

Attendance at site to monitor and review construction and commissioning progress, including attendance at key activities and milestones during construction and commissioning (including work package handovers). 

Review of key construction and commissioning documentation (records, certificates, quality assurance documentation etc.). 

Review of relevant takeover documentation and assurance that this documentation meets all client, end user, and external stakeholder requirements. 

Construction

Assurance of delivery compliance with Project requirements, including schedule, quality arrangements, HSE arrangements etc. 

Review and support to the production of contracts / specifications / performance requirements for Owner’s Scope packages. 

Review of weekly/monthly progress reporting from the Contractor(s). 

Assurance of integrated project estimates of time, cost, and risk. 

Review and support with the IC’s strategic risk identification and mitigation planning. 

Delivery

Provision of ad-hoc technical and delivery support resources as needed by the Client to support / supplement the client capability at various times during the delivery of the project. 

Review and assure any Contractor proposals on behalf of the IC, including any suggestions for improvements to technical requirements to help GBN assess whether they should be integrated or not. 

Assistance in the preparation of any technical documentation required for the IC to demonstrate their position if requested by external stakeholders.  

Additional Resource Support
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5.3 Outline Capabilities of owner’s engineer(s)

The appointed Owner’s Engineer(s) would be expected to evidence the following capabilities: 

*This is a non-exhaustive list at present. 

1. Chemistry

2. Civil Engineering

3. Control & Instrumentation

4. Criticality

5. Protective/Cyber Security (incl. Security by design)

6. Decommissioning

7. Electrical Engineering

8. External Hazards

9. Fault Studies

10. Fuel & Core Design

11. Human Factors

12. Internal Hazards

13. Leadership and Management for Safety, Supply Chain and Quality



14. Mechanical Engineering

15. Safety Case Analysis and Techniques (incl. Safety by design)

16. Severe Accident Analysis (SAA)

17. Probabilistic Safety Analysis (PSA)

18. Radiological Protection and Emergency Planning & Response

19. Radioactive Waste Management

20. Reactor Core Physics

21. Safeguards (incl. Safeguards by design)

22. Structural Integrity 

23. Requirements Management 



24. Environmental Protection

25. Engineering Management

26. EQ

27. BAT

28. System Engineering

29. Conventional Waste

30. Construction, incl. CDM

31. Commissioning

32. Radiation Protection Advisors

33. Training

34. Operator Capability



1. Full SMR plant lifecycle  

2. Planning and Scheduling

3. Cost Estimating and Cost Management

4. Risk Management

5. Scope Management

6. Change Management 

7. NEC Contracts





TECHNICAL

PROGRAMME DELIVERY
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5.4 guiding principles

The SMR Project OE role is to support the DevCo to ensure that: 

The project is licensable, investible and deliverable to specification and schedule - supporting DevCo to minimise costs, by bringing well-co-ordinated sustainable capability, experienced in delivering value for money nuclear technology projects.

The design is managed and developed effectively, with nuclear safety, radiological safety or the security of nuclear materials significant work carried out to the required level of Safety, Security, Safeguards, Environmental protection (SSSE) and quality by demonstrably suitably competent adequate resources, underpinned by a management system that promotes a positive SSSE culture, learning and relevant standards.

The understanding and maintenance of the design intent and its safe operating envelope is maintained through the plant delivery lifecycle into construction, commissioning, and operations, meeting the expectations of UK regulatory relevant good practice, whilst avoiding preferential engineering.

The contractor (e.g. TP and other contractors) deliverables are robust through effective review, representing DevCo (where delegated), and later where appropriate, supporting negotiations, audit, procurement activities and independent evaluation
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5.5 Conflicts of interest

GBN is aware of the potential participation of some organisations and their supply chains in the Technology Selection Process, and other GBN procurements such as the Owner’s Engineer, Foundation Project Management and Commercial Capability, Project Delivery Partner, Foundation Engineering Capability and Civils/Infrastructure. 

As such, GBN intends to include additional rules relating to the management of actual, potential, and perceived conflicts of interest in some of its upcoming procurements to facilitate the DevCo Delivery Model. These rules will be clearly set out at the Invitation to Tender stage.

GBN considers that it will be necessary to include these additional rules due to the interdependencies as between certain contracts and, in particular, in some cases GBN will be appointing contractors who will be responsible for performing an oversight role. 

For example, both the Owner's Engineer and Project Delivery Partner will be responsible for managing certain aspects of the performance of the TP Contract. Therefore, to avoid conflicts of interest, GBN proposes that the TP for a Project cannot also be the Owner's Engineer or Project Delivery Partner for that Project. 
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		Intelligent Client 
& Assurance  Partner 		

				

		Delivery   Partner(s)		

		Suppliers		



5.6 role profiles | overview

CONCEPTUAL SMR PROJECT DELIVERY MODEL

Delivery Assurance

Owner’s Engineer (Technical + Delivery)

Delivery Partner

Technical Integration 

(Could be part of Delivery Partner depending on option selected)

Technology Partner

Other Suppliers 

(Owner’s Scope)

Procurement & Contract Mgmt

Delivery Management & Project Controls

Delivery Integration











DevCo Enterprise

Technical Assurance



The scope of this early market engagement exercise relates to the Owner’s Engineer construct. 

Technical Integrator



SP1

SP2



Supply Chain Packages (to be defined and procured)











DevCo 

Intelligent Customer/Client

DA
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5.7 DEVCO ROLE profiles | OWNER’S ENGINEER

CONCEPTUAL SMR PROJECT DELIVERY MODEL

Delivery Assurance

Delivery Partner

Technical Integration 

(Could be part of Delivery Partner depending on option selected)

Technology Partner

Other Suppliers 

(Owner’s Scope)

Procurement & Contract Mgmt

Delivery Management & Project Controls

Delivery Integration











Technical Assurance

		The Owner’s Engineer plays the role of subject matter experts to support independent technical and delivery LOD 2 assurance on major design and build contracts. The OE acts as a ‘client friend’ on the technical side of the project, supporting decisions relating to scope, budget, risk, delivery, and contract compliance, supporting deep dives into areas of perceived high risk.		

		Enabling 		Provide support on safety cases, NSL. environment & security cases, permitting, licensing, asset management, etc.
Provide assurance to changes/decisions above LOD1 delegated levels of authority that require approval as part of governance process.
Deliver assurance and advice to enable the ‘delivery enterprise’ to be successful, and when necessary, provide support/advice to help mitigate emerging risks.
Provide independent LOD2 assurance to technical design and project delivery (e.g. cost and schedule estimating)

		Supporting		Provide support on developing environmental strategy, digital strategy, IMM strategy, etc.

		Project Delivery		Provide necessary technical oversight of any Partner(s) / supply chain providing Project and Technical services
Provide technical oversight to engineering design, constructability, modularisation and configuration management
Act as DevCo representative (where appropriately delegated) at technical hold points, design reviews, H&S reviews, construction, testing and commissioning activities
Provide technical support to the intelligent client on strategy development, key technical standards definition and high-level project requirements development



ROLE, AND OUTLINE SCOPE OF SERVICES



				

				

		Delivery   Partner(s)		

		Suppliers		



DevCo 

Intelligent Customer/Client

DevCo Enterprise

DA

Intelligent Client 



Owner’s Engineer (Technical + Delivery)

Assurance Partner
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5.8 ROLE profiles | Devco intelligent client/Customer

CONCEPTUAL SMR PROJECT DELIVERY MODEL

Delivery Assurance

Owner’s Engineer (Technical + Delivery)

Delivery Partner

Technical Integration 

(Could be part of Delivery Partner depending on option selected)

Technology Partner

Other Suppliers 

(Owner’s Scope)

Procurement & Contract Mgmt

Delivery Management & Project Controls

Delivery Integration











Technical Assurance

		The Intelligent Customer/Client is the licensee, owner and a potential future operator of the SMR plant. They must be focused on delivering ‘successful’ major infrastructure aligned to Sponsor expectations and capable of specifying requirements to all key contracting parties and managing delivery outcomes. It will do so by owning strategies, procuring the right partners, and setting clear objectives and requirements of partners to deliver against, whilst providing supporting functions for overall SMR project delivery.		

		Enabling 		Own/manage the project interface with the ONR/EA and other regulatory bodies.
Provide LOD2 commercial assurance
Provide ownership and oversight of regulations compliance, consents, construction licensing & permitting
Discharge CDM duties (incl. appointing PDs & PCs, defining interfaces for PDs & PCs, and conducting competency assessments)
Develop and own strategies related to safety, health, security & environment and quality
Apply for and hold, the Nuclear Site Licence (NSL), including development and maintaining necessary safety capabilities to act as responsible licensee (including Design Authority)

		Supporting		Provide financial management and planning services for SMR project (financial modelling, budgeting, reporting, funding, etc.) 
Provide corporate services, around HR, Finance, IT, Business Change (aligned with broader GBN services across DevCos)
Develop and own strategies related to ESG, EDI, digital and IMM
Develop HMT business cases and manage ext. stakeholder engagement, comms & approvals
Set commercial and procurement strategy incl. partner incentivisation, procure partner contracts
Establish the necessary organisational capabilities and governance arrangements to discharge the requirements of Nuclear Site Licence (NSL) and other relevant permits and consents

		Project Delivery		Manage internal and external commercial governance
Manage Partner contracts & agreements
Define SMR project objectives, partner KPIs, review & endorse supply chain KPIs and incentivisation
Own and manage L0 project controls activities (cost, risk and schedule) 
Provide oversight on SMR project management and supply chain management, project controls, integration & construction delivery
Define SMR operations & requirements (operations & maintenance) and develop operational readiness, licensing and transition management plan



ROLE, AND OUTLINE SCOPE OF SERVICES



				

				

		Delivery   Partner(s)		

		Suppliers		





DevCo Enterprise

Intelligent Client 

DevCo 

Intelligent Customer/Client

DA
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		Intelligent Client 
& Assurance  Partner 		

				

		Delivery   Partner(s)		

		Suppliers		



5.9 role profiles | delivery partner

CONCEPTUAL SMR PROJECT DELIVERY MODEL

Delivery Assurance

Owner’s Engineer (Technical + Delivery)

Delivery Partner

Technical Integration 

(Could be part of Delivery Partner depending on option selected)

Technology Partner

Other Suppliers 

(Owner’s Scope)

Procurement & Contract Mgmt

Delivery Management & Project Controls

Delivery Integration











DevCo Enterprise

Technical Assurance

		The Delivery Partner provides overall delivery integration and management, covering the full scope of the SMR project. This includes integration, co-ordination, interface management, LoD1 assurance, and management of project baselines of cost, risk, scope, and schedule. Although the DevCo will likely be the contractual counterparty for the supply chain contracts, the Delivery Partner will project manage and integrate delivery of these contracts. 		

		Enabling 		Provide LOD1 technical, delivery and commercial assurance of suppliers’ delivery
Support the intelligent client (IC) on managing regulatory interfaces and obtaining required NSL, consents and permits
Manage and coordinate necessary inputs to support licencing activities from Suppliers
Develop and implement SMR project strategies/plans to control safety, quality, and the environmental aspects of the project, in compliance with DevCo IC policies, ensuring the Suppliers comply with these arrangements in delivering their work.

		Supporting		Provide necessary inputs to supporting functions, including funding approvals (e.g. programme business cases), benefits realisation and corporate reporting.
Manage Supplier payments on behalf of IC
Implement DevCo Enterprise policies and strategies within its own teams, and the Supply Chain
Provide support to IC where needed (e.g. definition of IT systems requirement, development of  operation readiness plan, aligning suppliers to SMR project culture, managing benefits realisation, etc.)
Manage and report on DP KPIs and supplier KPIs

		Project Delivery		Manage project delivery within delegated authorities and reporting into project governance
Deploy management arrangements (including associated systems and tools for example contract management) to ensure effective delivery integration and manage interfaces between Suppliers including Engineering and Design packages (the current model does not include a requirement for non-nuclear design. This is being provided by a separate supplier.)
Manage supplier contracts and commercial incentives in conjunction with IC
Provide support to IC where needed (e.g. development of packaging and procurement strategies, development of project delivery strategies, supplier procurement activities, etc.)
Manage Procurement activity on behalf of the DevCo
Manage supplier delivery against SMR project strategies and ensure requirements compliance
Review constructability and modularisation and manage construction planning and logistics
Certify works completion and acceptance aligned to supplier contract scope
Provide project management and project controls (L1+) to ensure integrated management and delivery.



ROLE, AND OUTLINE SCOPE OF SERVICES



DevCo 

Intelligent Customer/Client

DA
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5.10 ROLE profiles | suppliers

CONCEPTUAL SMR PROJECT DELIVERY MODEL

Delivery Assurance

Delivery Partner

Technical Integration 

(Could be part of Delivery Partner depending on option selected)

Technology Partner

Other Suppliers 

(Owner’s Scope)

Procurement & Contract Mgmt

Delivery Management & Project Controls

Delivery Integration











Technical Assurance

		The Supply Chain, consisting of the Technology Partner, Technical Integrator (could be part of Delivery Partner dependent upon option selected) and other suppliers providing Owner’s Scope, is responsible for the delivery of the integrated technical design and supply of the SMR Plant, delivered in accordance with the requirements of the DevCo and under the management of the Delivery Partner.		

		Enabling 		Provide LoD 0 technical, delivery and commercial assurance (i.e. self-assurance) of their own delivery activities 
Provide necessary inputs, including safety case contributions, to support the DevCo on its activities.
Comply with requirements of all relevant permits and consents
Comply with CDM regulations and SMR project strategies and requirements

		Supporting		Comply with management arrangements and strategies set by DevCo and DP in the delivery scope
Provide project information and reporting as required

		Project Delivery		Deliver all scope required for design and construction of the SMR Project(s) aligned to DevCo’s requirements and standards 
Manage and coordinate all design and construction within contract boundaries 
Comply with all relevant project delivery processes and procedures
Identify technical interfaces and manage technical integration for design, construction, installation & commissioning for all TP / Supplier interfaces (where not managed within TP / Supplier contract boundaries)
Deliver testing, commissioning and validation of direct and sub-contracted scope
Management of subcontracted scope delivery
Provide inputs into Project Controls as required by the DP (typically at L3+)
Support DP on integrated planning, interface management, inter-contract management,  site-wide construction logistics management
Manage construction logistics for direct and sub-contracted scope 



ROLE, AND OUTLINE SCOPE OF SERVICES



		Intelligent Client 
& Assurance  Partner 		

				

		Delivery   Partner(s)		

		Suppliers		



DevCo Enterprise

Owner’s Engineer (Technical + Delivery)

DevCo 

Intelligent Customer/Client

DA
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6.1 Proposed delivery approach Options

It is expected that each OE will provide a ‘Core Team’ to build the relationship and act as the bridge between the OE and the IC. The ‘Core Team’ will primarily:

Manage the master schedule of OE activities (including collaboration with the IC on identification of ‘drumbeat’ activities and response to short notice and unplanned activities). 

In collaboration with the IC, estimate the scope for task sheets required to conduct OE activities. 

Maintain the OE capability/resource database, including personnel training/experience/competence and conflict of interest. 

Project manage the Consultant’s provision of the OE capability. 



The expectation is that these individuals should be experienced in assurance of infrastructure project delivery with excellent leadership skills and are confident working across multiple disciplines, including engagement with legal, finance and commercial workstreams.

The IC and OE may agree to review and revise the Core Team over the contract duration as requirements develop. The OE may propose additional responsibilities for a Core Team that effectively and efficiently meets the requirements of the scope of this contract.

The Core Team will co-ordinate and oversee requirements for Subject Matter Experts (SMEs) from within the Supplier’s organisation or subcontracts. Whilst the OE is expected to provide a consistent level of support to GBN throughout the length of the contract, the use of reach-back capability from SMEs will flex in line with the activities being undertaken at different stages.

The OE will be required to flex their resource to meet the IC’s requirements based on an annualised schedule that they will work collaboratively to determine. These annualised schedules will form work packages which the IC will issue to the OE (in alignment with the end of the financial year). 

The IC will ‘call-off’ against the skills, capabilities and activities listed in the OE Specification to deliver the work packages as they are defined. This allows the IC to rely on the OE’s flexibility to support emergent and unscheduled LOD2 activities in addition to those anticipated and scoped.  

Any consultant must be able to implement both a dedicated OE function to provide consistent interpretation and approach to OE activities, whilst also demonstrating sufficient flexible reach-back that will add expertise in a wide range of areas as required.









         CONFIDENTIAL | Early Market Engagement | Great British Nuclear

‹#›

OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

PROPOSED COMMERCIAL STRUCTURE

7









       

‹#›

OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

7.1 Proposed contracting model

GBN intends to adopt a traditional contracting arrangement for Stage 1 (Design) of the SMR Programme – Delivery Partner(s) integrating the supply chain contracts and will manage each contract individually.

The Owner’s Engineer will have a contractual relationship solely with GBN/the DevCo. 





		Traditional Contracting Arrangement ​

		The DevCo is the primary contracting entity. In this arrangement, the Owner’s Engineer has a contractual relationship with only the DevCo, who itself has contractual relationships with the suite of supporting contracts involved in the SMR programme.​



DevCo

Supporting Contracts

Owner’s Engineer
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7.2 PROCUREMENT approach Options

		Approach Description		Advantages		Disadvantages		Timescales		Suitability for the Owner’s Engineer procurement

		Open Procedure		Contractual Autonomy
Access to the whole market
Straightforward and quicker than competitive flexible		Higher administrative burden
Lacks flexibility of Competitive Flexible
		Generally, a minimum period of 25 days at tender stage (without pre-qualification), but in practice, the authority needs to have regard to the nature and complexity of the contract
Standstill period of at least 10 days between publication of contract award notice and contract signature		Medium: Maximises supplier pool and exhibits a degree of autonomy. 

		Competitive Flexible		Contractual Autonomy
Access to the whole market
Flexibility in procurement process design – ability to add elements of dialogue		Higher administrative burden
More time consuming
Unknowns of operating under new regulations
				High: Flexibility and autonomy afforded is beneficial, in addition to suitability of a longer contract term.


		Existing Frameworks		Quicker than open
Pre-qualified suppliers		Restricted capabilities that don’t fully align with requirement
Contract term
Less control and flexibility over documentation		Generally, a minimum of 25 days for pre-qualification
Generally, a minimum period of 25 days at tender stage without pre-qualification, but in practice authority needs to have regard to the nature and complexity of the contract when setting the time limit
Standstill period of at least 8 working days between publication of contract award notice and contract signature
		Low: Scope and capability challenges offset the benefits of a more expedient procurement.



The procurement route will take an option under the new Procurement Act 2023 (due to ‘go live’ in Oct ’24 although HMG has announced a new date for the commencement of 24 February 2025) the choices of Open Procedure and Existing Frameworks will also be considered.

The initial view of GBN is that the Competitive Flexible Procedure under the new Procurement Act 2023 will be the favoured procurement route. 

 

--:--
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Pricing model

7.3 Pricing model

The pricing and incentivisation model GBN intends to employ uses the contract mechanisms of the NEC4 PSC contract aligned to risk allocation and scope element.

Activities will be ordered from the Owner’s Engineer in two ways using the relevant NEC PSC Option:

Option A (Priced contract with activity schedule), 

Option C (Target contract)

Option E (Cost reimbursable for ad-hoc activity).

If work is instructed as option E then the input resources (hours and rates) will be determined in the instruction and a detailed schedule of activities set out.
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7.4 Alliance

GBN may wish to use an Alliance model approach, with progressive introduction from the design phase (pre-FID) through to the supply phase (post FID) with a combined incentive mechanism to promote end to end value.

GBN does not expect the Owner’s Engineer to form part of the Alliance. The contractual relationship exists solely between the DevCo and the Owner’s Engineer.

The Owner’s Engineer will be ringfenced from any shared incentives that are set aside for the Alliance, in order to maintain independence and incentivise the correct behaviours.
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7.5 CONTRACT approach Options

GBN are in the process of the development of the scope and specification of the Owner’s Engineer requirements including:

Key interfaces between the Owner’s Engineer, the Technology Partner, the Delivery Partner, the DevCo’s (including the Operator) and the Supply Chain,

the Owner’s Engineer role (detailed scope and responsibilities) pre and post FID,

Risk sharing model,

Payment and Incentivisation mechanisms.

It is anticipated that the contractual model will be based upon NEC4 Professional Services Contract, using a combination of Options A, C and E. 

GBN intends to mobilise an Owner’s Engineer ‘Core Team’, which is a small number of FTEs to embed into the organisation and to be mobilised from Day 1 of the contract. Their job will be to facilitate and build the relationship between GBN and the OE – i.e. help the OE to become the client friend for the DevCo.  

The Core Team will also work with GBN to collaboratively create annualised schedules of work in alignment with each financial year and TP gateway reviews, which will form work packages that dictate the Owner’s Engineer’s activities throughout the life of the contract. These activities will be ‘called-off’ from an output-based specification.

The scope of service duration for the Owner’s Engineer is intended to be linked to the duration of the project, which is anticipated to be c.10 years. The contract will include certain termination rights for the client which will be shared with bidders at tender stage. 
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GBN QUESTIONS FOR PARTICIPANTS
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		#		Question		Suggested response length

				Role of the Owner’s Engineer		6 pages

		1		What core scope, capability and responsibilities do you believe should be included as part of the Owner’s Engineer for a nuclear power plant project? 		

		2		What factors contribute to an efficient and effective Owner’s Engineer role?		

		3		What are the key risks you see in the proposed manner of delivering the Owner’s Engineer requirement? 		

		4		Will your organisation need to form a joint venture, either incorporated or unincorporated, (on a joint and several basis) with others to provide the solution? 

Or would your organisation's approach be to provide the majority of with support from your supply chain? If an alternative arrangement would be utilised, please describe it as far as you are able. 		

		5		Please describe any approaches to Client/Consultant IT systems you have seen or would expect to see in projects akin to this. Did the Consultant provide systems for adoption and use by Client or did Consultant personnel use Client systems? 		



8.1 Questions to Participants
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		#		Question		Suggested response length

				Contracting Strategy		3 pages

		6		Do you consider the NEC 4 PSC form of contract the most efficient for services of this nature? If the answer is no, what would you suggest as an alternative? 		

		7		In terms of contract duration, do you consider that there is an appropriate duration or phasing that would provide an optimum balance between ‘protection’ for both parties and the ability to provide more competitive pricing? 		

		8		Do you consider that there are any elements of the outline scope that may be suitable/unsuitable for a target cost approach, and do you consider there are any elements of the outline scope that may be more suitable for a fixed price or cost reimbursable approach?		

				Number of Owner’s Engineers		2 pages

		9		What are your thoughts on your organisation’s ability to perform an Owner’s Engineer role for two SMR projects?		

		10		What risks are associated with one Owner’s Engineer assuring two independent SMR projects?		



8.2 Questions to Participants









         CONFIDENTIAL | Early Market Engagement | Great British Nuclear

‹#›

OFFICIAL

OFFICIAL

		#		Question		Suggested response length

				Alliancing		2 pages

		11		What are your views on the use of an alliancing model approach in the context of an Owner’s Engineer?		

		12		Can you advise what you consider are the key benefits/disadvantages of such an arrangement specifically around risk allocation?		

				Pricing		2 pages

		13		What are your views on the number of rate cards required for effective pricing? For example, a single rate card for a consortium, or separate rate cards for core vs specialist resources? How many separate rate cards may be required?		

				Incentivisation		3 pages

		14		Are there prior shared incentivisation models that you would consider have worked particularly well (or not well)?		

		15		What Key Performance Indicators would you consider appropriate for an Owner’s Engineer requirement delivered as proposed? Please provide a list and any rationale. 		



8.3 Questions to Participants
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		#		Question		Suggested response length

				Contract Management		2 pages

		16		Please comment on how you see the relationship and ways of working between the Client/Sponsor and the Owner’s Engineer functioning in the proposed delivery model. 		

		17		How would you propose to ensure effective communication and collaboration between all stakeholders proposed in the delivery model shown? 		

				Costing		1 page

		18		Are you able to share what percentage of overall project cost you would expect of an Owner’s Engineer? If possible, could you provide an example of a project you have been a part of in past? 		

				Liability		2 pages

		19		What type of liability would you expect an Owner’s Engineer to take in the proposed delivery model? What warranties would you expect an Owner’s Engineer to provide? Conversely, what liabilities would you not expect an Owner’s Engineer to take? 		



8.4 Questions to Participants
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		#		Question		Suggested response length

				Market Capacity		2 pages

		20		What is your capacity in the current market to provide Owner’s Engineer services? What capability and capacity challenges do you foresee facing the market for delivering the required scope for 2x SMR projects over a 10+ year period?		

		21		Assuming an Owner’s Engineer for each of the 2 SMR projects is procured concurrently, would your organisation bid for more than one Owner’s Engineer package? 		

				Conflicts of Interest		2 pages

		22		The size and breadth of the SMR Project(s) may lead to potential conflicts of interest within different levels of the proposed project organisation. For example, a potential bidder in the SMR Technology Partner procurement process (as a member of a TP JV/consortium or a supplier to a TP) may wish to consider participating the Owner’s Engineer procurement.

What conflicts of interest could you see emerging from the presented delivery model?		

		23		How would your organisation propose to manage such conflicts?		



8.5 Questions to Participants
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9.1 Next steps

Responses to questions are requested 15 working days from issue of information pack (excluding 23rd December to 1st January (inclusive).



GBN is seeking a range of feedback from the market across a number of areas as detailed. Noting the breadth of the questions, participants may respond to any or all questions where they feel they can provide valued input.



Responses to questions shall be treated as market feedback only.



Response layouts should follow: Arial font size 11, normal margins and to note that 1 page means 1 side of A4.

 

GBN may utilise an option to arrange 1:1 (TEAMS) sessions with participants who we may wish to ask follow up questions to regarding their responses or who have included details in which GBN wishes to further explore. Any such participants will be notified beforehand.
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This slide is intended to provide an overview of the scope GBN has identified to be delivered. 



This overview should act as guidance to participants regarding the spread of scope under the SMR Project.



TP scope will be provided by one Technology Partner (per SMR project), all other scope will be provided by multiple suppliers (to be appointed). 

10.1 Overall SMR project scope
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Great British Nuclear 

Procurement for Owner's Engineer

Procurement Specific Questionnaire






FOR COMPLETION BY PSQ APPLICANTS

The PSQ consists of three parts:

1. Part 1 - confirmation of core supplier information: suppliers participating in procurements are expected to register on a central digital platform (CDP). The CDP is free to use and will mean suppliers should no longer have to re-supply core supplier information for each public procurement but simply ensure it is up to date and shared with the procuring authority. The CDP is available at https://www.gov.uk/find-tender. 

2. Suppliers must submit their up to date core supplier information on the CDP and, in relation to the Owner's Engineer procurement, are required to share this information with GBN via the CDP. Part 1 of this form provides a section where suppliers must confirm that they have provided updated information on the CDP. Suppliers should note that information provided via the CDP will be used for the purposes of PSQ evaluation and therefore it is the suppliers' responsibility to keep this up to date. 

3. CDP information must be completed by the PSQ submission deadline. GBN reserves the right to reject PSQ submissions where CDP information is incomplete or not completed by the PSQ deadline.

4. In the event that a supplier submits CDP information which conflicts with any part of the PSQ submission, GBN reserves the right to decide which information will take precedence and may decide to seek clarification from the supplier.

5. Part 2 - additional exclusion grounds information: Suppliers must submit their own (and their connected persons[footnoteRef:2]) exclusion grounds information via the CDP. This includes self-declarations as to whether any exclusion grounds apply and, if so, details about the event or conviction and what steps have been taken to prevent such circumstances from occurring again. [2:  Connected persons are persons who exercise (or have a right to exercise) significant influence or control over the supplier and those over which the supplier exercises (or has the right to exercise) significant influence or control. This includes majority shareholders, directors and shadow directors, parent and subsidiary companies and predecessor companies. The majority of the exclusion grounds state that they apply to the supplier or a connected person of the supplier.] 


6. Suppliers will also need to submit exclusion grounds information for any 'associated persons' that they are relying on to meet the PSQ conditions of participation. Associated persons includes consortium members or key sub-contractors (but excludes guarantors). We recommend this is done by ensuring that associated persons also register, submit and share their information via the CDP.

7. In addition to the sub-contractors who are being relied on to meet the conditions of participation (who are associated persons), suppliers will need to share an exhaustive list of all their intended sub-contractors, which will be checked against the debarment list.

8. If a sub-contractor is unknown at the start of the procurement, this should be made clear by the supplier and relevant details of the sub-contractor should be submitted to GBN as soon as possible, in order for GBN to confirm whether or not the sub-contractor's involvement is acceptable. GBN reserves the right to reject additions to or changes to sub-contractors and consortium members. 

9. Part 3 - conditions of participation: GBN has set conditions of participation which a supplier must satisfy in order to be eligible to pass the PSQ stage of the Owner's Engineer Contract public procurement. These conditions relate to the supplier’s legal and financial capacity and their technical ability.

10. Some of the information requested in the PSQ will be for information purposes only. Other information will be evaluated by GBN. Full details of the evaluation mechanisms and evaluation criteria are set out in the PSQ Instructions document. 

11. Suppliers should note that GBN has legislative duties to publish certain information which relate to the supplier in its contract award notices. This information includes, but is not limited to:

· details of the winning supplier’s associated persons 

· details of the winning supplier’s connected person information

· for certain procurements over £5 million, details of unsuccessful bidders



Where a supplier has any questions or requires any clarification on any points within any of the procurement documents, they should check with GBN. 

		

		



		No.

		Question



		· [bookmark: _Toc183608004][bookmark: _Toc185334274]Preliminary questions



		1. 

		What is your name? (supplier name)



		

		[Insert name]



		2. 

		You must be registered on the central digital platform (CDP).

What is your central digital platform unique identifier?



		

		[Insert unique identifier]



		3. 

		Please confirm if you are bidding as a single supplier (with or without sub-contractors) or as part of a group or consortium.

If you are bidding as part of a group or consortium (including where you intend to establish a legal entity to deliver the contract), please provide: 

a. the name of the group/consortium

b. the proposed structure of the group/consortium, including the legal structure where applicable

c. the name of the lead member in the group/consortium

d. your role in the group/consortium (e.g. lead member, consortium member, sub-contractor)



		

		[Insert information]



		4. 

		Are you on the debarment list?



		

		[Insert Yes or No]

[If yes, insert details]



		· [bookmark: _Toc183608005][bookmark: _Toc185334275]Part 1 – confirmation of core supplier information



		5. 

		You must submit up-to-date core supplier information on the CDP and share this information with us via the CDP (either a share code or PDF download).

This includes:

a. basic information

b. economic and financial standing information

c. [bookmark: _Hlk187155231]connected person information (these are persons with the right to exercise, or who actually exercise, significant influence or control over the supplier, or over whom the supplier has the right to exercise, or actually exercises, significant influence or control over, for example: directors, majority shareholders and parent and subsidiary companies)

d. exclusion grounds information

Please confirm you have shared this information with us.



		

		[Insert reference / file name]



		· [bookmark: _Toc183608006][bookmark: _Toc185334276]Part 2 – additional exclusions information 



		[bookmark: _Toc183608007]Part 2A – associated persons



		6. 

		[bookmark: _Hlk187155288]Are you relying on any associated persons to satisfy the conditions of participation? (these are other suppliers who might be sub-contractors or consortium members but not a guarantor).

[The conditions of participation are outlined in Part 3]

If so, please complete Q7, Q8 & Q9 (otherwise Q7, Q8 & Q9 are not applicable).



		

		[Insert Yes or No]



		7. 

		For each supplier/associated person, please confirm which condition(s) of participation you are relying on them to satisfy.



		

		[Insert name of supplier and brief description]

[Insert name of supplier and brief description]



		8. 

		For each associated person, you must confirm they are registered on the CDP and have shared with us their information (either a share code or PDF download):

a. basic information

b. economic and financial standing information 
(if they are being relied upon to meet conditions of participation regarding financial capacity)

c. connected person information

d. exclusion grounds information



		

		[Insert name of supplier and reference / file name]



		9. 

		Are any of your associated persons on the debarment list?



		

		[Insert Yes or No]

[If yes, insert details]



		[bookmark: _Toc183608008]Part 2B – list of all intended sub-contractors



		10. 

		Please provide: 

a. a list of all suppliers who you intend to sub-contract the performance of all or part of the contract to (either directly or in your wider supply chain)

b. their unique identifier (if they are registered on the CDP), or otherwise, a Companies House number charity number, VAT registration number, or equivalent

c. a brief description of their intended role in the performance of the contract

If you are not intending to sub-contract the performance of all or part of the contract, then this question and Q11 are not applicable.



If a sub-contractor is unknown at the start of the procurement (or brought in during it), this should be made clear by the supplier and relevant details of the sub-contractor should be provided once their identity and role is confirmed. This information should be shared with the contracting authority as soon as possible and at least by final tenders.



		

		[Insert name of supplier – unique identifier – brief description]

[Insert name of supplier – unique identifier – brief description]



		11. 

		Please confirm if any intended sub-contractor is on the debarment list.

The debarment list can be found here [insert link]



		

		[Insert Yes or No]

[If yes, insert sub-contractor(s) name and provide details]



		· [bookmark: _Toc183608009][bookmark: _Toc185334277]Part 3A – questions relating to conditions of participation



		Financial capacity



		12. 

		If documentary evidence of economic and financial standing is available electronically (e.g. financial statements filed with Companies House), please provide:

· The web address;

· Issuing authority; and

· Precise reference of the documents.



		13. [bookmark: _Ref186720832]

		If documentary evidence of economic and financial standing is not available electronically, please provide a copy of your detailed accounts for the last two years (audited if required by law).

Also, for any other person or entity on whom you are relying to meet the selection criteria relating to economic and financial standing, please provide a copy of their detailed accounts for the last two years (audited if required by law).



		14. [bookmark: _Ref186720822]

		Are you relying on another supplier to act as a guarantor?

If so, please provide their name and evidence of their economic and financial standing.



		

		[Insert Yes or No]

[If yes, insert reference / file name]



		15. 

		If you are not able to provide a response to questions 12 or 13, please provide any of the following alternatives.

a) A statement of your annual turnover, Profit and Loss Account/Income statement, Balance Sheet/statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flow for the most recent year(s) of trading and a bank letter outlining the current cash and credit facility position.

b) Alternative information to evidence economic and financial standing (e.g. forecast financial statements and a statement of funding provided by the owners and/or the bank, charity accruals accounts or an alternative means of demonstrating financial status).



		16. 

		Please provide a completed Financial Viability and Risk Assessment Template(s) (FVRA) for the bidding entity and other entities relied upon to meet any of the Economic and Financial Standing or Technical Selection criteria.



		17. 

		Please provide detail of any post balance sheets events relating to the latest annual report provided.



		18. 

		Please provide detail of any material Onerous Contract Provisions and evidence that these don’t present a risk to the financial robustness of the Applicant/member.



		19. 

		Please provide details of any market updates relating to financial performance since the publication of your most recent year end accounts.



		20. 

		Please provide Dun & Bradstreet Failure Score.



		21. 

		Please provide your credit rating.



		22. 

		Please provide:

· A cash flow forecast for 12 months from the point of the PSQ submission date 

If current or forecast cashflow is negative, supplementary evidence is proof of access to funds (committed fund injections, credit facilities) to cover the 12 months of financial obligations expected.

Refer to EFS criteria in Section D - Economic and Financial Standing Detailed Evaluation Methodology in the PSQ Instructions document for more guidance and potential mitigations.



		23. 

		Please confirm whether you already have, or can commit to obtain, prior to the award of the contract, the levels of insurance cover indicated below:

a. Employer’s (Compulsory) Liability Insurance* =  £10,000,000 per occurrence

b. Public Liability Insurance = £10,000,000 in respect of each event 

c. Professional Indemnity Insurance = £10,000,000 in respect of each claim 

*There is a legal requirement for certain employers to hold Employer’s (Compulsory) Liability Insurance of £5 million as a minimum. See the Health and Safety Executive website for more information: www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/hse39.pdf.



		

		[Insert Yes or No]

[Insert details of your insurances already in place]

[Insert details of your insurances which would be obtained following contract award (including information on how you will obtain this insurance – e.g. a quote)]



		Legal capacity



		24. 

		a. Please confirm that you have in place, or that you will have in place by the award of the contract, the human and technical resources to perform the contract to ensure compliance with the UK General Data Protection Regulation and to ensure the protection of the rights of data subjects.

[Insert Yes or No]





		

		b. Please provide details of the technical facilities and measures (including systems and processes) you have in place, or will have in place by contract award, to ensure compliance with UK data protection law and to ensure the protection of the rights of data subjects. Your response should include, but should not be limited to facilities and measures:

· to ensure ongoing confidentiality, integrity, availability and resilience of processing systems and services

· to comply with the rights of data subjects in respect of receiving privacy information, and access, rectification, deletion and portability of personal data

· to ensure that any consent based processing meets standards of active, informed consent, and that such consents are recorded and auditable

· to ensure legal safeguards are in place to legitimise transfers of personal data outside the UK (if such transfers will take place)

· to maintain records of personal data processing activities 

to regularly test, assess and evaluate the effectiveness of the above measures

[Insert information] [Please use no more than 2 A4 pages.]



		Technical ability and conflicts of interest



		25. 

		Health and safety

Please describe the arrangements you have in place to manage health and safety effectively and control significant risks relevant to the contract (including risks from the use of contractors, where relevant). [Please use no more than 500 words.]



		

		[Insert information]



		26. 

		Please confirm that you have or will have by the Invitation to Tender Response Deadline the following skills and capabilities within your organisation, bidding consortium, or bidding consortium and supply chain.

1.	Technical Capabilities

The following technical skills and services will be required to deliver Consultant activities:

1.	Core Design Authority

2.	Safety Case

3.	BAT Case

4.	Chemistry 

5.	Civil Engineering 

6.	Commissioning 

7.	Control & Instrumentation 

8.	Construction, incl. CDM

9.	Conventional Waste 

10.	Criticality 

11.	Cyber Security (incl. Security by design) 

12.	Decommissioning 

13.	Electrical Engineering 

14.	Environmental Protection 

15.	Engineering Management 

16.	Equipment Qualification

17.	Emergency Planning & Response 

18.	External Hazards 

19.	Fault Studies

20.	Fuel & Core Design

21.	Human Factors

22.	Internal Hazards

23.	Leadership and Management for Safety, Supply Chain and Quality 

24.	Mechanical Engineering

25.	Protective Security (incl. Security by design) 

26.	Probabilistic Safety Analysis (PSA) 

27.	Radiological Protection

28.	Radioactive Waste Management 

29.	Reactor Core Physics

30.	Requirements Management

31.	Safeguards (incl. Safeguards by design)

32.	Safety Case Analysis and Techniques (incl. Safety by design) 

33.	Severe Accident Analysis (SAA)

34.	Structural Integrity 

35.	System Engineering 

36.	Training & Operations



2.	Programme Delivery Capabilities 

The following programme skills and services will be required to deliver OE activities: 

37.	Planning and Scheduling 

38.	Cost Estimating and Cost Management 

39.	Risk Management 

40.	Scope Management 

41.	Change Management 

42.	NEC Contracts



 [Insert Yes or No]



		27. 

		Please confirm you have the ability to handle UK Designated Sensitive Nuclear Information and Export Control Management.

[Insert Yes or No]



		28. 

		Conflicts of Interest 

a) Is the Tenderer aware of any actual, potential, or perceived Conflicts of Interest as defined in paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ? 

 b) The Tenderer is also required to complete the 'Bid Team' template in the form set out in Appendix A of the PSQ Instructions so that GBN can verify the Tenderer's response to Question 28. 

 c) If the Tenderer is aware of any actual, potential, or perceived Conflicts of Interest as defined in paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ Instructions, the Tenderer is required to upload a statement explaining the nature of the Conflict of Interest and the Tenderer’s proposed mitigation measures to satisfy the requirements of paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ. 

Response requirements: 

 1.	The Tenderer is required to complete and submit the Bid Team Template set out at Appendix A to the PSQ. 

2.	If the Tenderer has confirmed that an actual, potential, or perceived Conflict of Interest exists, the Tenderer is required to prepare and submit a statement explaining the nature of any Conflicts of Interest and the Tenderer’s proposed mitigation measures to satisfy the requirements of paragraph 12 of Section G of the PSQ.



		[bookmark: _Toc183608011]Part 3B – requirements for central government departments, their executive agencies and non-departmental public bodies



		29. 

		Please confirm if you intend to use a supply chain[footnoteRef:3] for this contract. If you answer “No” you do not need to complete the rest of this section [questions 30-31]. [3:  References to supply chain means suppliers or sub-contractors of any tier that execute any works, supply any products or provide any services that are used wholly or substantially for the purpose of performing (or contributing to the performance of) the whole or any part of the contract.] 


[Insert Yes or No]



		30. 

		Please confirm that you have systems in place to pay those in your supply chain promptly and effectively, i.e. within your agreed contractual terms.

[Insert Yes or No]



		31. 

		Please confirm that for public sector contracts awarded under the Procurement Act 2023 you have systems in place to include (as a minimum) 30-day payment terms in all of your supply chain contracts and require that such terms are passed down through your supply chain.

[Insert Yes or No]



		32. 

		(a) Please provide the percentage of invoices paid by you to those in your immediate supply chain on all contracts for each of the two previous six-month reporting periods.[footnoteRef:4] This should include the percentage of invoices paid within each of the following categories: [4:  A reporting period is set out in the DBT Guidance: www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-payment-practices-and-performance-reporting-requirements  
] 


1. within 30 days

2. in 31 to 60 days

3. in 61 days or more

4. due but not paid by the last date for payment under agreed contractual terms

(b) Please provide the average number of days taken by you to pay an invoice to those in your immediate supply chain on all contracts for each of the two previous six-month reporting periods. It is acceptable to cross refer to information that has previously been submitted to government or other bodies or is publicly available (provided it covers the required reporting periods), including data published in accordance with the Reporting on Payment Practices and Performance Regulations 2017. If you do wish to cross-refer, please provide details and/or insert link(s).

(c) If you are unable to demonstrate that all invoices have been paid within the agreed contractual terms, please explain why. Note: if you are required to submit an action plan under question 32(d), this action plan must also set out steps to address your payment within agreed terms, to achieve a pass for question 32(d).

(d) If you are unable to demonstrate that at least 95% of invoices payable to your supply chain on all contracts have been paid within 60 days of the receipt of the invoice in at least one of the last two six-month reporting periods, please provide an action plan for improvement which includes (as a minimum) the following:

1. Identification of the primary causes of failure to pay:

· 95% of all supply chain invoices within 60 days; and

· if relevant under question 32(c) all invoices within agreed terms

2. Actions to address each of these causes.

3. A mechanism for and commitment to regular reporting on progress to the supplier's audit committee (or equivalent).

4. Plan signed off by director.

5. Plan published on its website (this can be a shorter summary plan).

If you have an existing action plan prepared for a different purpose, it is acceptable to attach this but it should contain the above features.

Evidence for self-declarations (questions 30 to 31): Prior to contract award the following evidence will be required from the successful supplier (where the supplier has answered ‘Yes’ to question 29 above) to verify the supplier's responses

Q30 - A copy of your standard payment terms for all of your supply chain contracts.

Q30 - A copy of your procedures for resolving disputed invoices promptly and effectively.

Q30 - Details of any payments of interest for late payments you have paid in the past 12 months or which became due during the past 12 months and remain payable (contractually or under late payment legislation) and, if any such payment has been made (or arose), an explanation as to why this occurred and an outline of what remedial steps have been taken to ensure this does not occur again.

Q31 - A copy of your standard payment terms used with sub-contractors on public sector contracts subject to the Procurement Act 2023

[Insert Information]



		33. 

		Please confirm that you have detailed your environmental management measures by completing and publishing a Carbon Reduction Plan which meets the required reporting standard.

[Yes / No]

[Provide a link to your most recently published Carbon Reduction Plan here:]



		34. 

		Please confirm that your organisation is taking steps to reduce your GHG emissions over time and is publicly committed to achieving net zero by 2050.

[Yes / No]



		35. 

		Please confirm your Net Zero Target Date (e.g. 2050)

[Insert Information]



		36. 

		Please complete the following Supplier Emissions Declaration:

Baseline Year: [Insert Year]

Scope 1: [Insert emissions (tCO2e)]

Scope 2: [Insert emissions (tCO2e)]

Scope 3: [Insert emissions (tCO2e)]



Current/Most Recent Reporting Year: [Insert Year]

Scope 1: [Insert emissions (tCO2e)]

Scope 2: [Insert emissions (tCO2e)]

Scope 3: [Insert emissions (tCO2e)]



		37. 

		Modern Slavery Statement (or equivalent statement/document)

a. If you are a ‘relevant commercial organisation’[footnoteRef:5] please confirm you are compliant with the requirements contained within section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and associated guidance and your statement includes information relating to:  [5:  ‘Relevant commercial organisations’ are defined as commercial organisations that carry on a business or part of business in the UK, supply goods or services and have an annual turnover of £36 million or more. 
] 


a. the organisation’s structure, its business and its supply chains 

b. its policies in relation to slavery and human trafficking 

c. its due diligence processes in relation to slavery and human trafficking in its business and supply chains 

d. the parts of its business and supply chains where there is a risk of slavery and human trafficking taking place, and the steps it has taken to assess and manage that risk 

e. its effectiveness in ensuring that slavery and human trafficking is not taking place in its business or supply chains, measured against such performance indicators as it considers appropriate 

f. the training and capacity building about slavery and human trafficking available to its staff  

Or

b. If you are not ‘a relevant commercial organisation’ but have a turnover of more than £36 million please provide a link to an equivalent statement or document which demonstrates information relating to a to f above.

[Insert information]



		38. 

		PPN 007: Contracts with Russia and Belarus 

In accordance with the Procurement Policy Note (PPN 007), all suppliers must identify prime contractors or sub-contractors (i.e. those being relied on to deliver under the Contract) in their supply chain with Russian/Belarusian companies/Government. Participants will also be required to set out their Persons of Significant Control. GBN is entitled to ask any supplier to substitute a sub-contractor in the supply chain that are known Russian and/or Belarusian suppliers. GBN is entitled, upon validation that a supplier is a Russian or Belarusian company, to take steps to exclude the Russian or Belarusian company from the procurement exercise, provided that the supplier is constituted or is organised under the law of Russia or Belarus; or where the Persons of Significant Control information states Russia or Belarus as the place of residency.



Please confirm by selecting yes, that you do not have prime contractors or subcontractors in your supply chain with Russian/Belarusian companies/Government, or that if you do have prime contractors or subcontractors in your supply chain with Russian Belarusian companies/Government you commit to substituting these prior to contract commencement.



If you have prime contractors or subcontractors in your supply with Russian/Belarusian companies/Government but do not commit to substituting prior to contract commencement, please select No.



		39. 

		Please provide details of the prime contractors or subcontractors that will be relied upon for your bid. Identify all that are Russian/ Belarusian companies/ Government.



Provide details including supplier name, main office address and persons of significant control and scope of services provided by the supplier.



GBN is entitled to ask any supplier to substitute a sub-contractor in the supply chain that are known Russian and/or Belarusian suppliers.



		· [bookmark: _Toc183608012][bookmark: _Toc185334278]Confirmations



		40. 

		I confirm that:

· to the best of my knowledge the answers submitted and information contained in this document are complete, accurate and not misleading

· upon request and without delay I will provide any additional information requested of us

· I understand that the response to this questionnaire will be used to assess whether our organisation is entitled to participate in, or continue to participate in, this procurement

· I understand that our organisation may be excluded from the procurement if requested information has not been provided, if any of this response or any follow up responses are incomplete, inaccurate or misleading, if confidential information has been accessed or if we have unduly influenced your decision-making in this procurement



		

		[Insert Yes or No]







		
Signed

		







		Date

		







		Name

		







		Role

		







		Phone number

		







		Email

		







		Postal address
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		Owner's Engineer Appointment Agreement 



(Based on The NEC4 Professional Service Contract June 2017 edition, as amended)







		[Name of Party]



the Client

and

[Name of Party]



the Consultant







		Relating to the development of a small modular nuclear reactor at []

		



		Date:
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[bookmark: TOC]THIS AGREEMENT is made on		

BETWEEN:

[CLIENT] (Company no. []) whose registered office is at [] (the "Client", which expression includes its legal successors in title and permitted assignees); and

[CONSULTANT] (Company no. []) whose registered office is at [] (the "Consultant", which expression includes its legal successors in title and permitted assignees),

each a 'Party' and together, the 'Parties'. 

Recitals:

[bookmark: _Ref146877898]The Client intends to undertake the design, engineering, construction, commissioning, operation, maintenance, alteration, adjustment, repair, modification, replacement, decommissioning, demolition, financing, refinancing and/or insurance of a small modular nuclear reactor power plant (and the ancillary facilities upon which it is dependent) at the Site (the "Project").

The Client intends to enter into a contract with [] (the "Contractor") to provide the works which form part of the Project (the "TP Contract").

The Client wishes to appoint the Consultant and the Consultant has agreed to be appointed in accordance with the terms and conditions set out below to Provide the Service in connection with the Project.

The terms and conditions of the contract have been fully negotiated between the Client and the Consultant as parties of competent capacity and equal standing.

articles:

The Parties agree as follows:

[bookmark: _Toc187926575][bookmark: _Toc192106190]Definitions and Interpretation

In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:

any word or term beginning with a capital letter has the meaning given to it in the conditions of contract; and

any italicised term has the meaning given to it in the Contract Data.

In the contract, article and clause headings are for information purposes only and do not affect the interpretation of the contract.

[bookmark: _Toc187926576][bookmark: _Toc192106191]The Contract

The Consultant is required to Provide the Service in accordance with the contract and all applicable Statutory Requirements.

The Client pays the Consultant the amount due in accordance with the contract at the times and in the manner prescribed by the contract.

[bookmark: _Ref146561310]The contract consists of the following Contract Documents which, save as set out in article 2.4  and 2.5 below, apply in the following order of priority:

this Agreement;

the following Schedules:

Schedule 1:	Conditions of Contract

The NEC4 Professional Services Contract June 2017 edition (with amendments January 2023):

Core clauses; 

Main Option E clauses; 

Dispute Resolution Option W2 clauses; and

Secondary Option clauses X1, X2, X4, X9, X11, X20, X29 and Y(UK)2,

in each case as amended and supplemented by the additional conditions of contract Z1-Z20;

Schedule 2:	Contract Data

Part One:	Data Provided by the Client; and

Part Two:	Data Provided by the Consultant; 

Schedule 3:	Schedule of Cost Components;

Schedule 4:	Scope

Schedule 5:	Activity Schedule

Schedule 6:	Performance Security

Part 1:	Parent Company Guarantee;

Part 2:	Legal Opinion; and

Part 3:	Sub-Contractor Collateral Warranty

[bookmark: _Ref148665539]The Parties acknowledge and agree that, given the subject matter of the contract and the nature of the Project, they are committed to delivering the Client's standards with respect to nuclear safety in accordance with UK nuclear industry standards and regulatory expectations, throughout all stages of the Project, in accordance with the nuclear site license granted for the development. Accordingly, notwithstanding article ‎2.3 above, the Parties agree that the following additional conditions of contract rank in order of priority equal with the articles of this Agreement:

Z8:	Regulatory Interface

Z9	Documentation

Z10:	Security Requirements[footnoteRef:2] [2:  	Note to Tenderers: GBN is continuing to develop the procurement approach which will be taken in relation to the matters listed in these Z clauses. Whatever Consultant obligations in these areas are retained under the contract will, in the context of a nuclear project, necessarily be more stringent/prescriptive than for a project of any other kind.] 


With respect to any ambiguity or inconsistency between the different sections which comprise the Scope, the following order of priority shall apply:

[] ;

.

[bookmark: _Toc187926577][bookmark: _Toc192106192][bookmark: _Ref146061257][bookmark: _Ref146062642]Service Plan

The Consultant provides a plan including and detailing the information set out in article 3.2 in relation to the service to be performed in respect of the next Financial Year[footnoteRef:3] or such longer period as may be agreed between the Parties and the costs in connection with such service for acceptance by the Service Manager (the 'Service Plan'). The Consultant's initial accepted Service Plan is set out in [Section [] to the Scope] and runs to the period up to [31 March 2027]. If the initial Service Plan has not been agreed at the Contract Date the provisions of clause 31.1 in the contract apply. Updated Service Plans are prepared and submitted to the Service Manager for approval no later than ten weeks in advance of the expiry of the then current Service Plan. [3:  	Note to Tenderers: The forecasting period will be aligned to the UK Government financial year (with a suitable buffer if necessary) and will be confirmed prior to contract signature.] 


The Service Plan 

includes:

detailed forecasts of:

the service to be provided in the period covered by the Service Plan (including any deliverable items) and in respect of each part of the service confirmation of whether:

each part of the service will be Reimbursable Service, Target Cost Service, or Lump Sum Service;

a Task Order may be required in respect of part of the service;

the Consultant proposes it will comprise Core Team Services or Specialist Services; and 

the Consultant proposes the Core Team, Subcontractors or Non-Core Team Employees will perform each part of the service;

the Prices (including an apportionment of the time the Core Team will be required to spend on particular elements of the service); 

the expenses the Consultant anticipates incurring in connection with the service

any anticipated risks in relation to the Project including but not limited to anything which may lead to delays or increased costs in respect of the Project; and

the Indicative Project Cost in accordance with the requirements set out in the Scope,

any proposed changes to the Core Team;

any part of the service that the Consultant considers it necessary to subcontract;

updated Rate Cards pursuant to clause X1 or as are otherwise agreed between the Parties; 

updated Key Performance Indicators and/or an updated version of the Incentive Schedule as agreed between the Parties pursuant to clause X20.6; and

the information that the Scope specifies should be included in the Service Plan (if any).

is prepared in accordance with and contains any information specified in any instructions issued by the Client from time to time;

uses rates which reflect market rates for personnel of equivalent qualification, experience and expertise at the point in time when Service Plan is submitted;

includes proposals for any Bespoke Specialist Rates in accordance with clause 20.9;

contains a programme for acceptance by the Service Manager which has been prepared in accordance with clause 32.1 and [paragraph [] of Section [] ([]) of the Scope;

provides in respect of any proposed subcontracting of the service the information that the Consultant is required to submit for the Service Manager's approval pursuant to clauses 23.2 – 23.4 of the contract;

includes an explanation of the changes made to the Indicative Project Cost forecast since the previous forecast was submitted;

is prepared in accordance with the Scope;

ensures that the Client does not incur unnecessary costs in relation to Others;

is fully complete, without containing omissions or qualifications;

is compliant with the other requirements of the contract; and

is prepared in good faith for the purposes of representing value for money to the Client.

Within four weeks of the Consultant submitting an Service Plan for acceptance, the Service Manager either accepts the Service Plan or notifies the Consultant of the reasons for not accepting it. A reason for not accepting the Service Plan is that;

it does not comply with the requirements of article 3.2; 

the Service Manager is not satisfied that the Prices or any changes to the Prices, the Defined Cost or the expenses have been properly assessed; 

the Service Manager does not agree to the Consultant's proposed updates to the Rate Card;

it does not properly account for all of the service to be performed in the relevant period;

the Service Manager or the Client does not agree with the assessment of the basis of any part of the service pursuant to article 3.2(a)(i)(A)(aa);

a proposed Subcontract or Subcontractor is not in compliance with clause 23.5 of the contract;

the Client does not agree with the proposed changes to the Key Performance Indicators or the Incentive Schedule; or

it does not comply with the resourcing requirements set out in clause 21.3 or clause 21.4 in the conditions of contract.

If the Service Manager does not accept an Service Plan, the Consultant makes a revised submission taking account of the Service Manager's reasons. The Consultant makes its revised submission within two weeks (or such longer period as may have been specified by the Service Manager) after receiving the instruction. An instruction to submit a revised Service Plan is not a compensation event

The Parties acknowledge that at the Contract Date a Service Plan containing all of the information set out in Article 3.2 may not be available and that, notwithstanding any other provision of the contract, the service to be provided by the Core Team for the six month period commencing from the Contract Date is as set out in Section [] of the Scope. The Consultant agrees that its entire remuneration during that period is the Core Team Cost, save in respect of the sums agreed under any Task Orders issued during that period. 

Subject to article 3.5, the cost of any service that is not included in the accepted Service Plan or subsequently instructed under a Task Order is treated as a Disallowed Cost, unless and to the extent that such cost is incurred as a result of a compensation event referred to in clause 60.1 which is notified by either Party or the Service Manager after submission of the Service Plan.

Notwithstanding any updates to the Rate Cards pursuant to clause X1, the Consultant may submit further revisions to the Rate Cards as part of its Annual Plan submission under article 3.1. The Consultant provides its rationale for including the revised Rate Cards. The Client may approve any proposed revisions at its sole discretion.

Any Tasks detailed in an agreed Service Plan do not require a Task Order to be issued in respect of the service to which the Tasks relate. The instruction of service pursuant to Tasks included in the agreed Service Plan is not a compensation event

On expiry of half of the duration of the current Service Plan, or such other date as the Service Manager specifies, the Parties and the Service Manager meet to review the Service Plan and the progress made against it by the Consultant and to assess the Consultant's resourcing of the service to ensure compliance with the Consultant's obligations under clause 21.2.

[bookmark: _Toc192106193][bookmark: _Hlk148678839]At Risk Fee 

The Consultant includes in its applications for payment an amount calculated by applying the relevant At Risk Fee Percentage to:

the Price for Service Provided to Date; and 

the aggregate amount of Defined Cost in respect of which the Prices are adjusted in accordance with clause 63.1 as a result of a compensation event,

and such amount is the "At Risk Fee".

Deduction of At Risk Fee

[bookmark: _Hlk191767199]In accordance with the Incentive Schedule and clause X20 (Key Performance Indicators), in assessing the amount due in respect of an application for payment following the Service Manager's assessment under clause X20.4 or (where applicable) the Client's assessment under clause X20.8, the Service Manager may for the purposes of clause 50.3 retain from the amount due to the Consultant a portion of the At Risk Fee paid to the Consultant in the preceding Assessment Period equal to the Service Credits accrued in that period in accordance with paragraph [] of the Incentive Schedule. 

Retention of Incentive

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this article 4 and the provisions of article 5, the Client may withhold (and retain at its absolute discretion) any payment of the At Risk Fee or Long-Term Behaviour Incentive if, during the period in which such amounts becomes due for payment, the Consultant or an entity for which it is responsible, has committed a breach of a Statutory Requirement relating to health and/or safety or is the subject of a regulatory enforcement notice served by a UK Regulator or the ONR. The Client may, at its absolute discretion, elect to release any amount withheld in accordance with this article 4.3 if the material breach is remedied by the Consultant or the enforcement notice is complied with and discharged by the Consultant and the Client has suffered no other adverse effect as a consequence thereof.

[bookmark: _Toc192106194]Long-Term Behaviour Incentive

Upon the Consultant achieving a sufficiently high Overall Aggregate Score in respect of the KPIs in accordance with paragraph 4 of the Incentive Schedule, the Consultant becomes entitled to payment of the relevant amount set out in paragraph [] of the Incentive Schedule (the "Long-Term Behaviour Incentive").

The amount of any Long-Term Behaviour Incentive to which the Consultant is entitled pursuant to the provisions of this article 5 and/or the Incentive Schedule, shall be included in an application for payment which the Consultant submits in accordance with clause 50.3, provided always that the Consultant only submits one such application including Long-Term Behaviour Incentive at the end of each three year period from the Contract Date, or such shorter periods as the Client may instruct at its sole discretion, until and including the date of achievement of commercial operation of the last Unit (as defined in the TP Contract) . Each such instalment of Long-Term Behaviour Incentive is applied for by the Consultant prior to expiry of the relevant year in which the Consultant is entitled to include it in a payment application (and not any later period). 

The Consultant acknowledges that the Client may at its sole discretion vary the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive, provided that the Client may not reduce such amounts that would apply in the year current to when such variations are made or for any years prior.

[bookmark: _Toc149828556][bookmark: _Toc187926580][bookmark: _Toc192106195][bookmark: _Ref146060915]Relationship with Others

The Consultant will co-operate and work with the Contractor and the Client's other contractors and consultants in relation to the Project to develop a culture of collaboration, transparency in dealings, innovation and outstanding performance in delivering the Project.

If the Client appoints a delivery partner in relation to the Project and nominates the delivery partner to perform any of the functions of the Client or the Service Manager under the contract, the Consultant treats such delivery partner as if it were the Client or the Service Manager in relation to such functions, including complying with any relevant instructions of the delivery partner. The Consultant will otherwise co-operate and work with the delivery partner in accordance with article 6.1.

[bookmark: _Toc187926581][bookmark: _Toc188009828][bookmark: _Toc192106196]Execution

Each Party agrees to do all things and execute all deeds, instruments, transfers or other documents as may be necessary or desirable to give full effect to the provisions of the contract and the transactions contemplated by it.

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by each of the Parties on separate counterparts each of which, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, but all the counterparts taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

IN WITNESS whereof this Agreement has been executed and delivered as a deed by the Parties on the date first before written.

[Execution blocks to be inserted]
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Schedule 1 [bookmark: _Ref146060845]

[bookmark: _Toc158194171]Conditions of Contract






Professional Service Contract



This contract should be used for the appointment of a supplier to provide a professional service

An NEC document

June 2017

(with amendments January 2023)



The Government Construction Board, Cabinet Office UK

The Government Construction Board (formerly Construction Clients’ Board) recommends that public sector organisations use the NEC contracts and in particular the NEC4 contracts where appropriate, when procuring construction. Standardising use of this comprehensive suite of contracts should help to deliver efficiencies across the public sector and promote behaviours in line with the principles of the Government Construction Strategy.

The Development Bureau, HKSAR Government

The Development Bureau recommends the progressive transition from NEC3 to NEC4 in public works projects in Hong Kong. With suitable amendments to adapt to the Hong Kong local environment, NEC4 is expected to further enhance collaborative partnering, unlock innovations and achieve better cost management and value for money in public works projects.
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NEC is a division of Thomas Telford Ltd, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE), the owner and developer of the NEC.

The NEC is a suite of standard contracts, each of which has these characteristics:

· Its use stimulates good management of the relationship between the two parties to the contract and, hence, of the work included in the contract.

· It can be used in a wide variety of commercial situations, for a wide variety of types of work and in any location.

· It is a clear and simple document – using language and a structure which are straightforward and easily understood.

NEC4 Professional Service Contract is one of the NEC suite and is consistent with all other NEC4 documents. Also available are User Guides and Flow Charts.



ISBN (complete box set) 978-0-7277-6391-4

ISBN (this document) 978-0-7277-6213-9

ISBN (Establishing a Procurement and Contract Strategy) 978-0-7277-6223-8

ISBN (Preparing a Professional Service Contract) 978-0-7277-6226-9

ISBN (Selecting a Supplier) 978-0-7277-6234-4

ISBN (Managing a Professional Service Contract) 978-0-7277-6237-5

ISBN (Professional Service Contract Flow Charts) 978-0-7277-6270-2 (e-only)



First edition 1994

Second edition 1998

Third edition 2005, Reprinted with amendments 2013

Fourth edition June 2017

Reprinted with amendments January 2019

Reprinted with amendments October 2020

Reprinted with amendments January 2023

British Library Cataloguing in Publication Data for this publication is available from the British Library.
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Core Clauses



		1. GENERAL





		Actions

		10
10.1

		

		
The Parties and the Service Manager shall act as stated in this contract. The concept of reasonableness in the contract shall be interpreted accordingly



		

		10.2

		

		The Parties and the Service Manager act in a spirit of mutual trust and co-operation.



		Identified and defined terms

		11
11.1

		

		
In these conditions of contract, terms identified in the Contract Data are in italics and defined terms have capital initials.



		

		11.2

		

		(1) The Accepted Programme is the programme identified in the Contract Data or is the latest programme accepted by the Service Manager. The latest programme accepted by the Service Manager supersedes previous Accepted Programmes. 

(2) The Activity Schedule is the activity schedule unless later changed in accordance with these conditions of contract.

(3) Ad Hoc Request means a request made by the Service Manager using the relevant contract management system for information in connection with the service or for a specific work in connection with the Project whether or not such work relates to an existing element of the Scope.

(4) Affiliate means in relation to any person, any holding company or subsidiary of that person or any subsidiary of such holding company, and "holding company" and "subsidiary" shall have the meaning given to them in section 1159 of the Companies Act 2006, save that for the purposes of determining whether one entity is an Affiliate of another any transfer of shares by way of security or to a nominee of the transferor shall be disregarded.

(5) Agreement means the form of agreement to which these conditions of contract are attached.

(6) Anti-Slavery Policy means a policy implemented by the Consultant which sets out the procedures the Consultant has put in place to comply with section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and any guidance issued by the Secretary of State under section 54 of that Act.

(7) Associated Person has the meaning given to it by section 26 of the Procurement Act.

(8) At Risk Fee Percentage means the percentage stated in Part [] of the Incentive Schedule to be applied in accordance with the terms of the contract.

(9) Bespoke Specialist Rate is a rate not included in the Rate Card against which the cost of certain Specialist Services may be assessed as agreed between the Client and the Consultant in accordance with the terms of the contract.

(10) Business Day is any day which is not a Saturday, a Sunday, Christmas Day, Good Friday or a day which under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971 is a bank holiday in England and Wales.

(11) CDM Regulations means the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015.

(12) Certified Ethical Labour Provider means a labour provider who meets the qualifying requirements of a Certified Ethical Labour Scheme and who is verified, at or within six months (or such longer period as the Client may agree, acting reasonably) of the starting date, by a competent and independent third party as meeting such qualifying requirements.

(13) Certified Ethical Labour Scheme means any of the following

the BRE Ethical Labour Sourcing standard BES 6002 ('BRE Standard'),

the Clearview Global Labour Provider Certification Scheme ('Clearview Scheme'), or

an alternative standard or scheme, which in the reasonable opinion of the Client, is an acceptable substitute to the BRE Standard or Clearview Scheme ('Alternative Labour Scheme'),

and references to the BRE Standard, Clearview Scheme and Alternative Labour Scheme are to such standard or schemes as updated from time to time

(14) Change of Ownership means in respect of the Consultant (or, if the Consultant is a joint venture, in respect of any member of the joint venture) or in respect of any guarantor which has provided a guarantee pursuant to clause X4

a change of control (within the meaning of section 1124 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010); or

a sale, transfer or disposal of any legal, beneficial or equitable interest in 25% or more of its shares (including control over the right to appoint or remove directors or the rights to dividends); or

any other arrangements that have or may have or which result in the same effect as either of the bulleted paragraphs above, 

other than a change in the legal or beneficial ownership of shares that: (i) are listed on a recognised investment exchange (as defined in Section 285 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000); or (ii) arises out of or in connection with any such listing on a recognised investment exchange

(15) Completion is when the Consultant has

done all the work which the Scope states is to be done by the Completion Date and

corrected Defects which would have prevented the Client from using the service or Others from doing their work.

If the work which the Consultant is to do by the Completion Date is not stated in the Scope, Completion is when the Consultant has done all the work necessary for the Client to use the service and for Others to do their work.

(16) The Completion Date is the completion date unless later changed in accordance with the contract. 

(17) Confidential Information is any information of whatever kind (whether commercial, technical, financial, operational or otherwise, in whatever form and whether or not recorded in any way) relating to the Client, the Consultant or the Project.

(18) Connected Persons has the meaning given to it in paragraph 45, Part 3, Schedule 6 of the Procurement Act.

(19)  Consent is any permit, approval or consent required pursuant to the provisions of any Statutory Requirement or otherwise necessary to be obtained from a third party for the Consultant to Provide the Service in accordance with the contract.

(20) Consultant Information is information provided or made available to the Client by the Consultant pursuant to the terms of the contract or otherwise and recorded in any form held by the Client or held by the Consultant on behalf of the Client.

(21) Consultant Personnel means any person employed or engaged in the provision of the service, whether such person is employed or engaged by the Consultant or any third party including any subcontractor of the Consultant.

(22) The Contract Date is the date of the Agreement.

(23) Contract Documents has the meaning given in article ‎‎2.3 in the Agreement.

(24) Contract Material are any and all drawings, specifications, details, models, reports, schedules of levels, setting out dimensions, other design proposals and the like, or reports in respect of the same, which are required to be prepared by the Consultant and provided to the Service Manager or the Client pursuant to the terms of the contract.

(25) Core Team are the individuals employed by the Consultant to Provide the Service on a full time basis detailed in the Service Plan who may supplemented or be replaced in accordance with clause Z2 or Z3.

(26) Core Team Cost is the total aggregate cost inclusive of all overheads and fee in connection with the Core Team as assessed by reference to the Core Team Rates in the Schedule of Cost Components.

(27) Core Team Overtime is work carried out by the Core Team during a weekend or public holiday pursuant to clause Z2.3.

(28) Core Team Rates are the rates set out in the Rate Card applicable to the Core Team or any Subcontractor or Non-Core Team Employee performing Core Team Services.

(29) Core Team Services are parts of the service to which the Core Team Rates apply as specified in the Service Plan or under a Task Order.

(30) A Corrupt Act is

the offering, promising, giving, accepting or soliciting of an advantage as an inducement for an action which is illegal, unethical or a breach of trust or 

abusing any entrusted power for private gain 

in connection with this contract or any other contract with the Client. This includes any commission paid as an inducement which was not declared to the Client before the Contract Date.

(31) Cost Saving is a reduction in the overall cost of the Project achieved by any suitable means, including but not limited to direct monetary savings or increasing the efficiency or accelerating the programme of the Project. 

(32) Data Controller has the meaning given to it in Data Protection Legislation, noting that under the General Data Protection Regulation this would be using the definition of 'Controller'.

(33) Data Processor has the meaning given to it in Data Protection Legislation, noting that under the General Data Protection Regulation this would be using the definition of 'Processor'.

(34) Data Protection Legislation means all applicable laws relating to data protection, the Processing of Personal Data or privacy, including:

the retained EU law version of the General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679) on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of Personal Data and on the free movement of such data (the "UK GDPR");

the Data Protection Act 2018;

the Privacy and Electronic Communications (EC Directive) Regulations 2003 (as may be amended by the General Data Protection Regulation on Privacy and Electronic Communications); and

any other legislation in force from time to time in the United Kingdom relating to privacy and/or the Processing of Personal Data.

(35) Debarment List has the meaning given to it in section 57 of the Procurement Act.

(36) Defect is a part of the service which is not in accordance with the Scope, the applicable law or any other requirement of the contract.

(37) Defined Cost is the cost of the components in the Schedule of Cost Components less Disallowed Cost:

(38) Disallowed Cost is cost which 

is not justified by the Consultant's accounts and records,

should not have been paid to a Subcontractor or supplier in accordance with its contract,

was incurred only because the Consultant did not

1. follow an acceptance, review or procurement procedure referred to in the Scope,

give an early warning which the contract required it to give or

give notification to the Service Manager of the preparation for and conduct of an adjudication or proceedings of a tribunal between the Consultant and a Subcontractor or supplier

and the cost of

correcting Defects after Completion,

correcting Defects caused by the Consultant not complying with a constraint on how it is to Provide the Service stated in the Scope,

resources not used to Provide the Service (after allowing for reasonable availability and utilisation), 

preparation for and conduct of an adjudication or proceedings of the tribunal between the Parties,

providing a replacement person referred to in clause Z3.4, until the completion of the applicable handover period

fines, charges, penalties and fees imposed on or accepted by the Consultant as a result of any unsafe, unlawful or criminal conduct or any infringement or disregard of any Statutory Requirement 

was incurred as a result of compliance with an instruction issued by the Service Manager in accordance with clause 16.1 or clause 16.2; and

anything which is expressly stated to be Disallowed Cost under the contract.

(39) Disclosed Adverse Rights are all rights of light and air and other rights, servitudes and wayleaves whatsoever (including those in respect of conduits) and all other restrictions over the Site enjoyed by Others, the existence of which has been disclosed within the Site Information

(40) Disclosure Obligation means, for the purposes of clause Z16, any obligation to publish information arising under Procurement Legislation which the Client considers applicable to the contract, including obligations to publish copies of the contract and information relating to the Consultant's performance under the contract. 

(41) The Early Warning Register is a register of matters which are

listed in the Contract Data for inclusion and 

notified by the Service Manager or the Consultant as early warning matters. 

It includes a description of the matter and the way in which the effects of the matter are to be avoided or reduced. 

(42) Excludable Supplier has the meaning given to it by section 57 of the Procurement Act. 

(43) FID means the financial investment decision in respect of the Project to be made by His Majesty's Government to determine whether the Project will proceed to the construction phase.

(44) [Financial Monitoring Event means each of the events designated as such in the Financial Monitoring Schedule.][footnoteRef:4] [4:  Ashurst Note: Definitions to be aligned with final financial monitoring schedule. ] 


(45) Financial Monitoring Schedule means Appendix 2 to the Contract Data, Part One.

(46) [Financial Remediation Plan is a plan prepared by the Consultant which sets out the Consultant's intended plan to address the concerns regarding the Consultant's financial strength and/or its ability to provide the whole of the service, which have been identified in a notice given by the Service Manager under clause Z12.3.]

(47) Financial year is each 12 month period from 1 April to 31 March.

(48) FOI Legislation is the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation (as defined in section 84 of the Freedom of Information Act 2000) made under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 from time to time and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004, together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant Government Department in relation to such Act and/or Regulations

(49) Force Majeure Event is the occurrence, after the Contract Date, of:

 war, civil war, rebellion, revolution, insurrection, military or usurped power, armed conflict or terrorism

nuclear, chemical or biological contamination unless the source or the cause of the contamination is the result of the actions of or breach of the contract by the Consultant or any Subcontractor; 

strikes, riots, Protestor Action and civil commotion, in each case not confined to the Consultant's employees, Subcontractors or suppliers; 

earthquake, flood, fire

which:

stops the Consultant completing the whole of the service or

stops the Consultant completing the whole of the service by the date for planned Completion shown on the Accepted Programme,

and which

neither Party could prevent and 

an experienced consultant would have judged at the Contract Date to have such a small chance of occurring that it would have been unreasonable to have allowed for it, 

(50) Good Industry Practice means that degree of skill, care, prudence, foresight and operating practice which would reasonably and ordinarily be expected from a properly qualified and competent professional engaged in carrying out services similar to an experienced owner's engineer for projects of the nature, size, scope and complexity of a new nuclear power plant project.

(51) Incentive Schedule means Appendix 1 to the Contract Data, Part One.

(52) Indicative Project Cost is the total amount paid and forecast to be paid by the Client to the Consultant under the contract.

(53) Indirect Loss is any loss of profit, loss of use, loss of production, loss of business, loss of business opportunity or any indirect loss of any nature provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, any Losses incurred by the Client pursuant to the terms of any Project Agreement shall not constitute Indirect Loss.

(54) Information Request is a request for information under the FOI Legislation.

(55) Intellectual Property Rights means all ideas, concepts, know-how, methods, procedures, processes, improvements, inventions, discoveries, patents, design rights, petty patents, design patents, utility models, copyrights, database rights, electronic files, rights in computer programs, rights to inventions, confidential technical and scientific information and all other intellectual or industrial property rights including, where such rights are obtained or enhanced by registration, any registration of such rights (including the right to apply for such registrations) and applications therefor (including the right to claim priority from patent applications) but excluding any trade marks (registered or unregistered).

(56) ITT is the invitation to tender in relation to the service issued by the Client on [] 

(57) Joint Venture has the meaning given in clause 12.10.

(58) A Key Date is the date by which work is to meet the Condition stated. The Key Date is the key date stated in the Contract Data and the Condition is the condition stated in the Contract Data unless later changed in accordance with the contract.

(59) Losses are any expenses, liability, losses, claims, proceedings, compensation, obligations, causes of action, awards, judgments, settlements, demands, damages, costs, expenses, fines, penalties and fees (including without limitation the fees, expenses, disbursements and costs of lawyers and advisors) whatsoever or howsoever arising.

(60) [bookmark: _Hlk187949029]Lump Sum Service is service provided by the Core Team and any service forming part of a Task that is payable on a lump sum basis as agreed in the Service Plan or the relevant Task Order.



(61) Lump Sum Service Prices is the Core Team Cost and the lump sum prices for Tasks payable on a lump sum basis as agreed in the Service Plan or the relevant Task Order.



		

		

		

		(62) Monthly Report is the report that the Consultant is required to provide pursuant to clause Z13 which complies with the requirements set out in Section [] of [the Scope].

(63) NIA means the Nuclear Installations Act 1965 (as amended).

(64) Non-Core Team Employees means any persons employed directly by the Consultant that perform the service in accordance with the terms of the contract that are not members of the Core Team.

(65) Nuclear Site Licence means the nuclear site licence granted to the Client pursuant to sections 1.1, 4.1 and 4.2 of the Nuclear Installations Act 1965 in respect of the Project.

(66) Others are people or organisations who are not the Client, the Service Manager, the Adjudicator, the Consultant or any employee, Subcontractor or supplier of the Consultant.

(67) ONR is the Office for Nuclear Regulation, including the Civil Nuclear Security and Safeguards Programme or anybody having responsibility for safety and security at nuclear installations in the United Kingdom or any part thereof which replaces the same from time to time.

(68) The Parties are the Client and the Consultant. 

(69) Performance Improvement Plan is a plan provided by the Consultant in accordance with clause X20.3 which details how the Consultant will improve upon its performance against the relevant Key Performance Indicators in accordance with [Section [] of the Scope].

(70) Personal Data has the meaning given to it in Data Protection Legislation.

(71) The Price for Service Provided to Date is:

· the total of the Lump Sum Service Prices for each completed activity. A completed activity is one without notified Defects the correction of which will delay following work, and

· the total of the Reimbursable Service Prices and the Target Cost Service Prices  which the Service Manager forecasts will have been paid by the Consultant before the next assessment date.

(72) [bookmark: _Hlk187949020]The Prices is the total of: 

· the Lump Sum Service Prices, 

· the Reimbursable Service Prices,

· the Target Cost Service Prices.

 

(73) Processing has the meaning given to it in Data Protection Legislation and 'Process', 'Processes' and Processed' will be construed accordingly.

(74) Procurement Act means the Procurement Act 2023.

(75) Procurement Legislation means the Procurement Act, and all regulations made under it and any amendment or re-enactment of any of them and any relevant guidance or recommendations issued by the Cabinet Office (including its successors or assigns).

(76) Prohibited Materials means any products or materials which are generally known to be deleterious at the time of specification or use, in the particular circumstances in which they are used, or those identified as potentially hazardous in or not in conformity with:

the report entitled “Good Practice in the Selection of Construction Materials” (latest edition, by Hoare Lea published by the British Council for Offices and the British Property Federation) other than the recommendations for good practice contained in Section 2 of that report;

relevant British or European Standards or Codes of Practice; or

any publications of the Building Research Establishment related to the specification of products or material.

(77) Project Agreements means the TP Contract and each of the other project agreements which are detailed within the Scope,[footnoteRef:5] as updated or supplemented from time to time in accordance with clause Z4. [5:  Note to Tenderers: The list of project agreements included within the Scope (if any) will be updated prior to signing.] 


(78) Protestor Action any action (other than hostilities) taken or threatened to be taken at the Site by any person or persons protesting against or in relation to the Project or any part thereof or nuclear power plants in general (but not, for the avoidance of doubt, protesting against or in relation to industrial relations at the Site) which directly or indirectly affects performance of the service.

(79) To Provide the Service means to do the work necessary to complete the service in accordance with the contract and all incidental work, services and actions which the contract requires. 

(80) Public Procurement Termination Event means the Client considers that the contract was awarded or modified in material breach of the Procurement Act for the purposes of section 78(2)(a) of the Procurement Act.

(81) Quality Assurance Plan has the meaning given to that term in Section [] of the Scope.

(82) Rate Card means the table of rates set out in the Schedule of Cost Components.

(83) Reimbursable Services are Tasks agreed as cost reimbursable in respect of which the Consultant is paid Defined Cost.

(84) Reimbursable Service Prices is the forecast of the total Defined Cost for the whole of the Reimbursable Service; 

(85) Required Electronic Form means a form that: 

a. complies with the standard for electronic invoicing approved and issued by the British Standards Institution in the document numbered BS EN 16931-1: 2017 (Electronic invoicing – Part 1: Semantic data model of the core element of an electronic invoice); and 

b. uses a syntax which is listed as a syntax that complies with that standard in the document numbered PD CEN/TS 16931-2:2017 (Electronic invoicing - Part 2: List of syntaxes that comply with EN 16931-1) approved and issued by the British Standards Institution.

(86) Restricted Entity means 

any legal entity or person or any member of a group of legal entities or persons acting together, any one of which is the target of any Sanctions or that is located, organised or resident in a country or territory that is, or whose government is, the subject of Sanctions broadly prohibiting dealing with such government, country or territory or

any legal entity in respect of whom any current and/or future member of its board of directors, trustees or its senior executive managers has been sentenced to imprisonment or otherwise given a custodial sentence, other than a suspended sentence, for any criminal offence other than minor traffic offences, less than five years prior to the date on which the consideration of whether such legal entity is a Restricted Entity is made under the contract.

(87) Sanctions means any economic or trade sanctions or restrictive measures enacted, administered, imposed or enforced by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC), the U.S. Department of State, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union and/or His Majesty’s Treasury.

(88) Scope is information which 

specifies and describes the service or

states any constraints on how the Consultant Provides the Service

and is 

in the documents which the Contract Data states it is in 

included in an accepted Service Plan or

in an instruction given in accordance with the contract including any Task Orders.

(89) [bookmark: _Hlk187949006]Set Aside Order means an order setting aside the contract, any part of the contract or any modification of the contract, in each case made by a court of competent jurisdiction in accordance with section 104 of the Procurement Act.

(90) Site is the site of the Project as further detailed in the Site Information.

(91) Site Information is information which describes the Site and its surroundings and is provided by the Service Manager from time to time.

(92) Special Statutory Administration Regime is the special administration regime applicable to relevant licencee nuclear companies pursuant to Part 3 of the Nuclear Energy (Financing) Act 2022.

(93) Specialist is a Subcontractor or Non-Core Team Employee providing Specialist Services.

(94) Specialist Rates are the rates set out in the Rate Card applicable to the Specialists.

(95) Specialist Services are parts of the service to which the Specialist Rates apply as specified in the Service Plan or under a Task Order.

(96) Stage 2 NTP means the Notice to Proceed to Stage Two as defined in and issued in accordance with the TP Contract.

(97) Statutory Requirements means any statute, statutory instrument, regulation, rule or order made under any statute or directive having the force of law or any regulation or by-law of any local authority or statutory undertaker which has any jurisdiction with regard to the works and any notices or permissions (including planning permissions) served or granted under any such statute, statutory instrument, regulation, rule or order, regulation or by-law.

(98) Subcontract means a contract between the Consultant and a Subcontractor.

(99) Subcontractor is a person or organisation who has a contract with the Consultant to provide part of the service, except for the supply of people paid for by the Consultant according to the time they work.

(100) [bookmark: _Hlk187954354]Supplier Code of Conduct is the policy document set out in [[] of the Scope] as may be updated, supplemented or replaced by the Client from time to time.

(101) Supplier Exclusion Ground means: 

a.  the Consultant is or since the award of the contract becomes an Excluded Supplier or an Excludable Supplier (including by reference to an Associated Person) for the purposes of section 78(2)(b) of the Procurement Act; and/or

b. a Subcontractor is or becomes an Excluded Supplier or an Excludable Supplier for the purposes of section 78(2)(c) of the Procurement Act. 

(102) Target Cost Services are service in respect of which payment is assessed on a target cost basis. 

(103) Target Cost Service Task is a Task in respect of which the service are Target Cost Services.

(104) Target Cost Service Prices are the lump sum prices for each of the activities on the Activity Schedule in connection with a Target Cost Service Task unless later changed in accordance with the contract. 

(105) Task is work included in the service which is set out in the agreed Service Plan or which the Service Manager instructs the Consultant to carry out under a Task Order.

(106) Task Completion is when the Consultant has done all the service in the Task and corrected Defects.

(107) Task Completion Date is the date for completion stated in the Task Order or Service Plan unless changed in accordance with the contract. 

(108) Task Order is the Service Manager's instructions to carry out a Task including such Tasks as are included in the agreed Service Plan.

(109) TUPE means the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

(110) UK Regulators means the Environment Agency, the Health and Safety Executive, Natural Resources Wales and the ONR or any similar regulatory body that may take enforcement action or issue regulations in relation to the Project and 'UK Regulator' means each or any of them.

(111) Unsuitable Transferee means an entity which:

a. the Client, acting in the national interest or on grounds of defence, national security or national interest, considers to be inappropriate to become involved or interested in the Consultant, the contract or the service (whether directly or indirectly) pursuant to section 29 of the Procurement Act, 

b. the Client considers to be inappropriate to become involved or interested in the Consultant, the contract or the service (whether directly or indirectly) because the Client has received specific information from the Serious Fraud Office or the Crown Prosecution Service or any successor to either body about the suitability of the relevant entity to act in such capacity in relation to the Consultant (whether directly or indirectly); or

c. has within the previous two years prior to the relevant transfer or assignment:

i. been convicted of a criminal offence relating to the conduct of its business or profession;

ii. been determined by a governmental or regulatory authority to have materially failed to comply with any obligations relating to the payment of any taxes or social security contributions; or

iii. to the satisfaction of the Client, a Supplier Exclusion Ground applies in accordance with the provisions of clause Z18; or

iv. been subject to any Sanctions.



		Interpretation and the law

		12
12.1

		

		In the contract, except where the context shows otherwise, words in the singular also mean in the plural and the other way round.



		

		12.2

		

		The contract is governed by the law of the contract.



		

		12.3

		

		No change to the contract, unless provided for by these conditions of contract, has effect unless it has been agreed, confirmed in writing and signed by the Parties.



		

		12.4

		

		The contract constitutes the entire and only agreement between the Parties relating to the subject matter of the contract and each Party acknowledges that it has not been induced to enter into it in reliance upon, nor has any such Party been given, any warranty, representation, statement, assurance, covenant, agreement, undertaking, indemnity or commitment of any nature whatsoever other than as are expressly set out in the Contract Documents and, to the extent that either of them has been, it unconditionally and irrevocably waives any claims, rights or remedies which it might otherwise have had in relation thereto.



		

		12.5



		

		Reference to any Statutory Requirement in the contract shall be construed as including a reference to any modification, extension or re-enactment of it and any orders, regulations, directions, schemes, guidance and rules made under it.



		

		12.6

		

		In the contract, the words "including", "includes" or "include" are to be construed without limitation.



		

		12.7

		

		If any provision of the contract shall be held to be void or declared illegal, invalid or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever, such provision shall be divisible from the contract and shall be deemed to be deleted from the contract and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected. In the event that any provision of the contract is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable in whole or in part, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to reach an equitable agreement which reflects the intent of the Parties as set out in the contract.



		

		12.8

		

		The headings in the contract are for information only and are to be ignored in construing it.



		

		12.9

		

		Failure by the Client to exercise its rights under the contract does not constitute waiver of those rights nor any of them nor does any such failure relieve the Consultant from any of its obligations under the contract. The waiver in one instance of any right, condition or requirement does not constitute a continuing or general waiver of that or any other right, condition or requirement.



		

		12.10

		

		If the Consultant comprises two or more persons in joint venture, partnership, consortium or other unincorporated grouping (a 'Joint Venture'), all such entities comprising the Joint Venture are jointly and severally bound to the Client for the purposes of the contract and, except where the context shows otherwise, a reference to the Consultant is a reference to each entity comprising the Consultant as specified in the Agreement individually and to all of them jointly. The entities comprising the Joint Venture designate one of them to act as a partner in charge with authority to bind the Joint Venture. The composition or the constitution of the Joint Venture is accepted by the Client and is not altered without the prior acceptance of the Client.



		

		12.11

		

		Save as expressly set out in the contract, the rights, power and remedies of each Party under the contract are in addition to, and do not exclude or limit any right, power or remedy provided by law or by any other agreement.



		Communications

		13
13.1

		

		
Each communication which the contract requires is communicated in a form which can be read, copied and recorded. Writing is in the language of the contract.



		

		13.2

		

		If the Scope specifies the use of a communication system, a communication has effect when it is communicated through the communication system specified in the Scope.

If the Scope does not specify a communication system and subject to clause 13.7, a communication has effect when it is received at the last address notified by the recipient for receiving communications or, if none is notified, at the address of the recipient stated in the Contract Data or if none is stated, at the registered office of the recipient.



		

		13.3

		

		If the contract requires the Service Manager or the Consultant to reply to a communication, unless otherwise stated in these conditions of contract, they reply within the period for reply. Where a reply is required in connection with a request issued via a contract management system, the period for reply commences on the date and time of the issue of that request as shown in the contract management system.



		

		13.4

		

		The Service Manager replies to a communication submitted or resubmitted by the Consultant for acceptance. If the reply is not acceptance, the Service Manager states the reasons in sufficient detail to enable the Consultant to correct the matter. The Consultant resubmits the communication within the period for reply taking account of these reasons. A reason for withholding acceptance is that more information is needed in order to assess the Consultant’s submission fully.



		

		13.5

		

		The Service Manager may extend the period for reply to a communication if the Service Manager and the Consultant agree to the extension before the reply is due. The Service Manager informs the Consultant of the extension which has been agreed.



		

		13.6

		

		The Service Manager issues certificates to the Client and the Consultant. 



		

		13.7

		

		[bookmark: _Hlk147086041]A notification or certificate which the contract requires is communicated separately from other communications. Any notification to be given under or in connection with the contract shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or by courier or by e-mail or Recorded Signed for or Special Delivery post or prepaid first class post and shall be deemed to have been duly given as follows:

(a)	if delivered by hand or by courier, upon delivery at the address of the relevant party referred to in clause ‎13.2

(b)	if sent by post, two Business Days after the date of posting and

(c)	if sent by electronic mail/electronic communication when actually received by the intended recipient in readable form

provided that if, in accordance with the above provision, any such notice, demand or other communication would otherwise be deemed to be given or made after 5.00 p.m. such notice, demand or other communication shall be deemed to be given or made at 9.00 a.m. on the next Business Day.



		

		13.8

		

		The Service Manager may withhold acceptance of a submission by the Consultant. Withholding acceptance for a reason stated in these conditions of contract is not a compensation event.



		

		13.9

		

		The Consultant retains copies of drawings, specifications, reports and other documents which record the service for the period for retention. The copies are retained in the form stated in the Scope.



		

		13.10

		

		Notwithstanding clause 13.3, if the Service Manager issues an Ad Hoc Request to the Consultant the relevant period for reply is as follows depending on the priority level of the request as specified in the relevant contract management system:



(a)	two Business Days where the request is marked as high priority

(b)	four Business Days where the request is marked as medium priority or

(c)	eight Business Days where the request is marked as low priority.



		

		13.11

		

		The Consultant's reply to an Ad Hoc Request is provided via the relevant contract management system and includes the following: 

(a)	for all Ad Hoc Requests, an acknowledgement of the request and submission of a proposed timeline to respond to such request in full (which may take the form of a quotation pursuant to clause 19.1 where the Service Manager instructs that one is required or where the Consultant considers that a Task Order may be required in connection with the Ad Hoc Request) and

(b)	for Ad Hoc Requests that are specified as being high priority, the Consultant's availability in the period for reply or in the period immediately after the expiry of the period for reply (up to but no later than 10 Business Days following receipt of the Ad Hoc Request) for a discussion with the Client and the Service Manager in respect of the scope and programme requirements in connection with the Ad Hoc Request. 



		The Service Manager

		14
14.1

		

		
No acceptance, approvals, comments, instructions, consents or advice or indication of satisfaction given by or from the Service Manager or the Client, or any enquiry or inspection which the Service Manager or the Client makes or has carried out for its benefit or on its behalf at any time operates to reduce, extinguish, exclude, limit or modify the Consultant's duties and obligations under the contract in any way unless it is in writing from the Service Manager or the Client, refers to the contract and clearly identifies the duty or obligation and the extent to which it is to be reduced, extinguished, excluded, limited or modified..



		

		14.2

		

		The Service Manager, after notifying the Consultant, may delegate any of their actions and may cancel any delegation. The notification contains the name of the delegate and details of the actions being delegated or any cancellation of delegation. A reference to an action of the Service Manager in the contract includes an action by their delegate. The Service Manager may take an action which they have delegated.



		

		14.3

		

		The Service Manager may give an instruction to the Consultant which changes the Scope, the access date or a Key Date. Without limiting the foregoing, the Service Manager may give an instruction to the Consultant which changes the Scope by extending the Completion Date to reflect the progress of the TP Contract and the Parties acknowledge that the Competition Date may be extended to align with the Completion Date under the TP Contract (as defined therein), but the Consultant is not entitled to any change to the Prices. After Completion, an instruction is given only if it is necessary to Provide the Service. If information provided by the Client is found to be incorrect, the Service Manager gives an instruction correcting it.



		

		14.4

		

		The Service Manager does not give an instruction to the Consultant which would require it to act in a way that was outside its professional code of conduct.



		

		14.5

		

		The Client may replace the Service Manager after notifying the Consultant of the name of the replacement.



		

		14.6

		

		The Client reserves the right to: 

appoint persons (other than the Service Manager), including any project manager integrator to act on its behalf and/or perform its functions under the contract; and

exclude such persons from the definition of "Others" for the purposes of the contract on the basis that they form part of the Client's organisation, by written notice to the Consultant.



		Early warning

		15
15.1

		

		
The Consultant and the Service Manager give an early warning by notifying the other as soon as either becomes aware of any matter which could

increase the total of the Prices,

delay Completion,

adversely affect the work of the Client or any Other,

lead to a breach of any Consent or Project Agreement,

adversely affect the Client (including by increasing the monies payable by the Client to Others engaged on the Project) and/or cause any disruption to any ongoing Client operations at or adjacent to the Site

delay meeting a Key Date,

impair the usefulness of the service to the Client or

affect the work of the Client, a Client’s contractor or another consultant.

The Service Manager or the Consultant may give an early warning by notifying the other of any other matter which could increase the Consultant’s total cost. In the notification the Consultant and the Service Manager state whether the early warning must be dealt with immediately or can wait until the next scheduled early warning meeting. The Service Manager enters early warning matters in the Early Warning Register. Early warning of a matter for which a compensation event has previously been notified is not required.



		

		15.2

		

		The Service Manager prepares a first Early Warning Register and issues it to the Consultant within one week of the starting date. The Service Manager instructs the Consultant to attend a first early warning meeting within two weeks of the starting date. 

Later early warning meetings are held

if either the Service Manager or Consultant instructs the other to attend an early warning meeting, and, in any case,

at no longer interval than the interval stated in the Contract Data until Completion of the whole of the service. 

The Service Manager or Consultant may instruct other people to attend an early warning meeting if the other agrees.

A Subcontractor attends an early warning meeting if its attendance would assist in deciding the actions to be taken.



		

		15.3

		

		At an early warning meeting, those who attend co-operate in

making and considering proposals for how the effects of each matter in the Early Warning Register can be avoided or reduced,

seeking solutions that will bring advantage to all those who will be affected,



		

		

		

		deciding on the actions which will be taken and who, in accordance with the contract, will take them,

deciding which matters can be removed from the Early Warning Register and

reviewing actions recorded in the Early Warning Register and deciding if different actions need to be taken and who, in accordance with the contract, will take them.



		

		15.4

		

		The Service Manager revises the Early Warning Register to record the decisions made at each early warning meeting and issues the revised Early Warning Register to the Consultant within one week of the early warning meeting. If a decision needs a change to the Scope, the Service Manager instructs the change at the same time as the revised Early Warning Register is issued. For the avoidance of doubt, the Consultant's only entitlement to a change in the Prices, the Completion Date, a Key Date or a Task Completion Date as a result of any revision to the Early Warning Register is in accordance with clauses 60 and 65



		Requirements for instructions

		16
16.1

		

		The Service Manager or the Consultant notifies the other as soon as either becomes aware of an ambiguity or inconsistency in or between the documents which are part of the contract. The Service Manager states how the ambiguity or inconsistency should be resolved.



		

		16.2

		

		The Service Manager or the Consultant notifies the other as soon as either becomes aware that the Scope includes an illegal or impossible requirement. If the Scope does include an illegal or impossible requirement, the Service Manager gives an instruction to change the Scope appropriately.



		Corrupt Acts

		17
17.1

		

		
The Consultant does not do a Corrupt Act.



		

		17.2

		

		The Consultant takes action to stop a Corrupt Act of a Subcontractor or supplier of which it is, or should be, aware.



		

		17.3

		

		The Consultant includes equivalent provisions to these in subcontracts. 



		Prevention

		18
18.1

		

		
If a Force majeure Event occurs the Service Manager gives an instruction to the Consultant stating how the event is to be dealt with.



		Tasks

		19

19.1

		

		The Consultant notifies the Service Manager if it considers that any part of the service, whether or not identified in the relevant Service Plan, requires subcontracting or the provision of service by persons not included in the Core Team.

The Service Manager may issue a Task Order to the Consultant, including without limitation in connection with the service to be performed by a Subcontractor or Non-Core Team Employee if it is not covered in the Service Plan. The Service Manager  may instruct that the service to be performed under a Task order is Lump Sum Service, Target Cost Service or Reimbursable Service. Before issuing a Task Order, the Service Manager instructs the Consultant to submit a quotation for the Task. The quotation includes:

a detailed description of the service in the Task

whether the task is proposed as comprising Core Team Services, Specialist Services or both (if not already specified by the Service Manager)

whether the Task is proposed to be a Lump Sum Service, a Target Cost Service or a Reimbursable Service

if the Task is proposed to be a Target Cost Service, the proposal for the Consultant's share percentages and the share ranges

any proposed Bespoke Specialist Rates in accordance with clause 21.9

confirmation of who amongst the following is performing which part of the service under the Task:

· the Core Team

· Non-Core Team Employees and

· Subcontractors.

where more than one group of the parties identified above will perform the service in respect of a Task, forecasts of which party will perform which parts of the service

confirmation of the rates in the Rate Card that applies and where relevant the proposed additional rate which may apply to service performed by a Subcontractor pursuant to clause 19.7

if part of the service is proposed to be performed by a Subcontractor, information relating to the Subcontract required under clause 23 and

a Task programme.



Save where expressly agreed in a Task Order, if the Core Team performs the service to which a Task relates the Consultant then such service is deemed to form part of the Core Team Cost and the Consultant is not entitled to payment in respect of the cost incurred by the Core Time in performing the Task.



		

		19.2

		

		The Consultant shows on each Task programme submitted for acceptance

the Task starting date and Task Completion Date

planned Task Completion 

the order and timing of the operations which the Consultant plans to do to complete the Task

the dates when, in order to Provide the Service in accordance with the Task programme, the Consultant will need information from Others



		

		19.3

		

		The Consultant submits a quotation for a Task within two weeks of being instructed to do so by the Service Manager. The Consultant submits details of its assessment with the quotation. The Service Manager replies within two weeks of the submission. The reply is:

acceptance of the quotation and the issue of the Task Order,

an instruction to submit a revised quotation, 

that the Service Manager will be making the assessment or

a notification that the Task will not be instructed. 

The time periods specified in this clause may be made shorter or longer in respect of specific Tasks by agreement between the Parties.



		

		19.4

		

		The Service Manager instructs the Consultant to submit a revised quotation only after explaining the reasons for doing so to the Consultant. The Consultant submits the revised quotation within two weeks of being instructed to do so. 

The Client may require that additional Key Performance Indicators apply to the Task Order in accordance with clause X20.6.



		

		19.5

		

		The Service Manager extends the time allowed for

the Consultant to submit quotations for a Task or

the Service Manager to reply to a quotation

if the Service Manager and the Consultant agree to the extension before the submission or reply is due. The Service Manager informs the Consultant of the extension which has been agreed. 



		

		19.6

		

		The Service Manager assesses the pricing for the Task if

· the Consultant has not submitted a quotation and details of its assessment within the time allowed or

· the Service Manager decides that the Consultant has not assessed the Task correctly in a quotation and has not instructed the Consultant to submit a revised quotation. 

The Service Manager notifies the Consultant of the assessment of the pricing for a Task, gives details of the assessment and issues the Task Order within the period allowed for the Consultant's submission of its quotation for the same Task. This period starts when the need for the Service Manager's assessment becomes apparent. 



		

		19.7

		

		The assessment of a Task is priced using the rates in the applicable Rate Card.

If a Task is to be performed by a Subcontractor the Consultant uses reasonable endeavours to assess the Subcontractor's costs using the rates in the Rate Cards. Where this cannot be agreed, the Consultant notifies the Service Manager and proposes additional rates against which the relevant Task should be assessed together with an explanation for the necessity of such rates. The Service Manager and the Consultant act reasonably to agree any additional rates which apply only to assessment of the relevant Task performed by the Subcontractor provided that the Consultant has reasonably demonstrated why the bespoke rates are required . 



		

		19.8

		

		When a Task Order is issued

the relevant Lump Sum Service Prices, the Target Cost Service Prices or the Reimbursable Service Prices (as applicable) is included in the Prices 

the work involved is added to the Scope and

the Task programme is included in the Accepted Programme. 

The issue of a Task is not a compensation event. 



		

		19.9

		

		Notwithstanding any other provision of the contract, the Consultant acknowledges and agrees that the Client may, at any time by way of a written instruction to the Consultant, remove or omit all or part of the service at any time and for any reason as follows:

immediately in respect of the service in connection with a Task that the Consultant has not commenced

by providing one months' notice in respect of the service in connection with a Task that the Consultant has commenced or 

by providing three months' notice in respect of any Core Team Services provided by the Core Team that is not a Task.

The total of the Prices is reduced to reflect such removal or omission, calculated by reference to the Client's determination of the value attributable to such omitted part(s) (acting reasonably) or by such other sum as otherwise agreed between the Parties

The Client has no liability whatsoever to the Consultant in respect of any such reduction or omission (whether in contract, tort (including negligence) or otherwise), which shall not give rise to any entitlement for the Consultant to claim for Indirect Loss or for any other amount under the contract. The Consultant is not entitled to any adjustment to the Completion Date or a Task Completion Date arising out of or in connection with any instruction(s) issued by the Client pursuant to this clause 19.9, 

Nothing in this clause 19.9 affects the entitlement of the Consultant to be paid for any services and/or works properly performed in accordance with the contract prior to the date of such reduction or omission.
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		2. THE CONSULTANT’S MAIN RESPONSIBILITIES





		Providing the Service

		20
20.1

		

		
The Consultant Provides the Service in accordance with the Scope.



		

		20.2

		

		The Consultant’s obligation is to use Good Industry Practice.



		

		20.3

		

		The Consultant is not liable for a Defect unless it failed to carry out the service using Good Industry Practice. 



		

		20
20.5

		

		The Consultant prepares forecasts of the total Defined Cost and expenses for the whole of the service in consultation with the Service Manager and submits them to the Service Manager as part of the forecast of the Indicative Project Cost submitted in the Service Plan in accordance with article 3.2 of the Agreement. 



		

		20.6

		

		These conditions of contract and the warranties and undertakings in them are deemed to apply to all services performed by the Consultant both before and after the Contract Date.



		

		20.7

		

		If in the performance of its duties under the contract, the Consultant becomes aware that  any person has specified, approved or used any Prohibited Materials, the Consultant immediately notifies the Client of the same. This clause does not create any additional duty for the Consultant to inspect or check the work of Others which is not required by the contract.



		

		20.8

		

		Throughout the duration of the Project the Consultant assesses whether the quality, programme or efficiency of the service and/or the Project as a whole could be improved. If the Consultant identifies any potential methods of achieving any such improvements it notifies the Service Manager and/or the Client and submits its proposals for how the proposed improvements could be implemented in the Project. The Consultant does not propose any potential improvement initiatives if they may jeopardise the health and safety of the Project or the completed Project.



		

		20.9

		

		Without prejudice to clause 20.1, the Consultant Provides the Service in accordance with the Export Controls and Security Schedule set out in Section [] of the Scope.



		

		20.10

		

		Without prejudice to clause 20.2, in carrying out service related to assurance exercises the Consultant has due regard to the relevant good industry, engineering and other practices, methods, equipment and procedures reasonably expected to be employed by the Contractor when undertaking engineering, design, procurement, construction, commissioning, operation and maintenance activities in the nuclear power industry in the United Kingdom (including, without limitation, those practices, methods, equipment and procedures set out in guidance published by the ONR from time to time)



		People

		21
21.1

		

		
The Consultant either provides each Core Team member, Non-Core Team Employee, or Subcontractor named to do the job stated in the Service Plan or relevant Task Order or provides a replacement person who has been accepted by the Service Manager, and in accordance with clause Z3 in respect of replacement Core Team members. If the Consultant is required to provide a replacement person, it does so as soon as reasonably practicable to avoid disruption to the provision of the service.





		

		21.2

		

		The Consultant Provides the Service in the most efficient manner possible and assesses throughout the duration of the Project the personnel and other resources that it may require to achieve this provided always that it Provides the Service in accordance with Good Industry Practice and the terms of the contract. 



		

		21.3

		

		The Consultant ensures that it engages the required personnel and resources specified in the Schedule of Cost Components and that all personnel engaged to Provide the Service and in particular the Core Team, devotes such time, resource and expertise to the carrying out of the service and the Consultant's other obligations under the contract as is stated in the Schedule of Cost Components or if not specified, resource and expertise as is appropriate and commensurate with performance of the Consultant's obligations hereunder.  The Consultant does not omit or change any such personnel or resource or reduce or increase their time or expertise commitment to the service or the contract without the Service Manager's prior written consent and in accordance with clause Z3 where applicable, save where the person leaves the employment of the Consultant, the Service Manager instruct the Consultant to do so, the person is unable to continue to act in connection with the contract or the person is removed for reasons which the Service Manager considers to be outside of the Consultant's reasonable control.

The Consultant confirms to the Service Manager on request:

•	the persons full time allocated to the service;

•	those allocated partially to the service and to other contracts and what element of time is allocated to the contract; 

•	how time allocation alters over key stages of the service; and

•	numbers of Site based and off-Site personnel.

The Consultant warrants that all such disclosures are true, complete and made in good faith.



		

		21.4

		

		Subject to any Task Orders issued in accordance with clause 19 and provided that it has the necessary expertise, the Core Team performs all of the service and the Consultant's other obligations under the contact.



		

		21.5

		

		Subject to clause 21.6, if the Client is not satisfied for any reason with people who are employed directly or indirectly by the Consultant to undertake any part of the service, including but not limited to a member of the Core Team or a Subcontractor, it notifies the Consultant and provides feedback and recommendations to the Consultant to address any issues identified. The Consultant works with the relevant person to address the issues notified by the Client and/or provides any feedback to the Client in respect of the notified issues. If the Parties do not reach an agreement within a reasonable time, the matter is referred to Senior Representatives of the Parties to consider. Following the conclusion of the meeting of the Senior Representatives the Client is entitled to instruct the Consultant to stop the relevant person from working on the Project and performing the service. Any such instruction by the Client under this clause 21.5 is not a compensation event.If the Client instructs the Consultant to remove a Core Team member the Consultant provides a Core Team transfer plan in accordance with clause Z3.



		

		21.6

		

		Notwithstanding clause 21.5, if the people who are employed directly or indirectly by the Consultant to undertake any part of the service, including but not limited to a member of the Core Team or a Subcontractor, breach or are alleged to have breached the Supplier Code of Conduct then the Client is entitled to instruct the Consultant to stop the relevant person from working on the Project and performing the service immediately. Any such instruction by the Client under this clause 21.6 is not a compensation event unless and until the Consultant provides evidence to the reasonable satisfaction of the Client within 5 Business Days of the instruction that the allegations are unsubstantiated beyond all reasonable doubt and/or were made vexatiously. 



		[bookmark: _Hlk190183302]

		21.7

		

		[bookmark: _Hlk190183144]If the Client instructs the Consultant to stop any employees or Subcontractors from working on the Project under clauses 21.5 or 21.6, the Consultant arranges as soon as reasonably practicable and in accordance with the terms of the contract for a replacement of any such persons that has an equivalent or a greater level of experience. 



		

		21.8

		

		The Consultant provides details and information relating to any Non-Core Team Employees as may reasonably be requested by the Service Manager.



		

		21.9

		

		Where the Consultant considers, acting reasonably, that the Rate Card does not include a rate applicable in respect of service to be performed by a Specialist, it may include in the Service Plan or as part of a Task quotation under clause 19.1 a proposal for a Bespoke Specialist Rate. The Consultant provides such information and documentation as is necessary to detail why the existing rates in the Rate Card cannot apply to the service. The Client in its sole discretion may agree in writing that a Bespoke Specialist Rate applies in respect of the relevant services performed by such Specialist. If the Client does not provide such approval, the Specialist Rates apply. 



		Working with the Client and Others

		22
22.1

		

		
The Consultant co-operates with Others, including in obtaining and providing information which they need in connection with the service. The Consultant co-operates with Others and co-ordinates its activities with them in accordance with the Scope. 



		

		22.2

		

		Where necessary to Provide the Service, the Consultant holds or attends meetings with Others. The Consultant informs the Service Manager of these meetings beforehand and the Service Manager may attend them.



		

		22.3

		

		If the Service Manager decides that the work does not meet the Condition stated for a Key Date by the date stated and, as a result, the Client incurs additional cost either

in carrying out work or

by paying an additional amount to Others in carrying out work

on the same project, the additional cost the Client has paid or will incur is paid by the Consultant. The Service Manager assesses the additional cost within four weeks of the date when the Condition stated for the Key Date is met. The Client’s right to recover the additional cost is its only right in these circumstances.



		Subcontracting

		23
23.1

		

		
If the Consultant subcontracts work, it is responsible for Providing the Service as if it had not subcontracted. The contract applies as if a Subcontractor’s employees were the Consultant’s. 



		

		23.2

		

		The Consultant acknowledges that it should only seek to subcontract any part of the service if it requires the expertise of a Subcontractor to Provide the Service in accordance with the terms of the contract. If the Consultant considers that any element of the service should be subcontracted, it notifies the Service Manager as soon as reasonably practicable.

Subject to clause 23.8, the Consultant submits the name of each proposed Subcontractor to the Service Manager for acceptance. The Consultant does not appoint a proposed Subcontractor until the Service Manager has 

accepted the Subcontractor 

instructed a Task in relation to the service to be performed by the Subcontractor and, to the extent these conditions of contract require,

accepted the subcontract documents.



		

		23.3

		

		Subject to clause 23.8, the Consultant submits the proposed subcontract documents, except any pricing information, for each subcontract by inclusion in the Task Order quotation pursuant to clause 19 to the Service Manager for acceptance unless

the proposed subcontract is an NEC contract which has not been amended other than in accordance with the additional conditions of contract or

the Service Manager has agreed that no submission is required.



		

		23
23.4

		

		Subject to clause 23.8, the Consultant submits the pricing information in the proposed subcontract documents for each subcontract to the Service Manager unless the Service Manager has agreed that no submission is required. The pricing information includes any proposed Bespoke Specialist Rate only where the Rate Card is not applicable to the proposed service. 



		

		23.5

		

		A reason for not accepting a proposed Subcontract or Subcontractor is that:

the Service Manager is not satisfied, acting reasonably, that the proposed Subcontractor is suitable and capable of performing the subcontracted scope in accordance with the requirements of the contract based on the information provided pursuant to paragraphs [] (as applicable) of Section []  of the Scope (Supply Chain and Subcontracting),

the requirements in paragraph [] of Section [] of the Scope have not been complied with, subject to any deviations approved by the Client, 

the proposed form of Subcontract does not include the mandatory flow down provisions referred to in paragraph [] in Section [] in the Scope, subject to any deviations approved by the Client,

the Consultant has not provided all of the required information in relation to the proposed Subcontract and proposed Subcontractor referred to in paragraph [] in Section [] in the Scope (Supply Chain and Subcontracting),

the proposed Subcontract terms do not include provisions satisfactory to the Service Manager for open book costs determinations and reasonable breakage costs in the event of termination,

the Service Manager is not satisfied that there is sufficient security and adequate step in provisions in the proposed Subcontract terms,

the proposed Subcontractor is an Affiliate of the Consultant, and is not procured and contracted on arm’s length terms,

the Subcontractor owns any part of the Contractor, is part of the Contractor's group of companies, or has any other form of material interest in the Contractor, 

if the Subcontractor provides services or works of any kind under a subcontract agreement or otherwise in respect of the TP Contract and the Client at its sole discretion determines that there is a risk of conflicts of interest,

the proposed terms of payment are not compliant with the Prompt Payment Code (established in 2008 and administered by the Office of the Small Business Commissioner), 

the Subcontractor will not be paid reasonable rates for the works and services it provides,

the proposed Bespoke Specialist Rate is not reasonable or in-line with current industry practice;

it includes a requirement to achieve any key performance indicator targets included in the Subcontract,

it will not allow the Consultant to Provide the Service, 

if the proposed Subcontractor has a design responsibility, the proposed Subcontract terms do not require the Subcontractor to maintain appropriate professional indemnity or product liability insurance, or

the proposed Subcontract terms do not require the relevant Subcontractor to provide a collateral warranty to the Client in the form set out in Part 3 of Schedule 6 to the Agreement.



		

		23.6

		

		The Consultant provides the Client with:

an original copy of a collateral warranty in favour of the Client, duly executed by the Consultant and each Subcontractor in the form set out in Part 3 of Schedule 6 to the Agreement, within fifteen Business Days of the date of the Subcontract being entered into; and

a certified copy of the relevant Subcontract within fifteen Business Days of the Subcontractor entering into the Subcontract with the Consultant.



		

		23.7

		

		If the Consultant or any Affiliate of the Consultant has a controlling influence (whether by way of direct or indirect shareholding or contractual rights) over any proposed Subcontractor, the Consultant notifies the Service Manager and any appointment of such Subcontractor is subject to the Client's consent, which consent is not unreasonably withheld.



		

		23.8

		

		If a Subcontract is included in the approved Service Plan, the Consultant is entitled to subcontract the relevant service to the approved Subcontractor and the provisions of clauses 23.2 – 23.4 do not apply. 



		



		23.9

		

		The Consultant includes in each Subcontract (and procures that each subcontract with a sub-subcontractor includes): 

payment terms that comply with the Procurement Act; and 

notification obligations equivalent to those concerning Supplier Exclusion Notifications as set out in clause ‎Z17.



		

		23.10

		

		The Client may verify whether any Subcontractor is an Excluded Supplier or Excludable Supplier and the Consultant promptly provides any information requested by the Client with regard to such verification. The Client may require the Consultant to replace any Subcontractor (or procure the replacement of any sub-subcontractor) that is or becomes an Excluded Supplier or Excludable Supplier. 



		

		23.11

		

		The Consultant promptly notifies the Client of any circumstances that may entitle the Client to require the Consultant to replace a Subcontractor (or procure the replacement of a sub-subcontractor), pursuant to clause 23.10. 



		

		23.12

		

		The Client is not liable for any Losses and no compensation event arises in respect of any termination of a sub-subcontractor, pursuant to clause 23.10.



		

		

		

		



		Other responsibilities

		24
24.1

		

		
The Consultant obtains approval from Others where necessary.



		

		24.2

		

		The Consultant obeys an instruction which is in accordance with the contract and is given by the Service Manager.



		

		24.3

		

		The Consultant acts in accordance with the health and safety requirements stated in the Scope.



		

		24.4

		

		24.4.1 The Consultant performs all the duties of a "designer" as required by the CDM Regulations in relation to the service.  

24.4.2	The Consultant hereby warrants that at the date hereof it has and for the duration of the service it shall continue to have the skills, knowledge, experience and organisational capability necessary to fulfil the role of designer (as defined in the CDM Regulations) in a manner that secures the health and safety of any person affected by the Project.

24.4.3 The Consultant warrants and undertakes to the Client as a condition of the contract that as at the Contract Date, none of the Consultant, the Consultant's Associated Persons or any Subcontractor is an Excluded Supplier or Excludable Supplier (including in each case by reference to their Connected Persons).



		Assignment

		25
25.1

		

		
Either Party notifies the other Party if they intend to transfer the benefit of the contract or any rights under it. The Client does not transfer a benefit or any rights if the party receiving the benefit or right does not intend to act in a spirit of mutual trust and co-operation.



		

		25.2

		

		The Consultant does not assign, charge, novate or otherwise transfer any right or obligation under the contract to any third party. A charge in favour of the Consultant's bankers of any monies due under the contract, or the subrogation to insurers of the Consultant's rights is not considered an assignment.



		

		25.3

		

		The Client is, upon notice in writing to the Consultant, entitled to assign, charge, novate or otherwise transfer the whole or any part of its rights and obligations under the contract to any third party, provided that at the time of such assignment, charge or transfer, such party is not a Restricted Entity and in the case of a transfer of the Client's obligations, such party has sufficient financial resources to perform the Client's obligations under the contract.



		Disclosure

		26
26.1

		

		 The Parties keep confidential all Confidential Information received by one Party from the other Party relating to the contract or the Project and use best endeavours to prevent their employees and agents from making disclosure to any person of such Confidential Information, provided always that disclosure of information is permitted in relation to:

•	any disclosure of information that is reasonably required to or by any person engaged in the performance of either Party's obligations under the contract for the performance of those obligations (R1)

•	any matter which a Party can demonstrate is already or becomes generally available and in the public domain otherwise than as a result of a breach of this clause 26 (R2)

•	any disclosure required by any Statutory Requirements or applicable law or any regulated stock exchange or other competent regulatory authority (R3)

•	any disclosure of information which is already lawfully in the possession of the receiving Party, prior to its disclosure by the disclosing Party (R4)

•	any provision of information to a Party's own professional advisers or insurance advisers (R5)

•	any provision of information by the Client to any third party that is reasonably necessary for the operation, maintenance, reinstatement, refurbishment, repair, expansion, upgrade, sale, financing, re-financing and decommissioning of the Project or any part thereof (R6)

•	any provision of information by the Client to any third party that is reasonably necessary for the performance of the service, if the Client terminates the Consultant's obligation to Provide the Service (R7) or

•	any disclosure to enable a determination to be made under the dispute resolution clause W2 or in connection with a dispute between the Client and any of its other consultants or contractors appointed in relation to the Project (R8)

and provided further that, in the case of paragraphs R1, R5, R6 and R8 of this clause 26.1, the disclosing Party ensures that the recipient provides an undertaking of strict confidentiality in relation to the disclosed information on terms no less onerous than the provisions of this clause 26.1.



		

		26.2

		

		The Consultant does not publish, permit to be published, or disclose any particulars of the service or the Project in any trade or technical paper or elsewhere without the Client’s prior consent, which it may withhold in its absolute discretion.



		

		26.3

		

		If the Consultant's obligation to Provide the Service is terminated (for any reason) the Consultant returns to the Client as soon as reasonably possible all of the Client's Confidential Information then within its possession or control or destroys such Confidential Information using a secure and confidential method of destruction and provides to the Client sufficient evidence of such destruction, save that the Consultant retains one copy of the Confidential Information if required to do so by law.



		

		26.4

		

		Without prejudice to the provisions of clause 26, the Consultant discloses to the Client and the Service Manager all such confidential and other information as the Service Manager may reasonably require in order to verify the Consultant's compliance with the contract.



		

		26.5

		

		The provisions of this clause 26 survive termination of the contract or the Consultant's employment under the contract.









		3. TIME





		Starting, Completion and Key Dates

		30
30.1

		

		
The Consultant does not start work until the starting date and thereafter proceeds regularly and diligently with the service and uses its reasonable endeavours to prevent and/or reduce any delay in the progress of the work so that Completion is on or before the Completion Date.

The Consultant does not start work included in a Task until the Service Manager has issued the Task Order and does the work so that the Task Completion is on or before the Task Completion Date. 



		

		30.2

		

		The Consultant notifies the Service Manager when in its opinion the service will have been completed or a Condition satisfied in accordance with the contract.

The Consultant provides all information and evidence listed or identified in the Scope as being required to demonstrate that the service have been so completed or the Condition has been so satisfied.  If the Service Manager is satisfied that the service have been so completed or that the Condition has been so satisfied, it decides the date of Completion or satisfaction. The Service Manager certifies Completion or satisfaction within one week of Completion or satisfaction, as the case may be. If the Service Manager is not so satisfied, it notifies the Consultant of its reasons for not accepting that the service have been completed or the condition satisfied and the Consultant notifies the service Manager when the necessary corrective action has been taken.



		

		30.3

		

		The Consultant does the work so that the Condition stated for each Key Date is met by the Key Date.



		The programme

		31
31.1

		

		
If a programme is not identified in the Contract Data, the Consultant submits a first programme to the Service Manager for acceptance within the period stated in the Contract Data.



		

		31.2

		

		The Consultant shows on each programme submitted for acceptance

the starting date, access dates, Key Dates, Completion Date and the Task Completion Dates,

planned Completion,

the order and timing of the operations which the Consultant plans to do in order to Provide the Service,

the order and timing of the work of the Client and Others as last agreed with them by the Consultant in accordance with Section [] of the Scope,

the dates when the Consultant plans to meet each Condition stated for the Key Dates and to complete other work needed to allow the Client and Others to do their work,

provisions for

float,

time risk allowances,

health and safety requirements and

the procedures set out in the contract,

the dates when, in order to Provide the Service in accordance with the programme, the Consultant will need

access to a person, place or thing if later than its access date,

information and things to be provided by the Client and

information and approval from Others,

for each operation, a statement of how the Consultant plans to do the work identifying the resources which will be used and

other information which the Scope requires the Consultant to show on a programme submitted for acceptance.

A programme issued for acceptance is in the form stated in the Scope.



		

		31.3

		

		Within two weeks of the Consultant submitting a programme for acceptance, the Service Manager notifies the Consultant of the acceptance of the programme or the reasons for not accepting it. A reason for not accepting a programme is that

the Consultant’s plans which it shows are not practicable,

it does not show the information which the contract requires,



		

		

		

		it does not represent the Consultant’s plans realistically or

it does not comply with the Scope.



		

		

		

		If the Service Manager does not notify acceptance or non-acceptance within the time allowed, the Consultant may notify the Service Manager of that failure. If the failure continues for a further one week after the Consultant’s notification, it is treated as acceptance by the Service Manager of the programme.



		

		31.4

		

		The Consultant provides information in the Monthly Report which shows how each activity on the Activity Schedule relates to the operations on each programme submitted for acceptance.



		Revising the programme

		32
32.1

		

		
The Consultant shows on each revised programme 

the actual progress achieved on each operation and its effect upon the timing of the remaining work,

how the Consultant plans to deal with any delays and to correct notified Defects and

any other changes which the Consultant proposes to make to the Accepted Programme.



		

		32.2

		

		The Consultant submits a revised programme to the Service Manager for acceptance

within the period for reply after the Service Manager has instructed the Consultant to,

when the Consultant chooses to and, in any case,

as part of each Monthly Report.



		Access to people, places and things

		33
33.1

		

		
The Client provides access to a person, place or thing to the Consultant as stated in the Contract Data on or before the later of its access date and the date for access shown on the Accepted Programme.

If access and use of the Site is given to the Consultant it is subject to and in accordance with any Disclosed Adverse Rights and the provisions of any Site access protocol included within the Scope.

The Client does not guarantee uninterrupted or exclusive access to or use of the Site or any part of it and access is limited in accordance with the contract.



		

		33.2

		

		The Client provides information and things which the contract requires the Client to provide in accordance with the Accepted Programme.



		Instructions to stop or not to start work

		34
34.1

		

		
The Service Manager may instruct the Consultant to stop or not to start any work. The Service Manager subsequently gives an instruction to the Consultant (to which clause 60.1(4) applies) to 

re-start or start the work or

remove the work from the Scope.



		Acceleration

		35
35.1

		

		
The Consultant and the Service Manager may propose to the other an acceleration to achieve Completion before the Completion Date or Task Completion before a Task Completion Date. If the Service Manager and Consultant are prepared to consider the proposed change, the Service Manager instructs the Consultant to provide a quotation. The instruction states changes to the Key Dates to be included in the quotation. The Consultant provides a quotation within four weeks of the instruction to do so. The Service Manager replies to the quotation within four weeks. The reply is 

a notification that the quotation is accepted or

a notification that the quotation is not accepted and that the Completion Dates, Key Dates and/or Task Completion Dates are not changed.



		

		35.2

		

		A quotation for an acceleration comprises proposed changes to the Prices and a revised programme showing the earlier Completion Date and the changed Key Dates and Task Completion Dates. The Consultant submits details of the assessment with each quotation. 



		

		35.3

		

		When a quotation for an acceleration is accepted, the Service Manager changes the Prices, the Completion Date and the Key Dates and Task Completion Dates as relevant accordingly and accepts the revised programme.









		4. QUALITY MANAGEMENT





		Quality management system

		40
40.1

		

		
The Consultant operates a quality management system which complies with the requirements stated in the Scope.



		

		40.2

		

		Within the period stated in the Contract Data, the Consultant provides the Service Manager with a quality policy statement and a Quality Assurance Plan for acceptance. A reason for not accepting a quality policy statement or Quality Assurance Plan is that it does not allow the Consultant to Provide the Service.

If any changes are made to the Quality Assurance Plan, the Consultant provides the Service Manager with the changed Quality Assurance Plan for acceptance.



		

		40.3

		

		The Service Manager may instruct the Consultant to correct a failure to comply with the Quality Assurance Plan. This instruction is not a compensation event.



		

		40.4

		

		The Consultant provides access to its Quality Assurance Plan, quality policy statement and any other quality system documentation for review, inspection, and audit by the Client, the Service Manager, and authorised Others including statutory authorities and UK Regulators. 



		

		40.5

		

		Any intervention in the performance of the service caused by an audit carried out pursuant to clause 40.4 does not relieve the Consultant of its obligations under the contract. 



		Correcting Defects

		41
41.1

		

		
Until the defects date the Service Manager and the Consultant notifies the other as soon they becomes aware of a Defect. At Completion the Consultant notifies the Service Manager of the Defects which have not been corrected. The Client’s rights in respect of a Defect which the Service Manager has not found or notified by the defects date are not affected.



		

		41.2

		

		The Consultant corrects a Defect whether or not the Service Manager has notified it. The Consultant corrects Defects within a time which minimises the adverse effect on the Client or Others. If the Consultant does not correct a notified Defect within the time required by the contract, the Service Manager assesses the cost to the Client of having the Defect corrected by other people and the Consultant pays this amount. The Scope is treated as having been changed to accept the Defect.



		Accepting Defects

		42
42.1

		

		
The Consultant and the Service Manager may propose to the other that the Scope should be changed so that a Defect does not have to be corrected.



		

		42.2

		

		If the Consultant and the Service Manager are prepared to consider the change, the Consultant submits a quotation for reduced Prices or an earlier Completion Date and/or Task Completion Date the or both to the Service Manager for acceptance. If the quotation is accepted, the Service Manager changes the Scope, the Prices and the Completion Date and/or the Task Completion Date accordingly and accepts the revised programme. 









		5. PAYMENT





		Assessing the amount due

		50
50.1

		

		
The Service Manager assesses the amount due at each assessment date. The first assessment date is decided by the Service Manager to suit the procedures of the Parties and is not later than the assessment interval after the starting date. Later assessment dates occur at the end of each assessment interval until

four weeks after the defects date or

the Service Manager issues a termination certificate.



		

		50.2

		

		The Consultant submits an application for payment to the Service Manager before each assessment date setting out the amount the Consultant considers is due at the assessment date. The Consultant’s application for payment includes details of how the amount has been assessed and is in the form stated in the Scope.

In assessing the amount due, the Service Manager considers an application for payment submitted by the Consultant before the assessment date.



		

		50.3

		

		If the Consultant submits an application for payment before the assessment date, the amount due at the assessment date is

the Price for Service Provided to Date,

plus, where payable in accordance with article 5 of the Agreement, the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive,

plus the amount of the expenses properly spent by the Consultant in Providing the Service, 

plus other amounts to be paid to the Consultant,

less amounts to be paid by or retained from the Consultant, including without limitation any deduction of the At Risk Fee in accordance with article 4 of the Agreement.



		

		50.4

		

		If the Consultant does not submit an application for payment before the assessment date, the amount due at the assessment date is the lesser of

the amount the Service Manager assesses as due at the assessment date, assessed as though the Consultant had submitted an application before the assessment date, and 

the amount due at the previous assessment date.



		

		50.5

		

		If no programme is identified in the Contract Data, one quarter of the Price for Service Provided to Date is retained in assessments of the amount due until the Consultant has submitted a first programme to the Service Manager for acceptance showing the information which the contract requires.

If any revised programme is not submitted by the Consultant to the Service Manager for acceptance showing the information which the contract requires within the timescales required by clause 32.2, one tenth of the total cumulative increase in the amount due since the assessment date following the last submission of such revised programme is retained in all assessments of the amount due and is not payable to the Consultant until such revised programme has been submitted to the Service Manager for acceptance.



		

		50.6

		

		The Service Manager corrects any incorrectly assessed amount due in a later payment certificate.



		

		50
50.8

		

		
Payments of Defined Cost made by the Consultant in a currency other than the currency of the contract are included in the amount due as payments to be made to it in the same currency. Such payments are converted to the currency of the contract in order to calculate the At Risk Fee, and in respect of any Target Cost Service any Consultant's share, using the exchange rates.



		

		50.9

		

		The Consultant notifies the Service Manager when the Defined Cost for a part of the service has been finalised, and makes available for inspection the records necessary to demonstrate that it has been correctly assessed. The Service Manager reviews the records made available, and no later than thirteen weeks after the Consultant’s notification

accepts that part of Defined Cost as correct,

notifies the Consultant that further records are needed or

notifies the Consultant of errors in its assessment.

The Consultant provides any further records requested or advises the correction of the errors in its assessment within four weeks of the Service Manager’s notification. The Service Manager reviews the records provided, and within four weeks

accepts that part of Defined Cost as correct or

notifies the Consultant of the correct assessment of that part of Defined Cost.

If the Service Manager does not notify a decision on that part of Defined Cost within the time stated, the Consultant’s assessment is treated as correct.



		

		50.10

		

		If the Consultant fails to deliver any parent company guarantee required in accordance with the contract, the Client may retain any payment or further payment, as the case may be, which would otherwise be due to the Consultant under the contract until such time as any parent company guarantee has been so delivered.

If the Consultant fails to deliver any collateral warranty in accordance with the contract, the Client may retain any payment or further payment, as the case may be, which would otherwise be due to the Consultant under the contract, on account of sums paid or payable to the Subcontractor which has failed to deliver the collateral warranty, until such time as such collateral warranty has been so delivered.



		Payment

		51
51.1

		

		
The Service Manager certifies a payment within ten Business Days of the later of the relevant assessment date or receipt of the Consultant's application for payment submitted in accordance with clause 50.2. The Service Manager’s certificate includes details of how the amount due has been assessed. The first payment is the amount due. Other payments are the change in the amount due since the previous assessment. A payment is made by the Consultant to the Client if the change reduces the amount due. Other payments are made by the Client to the Consultant. The Party to which payment is due submits an invoice to the other Party for the amount to be paid within one week of the Service Manager’s certificate. Payments are in the currency of the contract unless otherwise stated in the contract. Not later than [5] Business Days after receipt of the payment certificate the Consultant delivers to the Client (copied to the Service Manager) a VAT invoice in the amount of the certificate with a copy of the certificate attached.

If any VAT invoice delivered by the Consultant under the contract is an electronic invoice, the Client accepts and processes the electronic invoice submitted by the Consultant where the invoice is undisputed and where it is in the Required Electronic Form.



		

		51.2 

		

		Each certified payment is made on or before the final date for payment specified in clause Y2.2.



		

		

		

		If a certified payment is late, or if a payment is late because the Service Manager has not issued a certificate which should be issued, interest is paid on the late payment. Interest is assessed from the date by which the late payment should have been made until the date when the late payment is made, and is included in the first assessment after the late payment is made.



		

		51.3

		

		If an amount due is corrected in a later certificate 

in relation to a mistake or a compensation event or 

following a decision of the Adjudicator or the tribunal,

interest on the correcting amount is paid. Interest is assessed from the date when the incorrect amount was certified until the date when the changed amount is certified and is included in the assessment which includes the changed amount.



		

		51.4

		

		Interest is calculated on a daily basis at the interest rate and is compounded annually.



		

		51.5

		

		Any tax which the law requires a Party to pay to the other Party is added to any payment made under the contract.



		

		51.6

		

		Where the Consultant is a Joint Venture, a payment made to any one party comprising the Consultant discharges the Client’s liability with respect to such payment to all parties comprising the Consultant.



		Defined Cost

		52
52.1

		

		
All the Consultant’s costs are treated as included in the Rate Cards. Defined Cost includes only amounts calculated using rates and percentages stated in the Contract Data and other amounts at open market or competitively tendered prices with deductions for all discounts, rebates and taxes which can be recovered.



		

		52.3

		

		The Consultant keeps these records

accounts of payments of Defined Cost and expenses,

proof that the payments have been made,

communications about and assessments of compensation events for Subcontractors and

other records as stated in the Scope.



		

		52.4

		

		The Consultant allows the Service Manager to inspect at any time within working hours the accounts and records which it is required to keep.



		Final assessment

		53
53.1

		

		
The Service Manager makes an assessment of the final amount due and certifies a final payment, if any is due, no later than

four weeks after the later of the defects date and the date the last Defect is corrected or

twenty-six weeks after the Service Manager issues a termination certificate.

The Service Manager gives the Consultant details of how the amount due has been assessed. The Party to which payment is due submits an invoice to the other Party for the amount to be paid within one week of the Service Manager’s certificate. The final payment is made by the later of 

one week after the paying Party receives an invoice from the other Party and

three weeks after the assessment date, or, if a different period is stated in the Contract Data, within the period stated.



		

		53.2

		

		If the Service Manager does not make this assessment within the time allowed, the Consultant may issue to the Client an assessment of the final amount due, giving details of how the final amount due has been assessed. If the Client agrees with this assessment, the Party to which payment is due submits an invoice for the amount agreed for payment within one week of the date of the assessment. The final payment is made by the later of 

one week after the paying Party receives an invoice from the other Party and

three weeks after the assessment date, or, if a different period is stated in the Contract Data, within the period stated.



		

		53.3

		

		An assessment of the final amount due issued within the time stated in the contract is conclusive evidence of the final amount due under or in connection with the contract unless a Party takes the following actions. 





refers a dispute about the assessment of the final amount due to the Senior Representatives or to the Adjudicator within four weeks of the assessment being issued,

refers any issues referred to but not agreed by the Senior Representatives to the Adjudicator within three weeks of the list of issues not agreed being produced or when it should have been produced and 

refers to the tribunal its dissatisfaction with a decision of the Adjudicator as to the final assessment of the amount due within four weeks of the decision being made.



		

		53.4

		

		The assessment of the final amount due is changed to include 

any agreement the Parties reach and

a decision of the Adjudicator which has not been referred to the tribunal within four weeks of that decision.

A changed assessment becomes conclusive evidence of the final amount due under or in connection with the contract.



		The Consultant's share

		54
54.1

		

		In respect of each Target Cost Service Task:



		

		54.1

		

		the Service Manager assess the Consultant's share of the difference between the total of the Target Cost Service Prices and the Price for Service Provided to Date for each Target Cost Service Task. The difference is divided into increments falling within each of the share ranges. The limits of a share range are the Price for Service Provided to Date divided by the total of the Target Cost Service Prices, in each case in respect of the relevant Target Cost Service Task, expressed as a percentage. The Consultant's share equals the sum of the products of the increment within each share range and the corresponding Consultant's share percentage.



		

		54.2

		

		If the Price for Service Provided to Date for a Target Cost Service Task is less than the total of the Target Cost Service Prices for that Task, the Consultant is paid its share of the saving. If the Price for Service Provided to Date for a Target Cost Service Task is greater than the total of the Target Cost Service Prices for that Task, the Consultant pays its share of the excess. 



		

		54.3

		

		The Service Manager makes a preliminary assessment of the Consultant's share at Task Completion of the whole of the service under a Target Cost Service Task using forecasts of the Price for Service Provided to Date and the final total of the Target Cost Service Prices in each case in respect of the relevant Target Cost Service Task. This share is included in the amount due following Task Completion of the whole of the service under the relevant Task Order. 



		

		54.4

		

		The Service Manager makes a final assessment of the Consultant's share using the final Price for Service Provided to Date and the final total of the Target Cost Service Prices in each case in respect of the relevant Target Cost Service Task. This share is included in the amount due at the assessment date following the Service Manager's assessment. 



		The Activity Schedule

		55
55.1

		

		Information in the Activity Schedule is not Scope. If the activities on the Activity Schedule do not relate to the Scope, the Consultant corrects the Activity Schedule.



		

		55.2

		

		If the Consultant 

changes a planned method of completing the service at its discretion so that the activities on the Activity Schedule do not relate to the operations on the Accepted Programme or

corrects the Activity Schedule so that the activities on the Activity Schedule relate to the Scope

the Consultant submits a revision of the Activity Schedule to the Service Manager for acceptance.



		

		55.3

		

		A reason for not accepting a revision of the Activity Schedule is that

it does not relate to the operations on the Accepted Programme,

any changed Lump Sum Service Prices are not reasonably distributed between the activities which are not completed or

the total of the Lump Sum Service Prices is changed.



		Set Off

		56
56.1

		

		
In addition to any other rights of the Client whether at law or equity under the contract, whenever under the contract or any other contract between the Client and the Consultant any sum of money is recoverable from or payable by the Consultant the same may, subject to service of a pay less notice in accordance with clause Y2.3, be set-off and/or deducted from any sum then due or which at any time thereafter may become due to the  Consultant under the contract.







		6. COMPENSATION EVENTS





		Compensation events

		60
60.1

		

		
The following events are compensation events.

(1) The Service Manager gives an instruction changing the Scope except

a change made as a result of a Defect or

a change to the Scope provided by the Consultant which is made

at the Consultant’s request or

in order to comply with the Scope provided by the Client.

(2) The Client does not allow access to a person, place or thing in accordance with and to the extent required by clause 33.1 by the later of its access date and the date for access shown on the Accepted Programme. 

(3) The Client does not provide something which it is to provide by the date shown on the Accepted Programme.

(4) The Service Manager gives an instruction under clause 34 to stop or not to start any work, or to change a Key Date.

(5) The Client or Others do not work within the times shown on the Accepted Programme or the conditions stated in the Scope [footnoteRef:6]. [6:  Note to Tenderers: the Consultant will only be entitled to include, within the Accepted Programme, periods of time for the work of Others which have been determined in accordance with the provisions of paragraph [] in Section [] of the Scope.] 


(6) The Service Manager does not reply to a communication from the Consultant within the period required by the contract.

(7) The Service Manager changes a decision which the Service Manager had previously communicated to the Consultant.

(8) The Service Manager withholds an acceptance (other than acceptance of a quotation for acceleration or of not correcting a Defect) for a reason not stated in the contract.

(9) An event which is a Client’s liability stated in these conditions of contract unless and to the extent caused by a Force Majeure Event. 

(10) The Service Manager notifies the Consultant of a correction to an assumption which the Service Manager stated about a compensation event.

(11) A breach of contract by the Client which is not one of the other compensation events in the contract or an act of prevention by the Client which does not arise as a consequence of the Client's exercise of its rights and/or the discharge of its obligations under and in accordance with the contract.

(12) A Force Majeure Event.

(13) The Consultant corrects a Defect for which it is not liable under the contract. 

(14) The Service Manager gives an instruction correcting information provided by the Client. 

(15) The Service Manager notifies the Consultant that a quotation for a proposed instruction is not accepted. 

(16) The Consultant receives a Task Order after the starting date stated in the Task Order.

(17) Additional compensation events stated in Contract Data part one.



		Notifying compensation events

		61
61.1

		

		
For a compensation event which arises from the Service Manager giving an instruction or notification or changing an earlier decision the Service Manager notifies the Consultant of the compensation event at the time of that communication. 



		

		61.2

		

		The Service Manager includes in the notification of a compensation event an instruction to the Consultant to submit quotations unless

the event arises from a fault of the Consultant or

the event has no effect upon Defined Cost, Completion or meeting a Key Date.



		

		61.3

		

		The Consultant notifies the Service Manager of an event which has happened or which is expected to happen as a compensation event if

the Consultant believes that the event is a compensation event and

the Service Manager has not notified the event to the Consultant.

If the Consultant does not notify a compensation event within eight weeks of becoming aware or the date on which it ought reasonably to have become so aware that the event has happened the Prices, the Completion Date, a Key Date or a Task Completion Date are not changed unless the event arises from the Service Manager giving an instruction or notification or changing an earlier decision.



		

		61.4

		

		The Service Manager replies to the Consultant’s notification of a compensation event within

ten Business Days after the Consultant’s notification or

a longer period to which the Consultant has agreed.

If the event 

arises from a fault of the Consultant,

has not happened and is not expected to happen,

has not been notified within the timescales set out in these conditions of contract,

has no effect upon Defined Cost, Completion, Task Completion or meeting a Key Date or

is not one of the compensation events stated in the contract

the Service Manager notifies the Consultant that the Prices, the Completion Date, the Key Dates and the Task Completion Dates are not to be changed and states the reasons in the notification. Otherwise, the Service Manager notifies the Consultant that the event is a compensation event and includes in the notification an instruction to the Consultant to submit quotations.

If the Service Manager fails to reply to the Consultant’s notification of a compensation event within the time allowed, the Consultant may notify the Service Manager of that failure. If the failure continues for a further two weeks after the Consultant’s notification it is treated as acceptance by the Service Manager that the event is a compensation event and an instruction to submit quotations.



		

		61.5

		

		If the Service Manager decides that the Consultant did not give an early warning of the event which an experienced consultant could have given, the Service Manager states this in the instruction to the Consultant to submit quotations. 



		

		61.6

		

		If the effects of a compensation event are too uncertain to be forecast reasonably, the Service Manager states assumptions about the compensation event in the instruction to the Consultant to submit quotations. Assessment of the event is based on these assumptions. If any of them is later found to have been wrong, the Service Manager notifies a correction.



		

		61.7

		

		A compensation event is not notified by the Service Manager or the Consultant after the defects date.



		Quotations for compensation events

		62
62.1

		

		
After discussing with the Consultant different ways of dealing with the compensation event which are practicable, the Service Manager may instruct the Consultant to submit alternative quotations. The Consultant submits the required quotations to the Service Manager and may submit quotations for other methods of dealing with the compensation event which it considers practicable.



		

		62.2

		

		Quotations for a compensation event comprise proposed changes to the Prices and any delay to the Completion Date and Key Dates or the Task Completion Dates as relevant assessed by the Consultant. The Consultant submits details of the assessment with each quotation. If the programme for remaining work is altered by the compensation event, the Consultant includes the alterations to the Accepted Programme in the quotation.



		

		62.3

		

		The Consultant submits quotations within three weeks of being instructed to do so by the Service Manager. The Service Manager replies within two weeks of the submission. The reply is

a notification of acceptance of the quotation,

an instruction to submit a revised quotation or

that the Service Manager will be making the assessment.



		

		62.4

		

		The Service Manager instructs the Consultant to submit a revised quotation only after explaining the reasons for doing so to the Consultant. The Consultant submits the revised quotation within three weeks of being instructed to do so.



		

		62.5

		

		The Service Manager extends the time allowed for

the Consultant to submit quotations for a compensation event or

the Service Manager to reply to a quotation

if the Service Manager and the Consultant agree to the extension before the submission or reply is due. The Service Manager informs the Consultant of the extension that has been agreed.



		

		62.6

		

		If the Service Manager does not reply to a quotation within the time allowed, the Consultant may notify the Service Manager of that failure. If the Consultant submitted more than one quotation for the compensation event, the notification states which quotation the Consultant proposes is to be used. If the failure continues for a further two weeks after the Consultant’s notification it is treated as acceptance by the Service Manager of the quotation.



		Assessing compensation events

		63
63.1

		

		
The change to the Prices is assessed as the effect of the compensation event upon

the actual Defined Cost of the work done by the dividing date and

the forecast Defined Cost of the work not done by the dividing date 

For a compensation event that arises from the Service Manager giving an instruction or notification or changing an earlier decision, the dividing date is the date of that communication.

For other compensation events, the dividing date is the date of the notification of the compensation event. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of clauses 60-66 and without prejudice to its entitlement to be paid its additional Defined Cost incurred as a result of the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the Consultant is not entitled to any change in the Prices as a result of the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event. 

This shall not restrict the Service Manager from assessing a delay to the Completion Date, a Task Completion Date and any Key Dates in accordance with clause 63.5, as a result of the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event.



		

		63.2

		

		The Service Manager and the Consultant may agree rates or lump sums to assess the change to the Prices.



		

		63.3

		

		If the effect of a compensation event is to reduce the total Defined Cost, the Prices are not reduced unless otherwise stated in these conditions of contract.



		

		63.4

		

		If the effect of a compensation event is to reduce the total Defined Cost and the event is

a change to the Scope or 

a correction to an assumption stated by the Service Manager for assessing an earlier compensation event

the Prices are reduced.



		

		63.5

		

		A delay to the Completion Date is assessed as the length of time that, due to the compensation event, planned Completion is later than planned Completion as shown on the Accepted Programme current at the dividing date. 

A delay to a Key Date is assessed as the length of time that, due to the compensation event, the planned date when the Condition stated for a Key Date will be met is later than the date shown on the Accepted Programme current at the dividing date.

A delay to a Task Completion Date is assessed as the length of time that, due to the compensation event, planned Task Completion is later than planned Completion as shown on the Task programme current at the dividing date. 

The assessment takes into account

any delay caused by the compensation event already in the Accepted Programme and

events which have happened between the date of the Accepted Programme and the dividing date.



		

		63.6

		

		The rights of the Client and the Consultant to changes to the Prices, the Completion Date and the Key Dates or the Task Completion Dates are their only rights in respect of a compensation event.



		

		63.7

		

		If the Service Manager has stated in the instruction to submit quotations that the Consultant did not give an early warning of the event which an experienced consultant could have given, the compensation event is assessed as if the Consultant had given the early warning.



		

		63.8

		

		The assessment of the effect of a compensation event includes risk allowances for cost and time for matters which have a significant chance of occurring and are not compensation events.



		

		63.9

		

		The assessment of the effect of a compensation event is based upon the assumptions that the Consultant reacts competently and promptly to the event and that any Defined Cost and time due to the event are reasonably incurred. 



		

		63.10

		

		Where more than one event causes concurrent delays and the cause of at least one of those events, but not all of them, is not a cause referred to in clause 60.1, then to the extent that the delays are concurrent, the Consultant:  

· will be entitled to be paid its additional incurred Defined Cost as a result of such events, but will not be entitled to any At Risk Fee, and

· will not be entitled to any adjustment to the Completion Date or any Key Date.



		

		63.11

		

		If a change to the Scope makes the description of the Condition for a Key Date incorrect, the Service Manager corrects the description. This correction is taken into account in assessing the compensation event for the change to the Scope.



		

		63
63.12

		

		For Tasks that relate to Lump Sum Service or Target Cost Service, assessments for changed Prices for compensation events are in the form of changes to the Activity Schedule.



		The Service Manager’s assessments

		64
64.1

		

		
The Service Manager assesses a compensation event

if the Consultant has not submitted the quotation and details of its assessment within the time allowed,

if the Service Manager decides that the Consultant has not assessed the compensation event correctly in the quotation and has not instructed the Consultant to submit a revised quotation,

if, when the Consultant submits quotations for the compensation event, it has not submitted a programme or alterations to a programme which the contract requires it to submit or

if, when the Consultant submits quotations for the compensation event, the Service Manager has not accepted the Consultant’s latest programme for one of the reasons stated in the contract.



		

		64.2

		

		The Service Manager assesses the programme for the remaining work and uses it in the assessment of a compensation event if

there is no Accepted Programme,

the Consultant has not submitted a programme or alterations to a programme for acceptance as required by the contract or

the Service Manager has not accepted the Consultant’s latest programme for one of the reasons stated in the contract.



		

		64.3

		

		The Service Manager notifies the Consultant of the assessment of a compensation event and gives details of the assessment within the period allowed for the Consultant’s submission of its quotation for the same compensation event. This period starts when the need for the Service Manager’s assessment becomes apparent.



		

		64.4

		

		If the Service Manager does not assess a compensation event within the time allowed, the Consultant may notify the Service Manager of that failure. If the Consultant submitted more than one quotation for the compensation event, the notification states which quotation the Consultant proposes is to be used. If the failure continues for a further two weeks after the Consultant’s notification it is treated as acceptance by the Service Manager of the quotation.



		

		64.5

		

		The Consultant notifies the Service Manager if it does not accept the Service Manager’s assessment and at the same time of its reasons for not accepting the Service Manager’s assessment.  If the Consultant does not provide this notification within four weeks of notification of the Service Manager’s assessment, the Consultant is treated as having accepted the Service Manager’s assessment



		Proposed instructions

		65
65.1

		

		
The Service Manager may instruct the Consultant to submit a quotation for a proposed instruction. The Service Manager states in the instruction the date by which the proposed instruction may be given. The Consultant does not put a proposed instruction into effect.



		

		65.2

		

		The Consultant submits quotations for a proposed instruction within three weeks of being instructed to do so by the Service Manager.  The quotation is assessed as a compensation event. The Service Manager replies to the Consultant’s quotation by the date when the proposed instruction may be given.  The reply is 

an instruction to submit a revised quotation including the reasons for doing so,

the issue of the instruction together with a notification of the instruction as a compensation event and acceptance of the quotation or

a notification that the quotation is not accepted. 

If the Service Manager does not reply to the quotation within the time allowed, the quotation is not accepted.



		

		65.3

		

		If the quotation is not accepted, the Service Manager may issue the instruction, notify the instruction as a compensation event and instruct the Consultant to submit a quotation.



		Implementing compensation events

		66
66.1

		

		
A compensation event is implemented when

the Service Manager notifies acceptance of the Consultant’s quotation,

the Service Manager notifies the Consultant of an assessment made by the Service Manager or

a Consultant’s quotation is treated as having been accepted by the Service Manager.



		

		66.2

		

		When a compensation event is implemented the Prices, the Completion Date and the Key Dates or the Task Completion Dates are changed accordingly.



		

		66.3

		

		The assessment of an implemented compensation event is not revised except as stated in these conditions of contract.







		7. RIGHTS TO MATERIAL





		The Parties’ use of material

		70
70.1

		

		
Not used.



		

		70.2

		

		The Consultant has the right to use material provided by the Client only to Provide the Service. The Consultant may make this right available to a Subcontractor. 



		

		70.3

		

		The Consultant may not use the material provided by it under the contract for other work unless stated otherwise in the Scope.









		8. LIABILITIES AND INSURANCE





		Client’s liabilities

		80
80.1

		

		
The following are Client‘s liabilities.

Claims and proceedings from Others and compensation and costs payable to Others which are due to

the unavoidable result of the service or

negligence, breach of statutory duty or interference with any legal right by the Client or by any person employed by or contracted to it except the Consultant.

A fault of the Client or any person employed by or contracted to it, except the Consultant. 

Without prejudice to clause 80.2, an occurrence involving nuclear matter and/or the emission of ionising radiations that arises out of or results from the radioactive properties, or a combination of those and any toxic, explosive or other hazardous properties, of that nuclear matter in each case originating from the Project and which causes delay or disruption to the service, save where and to the extent that such loss, delay, disruption or damage is attributable to any act or omission of the Consultant (or any Subcontractor or any lower tier subcontractor) committed with the intention of causing such loss, delay, disruption or damage or with reckless disregard for the consequences of its act.

Liability referred to in clause 80.2 and 80.3.



		

		80.2

		

		Nothing in clause 80.1 or clause 81.1 affects the exclusive liability of the Client (to the extent that it is the licensee named in the Nuclear Site License) under sections 7-10 of the NIA for any injury to any person, damage to any property of any person other than the licensee and/or significant impairment of the environment.



		

		80.3

		

		[The Parties also agree that the Client is liable to the Consultant for damage to the Consultant's property (and that of its subcontractors and suppliers) whilst at the Site and which is caused by an occurrence involving nuclear matter and/or the emission of ionising radiations that arises out of or results from the radioactive properties, or a combination of those and any toxic, explosive or other hazardous properties, of that nuclear matter in each case originating from the Project, provided that:

· the Client's liability is limited to the market value of the Consultant's affected property; 

· the Client's liability is dependent on the Consultant having given the Client valid yearly notice of such property and its value;

· the Client is not liable to the extent that the value of such property has changed by 20% or more during any one year and the Client has not been notified thereof; and

· the Client is not liable to the extent the occurrence is attributable to any act or omission of the Consultant or its subcontractors or employees, done with the intent to cause injury or damage or done with reckless disregard for the consequences of the act or omission (and whether or not such employees were acting in the normal course of their employment).]



		Consultant’s liabilities 

		81
81.1

		

		
The Consultant's liabilities, from the starting date until the defects date, are the liabilities not stated as being the Client's liabilities including (but not limited to) the following liabilities:

Claims and proceedings from Others and compensation and costs payable to Others which arise from or in connection with the Consultant Providing the Service.

Costs incurred by the Client which arise from a failure by the Consultant to use Good Industry Practice in the provision of the service. 

Death or bodily injury to the employees of the Consultant.



		Recovery of costs

		82
82.1

		

		
Any cost which the Client has paid or will pay as a result of an event for which the Consultant is liable is paid by the Consultant.



		

		82.2

		

		Any cost which the Consultant has paid or will pay to Others as a result of an event for which the Client is liable is paid by the Client.



		

		82.3

		

		The right of a Party to recover these costs is reduced if an event for which it was liable contributed to the costs. The reduction is in proportion to the extent that the event for which that Party is liable contributed, taking into account each Party’s responsibilities under the contract.



		Insurance cover

		83
83.1

		

		
The Client provides the insurances which the Client is to provide as stated in the Contract Data. 



		

		83.2

		

		The Consultant provides the insurances stated in the Insurance Table except any insurance which the Client is to provide as stated in the Contract Data. The Consultant provides additional insurances as stated in the Contract Data.



		

		83.3

		

		The insurances provide cover for events which are the Consultant’s liability from the starting date until the end of the periods stated in the Contract Data.



		

		

		

		INSURANCE TABLE



		

		

		

		INSURANCE AGAINST

		MINIMUM AMOUNT OF COVER



		

		

		

		Liability of the Consultant for claims made against it arising out of the Consultant’s failure to use Good Industry Practice

		The amount stated in the Contract Data



		

		

		

		Loss of or damage to property and liability for bodily injury to or death of a person (not an employee of the Consultant) arising from or in connection with the Consultant Providing the Service

		The amount stated in the Contract Data for any one event with cross liability so that the insurance applies to the Parties separately



		

		

		

		Liability for death of or bodily injury to employees of the Consultant arising out of and in the course of their employment in connection with the contract

		The greater of the amount required by the applicable law and the amount stated in the Contract Data for any one event



		Insurance policies

		84
84.1

		

		
On the Contract Date, on each renewal of the insurance policy until the defects date and otherwise upon reasonable request, the Consultant submits to the Service Manager for acceptance certificates which state that the insurance required by the contract is in force.

After the defects date and on each renewal of the insurance policy until the end of the periods stated in the Contract Data for which insurance is to be maintained, the Consultant submits to the Client for acceptance suitable evidence (including brokers' certificates) confirming that the insurance required by the contract is in force. Any such certificates are signed by the Consultant’s insurer or insurance broker.

The Service Manager or the Client accepts such evidence if it confirms the insurance complies with the contract and if the insurer has a long-term credit rating equal to or greater than A (as rated by Standard & Poor's) or A- (as rated by A.M. Best)). Acceptance of any such evidence provided by the Consultant does not change the responsibility of the Consultant to provide the insurances required under the contract. The Client’s acceptance of an insurance certificate provided by the Consultant does not change the responsibility of the Consultant to provide the insurances stated in the Contract Data.



		

		84.2

		

		The Parties comply with the terms and conditions of the insurance policies to which they are a Party and the Consultant ensures that all Subcontractors comply with the terms and conditions of the insurance policies.



		If the Consultant does not insure

		85
85.1

		

		
The Client may insure an event or liability which the contract requires the Consultant to insure if the Consultant does not submit the evidence required in accordance with clause 84.1. In such circumstances: 

· The Prices are reduced by an amount equal to the cost of such insurance to the Client (including all reasonable expenses incurred by the Client in respect of taking out such insurance); and 

· the additional amount of such cost (over and above the cost that would have been payable for such insurance under the contract) is paid by the Consultant to the Client.

If the Client insures a risk which the contract requires the Consultant to insure, this is without prejudice to any of the Client's other rights, powers or remedies under the contract.



		Insurance by the Client

		86
86.1

		

		
The Service Manager submits certificates for insurance provided by the Client to the Consultant for acceptance before the starting date and afterwards as the Consultant instructs. The Consultant accepts the certificates if the insurance complies with the contract and if the insurer’s commercial position is strong enough to carry the insured liabilities.



		

		86.2

		

		The Consultant’s acceptance of an insurance certificate provided by the Client does not change the responsibility of the Client to provide the insurances stated in the Contract Data.



		

		86.3

		

		The Consultant may insure an event or liability which the contract requires the Client to insure if the Client does not submit a required certificate. The cost of this insurance to the Consultant is paid by the Client.



		Limitation of liability

		87
87.1

		

		
The Consultant’s liability to the Client for all matters in respect of which the Consultant is insured pursuant to the contract (or would be insured if it had complied with its obligations under the contract) arising under or in connection with the contract, other than the excluded matters, is limited to £10,000,000 in respect of each and every claim and applies in contract, tort or delict and otherwise to the extent allowed under the law of the contract.

The excluded matters are amounts payable by the Consultant as stated in the contract for

Consultant’s share in respect of any Target Cost Service,

an infringement by the Consultant of the rights of Others,

pursuant to clause 82.1, in respect of liability which the Client incurs to Others,

liability for death or bodily injury to its employees, for which the Consultant is responsible in accordance with clause 81.1,

loss of or damage to third party property and death of or bodily injury to a person other than an employee of the Consultant,

as a result of any fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, corruption, breaches of clause 17 (Corrupt Acts) and/or wilful default (including abandonment of the service),

in the event of the Consultant’s failure to comply with Statutory Requirements relating to health and safety and the environment and

in respect of legal costs and interest awarded on any judgement, award or other determination against the Consultant in favour of the Client or any third party.



		

		87.2

		

		The Consultant’s total liability to the Client for all matters arising under or in connection with the contract in respect of which the Consultant's liability is not limited pursuant to clause 87.1, other than the excluded matters set out in clause 87.1, is limited to:

· up to the date of the issue of the Stage 2 NTP, the greater of £5,000,000 in the aggregate or 30% of the Prices in respect of the service 

· after the date of issue of the Stage 2 NTP the greater of £5,000,000 in the aggregate or 30% of the Prices in respect of the service from that date until the date of issue of the Completion Certificate of the last Unit (in each case as defined in the TP Contract) and

· from the date of issue of the Completion Certificate of the last Unit, the greater of £5,000,000 in the aggregate or 30% of the Prices in respect of the service from that date until the Completion Date,

and in each case applies in contract, tort or delict and otherwise to the extent allowed under the law of the contract (the 'Aggregate Liability Cap').

For the avoidance of doubt the Consultant's liability in respect of costs to the Client arising out of termination, as determined in accordance with clause 93.5, where the amount due on termination includes A2, is limited pursuant to the Aggregate Liability Cap.



		

		87.3

		

		The Parties may agree an increase to the value of the Aggregate Liability Cap by written agreement at any time prior to the Consultant's total liability under clause 87.2 reaching an amount equivalent to 80% (eighty per cent) of the Aggregate Liability Cap. Where an agreement to increase the value of the Aggregate Liability Cap is reached between the parties under this clause 87.3, such agreement is recorded in writing and the increased value of the Aggregate Liability Cap is read and construed as the Aggregate Liability Cap for the purposes of the contract.



		

		87.4

		

		Without prejudice to the generality of clause 87.3 above, if at any time the Consultant's total liability under clause 87.2 has reached or exceeded an equivalent to 80% (eighty per cent) of the Aggregate Liability Cap or any Aggregate Liability Cap agreed between the parties under clause 87.3 (but prior to the Aggregate Liability Cap being reached), either party may request the other for the value of the Aggregate Liability Cap to be increased. If such a request is made, the parties seek to agree an increase to the value of the Aggregate Liability Cap which is reasonable in the circumstances (each acting reasonably, and regarding the losses that the Client will suffer as a result of the Consultant's breach of the contract in determining what a reasonable increase to the value of the Aggregate Liability Cap would be to address such losses in the particular circumstances prevailing at the time of the request) prior to the Aggregate Liability Cap being reached. Where an agreement to increase the value of the Aggregate Liability Cap is reached between the parties under this clause 87.4, it is recorded in writing and the increased value of the Aggregate Liability Cap is read and construed as the Aggregate Liability Cap for the purposes of the contract. This process repeats each time the Consultant's total liability under clause 87.2 has reached or exceeded an equivalent to 80% (eighty per cent) of the Aggregate Liability Cap or any Aggregate Liability Cap agreed between the parties under clause 87.3 or this clause 87.4. 



		

		87.5

		

		Except in relation to

any liability arising as a result of fraud, fraudulent misrepresentation, corruption, breaches of clause 17 (Corrupt Acts) and/or wilful default (including abandonment of the service),

the liability of either Party on any termination of the contract, and

the liability for claims and proceedings from Others and compensation and costs payable to Others, for which either Party is responsible in accordance with clause 80 or clause 81, and

liability for death or bodily injury to its employees, for which the Consultant is responsible in accordance with clause 81.1,

but otherwise notwithstanding any other provision of the contract, neither Party shall be responsible or held liable to the other Party under contract, tort (including but not limited to negligence), misrepresentation, in debt, by way of reimbursement or under strict liability or other theory of law for any Indirect Loss











		9. TERMINATION





		[bookmark: _Hlk188626544]Termination

		90
90.1

		

		
If either Party wishes to terminate the Consultant’s obligation to Provide the Service it notifies the Service Manager and the other Party giving details of the reason for terminating. The Service Manager issues a termination certificate promptly if the reason complies with the contract.



		

		90.2

		

		A Party may terminate for a reason identified in the Termination Table. The Client may additionally terminate in accordance with clause X11.1.

The procedures followed and the amounts due on termination are in accordance with clause X11.2 or the Termination Table, as the case may be.



		

		

		

		TERMINATION TABLE



		

		

		

		TERMINATING PARTY

		REASON

		PROCEDURE

		AMOUNT DUE



		

		

		

		The Client

		R1-R16, R19, R20, R23, R27, R29 – R32



		P1 and P2



		A1 and A2





		

		

		

		The Client

		R22 and R25 

		P1

		A1 



		

		

		

		The Client

		R17, R18, R26, R28 and R33

		P1 and P2

		A1 



		

		

		

		The Consultant

		R1-R10, R21 or R24  

		P1



		A1 and A3





		

		

		

		The Consultant

		R22 and R25



		P1 



		A1 



		

		

		

		The Consultant

		R26 and R33



		P1 and P2



		A1 



		

		90.3

		

		The procedures for termination are implemented immediately after the Service Manager has issued a termination certificate.

If the Client terminates for one of reasons R1-R16, R19, R20, R23, R27 or R29 – R32 and a certified payment has not been made at the date of the termination certificate, the Client need not make the certified payment unless these conditions of contract state otherwise.



		

		90.4

		

		After a termination certificate has been issued, the Consultant does no further work necessary to Provide the Service.



		Reasons for termination

		91

		

		



		

		91.1

		

		Either Party may terminate if the other Party has done one of the following or its equivalent and the Client may terminate if the Consultant comprises a Joint Venture and any of the parties comprising the Joint Venture has done one of the following or its equivalent (including, in relation to the Consultant, any event analogous to the events listed below in any jurisdiction in which the Consultant is registered or domiciled).

If the other Party is an individual and has

presented an application for bankruptcy (R1),

had a bankruptcy order made against it (R2),

had a receiver appointed over its assets (R3) or

made an arrangement with its creditors (R4).

If the other Party is a company or partnership and has

had a winding-up order made against it (R5),

had a provisional liquidator appointed to it (R6),

passed a resolution for winding-up (other than in order to amalgamate or reconstruct) (R7),

had an administration order made against it or had and administrator appointed over it (R8),

had a receiver, receiver and manager, or administrative receiver appointed over the whole or a substantial part of its undertaking or assets (R9) or

had a court order made in relation to any court-supervised arrangement with its creditors (R10), 

provided always that R1-R10 are deemed not to apply and the Consultant shall have no right to terminate in accordance with this clause 91.1, solely as a result of the Client having a relevant licensee nuclear company administration order made against it pursuant to the Special Statutory Administration Regime.



		

		91.2

		

		The Client may terminate if the Service Manager has notified that the Consultant has not put one of the following defaults right within four weeks of the date when the Service Manager notified the Consultant of the default or, in the case of R11, such other reasonable period as the Service Manager may specify, given the nature of the breach and any rectification plan agreed by the Parties.

Materially breached any of its obligations (R11).

Not provided a  guarantee which the contract requires (R12).

Appointed a Subcontractor for substantial work before the Service Manager has accepted the Subcontractor (R13).



		

		91.3

		

		The Client may terminate if:

· the Consultant undergoes a Change of Ownership in relation to which it does not obtain the Client's consent thereto (in accordance with clause Z6) or, if applicable, the Consultant alters the composition or constitution of the Joint Venture in breach of clause 12.10 (R14),

· the Consultant breaches a Statutory Requirement relating to health and/or safety (R15),

· the Client's right to terminate has arisen under and in accordance with clause Z5.4 (R16), 

· the Client's right to terminate has arisen under and in accordance with clause Z11.5 (R17), 

· the Client's right to terminate has arisen under and in accordance with clause Z14.4 (R18)

· the Client's right to terminate has arisen under and in accordance with clause X20.9 (R19) or 



The Client may terminate if the Service Manager has notified that the Consultant has substantially hindered the Client or Others and has not stopped the default within four weeks of the date when the Service Manager notified the Consultant of the default (R20).



		

		91.4

		

		The Consultant may terminate if the Client has not paid an amount due under the contract within thirteen weeks of the date that the Consultant should have been paid, provided always that such amount exceeds £[●][footnoteRef:7] and the Consultant gives written notification to the Client of such intention to terminate at least four weeks prior to any such termination and the Client does not pay the amount due within that period (R21). [7:  Note to Tenderers: An appropriate payment default threshold amount shall be set once the forecast payment schedule has been ascertained. ] 




		

		91.5

		

		Either Party may terminate if the Parties have been released under any Statutory Requirement from further performance of the whole of the contract (R22).



		

		91.6

		

		If the Service Manager has instructed the Consultant to stop or not to start any substantial work or all work due to any reason other than a Force Majeure Event and an instruction allowing the work to re-start or start or removing work from the Scope has not been given within three hundred and sixty days,

the Client may terminate if the instruction was due to a default by the Consultant (R23),

the Consultant may terminate if the instruction was due to a default by the Client (R24) and

either Party may terminate if the instruction was due to any other reason (R25).



		

		91.7

		

		The Client may terminate if a Force Majeure Event substantially prevents performance of the service for a continuous period of three hundred and sixty-five days or an aggregate period of seven hundred and thirty days (each a 'Client FM Termination Date'). 

The Consultant may terminate if, prior to the issue of the Stage 2 NTP, a Force Majeure Event substantially prevents performance of the service for a continuous period of seven hundred and thirty days or an aggregate period of one thousand four hundred and sixty days. (R26).



		

		91.8

		

		The Client may terminate if a member of the Consultant's senior management or a member of the Core Team does a Corrupt Act, unless it was done by a Subcontractor or supplier and the Consultant

was not aware of the Corrupt Act or

informed the Service Manager of the Corrupt Act and took reasonable, prompt and appropriate action to stop it as soon as the Consultant became aware of it (R27).



		

		91.10

		

		The Client may terminate in any of the following circumstances:

· the Client considers that the contract was awarded or modified in material breach of the Procurement Act 2023 or regulations made under it (R28);

· the Consultant has, since the award of the contract, become an Excluded Supplier or Excludable Supplier (including by reference to an Associated Person) (R29);

· the Consultant has failed to comply with its obligations under clause Z18 (R29A); 

· section 72(3) of the Procurement Act applies (R29B); and

· a supplier (other than an Associated Person) to which the Consultant is sub-contracting the performance of all or part of the contract is an Excluded or Excludable Supplier (R30).



		

		91.11

		

		The Client may terminate if the Consultant is liable to pay damages to the Client and the quantum of such liability reaches the Aggregate Liability Cap (R31).



		

		91.12

		

		The Client may terminate if the Consultant is in breach of clause 20.9 (R32).



		

		91.13

		

		Either Party may terminate if a court makes a Set Aside Order (R33).



		

		91.14

		

		Each Party's rights to terminate the Consultant's appointment under the contract as set out or referred to in this clause 91 are its sole and exclusive rights to terminate the Consultant's appointment under the contract, whether in respect of the other Party's breach of contract or otherwise. 



		Procedures on termination

		92
92.1

		

		
On termination, the Client may complete the service and may use any material to which it has title. The Consultant gives to the Client information resulting from work carried out to date and all information, drawings, documents, models, reports, computer programmes, software, manuals and other items of any kind whatsoever relating to the service which are in the Consultant's control, custody or possession  which it has a responsibility to provide under the contract immediately upon receipt of the Client's request to do (P1).



		

		92.2

		

		On termination the Client may instruct the Consultant to assign the benefit of any subcontract or other contract related to performance of the contract to the Client (P2).



		Payment on termination

		93

		

		



		

		93.1

		

		The amount due on termination includes (A1)

an amount due assessed as for normal payments excluding any At Risk Fee and any Long-Term Behaviour Incentive, and

any amounts retained by the Client.



		

		93.2

		

		The amount due on termination also includes one or more of the following as set out in the Termination Table. 

A2 A deduction of the forecast of the cost to the Client arising out of the termination, as determined in accordance with clause 93.5.

A3 a pro rata amount of any At Risk Fee to which the Consultant would have been entitled pursuant to article 4.3 of the agreement had the contract continued until the end of the relevant Assessment Period (as defined in the Incentive Schedule), assessed by reference to the Service Manager's assessment carried pursuant to clause X20.4 or (where applicable) the Client's assessment under clause X20.8. Where the Consultant has already been paid At Risk Fee in excess of such pro rata amount, there is a deduction. 

 





		

		93.3

		

		If there is a termination, the Service Manager assesses the Consultant's share in respect of any Target Cost Service after certifying termination. The assessment uses as the Price for Service Provided to Date the total of the Defined Cost which the Consultant has paid and which it is committed to pay for work done before termination in connection with the relevant Target Cost Service Task, and uses as the total of the Target Cost Service Prices

· the lump sum price for each activity which has been completed and 

· a proportion of the lump sum price for each incomplete activity which is the proportion of the work in the activity which has been completed, 

in each case in respect of the relevant Target Cost Service Task.



		

		93.4

		

		The Service Manager's assessment of the Consultant's share is added to the amount due to the Consultant on termination if there has been a saving or deducted if there has been an excess. 



		

		93.5

		

		For the purposes of calculating the A2 amount due on termination:

· if the Client elects to complete the service and/or arrange for any other entities to do so, the Consultant is liable to the Client for:

· the additional costs incurred by the Client in procuring a replacement owner's engineer, 

· damages for any associated delay to completion of the service, and

· all other direct costs thereby incurred by the Client save for the additional cost to the Client of having the same service completed by the replace owner's engineer, 

and the Client withholds any further payment to the Consultant under the contract after termination pending ascertainment of the sums due to the Client pursuant to this clause and sets off any sums so ascertained against any such further payment.



		

		93.8

		

		Each Party's rights to compensation pursuant to this clause 93 are (without prejudice to its rights in relation to any antecedent breach of contract by the other Party) its sole and exclusive rights to compensation in relation to termination of the Consultant's appointment under the contract in accordance with clause 91.









Resolving and Avoiding Disputes



		OPTION W2





		

		

		

		Used when the United Kingdom Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 applies.



		Resolving Disputes

		W2
W2.1

		

		

1. If the Parties agree, a dispute arising under or in connection with the contract is referred to the Senior Representatives. If the dispute is not resolved by the Senior Representatives, it is referred to and decided by the Adjudicator. A Party may replace a Senior Representative after notifying the other Party of the name of the replacement. 

The Party referring a dispute notifies the Senior Representatives, the other Party and the Service Manager of the nature of the dispute it wishes to resolve. Each Party submits to the other their statement of case within one week of the notification. Each statement of case is limited to no more than ten sides of A4 paper together with supporting evidence, unless otherwise agreed by the Parties. 

The Senior Representatives attend as many meetings and use any procedure they consider necessary to try to resolve the dispute in good faith over a period of up to three weeks once both Partis have submitted to the other their statement of case pursuant to clause W2.1(2). At the end of this period the Senior Representatives produce a list of the issues agreed and issues not agreed. The Service Manager and the Consultant put into effect the issues agreed.

No evidence of the statement of case or discussions is disclosed, used or referred to in any subsequent proceedings before the Adjudicator or the tribunal. 



		The Adjudicator

		W2.2

		

		1. A dispute arising under or in connection with the contract is referred to and decided by the Adjudicator. A Party may refer a dispute to the Adjudicator at any time whether or not the dispute has been referred to the Senior Representatives.

In this Option, time periods stated in days exclude Christmas Day, Good Friday and bank holidays. 

The Parties appoint the Adjudicator under the NEC Dispute Resolution Service Contract current at the starting date.

The Adjudicator acts impartially and decides the dispute as an independent adjudicator and not as an arbitrator.

If the Adjudicator is not identified in the Contract Data or if the Adjudicator resigns or becomes unable to act

the Parties may choose an adjudicator jointly or

a Party may ask the Adjudicator nominating body to choose an adjudicator.

The Adjudicator nominating body chooses an adjudicator within four days of the request. The chosen adjudicator becomes the Adjudicator.

A replacement Adjudicator has the power to decide a dispute referred to a predecessor but not decided at the time when the predecessor resigned or became unable to act. The Adjudicator deals with an undecided dispute as if it had been referred on the date of appointment as replacement Adjudicator.

A Party does not refer a dispute to the Adjudicator that is the same or substantially the same as one that has already been decided by the Adjudicator.

The Adjudicator, and the Adjudicator’s employees and agents are not liable to the Parties for any action or failure to take action in an adjudication unless the action or failure to take action was in bad faith.



		The adjudication

		W2.3

		

		1. Before a Party refers a dispute to the Adjudicator, it gives a notice of adjudication to the other Party with a brief description of the dispute and the decision which it wishes the Adjudicator to make. If the Adjudicator is named in the Contract Data, the Party sends a copy of the notice of adjudication to the Adjudicator when it is issued. Within three days of the receipt of the notice of adjudication, the Adjudicator informs the Parties that the Adjudicator

is able to decide the dispute in accordance with the contract or

is unable to decide the dispute and has resigned.

If the Adjudicator does not so inform within three days of the issue of the notice of adjudication, either Party may act as if the Adjudicator has resigned.

1. Within seven days of a Party giving a notice of adjudication it

refers the dispute to the Adjudicator,

provides the Adjudicator with the information on which it relies, including any supporting documents and

provides a copy of the information and supporting documents it has provided to the Adjudicator to the other Party.

1. If a matter disputed by the Consultant under or in connection with a subcontract is also a matter disputed under or in connection with the contract, the Consultant may, with the consent of the Subcontractor, refer the subcontract dispute to the Adjudicator at the same time as the main contract referral. The Adjudicator then decides the disputes together and references to the Parties for the purposes of the dispute are interpreted as including the Subcontractor. 

1. If a matter disputed under or in connection with the contract raises the same or similar issues to a related dispute between the Client and one of the Client's other contractors or consultants, the Client may refer the related dispute to the Adjudicator at the same time as the referral under the contract. The Adjudicator then decides the disputes together and references to the Parties for the purposes of the dispute are interpreted as including the Client's other contractors or consultants.

1. The Adjudicator decides the procedure and timetable to be followed in the adjudication. In doing so the Adjudicator may

take the initiative in ascertaining the facts and the law related to the dispute and 

instruct a Party to take any other action within a stated time which is necessary to reach a decision.

1. If a Party does not comply with any instruction within the time stated by the Adjudicator, the Adjudicator may continue the adjudication and make a decision based upon the information and evidence received. 

1. A communication between a Party and the Adjudicator is communicated to the other Party at the same time. 

1. If the Adjudicator’s decision includes assessment of additional cost or delay caused to the Consultant, the assessment is made in the same way as a compensation event is assessed. If the Adjudicator’s decision changes an amount notified as due, the date on which payment of the changed amount becomes due is seven days after the date of the decision. 

1. The Adjudicator decides the dispute and informs the Parties and the Service Manager of the decision and reasons within twenty eight days of the dispute being referred. This period may be extended by up to fourteen days with the consent of the referring Party or by any other period agreed by the Parties. 

The Adjudicator may in the decision

review and revise any action or inaction of the Service Manager related to the dispute, 

alter a matter which has been treated as accepted or correct and 

allocate the Adjudicator’s fees and expenses between the Parties.

Unless and until the Adjudicator has informed the Parties of the decision, the Parties and the Service Manager proceed as if the matter disputed was not disputed.

If the Adjudicator does not inform the Parties of the decision within the time provided by the contract, the Parties and the Adjudicator may agree to extend the period for making a decision. If they do not agree to an extension, either Party may act as if the Adjudicator has resigned.

The Adjudicator’s decision is binding on the Parties unless and until revised by the tribunal and is enforceable as a matter of contractual obligation between the Parties and not as an arbitral award. The Adjudicator’s decision is final and binding if neither Party has notified the other within the times required by the contract that it is dissatisfied with a matter decided by the Adjudicator and intends to refer the matter to the tribunal.

1. The Adjudicator may, within five days of giving the decision to the Parties, correct the decision to remove a clerical or typographical error arising by accident or omission.



		The tribunal

		W2.6

		

		1. A Party does not refer any dispute under or in connection with the contract to the tribunal unless the Parties have agreed in writing to refer any such dispute to the Tribunal without reference to the Adjudicator or it has first been decided by the Adjudicator in accordance with the contract.

If, after the Adjudicator makes a decision, a Party is dissatisfied, that Party may notify the other Party of the matter which is disputed and state that it intends to refer the disputed matter to the tribunal. The dispute may not be referred to the tribunal unless this notification is given within four weeks of being informed of the Adjudicator’s decision.

The tribunal settles the dispute referred to it. The tribunal has the powers to reconsider any decision of the Adjudicator and to review and revise any action or inaction of the Service Manager related to the dispute. A Party is not limited in tribunal proceedings to the information, evidence or arguments put to the Adjudicator.

If the tribunal is arbitration, the arbitration procedure, the place where the arbitration is to be held and the method of choosing the arbitrator are those stated in the Contract Data.

A Party does not call the Adjudicator as a witness in tribunal proceedings.









Secondary Option Clauses



		OPTION X1: PRICE ADJUSTMENT FOR INFLATION 





		Defined Terms

		X1
X1.1

		

		

(a) The Base Date Index (B) is the latest available index before the base date. 

(b) The Latest Index (L) is the latest available index before the date of assessment of an amount due. 

(c) The Price Adjustment Factor (PAF) at each date of assessment of an amount due is the total of the products of each of the proportions stated in the Contract Data multiplied by (L – B)/B for the index linked to it.



		Price Adjustment Factor

		X1.2

		

		If an index is changed after it has been used in calculating a PAF, the calculation is not changed. The PAF calculated at the last assessment date before the Completion Date for the whole of the service is used for calculating an amount for price adjustment after that date.



		Price adjustment 

		X1.3

		

		In respect of the Lump Sum Services and the Reimbursable Services each amount due includes an amount for price adjustment which is the sum of

the change in the Price for Service Provided to Date since the last assessment of the amount due multiplied by the PAF and

the amount for price adjustment included in the previous amount due.



		Price adjustment 

		X1.4

		

		In respect of the Target Cost Services each time the amount due is assessed, an amount for price adjustment is added to the total of the Target Cost Service Prices which is the change in the Price for the Service Provided to Date since the last assessment of the amount due multiplied by (PAF/(1+PAF)).



		Compensation events

		X1.5

		

		The Defined Cost for compensation events is assessed using 

the Defined Cost at base date levels for amounts calculated from rates stated in the Contract Data for people and

the Defined Cost current at the dividing date used in assessing the compensation event, adjusted to the base date by dividing by one plus the PAF for the last assessment of the amount due before that dividing date, for other amounts.



		Expenses adjustment

		X1.6

		

		If payment rates for any of the expenses are fixed at the Contract Date, each amount due includes an amount for expenses adjustment which is the sum of

the change in fixed expenses since the last assessment of the amount due multiplied by the PAF and

the amount for expenses adjustment included in the previous amount due.



		Effective date

		X1.7

		

		This clause X1 only applies from the third anniversary of the Contract Date.



		Auditing

		X1.8

		

		The Consultant provides upon request the documentation and information that it uses in its payment applications to calculate the PAF and the price adjustments pursuant to this clause X1 for review, inspection, and audit by the Client and the Service Manager.







		OPTION X2: CHANGES IN THE LAW





		Changes in the law

		X2
X2.1

		

		

Any of the following changes is a compensation event:
any change in Statutory Requirements which specifically refers to the Project or to the construction, operation and/or maintenance of small modular nuclear reactor power plants;
any change to or revocation of the planning permission and/or environmental permit]  for the Project, other than where such change or revocation arises as a result of the acts of omissions of the Consultant and/or its subcontractors;
any other change in Statutory Requirements which comes into effect in the United Kingdom after the first anniversary of the Contract Date,
unless, in each case, such change was reasonably foreseeable by an experienced, diligent and competent owner's engineer consultant at the Contract Date.



If the effect of any such change is to reduce the total Defined Cost, the Prices are reduced.







		OPTION X4: ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY GUARANTEE





		Ultimate holding company guarantee

		X4
X4.1

		

		If a parent company owns any company comprising the Consultant, the Consultant gives to the Client, on or before the Contract Date, a guarantee of the Consultant's performance under the contract executed by such parent company in the form set out in Part 1 of Schedule 6 to the Agreement and the Client is not liable to make any payment under the contract until the Consultant complies with this clause X4.1.



		

		X4.2

		

		The Consultant ensures that any guarantee provided in relation to the contract remains in full force and effect from the date of its provision until the end of liability date. If the Consultant fails to do so the Consultant procures, within 20 Business Days, the issue of a replacement guarantee in the same form and issued by a guarantor with a long-term credit rating equal to or greater than that of the original guarantor at the Contract Date. 



		

		X4.3

		

		If the guarantor providing a guarantee required pursuant to this clause X4 is not a company registered in England and Wales, the Consultant provides to the Client a legal opinion in the form set out in Part 2 of Schedule 6 to the Agreement, on the guarantor's execution of any such guarantee.











		OPTION X9: TRANSFER OF RIGHTS





		Transfer of rights

		X9
X9.1

		

		
The Client owns the Consultant’s rights over material prepared for the contract by the Consultant, including  for the purposes of this clause X9 the Intellectual Property Rights over such material and any Contract Material, except as stated otherwise in the Scope. The Consultant obtains other rights for the Client as stated in the Scope and obtains from a Subcontractor equivalent rights for the Client over the material prepared by the Subcontractor. The Consultant provides to the Client the documents which transfer these rights to the Client.



		

		X9.2

		

		To the extent that the Consultant does not have ownership of the material prepared for the contract by or on behalf of the Consultant and it is not possible to procure ownership for the Client, the Consultant procures from the owner of the material an irrevocable, perpetual, royalty-free, non-exclusive licence to copy and use the material and to reproduce the designs and content of them for any purpose relating to the Project including, without limitation, the design, execution, completion, operation, maintenance, sale, promotion, advertisement, expansion, upgrade, reinstatement, refurbishment, repair and decommissioning of the Project. The Consultant also agrees that the Client may grant sub-licences to other persons to use and to reproduce the material and the designs and content of them for any such purposes.



		

		X9.3

		

		The Consultant is not liable for any use made of the materials for any purpose other than for which it was prepared and/or provided. 



		

		X9.4

		

		The Consultant indemnifies the Client from and against any and all Losses arising as a result of any infringement of any Intellectual Property Rights of any third parties caused by the use or reproduction of the material.

If a claim is made or proceedings are commenced against the Client to which the indemnity set out in this clause X9.4 applies, the Client promptly notifies the Consultant and the Consultant:

· immediately discusses with the Client, the action(s) that the Consultant intends to take in dealing with such claim and in conducting any such proceedings;

· notifies the Client whether it intends to deal with such claim and conduct such proceedings at its own expense, in the Client's name; and

· at all times keeps the Client fully informed as to its progress in dealing with such claim or conducting such proceedings.

If within twenty-one days of receipt of the Client’s notice the Consultant fails to notify the Client that it intends to deal with such claim or conduct such proceedings then the Client is free to deal with such claim or conduct such proceedings on its own behalf. Unless the Consultant has failed to notify the Client within the period stated above, or fails at any time to comply with the other requirements of this clause X9.4, the Client shall not make any admission prejudicial to such proceedings.



		

		X9.5

		

		The Client provides a royalty-free, non-exclusive licence to copy and use the material and content of them as required for the provision of the service. The Client also agrees that the Consultant may grant sub-licences on the same terms to Subcontractors that have transferred ownership of the relevant material to the Client. 







		OPTION X11: TERMINATION BY THE CLIENT





		Termination by the Client

		X11
X11.1

		

		
The Client may terminate the Consultant’s obligation to Provide the Service for a reason not identified in the Termination Table by providing to the Service Manager and the Consultant three months' notice.





		

		X11.2

		

		If the Client terminates for a reason not identified in the Termination Table the termination procedure followed is P1 and P2 and the amounts due on termination are A1.



		

		X11.3

		

		Without prejudice to clauses X11.1 and X11.2, the Client may terminate the Consultant's obligation to Provide the Service within the period between FID (regardless of what the outcome of FID is) and the issue of the Stage 2 NTP. If the Client terminates pursuant to this clause X11.3 the termination procedure followed is P1 and P2 and the amounts due on termination are A1.









		OPTION 19.4: KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS (NOT USED WITH OPTION X12)[footnoteRef:8] [8:  Ashurst note: to be reviewed once the Incentive Schedule is available. ] 






		Incentives

		X20
X20.1

		

		
A Key Performance Indicator is an aspect of performance by the Consultant for which a target is stated in the Incentive Schedule. The Incentive Schedule is the incentive schedule unless later changed in accordance with the contract.



		

		X20.2

		

		From the starting date until the defects date, the Consultant reports to the Service Manager its performance against each of the Key Performance Indicators in the Monthly Report and includes the forecast measurement against each indicator.



		

		X20.3

		

		If the Consultant’s forecast measurement against a Key Performance Indicator will not achieve the target stated in the Incentive Schedule, it submits to the Service Manager for acceptance a Performance Improvement Plan within ten Business Days of the date of the relevant Monthly Report.

The Service Manager either accepts the Performance Improvement Plan or notifies the Consultant of the reasons that it is not accepted. If the Performance Improvement Plan is not accepted, the Consultant revises it in accordance with the Service Manager's instructions and resubmits it for approval within five Business Days. This process is repeated until the Performance Improvement Plan is accepted by the Service Manager. Following its acceptance, the Consultant implements the Performance Improvement Plan in its performance of the service.



		

		X20.4

		

		On the months that are 3, 6, 9 and 12 months after the commencement of a Financial year the Service Manager assesses the Consultant's performance against each of the Key Performance Indicators and, in accordance with the Incentive Schedule, assigns a Performance Level against each Key Performance Indicator set out in Part [] of the Incentive Schedule. In the event that either Party terminates pursuant to clause 91, the Service Manager makes such an assessment of the Consultant's performance against each of the Key performance Indicators in respect of the period between the previous assessment and the date of termination.

Subject to a submission by the Consultant in accordance with clause X20.8, the Service Manager's assessment is final and binding. 



		

		 X20.5

		

		The Consultant is entitled to the amount stated in the Incentive Schedule if, pursuant to its assessment in accordance with clause X20.4, the Service Manager finds that the relevant target threshold stated for a Key Performance Indicator is achieved. Payment of the amount to which the Consultant is entitled is due in accordance with article 4 or article 5 in the Agreement as relevant.



		

		X20.6

		

		Subject to clause X20.7, the Client may add a Key Performance Indicator and associated payment to the Incentive Schedule but may not delete or reduce a payment stated in the Incentive Schedule without the consent of the Consultant which is not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

The Consultant may submit proposals to update the Key Performance Indicators and/or the Incentive Schedule in the draft Service Plan that it submits for approval in accordance with article 3 of the Agreement, which may be approved at the sole discretion of the Service Manager.



		

		X20.7

		

		The Parties acknowledge that the Key Performance Indicators and associated payments in the Incentive Schedule may need to be updated as the Project progresses and that it may be necessary to materially amend or replace entirely the Key Performance Indicators and associated payments in the Incentive Schedule on the occurrence of the following:

the commencement of the construction works on Site under the TP Contract and

the Completion of the works under the TP Contract (as defined therein).



		

		X20.8

		

		If the Consultant disagrees with the Service Manager's assessment of its performance against the Key Performance Indicators under clause X20.4 the Consultant may within two weeks of such assessment make submissions to the Service Manager and the Client in respect of adjustments that it considers should be made to the assessment and/or the Performance Levels awarded. The Consultant may not make any such submissions after the expiry of this period. The Consultant includes in its submission the Performance Levels it considers it achieved in the relevant period and provides reasonable supporting evidence. The Service Manager and the Client consider the submissions made by the Consultant and the Client may at its sole discretion reassess the Consultant's achievement against the relevant Key Performance Indicator and may pay to the Consultant such additional amounts as the Consultant is entitled to in accordance with Part [*] of the Incentive Schedule. 

Whether or not the Client reassesses the Consultant's achievement against the relevant Key Performance Indicator under this clause X20.8, its decision is final and binding. 



		

		X20.9

		

		[If the Consultant fails to implement a Performance Improvement Plan or adhere to its terms the Client may terminate the Consultant's obligation to Provide the Service in accordance with its right under Section [] of the Scope.]









		OPTION X29: CLIMATE CHANGE





		Defined terms

		X29
X29.1

		

		

1. The Climate Change Requirements are the requirements relating to climate change stated in the Scope.

The Climate Change Plan is the climate change plan or is the latest climate change plan accepted by the Service Manager. The latest climate change plan accepted by the Service Manager supersedes previous Climate Change Plans.

The Climate Change Partners are the people or organisations who contribute to the achievement of the Climate Change Requirements and are identified in the Climate Change Requirements.

The Performance Table states the targets the Consultant is to achieve in Providing the Service and sets out the adjustment to payment if a measured performance is higher, the same or lower than its target. The Performance Table is the performance table unless later changed in accordance with the contract.



		Collaboration

		X29.2

		

		The Consultant collaborates with other Climate Change Partners as stated in the Climate Change Requirements. 



		Early warning

		X29.3

		

		The Consultant and the Service Manager give an early warning by notifying the other as soon as either becomes aware of any matter which could adversely affect the achievement of the Climate Change Requirements.



		Climate change plan

		X29.4

		

		1. If a climate change plan is not identified in the Contract Data, the Consultant submits a first climate change plan to the Service Manager for acceptance within the period stated in the Contract Data. 

1. The Climate Change Plan shows how the Consultant plans to meet the Climate Change Requirements.

1. Within two weeks of the Consultant submitting a climate change plan for acceptance, the Service Manager notifies the Consultant of the acceptance of the climate change plan or the reasons for not accepting it. A reason for not accepting a climate change plan is that

it does not comply with the Climate Change Requirements or

it will not allow the Consultant to Provide the Service.

1. The Consultant submits a revised climate change plan to the Service Manager for acceptance

within the period for reply after the Service Manager has instructed it to and

when the Consultant chooses to.



		Disclosure

		X29.5

		

		The Parties may use, disclose and publicise information relating to climate change as stated in and for the purposes stated in the Climate Change Requirements.



		Acceleration and accepting Defects

		X29.6

		

		Quotations for acceleration and accepting Defects include any proposed changes to the Performance Table. 

If the quotation is accepted the Service Manager changes the Performance Table accordingly.



		Notifying compensation events

		X29.7

		

		1. For compensation events notified by the Service Manager that only affect the Performance Table, the Service Manager instructs the Consultant to submit quotations if the event does not arise from a fault of the Consultant, at the time of the notification of the compensation event.

1. If the Consultant does not notify a compensation event within eight weeks of becoming aware that the event has happened, the Performance Table is not changed unless the event arises from the Service Manager giving an instruction or notification or changing an earlier decision.



		

		



		

		1. 







		

		

		

		If a compensation event notified by the Consultant only affects the Performance Table the Service Manager notifies the Consultant that the event is a compensation event and includes in the notification an instruction to the Consultant to submit quotations unless the event 

arises from a fault of the Consultant,

has not happened and is not expected to happen,

has not been notified within the timescales set out in these conditions of contract or

is not one of the compensation events stated in the contract 

in which case the Service Manager notifies the Consultant that the Performance Table is not to be changed and states the reasons in the notification. The notification is issued within one week of the Consultant’s notification of the compensation event.



		Quotations for compensation events

		X29.8

		

		Quotations for compensation events include proposed changes to the Performance Table assessed by the Consultant.



		Assessing compensation events

		X29.9

		

		1. A change to the Performance Table is assessed as the effect of the compensation event upon the targets, amounts and dates stated in the Performance Table.

The rights the Client and the Consultant have in respect of a compensation event include the right to changes to the Performance Table.

A compensation event which is an instruction to change the Scope in order to resolve an ambiguity or inconsistency is assessed as if the Performance Table were for the interpretation most favourable to the Party which did not provide the Scope.



		Implementing compensation events

		X29.10

		

		When a compensation event is implemented the Performance Table is changed accordingly.



		Consultant’s proposals

		X29.11

		

		The Consultant may propose to the Service Manager that the Scope is changed in order to reduce the impact of the service or the results of the service on climate change. The Service Manager considers the change and if it is of interest instructs

a change the Scope or

the Consultant to submit a quotation for a proposed change to the Scope.



		Performance measurements

		X29.12

		

		1. From the starting date until Completion of the whole of the service, the Consultant reports to the Service Manager its performance against the targets in the Performance Table in the Monthly Report. Reports are provided at the intervals stated in the Performance Table.

If the Consultant’s performance against a target in the Performance Table is not achieving or is forecast not to achieve the performance target stated, it submits to the Service Manager for acceptance its proposals for improving performance.

A reason for not accepting the proposals is that they will not provide the improvement in performance needed to achieve the target in the Performance Table.

At the dates stated in the Performance Table, 

if the relevant performance does not meet the target stated in the Performance Table, the Consultant pays the amount stated in the Performance Table, 

if the relevant performance exceeds or meets the target stated in the Performance Table, the Consultant is paid the amount stated in the Performance Table.

Information in the Performance Table is not Scope.



		Limitation of liability

		X29.13

		

		An excluded matter is the amounts stated in the contract as payable by the Consultant in accordance with the Performance Table.







Option Y





		OPTION Y(UK)2: THE HOUSING GRANTS, CONSTRUCTION AND REGENERATION ACT 1996





		The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996

		Y(UK)2

		

		



		Defined terms

		Y2.1

		

		In this Option, time periods stated in days exclude Christmas Day, Good Friday and bank holidays.



		Dates for payment

		Y2.2

		

		The date on which a payment becomes due Is ten Business Days after receipt by the Service Manager of the Consultant's application for payment, submitted in accordance with the requirements of clause 50.1.

The date on which the final payment becomes due is the later of

the date of receipt by the Party making payment of an invoice, issued in accordance with these conditions of contract and

if the Service Manager makes an assessment after the defects date or the date the last Defect is corrected, six weeks after the defects date or the date the last Defect is corrected, whichever is the later,

if the Service Manager does not make an assessment after the defects date or the date the last Defect is corrected, two weeks after the Consultant issues its assessment or

if the Service Manager has issued a termination certificate, fifteen weeks after the issue of the certificate.

The final date for payment is ten Business Days after the date on which payment becomes due, or a different period for payment if stated in the Contract Data.

The Service Manager’s certificate is the notice of payment specifying the amount due at the payment due date (the notified sum, which may be zero) and stating the basis on which the amount was calculated. If the Service Manager does not make an assessment after the defects date or the date the last Defect is corrected, the Consultant’s assessment is the notice of payment.



		Notice of intention to pay less

		Y2.3

		

		If either Party intends to pay less than the notified sum, it notifies the other Party not later than seven days (the prescribed period) before the final date for payment by stating the amount considered to be due and the basis on which that sum is calculated. A Party does not withhold payment of an amount due under the contract unless it has notified its intention to pay less than the notified sum as required by the contract.



		

		Y2.4

		

		If the Client terminates for one of reasons R1-R16, R19, R20, R23, R27 or R29 – R32 and a certified payment has not been made at the date of the termination certificate, the Client makes the certified payment unless

it has notified the Consultant in accordance with the contract that it intends to pay less than the notified sum or

the termination is for one of reasons R1 to R10 and the reason occurred after the last date on which it could have notified the Consultant in accordance with the contract that it intends to pay less than the notified sum.



		Suspension of performance

		Y2.5

		

		If the Consultant exercises its right under the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996 as amended by the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 to suspend performance, it is a compensation event.







		OPTION Y(UK)3: THE CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999





		Third party rights

		Y(UK)3
Y3.1

		

		
Not used.



		

		Y3.2

		

		Other than the Parties, no person can enforce any of the terms of the contract under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.



		

		Y3.3

		

		Not used.







		OPTION Z: ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT





		Additional conditions of contract

		Z1.1

		

		The additional conditions of contract stated in the Contract Data are part of the contract.












Z.	ADDITIONAL CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT

		‎Z1

		Project Agreements



		‎Z2

		Core Team



		‎Z3

		Core Team Transfer Plan



		Z4

		Cost Saving



		‎Z5

		Modern Slavery



		‎Z6

		Change of Ownership



		‎Z7

		Data Protection



		‎Z8

		Regulatory Interface



		‎Z9

		Documentation



		‎Z10

		Security Requirements



		‎Z11

		Financial Monitoring and Remediation



		‎Z12

		Freedom of Information



		Z13

		Monthly Report



		Z14

		Conflict of Interest



		Z15

		Employee Indemnity 



		‎Z16

		Procurement Legislation Disclosure



		‎Z17

		Supplier Exclusion Notification



		‎Z18

		Supplier Exclusion Ground



		‎Z19

		Set Aside Order and Public Procurement Termination Event



		Z20

		Feedback










[bookmark: _Ref156730377]Project Agreements[footnoteRef:9] [9:  Note to Tenderers: The list of Project Agreements and copies thereof will be provided prior to contract award.] 


The Consultant acknowledges that, if it has been or is supplied with a copy of any of the Project Agreements which are detailed in the Scope, it has (and is deemed to have) full and actual knowledge of the terms of such Project Agreements and any amended or new Project Agreement referred to in clause ‎‎Z1.2, including the obligations, risks and liabilities of the Client under them. The Consultant acknowledges that such obligations, risks and liabilities are (and such obligations, risks and liabilities are deemed to be) within the contemplation of the Consultant and that if the Consultant is in breach of the contract such breach is likely to result in, among other things, a liability of the Client under the Project Agreements.  

[bookmark: _Ref148669920]If the terms of any of the Project Agreements are amended or replaced or any new Project Agreements (including any agreement, pursuant to the terms of which the Client raises external finance for or refinances the Project or it grants a UK Regulator certain regulatory controls in relation to the Project) are entered into after the Contract Date, the Client may provide the Consultant with copies of any such documents or amendments or replacements. Upon receipt of the same the Consultant is on notice as to such new or revised or replaced terms and the same constitutes an instruction to change the Scope to which the provisions of clause 60.1(1) apply. If the Service Manager subsequently withdraws such instruction the Consultant is deemed no longer to be on notice as to such revised terms.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the contract, the Parties acknowledge that: 

where the consent or approval of the Client or the Service Manager is required under a provision of the contract and such provision provides that such consent or approval is not unreasonably withheld or delayed, the Client or the Service Manager (as the case may be) is deemed to have reasonably withheld or delayed such consent or approval in circumstances where the Client's counter-party to a Project Agreement (a 'PA Counter-Party') has withheld or delayed a corresponding consent or approval under and in accordance with the Project Agreement, provided always that the Client or the Service Manager (as the case may be) uses its reasonable endeavours to obtain such consent or approval; and

where under the contract the Client or the Service Manager is required to act reasonably, the Client or the Service Manager is deemed to have done so if a PA Counter-Party has the same obligation and has performed that obligation under and in accordance with the Project Agreement.

The Consultant provides the Client with any information reasonably requested by the Client in order to comply with its obligations under the Project Agreements.

Core team

The Consultant ensures that the Core Team are employed on a full-time basis to Provide the Service. The Consultant ensures that the Core Team members have sufficient expertise and capacity to Provide the Service.

The Consultant acknowledges that in order to Provide the Service the Core Team may be required to work outside of normal business operating hours and that, subject to clause Z2.3 but notwithstanding any other provision of the contract, the Core Team Cost is the Consultant's full entitlement to payment in respect of the Core Team, inclusive of all costs, expenses, fees and overheads of every kind incurred by the Consultant in connection with the employment of the Core Team.

If during the performance of the service the Consultant anticipates that in order to Provide the Service in accordance with the terms of the contract and the Accepted Programme the Core Team will be required to work on a day that is not a Business Day or where the Service Manager instructs the Consultant that the Core Team is required to work during such periods, the Consultant notifies the Service Manager and provides a detailed forecast of the number of hours of work that it anticipates each Core Team member will be required to carry out during such periods in respect of the relevant Task and in respect of which the Consultant will incur additional costs and/or expenses as a result of the Core Team Overtime. The Consultant is not entitled to additional payment in respect of Core Team Overtime unless and until the Service Manager at its sole discretion issues an instruction to that effect. The Consultant's entitlement to payment for Core Team Overtime is subject to the Consultant providing sufficient evidence to demonstrate the costs that it incurred in connection with the Core Team Overtime to the Service Manager.

The Core Team must at all times comply with [].[footnoteRef:10] [10:  Ashurst Note: To refer to the section in the Scope setting out any employee specific policies and the Core Team's duties.] 


In accordance with clause 21.4 the Core Team is responsible for performing all of the service unless specified otherwise in the Service Plan or where a Task Order issued by the Service Manager specifies that other employees of the Consultant and/or a Subcontractor will perform the service in connection with the relevant Task. 

As a post-contract management tool, the Consultant participates in a mobilisation interview at the start of the mobilisation stage of the service. The purpose of the interview is to further ensure that skills, capabilities and commitment of the Core Team mobilised are appropriate and display collaborative and positive behaviours essential for the success of the Project.  If the Client is not satisfied with any of the personnel put forward at that stage then the Client may instruct the Consultant to replace such Core Team personnel, and such instruction is not a compensation event. The Key Performance Indicator on staff quality captures the Client instruction to the Consultant to remove people and associated penalties.

[bookmark: _Ref156730478]Core Team Transfer Plan

The Consultant complies with the provisions set out in the Scope regarding the appointment and replacement of Core Team members in accordance with the Core Team transfer plan. Where the Consultant proposes the replacement of any Core Team members the Consultant, at no cost to the Client, ensures that during the relevant handover period the proposed replacement Core Team member works alongside the existing Core Team member in order to ensure a seamless handover of responsibilities with no disruption in service delivery to the Client.

The Consultant submits its Core Team transfer plan to the Service Manager for acceptance in accordance with the Scope (in the Service Manager's discretion ). If the Consultant proposes a change to the Core Team, it includes in the Service Plan issued in accordance with article 3.1 of the Agreement or as an addendum to it an explanation of the proposed change and curricula vitae for each additional and/or replacement Core Team members. The curricula vitae provided by the Consultant details the name, relevant qualifications and experience of a proposed replacement person to the Core Team.

A reason for not accepting a Core Team transfer plan is that:

it does not contain the information required by the Scope; or

a Core Team member named in the Core Team transfer plan does not have acceptable competency, qualifications or experience.

Save where a Core Team member is removed for reasons which the Service Manager considers are outside the Consultant's reasonable control, if a Core Team member:

ceases to be employed to do the job stated in the Service Plan; and/or 

the Consultant fails to comply with an accepted Core Team transfer plan,

the salary and expense costs associated with the replacement Core Team member during the relevant handover period are treated as Disallowed Cost unless the Service Manager decides to reduce or waive this requirement.

The Parties acknowledge that when the Project enters the construction phase the members of the Core Team may need to be replaced. Notwithstanding clause 21.5 of the contract, within a reasonable time following the issue of the Stage 2 NTP or the Completion Certificate in respect of the last Unit (in each case as defined in the TP Contract), the Client may instruct that the Consultant replaces any member of the Core Team without delay to reflect any change in the nature of the service and/or different expertise needed to Provide the Service in accordance with the terms of the contract. The Consultant provides reasonable notice to the Service Manager if it anticipates any such replacements to the Core Team members being required and submits a Core Team transfer plan to the Service Manager for approval in accordance with the terms of this clause Z3.

Cost Saving 

Throughout the duration of the Project the Consultant assesses whether the Client could achieve any Cost Savings including but not limited to in respect of the service or the work to be carried out by the Contractor or any other parties. If the Consultant identifies any such potential methods of achieving a Cost Saving it notifies the Service Manager and/or the Client and submits its proposals for how any such Cost Saving initiative could be implemented in the Project. The Consultant does not propose any potential Cost Savings if they may jeopardise the health and safety of the Project or the completed Project.

The Client at its absolute discretion may utilise any of the Consultant's proposals submitted under clause Z4.1 and the Consultant provides its advice, recommendations or assurance services as may be required in respect of the Cost Saving initiatives.

[bookmark: _Ref156730491]Modern Slavery 

[bookmark: _Ref148657020][bookmark: _Ref187265096]In performing its obligations under the contract, the Consultant

complies with the Anti-Slavery Policy, 

complies, and procures that its Subcontractors and sub-subcontractors of any tier comply, with the Modern Slavery Act 2015, and

unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Client (at the Client's sole and absolute discretion), only procures, and ensures that its subcontractors of any tier and whose annual turnover is in excess of £36 million only procure, labour from a Certified Ethical Labour Provider.

[bookmark: _Ref148657025]Where the Consultant, a Subcontractor or a sub-subcontractor of any tier is procuring labour from a Certified Ethical Labour Provider who prepares audit reports, such reports are made available to the Client (at no additional cost) and, where possible, through the relevant contract management platform.

On each 12 month anniversary of the starting date, until the Defects Certificate has been issued, the Consultant submits a report to the Client which confirms that all labour used to Provide the Service has been procured from a Certified Ethical Labour Provider and includes such evidence as the Client may reasonably require to evidence compliance.

0. [bookmark: _Ref149303483]A failure by the Consultant to:

comply with its obligations under clause Z5.1 and/or Z5.2; and/or

serve notice to terminate any Subcontract within 10 Business Days of becoming aware of any failure by the Subcontractor or any of its subcontractors to comply with clause Z11.1 and/or Z11.2,

constitutes a material breach of its obligations by the Consultant and entitles the Client to terminate the Consultant's obligation to Provide the Service in whole or in part with immediate effect in accordance with clause 91.3.

The Client may refuse any labourer employed or engaged by the Consultant, a Subcontractor or sub-subcontractor of any tier entry onto any property that is owned, occupied or managed by the Client if that labourer has not been procured from a Certified Ethical Labour Provider or if the Client has reasonable grounds to suspect that such employee or agent has not been procured from a Certified Ethical Labour Provider. Any such refusal of entry does not constitute a compensation event and any cost incurred by the Consultant as a direct result of such refusal shall be Disallowed Cost.

[bookmark: _Ref156730522]Change of Ownership

No Change of Ownership occurs before the defects date without the prior written consent of the Client (which is not unreasonably withheld or delayed). 

The Client provides written consent under this clause if:

the Change of Ownership in respect of the relevant party is intra-group (unless the relevant party is an ultimate parent company); and

the Change of Ownership in respect of the relevant party does not give rise to any deterioration in the financial stability of that party.

The Consultant notifies the Client as soon as it becomes aware of any proposed or actual Change of Ownership. Such notice contains sufficient information to enable the Client to ascertain whether or not the proposed new owner is an Unsuitable Transferee. Promptly upon receipt of any such notice, the Client notifies the Consultant whether the Change of Ownership involves or will involve an Unsuitable Transferee. 

If the notice confirms that the Change of Ownership does not or will not involve an Unsuitable Transferee, it also confirms the Client's consent to the Change of Ownership. 

If the notice confirms that the Change of Ownership does or will involve an Unsuitable Transferee, the Client thereafter engages with the Consultant in detailed discussions to enable the Consultant to seek to address the Client's concerns.

If the Client considers that its concerns have been addressed to its reasonable satisfaction it notifies the Consultant of that fact and confirms its consent to the Change of Ownership.

Any failure by the Consultant to:

serve notice of any proposed or actual Change of Ownership in accordance with this clause Z6.3; and

address the Client's concerns to the reasonable satisfaction of the Client,

constitutes a material breach by the Consultant of its obligations under the contract and entitles the Client to terminate the contract the Consultant's appointment under the contract pursuant to clause 91.3.

This clause Z6.3 applies irrespective of whether: (i) any relevant shares are listed on a recognised investment exchange (as defined in Section 285 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000); or (ii) the relevant sale, disposal, transfer or other arrangements arise out of or in connection with any listing on a recognised investment exchange.

[bookmark: _Ref156730533]Data Protection

The Consultant complies with all of its obligations under the Data Protection Legislation and, if Processing Personal Data on behalf of the Client, only carries out such Processing to Provide the Service in accordance with the contract. With respect to the Parties’ rights and obligations under the contract, the Parties acknowledge that the Client is a Data Controller solely responsible for determining the purposes and manner in which Personal Data is to be Processed and the Consultant is a Data Processor.

[bookmark: _Ref156730594]Regulatory Interface

[TBC (- see the footnote to article [2.4]): if appropriate, this provision will outline any obligation of the Consultant to support the Client in its interactions with the all applicable regulators (including without limitation the Regulator (ONR)), with respect to the Project, including complying with any Regulatory Hold Point or other management arrangements implemented by the Client.]

[bookmark: _Ref148657376]Documentation[footnoteRef:11] [11:  Ashurst Note: Z9 is to cover TP documentation and technical documentation.] 


[TBC (- see the footnote to article [2.4]): if appropriate, this provision will outline any specific procedures and requirements relating to the provision, review, acceptance and retention of documentation relating to nuclear fuel and materials.]

[bookmark: _Ref148657113]Security Requirements

[TBC (- see the footnote to article [2.4]): if appropriate, this provision will outline any specific security procedures and requirements relating to the provision of nuclear fuel and materials and its associated documentation, including vetting or clearance requirements.]

[bookmark: _Ref156730650][bookmark: _Ref149302693]Financial Monitoring and Remediation 

If at any time from the starting date until Completion of the whole of the service, the Client considers (acting reasonably) that a Financial Monitoring Event has occurred, the Service Manager may issue a written request to the Consultant for the Consultant to provide a Financial Remediation Plan and such request includes the details of such Financial Monitoring Event.

The Consultant provides a Financial Remediation Plan to the Service Manager within 20 Business Days of a request from the Service Manager to do so or such longer period as stated in the request.

The Client reviews the Consultant's Financial Remediation Plan and the Service Manager issues a notice to the Consultant stating either:

[bookmark: _Ref149302709]that the Financial Remediation Plan is acceptable to the Client (in its discretion, acting reasonably), in which case the Consultant proceeds to implement the Financial Remediation Plan; or

[bookmark: _Ref149302677]that the Financial Remediation Plan is not acceptable to the Client (in its discretion, acting reasonably), including reasons why the Financial Remediation Plan is not acceptable because it does not specify how the Financial Monitoring Event will be remedied, in which case clause ‎Z11.4 applies. 

[bookmark: _Ref187270414][bookmark: _Ref149302667]If the Service Manager issues a non-acceptance notice under clause ‎Z11.3(b):

[bookmark: _Ref149302701]the Consultant updates the Financial Remediation Plan and re-submits it to the Service Manager within ten Business Days of the Service Manager's nonacceptance notice; and

[bookmark: _Ref149302719]the Client reviews the Consultant's re-submitted Financial Remediation Plan and, if it is acceptable to the Client (in its discretion, acting reasonably), the Service Manager issues a notice to the Consultant stating that the Financial Remediation Plan is acceptable and the Consultant proceeds to implement the Financial Remediation Plan.

[bookmark: _Ref149303387]If:

the Consultant fails to submit or re-submit any Financial Remediation Plan within the timescales included in this clause ‎‎Z11;

the Consultant's Financial Remediation Plan which has been re-submitted under clause ‎‎Z11.4(a) is not acceptable to the Client (in its discretion, acting reasonably) because it does not adequately specify how the Financial Monitoring Event will be remedied; or 

the Consultant fails to implement any element or obligation under a Financial Remediation Plan which has been accepted in accordance with clause ‎ Z11.6(a) or clause ‎Z11.4(b),

then the Client may terminate the Consultant's obligation to Provide the Service by notifying the Service Manager and the Consultant within 20 Business Days of the relevant circumstances occurring, in which case the Consultant's obligation to Provide the Service automatically terminates and the relevant procedures and amounts set out in the Termination Table apply

[bookmark: _Ref156730414]Freedom of Information

The Consultant acknowledges that the Client is subject to the FOI Legislation and assists and co-operates with the Client to enable the Client to comply with its obligations under the FOI Legislation.  This does not preclude the Consultant from objecting to a disclosure of Consultant Information subject to the Consultant acknowledging that the Client is solely responsible for determining whether Consultant Information is exempt information under the FOI Legislation and for determining what Consultant Information is disclosed in respect of an Information Request.  The Consultant does not itself respond to any person making an Information Request, save to acknowledge receipt, unless expressly authorised to do so by the Client.  The Consultant gives the Client copies of all Information Requests it receives in connection with the service, the Project or the Client within three Business Days of receipt thereof.

Monthly Reporting

The Consultant issues to the Service Manager a Monthly Report no later than [] each month.

Conflict of Interest 

The Consultant acknowledges and agrees that it does not have any interest in any matter where there is or is reasonably likely to be a conflict of interest with Providing the Service save to the extent fully disclosed to and approved in writing by the Client.

The Consultant undertakes ongoing and regular conflict of interest checks throughout the duration of the contract and in any event not less than once in every six months and notifies the Client in writing immediately on becoming aware of any actual or potential conflict of interest with Providing the Service. 

The Consultant includes equivalent provisions as set out in clauses Z14.1 and Z14.2 in Subcontracts.

The Consultant works with the Client to do whatever is necessary to manage any such conflicts of interest to the Client's satisfaction (including the separation of staff working and/or data relating to the works from the matter in question or the termination of the employment of the relevant Subcontractor if necessary) and provided that, where the Client is not so satisfied (in its absolute discretion) the Client is entitled to terminate the contract).

Employee Indemnity  

The Consultant and the Client agree that the Consultant Personnel shall remain employed or engaged by the Consultant or relevant sub-contractor at all times. The Consultant shall discharge and hereby undertakes to indemnify the Client in respect of any Losses arising directly or indirectly from or in connection with the employment and/or the termination of the employment or the engagement of any of the Consultant Personnel.

The Consultant and the Client confirm their mutual expectation that, due to the nature of the service and their delivery, the termination or expiry of the service (or any part of them) will not trigger a transfer under TUPE of any Consultant Personnel. If the contract of employment or engagement of, or any liability regarding the employment or engagement of, any Consultant Personnel is found or alleged to have transferred to the Client and/or any new provider of the service pursuant to TUPE, the Consultant shall indemnify the Client and any new provider of the service against all Losses incurred (whether directly or through an indemnity in favour of the person suffering such Losses) arising in connection with:

the employment or engagement, and/or termination of employment or engagement, of Consultant Personnel at any time up to and including the time of transfer or alleged transfer to the Client and/or any new provider of the service; and

any liability transferred to the Client and/or any new provider of the service by virtue of the application or alleged application of TUPE, and/or arising from anything done or omitted to be done in respect of Consultant Personnel which is deemed to have been done by the Client and/or any new provider of the service or its or their personnel by virtue of the application or alleged application of TUPE; and

the employment or engagement (or alleged employment or engagement), and/or termination of such employment or engagement, of any Consultant Personnel by the Client and/or any new provider of the service following the transfer or alleged transfer; and

any failure by any person to comply with TUPE in respect of Consultant Personnel, including without limitation any failure to comply with regulations 13 or 14 of TUPE.

The Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 applies to this clause Z15 to the extent that any replacement owner's engineer that provides the service has the right to enforce the indemnities set out herein

[bookmark: _Ref190280911]Procurement Legislation Disclosure 

The Consultant acknowledges that the Client: 

is subject to the Procurement Legislation and agrees to assist and co-operate with the Client to enable the Client to comply with its Disclosure Obligations, and

without prejudice to the Client's other rights, powers or remedies, may disclose information as the Client considers appropriate (in its absolute discretion) to comply with the Disclosure Obligations. The Client is responsible for determining whether any information is exempt from disclosure under the Procurement Legislation.

Without limiting the generality of clause Z16.1, or any other obligation of the Consultant under the contract, the Consultant agrees and procures that its Subcontractors (and sub-subcontractors) agree to:

provide the Client with such information that the Client requests within seven days of a request (or such longer period as the Client may reasonably specify), and in such form as the Client may reasonably specify, and 

make available its employees and agents as reasonably requested by the Client,

to comply with the Client's Disclosure Obligations under Procurement Legislation. 

The Client may in its absolute discretion consult with the Consultant regarding any proposed information to be disclosed. The Client makes the final decision regarding disclosure, publication and any redaction of such information.

[bookmark: _Ref190280916]Supplier Exclusion Notification 

The Consultant promptly notifies the Client: 

if any of the Consultant, the Consultant's Associated Persons or any Subcontractor is or is placed on the Debarment List, and

if any of the Consultant, the Consultant's Associated Persons or any Subcontractor is or becomes an Excluded Supplier or Excludable Supplier (including in each case by reference to their Connected Persons)

and promptly provides any further information to the Client reasonably requires in this regard.

The Consultant notifies the Client as soon as reasonably practicable and in any event within fourteen days of any changes to the Consultant's Connected Persons together with information regarding any new Connected Persons.

[bookmark: _Ref190280923]Supplier Exclusion Ground 

In the event that the Client considers that a Supplier Exclusion Ground applies, the Client: 

may notify the Consultant of its intention to terminate the contract and in any such notice:

specifies which Supplier Exclusion Ground the Client considers applies and the reasons for the Client deciding to terminate on that basis, 

invites the Consultant to make representations to the Client about the existence of the Supplier Exclusion Ground and the Client's decision to terminate,

specifies a reasonable period (determined at the sole discretion of the Client) within which the Consultant is to make such representations, and

if applicable, specifies a reasonable period (determined at the sole discretion of the Client) within which the Consultant is to have, or procured that its Subcontractors (or sub-subcontractors) have, ceased subcontracting to the Excluded Supplier or Excludable Supplier and, if the Client considers necessary, appoint an alternative Subcontractor (or sub-subcontractor) who is approved by the Client, and

on expiry of the period specified for the purposes of clause Z18(a)(iii) (and, where applicable, clause Z18(a)(iv)), then, if after considering the Consultant's representations (if any), the Client is satisfied that the termination ground applies, it may terminate the contract in accordance with clause 91.3.

[bookmark: _Ref190280933]Set Aside Order and Public Procurement Termination Event 

In the event of a Public Procurement Termination Event, the Client: 

may notify the Consultant of its intention to terminate the contract and in any such notice:

provides the Client's reasons for considering that a Public Procurement Termination Event has occurred and the reasons for the Client deciding to terminate on that basis, 

invites the Consultant to make representations to the Client about the occurrence of the Public Procurement Termination Event and the Client's decision to terminate, and

specifies a reasonable period (determined at the sole discretion of the Client) within which the Consultant is to make such representations, and

on expiry of the period specified for the purposes of clause Z19.1(a)(iii), then if after considering the Consultant's representations (if any) the Client is satisfied that a Public Procurement Termination Event has occurred, may terminate the contract in accordance with clause Z19.2.

In the event that a court makes a Set Aside Order or the circumstances set out in clause Z19.1(b) apply, the Client notifies the Consultant of the Set Aside Order or termination as a result of the Public Procurement Termination Event in accordance with clause 91.12 (such termination to take effect immediately or on such notice as the Client consider appropriate). 

The Set Aside Order or termination as a result of the Public Procurement Termination Event does not prejudice or affect any right, liability or remedy which has accrued or which accrues to either party prior to or after such Set Aside Order or termination.

The provisions of this clause Z19 (and applicable definitions) survive any termination of the contract following a Set Aside Order or Public Procurement Termination Event.

Feedback

The Parties provide feedback to one another in accordance with the [360 Feedback Requirements set out in Section [] of the Scope].
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Contract Data





		PART ONE – DATA PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT



		

		

		Completion of the data in full, according to the Options chosen, is essential to create a complete contract.







		General



		

		

		The conditions of contract are the core clauses and the clauses for the following main Option, the Option for resolving and avoiding disputes and secondary Options of the NEC4 Professional Service Contract June 2017 (with amendments January 2023)







		

		

		Main Option

		E

		Option for resolving and avoiding disputes

		W2



		

		

		

		







		

		

		Secondary Options

		[X1, X2, X4, X9, X11, X20, X29 and Y(UK)2]









		

		

		The service is

		The services described in the Scope







		

		

		The Client is 

		







		

		

		Name

		Great British Nuclear 







		

		

		Address for communications

		Attention: Matt Artimage.

Department for Energy Security and Net Zero, 3-8 Whitehall Place, London SW1A 2EG











		

		

		Address for electronic communications

		cosec@greatbritishnuclear.uk







		

		

		The Service Manager is 

		







		

		

		Name

		[] 









		

		

		Address for communications

		







		

		

		Address for electronic communications

		







		

		

		The Scope is in

		Schedule [] to the Agreement







		

		

		The language of the contract is

		English









		

		

		The law of the contract is the law of

		England and Wales









		

		

		The period for reply is

		[]

		except that







		

		

		

		







		

		

		The period for reply for

		

		is

		







		

		

		

		

		

		







		

		

		The period for reply for

		

		is

		







		

		

		The period for retention is

		[] 

		year(s) following Completion or earlier termination







		

		

		The following matters will be included in the Early Warning Register



		

		

		[] 







		

		

		Early warning meetings are to be held at intervals no longer than

		[] 



		

		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		







		The Consultant's main responsibilities



		If the Client has identified work which is set to meet a stated condition by a key date

		The key dates and conditions to be met are

		



		

		condition to be met

		

		key date



		

		(1)

		

		



		

		(2)

		

		



		

		(3)

		

		



		If Option A is used

		The Consultant prepares a forecast of the total expenses at intervals no longer than 

		



		If Option C or E is used

		The Consultant prepares forecasts of the total Defined Cost

		For inclusion in the Monthly Report



		

		

		



		

		

		

		







		Time 



		

		The starting date is 

		Q4 2025



		

		The Client provides access to the following persons and things



		

		Access

		Access date



		

		(1)

		

		



		

		(2)

		

		



		

		(3)

		

		



		

		The Consultant submits revised programmes at intervals no longer than 

		







		If the Client has decided the completion date for the whole of the service

		The completion date for the whole of the service is

		



		If no programme is identified in part two of the Contract Data

		The period after the Contract Date within which the Consultant is to submit a first programme for acceptance is

		



		

		

		

		







		Quality Management



		

		is to submit a quality policy statement and Quality Assurance Plan is

		



		

		The period between Completion of the whole of the service and the defects date is

		1 year







		Payment



		

		The currency of the contract is the

		Great British Pound



		

		The assessment interval is

		 Monthly



		If the Client states any expenses

		The expenses stated by the Client are

		



		

		Item

		Amount 



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		The interest rate is

		

		% per annum (not less than 2) above the rate of the                                         bank 



		If the period in which payments are made is not three weeks and Y(UK)2 is not used

		The period within which payments are made is

		



		

		

		



		If Option C or E is used and the Client states any locations

		The locations for which the Consultant provides a charge for the cost of support people and office overhead are

		



		If Option C is used

		The Consultant’s share percentages and the share ranges are

		as agreed in the relevant Task Order



		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		

		

		

		



		If Option C or E is used

		The exchange rates are those published in

		



		

		on

		

		(date)







		Compensation events



		If there are additional compensation events

		These are additional compensation events

		



		

		







		Liabilities and insurance



		If there are additional Client’s liabilities

		These are additional Client's liabilities 

		



		

		(1)

		

		



		

		(2)

		

		



		

		(3)

		

		







The minimum amount of cover and the periods for which the Consultant maintains insurance are



		EVENT

		MINIMUM AMOUNT OF COVER

		PERIOD FOLLOWING COMPLETION OF THE WHOLE OF THE SERVICE OR TERMINATION



		The Consultant’s failure to use the skill and care normally used by professionals providing services similar to the service

		

		£10,000,000



		in respect of each claim, without limit to the number of claims







		12 years



		Loss of or damage to property and liability for bodily injury to or death of a person (not an employee of the Consultant) arising from or in connection with the Consultant Providing the Service

		

		[£10,000,000]



		in respect of each event, without limit to the number of events







		 



		Death of or bodily injury to employees of the Consultant arising out of and in the course of their employment in connection with the contract

		

		 



		in respect of each event, without limit to the number of events







		 









		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		



		

		

		







		

		

		







		Resolving and avoiding disputes



		

		The tribunal is

		Arbitration



		If the tribunal is arbitration

		The arbitration procedure is

		The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators CIARB arbitration rules in force from time to time 



		

		The place where arbitration is to be held is

		London, England



		

		The person or organisation who will choose an arbitrator if the Parties cannot agree a choice or if the arbitration procedure does not state who selects an arbitrator is



		

		The Technology and Construction Solicitors' Association (TeCSA)







		

		

		The Senior Representatives of the Client are 

		







		

		

		Name (1)

		[] 







		

		

		Address for communications

		











		

		

		Address for electronic communications

		












		

		

		Name (2)

		[] 







		

		

		Address for communications

		











		

		

		Address for electronic communications

		







		

		

		The Adjudicator is 

		







		

		

		Name 

		[] 







		

		

		Address for communications

		











		

		

		Address for electronic communications

		







		

		

		The Adjudicator nominating body is 
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		X1: Price adjustment for inflation (used only with Options A and C)



		If Option X1 is used

		The proportions used to calculate the Price Adjustment Factor are



		

		0.

		

		linked to the index for

		



		

		0.

		

		

		



		

		0.

		

		

		



		

		0.

		

		

		



		

		0.

		

		

		



		

		0.

		

		

		



		

		0.

		

		non-adjustable

		



		

		1.00

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		



		

		

		

		

		



		

		The base date for indices is

		



		

		These indices are

		







		X2: Changes in the law



		If Option X2 is used

		The law of the project is 

		Not used.


















		



		

		

		

		



		

		

		



















X20: Key Performance Indicators (not used with Option X12)



		The incentive schedule for Key Performance Indicators is in

		 





If Option X20 is used



		A report of performance against each Key Performance



		Indicator is provided at intervals of 

		 

		months









X29: Climate change



		If Option X29 is used

		The performance table is in

		







		If no climate change plan is identified in part two of the Contract Data

		The period after the Contract Date within which the Consultant is to submit a first climate change plan for acceptance is

		 



		

		

		













Y(UK)2: The Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996





If Option Y(UK)2 is used and the final date for payment is not seven days after the date on which payment becomes due

		
The period for payment is

		 

		days after the date on which payment becomes due































Z: Additional conditions of contract



If Option Z is used	The additional conditions of contract are

		The additional conditions of contract  clauses Z1-Z14 set out in Schedule 1 to the Agreement.
















PART TWO – DATA PROVIDED BY THE CONSULTANT



Completion of the data in full, according to the Options chosen, is essential to create a complete contract.





1 General



The Consultant is



		Name

		 







		Address for communications

		 







		Address for electronic communications

		 









		The fee percentage is

		Not used

		%









The key persons are



		Name (1)

		 







		Job

		 







		Responsibilities

		 







		Qualifications

		 







		Experience

		 







		Name (2)

		 







		Job

		 







		Responsibilities

		 







		Qualifications

		 







		Experience

		 









The following matters will be included in the Early Warning Register



		 









2 The Consultant’s main responsibilities



		The Scope provided by the Consultant is in

		 





If the Consultant is to

provide Scope





3 Time



		The programme identified in the Contract Data is

		 





If a programme is to be

identified in the

Contract Data







		The completion date for the whole of the service is

		 





If the Consultant is to decide

the completion date for the

whole of the service







5 Payment



If the Consultant states	The expenses stated by the Consultant are any expenses

item	amount



		 

		

		 







		 

		

		 







		 

		

		 











Resolving and avoiding disputes



The Senior Representatives of the Consultant are



		Name (1)

		 







		Address for communications

		 







		Address for electronic communications

		 







		Name (2)

		 







		Address for communications

		 







		Address for electronic communications

		 









If an information execution plan is to be identified in the Contract Data







X29: Climate change

	

If Option X29 is used



		The climate change plan identified in the Contract Data is



		

		 





If a climate change plan is to be identified in the Contract Data















		 

		

		 

		 %
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Schedule of Cost Components







		

		

		

		An amount is included

only if it does not form part of the expenses,

only in one cost component and 

only if it is incurred in order to Provide the Service.



		People

		1

		

		The cost component of people who are employed directly or indirectly by the Consultant to undertake any part of the service is determined by multiplying each of the applicable rates for the relevant roles which are set out in the table below by the total time spent on that part of the service. For the avoidance of doubt, the rates for roles which are set out in the table below shall apply in respect of all subcontracts and sub-subcontracts of any tier, unless different rates are proposed by the Consultant and approved by the Service Manager in accordance with clause 19.7: 

[Core Team and Specialist Rate Cards to be inserted here] [footnoteRef:13] [13:  Note to Tenderers: The successful Tenderer’s rate cards submitted at Final Tender, will form part of Schedule 3 (Cost of Components).] 






		

		11

		

		The cost component shall only apply to roles:

which are listed in the above Rate Card, 

which are performed by people who are suitably qualified and experienced for the activities to which they are deployed, and

which are performed by people whose grade is correctly assigned in accordance with the guidance on the grading structure set out in Appendix 1 to this Schedule of Cost Components and on the basis of their knowledge and experience and the activities they will perform.



		

		12

		

		The rates in the table above are based on an eight hour working day (excluding breaks) and are inclusive of all direct salary costs (true cost), costs of employment and overheads of any nature whatsoever including, but not limited to, the following costs:

any element of profit or fee 

contract rates paid by the Consultant

wages, salaries and amounts paid by the Consultant for people paid according to the time worked on the contract

relocation

medical examinations

passports and visas

travel insurance

protective clothing

contributions, levies or taxes imposed by law

pensions and life assurance

death benefit

occupational accident benefits

medical aid and health insurance

vehicles

working in special circumstances

special allowances

absence due to sickness and holidays

severance

provision and use of water, gas, electricity, telephone and internet

project related training and development costs including safety training

Project related IT infrastructure (such as laptop computers, mobile phones, portable printers, scanners) provided for use on this Project.



		

		13

		

		The component of the reasonable cost of travel, subsidence and lodging in accordance with the Client's relevant policies as the same may be amended from time to time at the Client's discretion, for: 

· Non-Core Team Employees and Subcontractors and 

· the Core Team members only where they are required to travel somewhere other than Warrington, England or the Site.



		

		14

		

		Payments related to Core Team Overtime assessed by reference to the rates in the table above or a pro-rata amount of any such rates in respect of Core Team members that provided Core Team Overtime for a period of less than 8 hours on a given day (but not fewer than 4 hours on any day), provided always that the Core Team Overtime has been approved in advance by the Service Manager in accordance with clause Z2.3 and the conditions set out in that clause are satisfied.



		

		15

		

		Without prejudice to the provisions of Option X1 (Price Adjustment for Inflation) or save as may be agreed by the Parties in the Service Plan, the rates in the table above shall not be subject to adjustment.



		Subcontractors

		2

		

		The following components of the cost of Subcontractors.



		

		21

		

		Payments to Subcontractors for work which is subcontracted that is a Reimbursable Service and in respect of which specific rates have been agreed in accordance with clause 19.7, without taking into account any amounts paid to or retained from the Subcontractor by the Consultant, which would result in the Client paying or retaining the amount twice.



		Deductions

		3

		

		Without prejudice to the provisions of Option X1 (Price Adjustment for Inflation) or save as may be agreed by the Parties in the Service Plan, the rates in the table above shall not be subject to adjustment.



		Insurance

		4

		

		The following are deducted from cost

payments to the Consultant in respect of the Core Team Cost which would result in the Client paying the amount twice

the cost of events for which the contract requires the Consultant to insure and

other costs paid to the Consultant by insurers.
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Grade Definitions 

[to be inserted]








CONTRACT DATA PART ONE

APPENDIX 1

Incentive Schedule



Definitions

		Assessment Periods

		The period for which a performance review occurs, being the quarterly periods between the months that are 3, 6, 9 and 12 months after the commencement of a Financial year.



		At Risk Fee Apportionment

		The proportion of the Consultant's At Risk Fee amount applicable to an individual KPI as set out in Table 1.



		Contract Year

		Means each annual period from the Contract Date.



		KPI

		Any Key Performance Indicator applicable to the provision of the deliverables or applicable part of the service under the contract.



		KPI Events

		Any event, act or omission in respect of a KPI which impacts upon the Performance Level for that KPI.



		KPI Failure

		A failure to meet the Target Performance Measure in respect of a KPI or a group of KPIs, and which includes Minor KPI Failures, Serious KPI Failures, Severe KPI Failures and any failure by the Consultant to meet a KPI Service Threshold.



		KPI Service Threshold

		The minimum level of service that the Consultant is required to provide in respect of a KPI.



		Material KPI Failure

		Means: (a) a Severe KPI Failure; or (b) a failure by the Consultant to meet a KPI Service Threshold.



		Measurement Period

		In relation to a Key Performance Indicator, the period over which the Consultant's performance is measured as set out in Table 1 in the Annex.



		Minor KPI Failure

		As set out in Table 1 in the Annex.



		Serious KPI Failure

		As set out in Table 1 in the Annex.



		Service Credit

		A Service Credit is the percentage (%) of At Risk Fee that is permanently retained by the Client in respect of any KPI Failure by the Contractor.



		Severe KPI Failure

		As set out in Table 1 in the Annex.  



		Performance Level

		Means the relevant level of performance against each KPI which constitutes the KPI Service Threshold and/or a Minor KPI Failure, Serious KPI Failure, Severe KPI Failure or Target Performance Measure as set out in Table 1 in the Annex.



		Performance Score

		Means the numerical score for Performance Level achieved against each KPI as set out in Table 2 and Table 1 in the Annex.



		Target Performance Measure

		The acceptable level of performance for a Key Performance Indicator which is required by the Client, as set out against the relevant Key Performance Indicator in Table 1 in the Annex.










: Performance Indicators and Service Credits

Introduction

The objective of the performance management regime is to encourage the Consultant to meet the Target Performance Measure by measuring performance against a range of key performance indicators (each a "Key Performance Indicator" or "KPI").

The KPIs have been selected to reflect areas of the service which are essential to deliver the contract at an acceptable level for the Client, and to avoid exposing the Client to significant financial or reputational risk.

Performance Levels and Service Credits have been set for each KPI, to reflect the relative impact the failure to meet the Target Performance Measure of the KPI will have on the delivery of the contract.

The Consultant acknowledges that any KPI Failure entitles the Client to the rights set out in Part A of this Appendix 1 including the right to any Service Credits and that any Service Credit is a price adjustment and not an estimate of the Losses that may be suffered by the Client as a result of the Consultant's failure to meet any KPI Target Performance Measure.

Key Performance Indicators

Table 1 in the Annex sets out the Performance Levels for each of the KPIs.

The At Risk Fee Apportionment to be applied to each KPI is set out in Table 1 below. The Service Manager and the Client may vary the At Risk Fee Apportionment for each KPI following agreement with the Consultant.  

Table 1: KPI At Risk Fee Apportionment



		Category

		KPI/Key Performance Indicator

		At Risk Fee Apportionment (%)



		

Management

		Monthly Reporting

		5.00%



		

		Cost Performance

		10.00%



		

		Social Value

		5.00%



		

Performance

		Deliverable Quality

		20.00%



		

		Deliverable Timeliness

		15.00%



		

		Service Plan Submission

		7.50%



		

Behaviour

		Timely Engagement

		10.00%



		

		Staff Quality

		12.50%



		

		Availability of Core Team

		15.00%







The Consultant monitors its performance against each KPI monthly and the actual performance achieved in the current Measurement Period per Contract Year against each KPI. These details are included in the Monthly Report in accordance with Part B (Performance Monitoring). 

Service Credits accrue for any KPI Failure over the applicable Assessment Period. Service Credits are calculated in accordance with Paragraph 3 of this Appendix 1. 

If the Consultant is unlikely to achieve the Target Performance Measure for a KPI, the Consultant immediately notifies the Client in writing and the Client, in its absolute discretion and without limiting any other of its rights, may:

require the Consultant to immediately take all preventative and/or remedial action that is reasonable to mitigate the impact on the Client and to rectify or prevent a KPI Failure from taking place or recurring; 

instruct the Consultant to submit a Performance Improvement Plan and comply with the provisions of clause X20.3; 

Performance Levels and Service Credits

If the level of performance of the Consultant during an Assessment Period is below the Target Performance Measure in respect of a KPI as set out in Table 1 in the Annex, Service Credits accrue to the Consultant in respect of that KPI as set out in paragraphs 3.2 and 3.3 below.

The Service Credit deductions depend on the extent to which the Consultant has failed to meet the Target Performance Measure for each KPI. 

Each KPI has individually defined Performance Levels, which are set out in Table 1 in the Annex. At the end of each Assessment Period, for each KPI, a Performance Score is determined pursuant to the Service Manager's assessment under clause X20.4 or (where applicable) the Client's assessment under clause X20.8 of the Consultant's Performance Level against each KPI in the Assessment Period in accordance with Table 2 below. Service Credits are accrued in respect of the Performance Scores set out below in Table 2 and subject to the At Risk Fee Apportionments for each KPI set out in Table 1. This is applicable to all the KPIs:

		Table 2. Service Credits (At Risk Fee retained) and Performance Score per Assessment Period per KPI



		Performance Levels

		Target Performance

		Minor KPI Failure

		Serious KPI Failure

		Severe KPI Failure

		KPI Service Threshold

		Any score below the KPI Service Threshold



		Performance Score

		5

		4

		3

		2

		1

		0



		Service Credit per Assessment Period per KPI

		0%

		10%

		30%

		60%

		100%

		100%







The Service Manager and/or the Client considers the reporting on the KPIs provided in the Monthly Reports in making the assessments under clauses X20.4 and X20.8.

The KPI Service Threshold (detailed in Table 1 in the Annex) represents the absolute minimum Performance Level that the Consultant is required to provide in respect of each KPI. If the Consultant during an Assessment Period achieves the Target Performance Measure in respect of a KPI as set out in Table 1 in the Annex, no Service Credits accrue in respect of that KPI. 

In the event that the Consultant breaches the KPI Service Threshold for any of the KPIs the following applies:

the Consultant proposes a meeting with the Client immediately to address the situation;

the Consultant prepares a Performance Improvement Plan; 

The Consultant provides any additional information requested by the Client or the Service Manager in the Monthly Reports in respect of the KPIs;

the applicable Service Credits are deducted from amounts due to the Consultant in accordance with article 4; and

if:

the Consultant does not show progression or improvement based on an agreed Performance Improvement Plan; and 

Material KPI Failures have occurred for 3 consecutive Assessment Periods in respect of the periods in which the relevant KPI is measured,

deduct 100% of the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive which the Consultant would otherwise be entitled to at the end of the relevant period under article 5.2.

Service Credits are calculated at the end of each Assessment Period and applied to next invoice. 

For the KPIs in respect of which the Measurement Period is monthly, the Performance Score is awarded in consideration of the Consultant's performance in respect of that KPI across the relevant Assessment Period.

Service Credits are shown as an amount retained from the amount due from the Client to the Consultant in accordance with clause 50.3 in respect of the application for payment following the relevant Assessment Period.

Service Credits are a reduction of the amounts payable in respect of the service and do not include VAT. The Consultant off sets the value of any Service Credits against the appropriate invoice.

Any unearned At Risk Fee for a KPI will not roll forward into the next performance window.

Long-Term Behaviour Incentive 

To incentivise consistent excellent performance and behaviours in the long-term, the Consultant may be entitled to a part of the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive. The Consultant's entitlement to the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive is determined by an aggregate of its Performance Scores across each 3 year period commencing from the Contract Date (or such other period as the Client may instruct under article 5.2 of the contract), calculated in accordance with paragraph 4.2 below.

An arithmetic mean average of the Performance Scores for the KPIs listed in Table 2 of the Annex over the relevant period is calculated to produce 3-Year Average Performance Scores for each KPI (the 3-Year Performance Scores). An arithmetic mean average of the 3 - Year Performance Scores of the relevant KPIs (equal weights) is used to calculate an overall aggregate average Performance Score in the relevant period (the Overall Aggregate Score).

The Consultant is entitled to payment of the portion of the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive set out in Table 3 below as determined by the Overall Aggregate Score for the relevant period.  

		Table 3 - Aggregate Score and Long-Term Behaviour Incentive Release



		Overall Aggregate Score

		5 to 4.9

		Less than 4.9, but more than or equal to 4.5

		Less than 4.5 and more than or equal to 4

		Less than 4



		% of Long-Term Behaviour Incentive to be released

		100%

		80%

		50%

		0%







From the Contract Date until the issue of the Stage 2 NTP, the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive is an amount equivalent to 3% of, on an annual basis,: 

the Price for Service Provided to Date; and 

the aggregate amount of Defined Cost in respect of which the Prices are adjusted in accordance with clause 63.1 as a result of a compensation event.

After the issue of the Stage 2 NTP, the Parties may mutually agree in writing fixed nominal sums which will comprise the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive. 

The Consultant is not entitled to any portion of the Long-Term Behaviour Incentive if for any KPI listed in Table 2 of the Annex:

the 3-Year Performance Score in the period is below 1; or,

there are Material KPI Failures for 3 consecutive Assessment Periods.

In case of termination for breach, no Long-Term Behaviour Incentive payment would be made for that period and periods after.




: Performance Monitoring

Performance Monitoring and Performance Review

The Monthly Report includes a KPI report which summarises the performance by the Consultant against each of the Key Performance Indicators as more particularly described in paragraph 5.2 below (the "KPI Report").

The KPI Report is in such format as agreed between the Parties from time to time and contain, as a minimum, the following information:

for each KPI, performance progress on a month-by-month basis, the actual performance achieved over the Measurement Period per Contract Year, and performance achieved over the previous three (3) Measurement Periods;

a summary of all KPI Events that occurred;

which KPI Events remain outstanding and progress in resolving them;

for any KPI Events which may result in a Material KPI Failure occurring during the Assessment Period, the cause of the relevant KPI Event and the actions being taken to reduce the likelihood of recurrence;

the status of any outstanding Performance Improvement Plan processes, including: (i) whether or not a Performance Improvement Plan has been agreed; and (ii) where a Performance Improvement Plan has been agreed, a summary of the Consultant's progress in implementing that Performance Improvement Plan;

the indicative Performance Levels that the Consultant considers should be assigned for each KPI in the Measurement Period;

the conduct and performance of any agreed periodic tests that have occurred;

relevant particulars of any aspects of the Consultant's performance which fail to meet the requirements of the contract;

such other details as the Client may reasonably require from time to time and information in respect of previous Measurement Periods; and

a rolling total of the number of KPI Events that have occurred over the past four (4) Measurement Periods.

The Consultant is required to report on performance against each of the KPIs from the Contract Date, except in respect of the KPI on Social Value which is monitored after six (6) months from Contract Date and the KPI on Service Plan Submission which is measured annually from and including the date of the first Service Plan issued after the Contract Date.

The Consultant, the Client, and the Service Manager attend meetings quarterly (unless otherwise agreed) to review the KPI Reports (the Contract Management Meetings). The Contract Management Meetings (unless otherwise agreed): 

take place within five (5) Business Days of the KPI Report being issued by the Consultant; and

take place at such location and time (within normal business hours) as the Client reasonably requires (unless otherwise agreed in advance).

During the Contract Management Meetings the Client is entitled to raise any additional questions and/or request any further information from the Consultant regarding any KPI Failures.

Performance Improvement Plan

If there is a KPI Failure, the Client may, without limiting its other rights, request that the Consultant provide a Performance Improvement Plan.

When the Client receives a requested Performance Improvement Plan it can either:

reject the Performance Improvement Plan or revised Performance Improvement Plan, giving reasons; or

accept the Performance Improvement Plan or revised Performance Improvement Plan (without limiting its rights) and the Consultant must immediately start work on the actions in the Performance Improvement Plan at its own cost, unless agreed otherwise by the the Client.

Where the Performance Improvement Plan or revised Performance Improvement Plan is rejected, the Client:

must give reasonable grounds for its decision; and

may request that the Consultant provides a revised Performance Improvement Plan within five (5) Business Days.

If the Client rejects any Performance Improvement Plan and the Consultant fails to provide a suitable revised Performance Improvement Plan in accordance with paragraph 6.3 above it constitutes a material breach for the purposes of the contract and the Client may exercise its right to terminate under Clause 91.2.





OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL



OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL



		OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL



		EUS\TBILTO\421545328.14  

		1











Annex 1 Table 1

		KPI/Key Performance Indicator

		Overall At Risk Fee apportionment (%)

		Start Date

		Metric Definition

		Measurement Period

		Target Performance Measure

		Minor KPI Failure

		Serious KPI Failure

		Severe KPI Failure

		KPI Service threshold



		 Monthly Reporting

		5%

		Contract Start Date

		No of Business Days over for a complete and accurate monthly report as defined in contract summitted and accepted against the monthly reporting timeline

		Monthly

		0-1

		1- 2

		3- 4

		5- 7

		8



		 OE Monthly Costs

		10%

		Contract Start Date

		% variance = actual OE expenditure in a Measurement Period against forecasts of the Prices for the Measurement Period.

		Monthly

		<5%

		greater than or equal to 5 and less than 10%

		greater than or equal to 10 and less than 15%

		greater than or equal to 15 and less than 20%

		20%



		 Social Value

		5%

		6 months after the mobilisation

		Positive % variance in social value target achieved and commitment/target set

		Quarterly

		[KPIs for social value will be based on the principle of going beyond the core contracted commitment and will be tailored to the winning bidder’s proposals.]



		 Deliverable Quality

		20%

		Contract Start Date

		% = No. of deliverables provided and meet the Client's expectations (accepted by the Client, with no significant changes) by the submission deadline against the Total no. of deliverables agreed to be submitted in the Measurement Period.

		Quarterly

		100%

		greater than or equal to 90 and less than 99%

		greater than or equal to 85 and less than 90%

		greater than or equal to 80 and less than 85%

		80%



		 Deliverable Timeliness

		15%

		Contract Start Date

		Number of deliverables delivered on or before agreed deadline in the Measurement Period against the Total number of deliverables to be submitted in Service Plan or Task Orders in the Measurement Period.

		Monthly

		100%

		greater than or equal to 90 and less than 99%

		greater than or equal to 85 and less than 90%

		greater than or equal to 80 and less than 85%

		80%



		 Service Plan Submission

		7.50%

		Contract Start Date

		Number of Business Days over the timeline agreed to submit a complete Service Plan as per Service Plan Process

		Yearly

		0-1

		1- 2

		3- 4

		5- 7

		8



		 Timely Engagement

		10%

		Contract Start Date

 

 



		Number of logged requests responded (acknowledge and submit proposal/task sheet) in the Measurement Period by the Consultant within the required period for reply set out in the schedule to this Table against the total number of requests logged in the Measurement Period.



Note: 

 Response Time varies as per priority in Annex Table 1a – Prioritisation is decided by the Client based on effort to deliver and impact of request.

 This is to capture Ad-Hoc Requests.

		Monthly

		100%

		greater than or equal to 90 and less than 99%

		greater than or equal to 85 and less than 90%

		greater than or equal to 80 and less than 85%

		80%



		 Staff Quality

		12.50%

		Contract Start Date

 



		Number of requests by the Client to the Consultant to remove any of the Consultant's personnel  from the Project in a quarter (due to non-satisfactory performance after exhausting escalation process as per the contract)

Provided always that: 

 The Consultant must comply with the provisions of clause Z3 in the contract.

 Removal of a resource must not be based on any discriminatory reason and evidence on poor performance shall be provided.

		Quarterly

		0

		0

		0

		1

		2



		 Availability of Core Team

		15%

		Contract Start Date

		Availability of Core Team staff (Actual FTE / Baseline FTE).

Note: 

 Attrition due to reasons not under control of OE (illness, compassionate ground) not included. 

 Changes to the Core Team made pursuant to clause Z3.5 are not included within this KPI..

		Monthly

		100%

		greater than or equal to 90 and less than 99%

		greater than or equal to 85 and less than 90%

		greater than or equal to 80 and less than 85%

		80%










Table 1A. Timeline for the Contractor Response - Priority Based (KPI 7 – Timely Engagement)

		Priority

		Response Definition

		Time target



		High

		Acknowledgement and availability for discussion with the Client on scope and timeline and submission of proposed timeline to respond to request

		2 Business Days



		Medium

		Acknowledgement and submission of proposed timeline to respond to request

		4 Business Days



		Low

		Acknowledgement and submission of proposed timeline to respond to request

		8 Business Days










Table 2: Long-Term Behaviour Incentive KPIs

		KPI

		Weighting for Aggregate Score

		Considered in Long-Term Behaviour incentive



		1. OE Monthly Costs

		14.286 (equal to 1/7) %

		Yes



		1. Social Value

		14.286 (equal to 1/7) %

		Yes



		1. Deliverable Quality

		14.286 (equal to 1/7) %

		Yes



		1. Deliverable Timeliness

		14.286 (equal to 1/7) %

		Yes



		1. Timely Engagement

		14.286 (equal to 1/7) %

		Yes



		1. Staff Quality

		14.286 (equal to 1/7) %

		Yes



		1. Availability of Core Team

		14.286 (equal to 1/7) %

		Yes
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[bookmark: _Hlk158296518]CONTRACT DATA PART ONE

APPENDIX 2

Financial Monitoring Schedule[footnoteRef:14] [14:  Ashurst Note: Financial Monitoring Schedule to be agreed. ] 






1. Definitions

1.1. In this Appendix 2 the following definitions apply:

"Credit Rating Threshold" means the minimum credit rating level for the Consultant as set out in Annex 1 

“Financial Monitoring Event” means the occurrence or one or more of the events listed in this Appendix 2

"Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan" means a plan setting out how the Consultant will ensure the continued performance in accordance with this contract in the event that a Financial Monitoring Event occurs;

"Rating Agency" means the rating agency means Dun & Bradstreet.

2. Credit rating and duty to notify

2.1. The Consultant warrants and represents to the Client for the benefit of the Client that as at the Contract Date the long-term credit ratings issued for the Consultant by the Rating Agency.

2.2. The Consultant promptly notifies (or procures that its auditors promptly notify) the Client and the Service Manager if there is any significant downgrade in the credit rating issued by any Rating Agency for  the Consultant (and in any event within seven days from the occurrence of the downgrade).

2.3. If there is any downgrade credit rating issued by any Rating Agency for the Consultant, the Consultant ensures that the Consultant’s auditors thereafter provide the Client or the Service Manager within 14 days of a written request by the Client or the Service Manager with written calculations of the quick ratio for the Consultant at such  date as may be requested by the Client or the Service Manager.  For these purposes the “quick ratio” on any date means:

Where

A. is the value at the relevant date of all cash in hand and at the bank of the Consultant

B. is the value of all marketable securities held by the Consultant determined using closing prices on the working day preceding the relevant date

C. is the value at the relevant date of all account receivables of the Consultant and

D. is the value at the relevant date of the current liabilities of the Consultant.

2.4. The Consultant:

· regularly monitors the credit ratings of the Consultant with the Rating Agencies and



· promptly notifies (or shall procure that its auditors promptly notify) the Client and the Service Manager following the occurrence of a Financial Monitoring Event or any fact, circumstance or matter which could cause a Financial Monitoring Event and in any event, shall ensure that such notification is made within 14 days of the date on which the Consultant first becomes aware of the Financial Monitoring Event or the fact, circumstance or matter which could cause a Financial Monitoring Event.



2.5. For the purposes of determining whether a Financial Monitoring Event has occurred pursuant to the provisions of paragraph, the credit rating of the Consultant shall be deemed to have dropped below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold if any of the Rating Agencies have rated the Consultant at or below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold.

3. Consequences of a financial monitoring event

3.1. In the event of:

3.1.1. the credit rating of the Consultant dropping below the applicable Credit Rating Threshold;

3.1.2. the Consultant issuing a profits warning to a stock exchange or making any other public announcement about a material deterioration in its financial position or prospects;

3.1.3. there being a public investigation into improper financial accounting and reporting, suspected fraud or any other impropriety of the Consultant;

3.1.4. the Consultant committing a material breach of covenant to its lenders;

3.1.5. a Subcontractor notifying the Client that the Consultant has not satisfied any sums properly due for a material specified invoice or sequences of invoices that are not subject to a genuine dispute;

3.1.6. any of the following:

· commencement of any litigation against the Consultant with respect to financial indebtedness or obligations under this contract;

· non-payment by the Consultant of any financial indebtedness; any financial indebtedness of the Consultant becoming due as a result of an event of default

· the cancellation or suspension of any financial indebtedness in respect of the Consultant in each case which the Client or the Service Manager reasonably believes (or would be likely reasonably to believe) could directly impact on the continued performance of the Consultant in accordance with this contract

then, immediately upon notification of the Financial Monitoring Event (or if the Client or the Service Manager becomes aware of the Financial Monitoring Event without notification and brings the event 

to the attention of the Consultant), the Consultant shall have the obligations and the Client shall have the rights and remedies as set out in paragraphs 3.2 – 3.6.

3.2. The Consultant:

3.2.1 at the request of the Client meets the Client and the Service Manager as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event within three working days of the initial notification (or awareness) of the Financial Monitoring Event or such other period as the Client or the Service Manager may permit and notify to the Consultant in writing) to review the effect of the Financial Monitoring Event on its continued performance in accordance with this contract and

3.2.2. where the Client or the Service Manager reasonably believes (taking into account any discussions and representations under paragraph 3.2.1) that the Financial Monitoring Event could impact on the Consultant’s continued performance in accordance with this Contract:

· submits to the Client and the Service Manager for approval, a draft Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event, within 14 days from the initial notification (or awareness) of the Financial Monitoring Event or such other period as the Client or the Service Manager may permit and notify to the Consultant in writing)

· provides such financial information relating to the Consultant as the Client or the Service Manager may reasonably require.



3.3. The Client and the Service Manager do not withhold approval of a draft Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan unreasonably. If the Client and/or the Service Manager do not approve the draft Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan, the Client and/or the Service Manager  inform the Consultant of the reasons and the Consultant takes those reasons into account in the preparation of a further draft Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan, which the Consultant  resubmits to the Client and the Service Manager within seven days of the rejection of the first or subsequent (as the case may be) drafts. This process  is repeated until the Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan is approved by the Client and/or the Service Manager or referred to the dispute resolution procedure.

3.4. If the Client and/or the Service Manager consider that the draft Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan is insufficiently detailed to be properly evaluated, will take too long to complete or will not remedy the relevant Financial Monitoring Event, the Client and/or the Service Manager may either agree a further time period for the development and agreement of the Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan or escalate any issues with the draft Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan using the dispute resolution procedure.

3.5. Following approval of the Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan by the Client or the Service Manager, the Consultant 

· reviews on a regular basis (which shall not be less than monthly) the Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan and assesses whether it remains adequate and up to date to ensure the continued performance in accordance with this Contract



· where the Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan is not adequate or up to date in, submits an updated Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan to the Client and the Service Manager for approval, and the provisions of shall apply to the review and approval process for the updated Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan and



· complies with the Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan (including any updated Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan).



3.6. Where the Consultant reasonably believes that the relevant Financial Monitoring Event (or the circumstance or matter which has caused or otherwise led to it) no longer exists, the Consultant notifies the Client and the Service Manager and subject to the agreement of the Client and/or the Service Manager, the Consultant is relieved of its obligations under paragraph 3.

4. Termination rights

4.1. The Client may terminate the Consultant’s obligation to Provide the Service (which shall take effect as termination under reason R11) if

· the Consultant fails to notify the Client and the Service Manager of a Financial Monitoring Event in accordance with paragraph 2.2;



· the Client and the Service Manager fail to agree a Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan (or any updated Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan) in accordance with paragraph 3 and/or



· the Consultant fails to comply with the terms of the Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan (or any updated Financial Monitoring Service Continuity Plan) in accordance with paragraph 3.



5. Primacy of credit ratings

5.1. Without prejudice to the Consultant’s obligations and the Client’s rights and remedies under paragraph 3, if, following the occurrence of a Financial Monitoring Event pursuant to paragraph 2 to the Rating Agencies review and report subsequently that the credit ratings do not drop below the relevant Credit Rating Threshold, then:

· the Consultant is relieved automatically of its obligations under paragraph 3 and



· the Client is not entitled to require the Consultant to provide financial information in accordance with paragraph 2.3.












ANNEX 1: CREDIT RATINGS & CREDIT RATING THRESHOLDS





Consultant Credit current rating (long term) [ ] 



Credit Rating Threshold   [ ] 











		OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL



		

		



		EUS\TBILTO\421545328.14







OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL



		OFFICIAL - COMMERCIAL



		EUS\TBILTO\421545328.14  

		1







Schedule 4 [bookmark: _Ref146062163]

[bookmark: _Toc158194174]Scope

Clients Owners Engineer (OE) Consultant) Statement of Requirements[footnoteRef:15] [15:  Ashurst Note: Draft scope to be updated as necessary. ] 


1. Introduction



a. Context 

Great British Nuclear (GBN) has been established to meet Ministerial ambitions of taking up to two Final Investment Decisions (FID) in relation to new nuclear technologies in the UK.  As such, it has launched the process of developing one or more Small Modular Reactor (SMR) Nuclear Power Plant (NPP) projects for deployment in the UK. 



GBN is intending to establish an independent project delivery company (the ‘Client’) to be solely responsible for the successful delivery of an SMR Project (and hold all necessary licences and consents to do so). Prior to the Client being established the SMR Project and associated site activities will be managed by a GBN client team, established within GBN, supported by the supply chain as necessary. The combination of GBN client capability and supply chain support will form an Integrated Project Team (IPT).



To maintain pace with the target of achieving two FIDs, it is necessary to develop this initial foundation capability within GBN ahead of the Client; this capability is designed to enable the SMR project(s) to mobilise and successfully deliver the activities required to progress the SMR project(s) to concept design.



A Client/Consultant Owners Engineer (OE) framework seeks to enable the Clients ability to access expert supply chain resources as well as allowing increased flexibility and efficiency in accessing the full range of technical services the supply chain has to offer; the role of the Consultant OE within the Client is specified in the Target Operating Model (TOM).



The following specification of requirements identifies the role & responsibilities of the Consultant function, and the required capabilities and delivery approach.  Stage One of the SMR project requires Consultant support to achieve the objective of FID, but it is desirable to seek a suitable long-term partner that could also potentially support Stage Two of the project (construction to Commercial Operations Date (COD).



b. Project Delivery

A TOM has been established to support SMR Project delivery within GBN (Figure 1). This near-term delivery model consists of an IPT providing Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client, Assurance, Delivery Management and Integration functions, with project delivery activities carried out by the SMR TP and a range of other delivery suppliers. Additional governance and assurance are provided by the wider GBN organisation (external to the SMR IPT).



It is anticipated that the Consultant contract would be awarded prior to the award of the TP contract, to allow for a period for integration and development of ways of working.  This means that the ‘Consultant’ awarded the Consultant contract would be part of a newly established IPT.

[image: A diagram of a project

Description automatically generated]

[bookmark: _Ref179444282]Figure 1 | Foundation SMR Project Delivery Model @ADD Intelligent Customer 

[bookmark: _Ref180570877][bookmark: _Toc180580247]Medium-term Delivery Model

GBN plans to establish an independent Client and may take the decision to select a Delivery Partner (DP); the delivery model would shift to reflect that shown in Figure 2. 

[image: A diagram of a model
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[bookmark: _Ref179444667]Figure 2 | Medium-term SMR Project Delivery Model @ADD Intelligent Customer




2. Client Strategic Consultant requirements

The Consultants role is to support the Client in ensuring that @PLACEHOLDER FOR REVIEW::

a. 	The project is licensable, investible and deliverable to specification and schedule; supporting the Client intelligent customer/intelligent client to minimise costs, by bringing well-co-ordinated sustainable capability, experienced in delivering value for money nuclear technology projects.

b. The design is managed and developed effectively, with nuclear safety, radiological safety or the security of nuclear materials significant work carried out to the required level of Safety and quality by demonstrably suitably competent adequate resources, underpinned by a management system that promotes a positive Safety, Security, Safeguards, Environmental protection culture, learning and relevant standards.

c. The understanding and maintenance of the SMR design intent and its safe operating envelope is maintained through the plant delivery lifecycle from design into construction, commissioning, and operations, meeting the expectations of UK regulatory relevant good practice, including the demonstration that risks have been reduced as low as reasonably practicable. 

d. The Consultant will not make or approve any alterations to or omissions from the approved design or specification of any work, materials and/or goods, or the quality or quantity thereof, comprised in the Project without first obtaining the Client's prior written approval.

e. The Clients Responsible Designers (i.e. Technology Partners) and other consultant deliverables are robust through effective project management, commercial support, review, representing the Client, where delegated, and where appropriate, supporting negotiations, audit, procurement activities and independent evaluation.

f. To underpin this role, the Client requires a Consultant who is committed/aligned to not only the success of this phase of the programme, but to the long term safe, secure and reliable SMR Nuclear Power Plant operations at the Clients chosen site(s).



3. Client to Consultant integrated Governance and alignment of goals

The Client and Consultant will consider the following @PLACEHOLDER FOR REVIEW:

a. Alignment between the Client/Consultants vision, focus areas and respective organisations.

b. How executive oversight, governance and sponsorship of the relationship will be considered.

c. How the overall health of the Project quality, programme or efficiency of the service and/or the Project will be reviewed and could be improved.

d. How management overview and direction for the development of the relationship will be performed, focussing on optimising outcomes and driving value, security of skills and efficiency of delivery.

e. How delivery risks, for the work set out in the service plan/task specifications, are identified, controlled and mitigated.

f. How the impact/interface with wider Client and Consultant strategic arrangements and business goals (risks and opportunities) will be reviewed and managed.

g. How strategic and management information, operational performance data and governance issues plus any relevant themes, will be utilised.

h. Review and agree the Service Plan (including review of the extant incentive proposals and outcomes).



4. Scope of Requirement

This Statement of Requirements (SoR) identifies the Clients requirements and objectives, which may be modified, updated or replaced from time to time by the Client. The SoR is for the provision of a fully Independent Owners Engineering agreement to provide suitably qualified and competent capability and capacity across a broad range of nuclear and non-nuclear technical and programme areas providing:​

a. Support with independent assurance for project deliverables, e.g. reports, in-person attendance at key reviews/workshops, and assurance of supply chain processes/delivery, etc. 

b. Support with assurance of change controls, from a technical feasibility perspective and the associated schedule and cost impact of the proposed technical change. 

c. Support with assuring information it is providing to be used in delivery of the project, and 

d. Support with advisory and oversight capability to support it with delivering the project – e.g. support to the Client to prepare Client deliverables. This may include provision of resource to augment the Clients team by having access to industry Suitably Qualified and Competent Professionals (SQCP), including light water reactor technology subject matter expertise. 

The Consultant will support decision making relating to scope, budget, risk, delivery and contract compliance, whilst providing subject matter expertise to provide independent technical deliverables and assurance. The Consultants role includes, but is not limited to the following:

a. Providing assurance and support for the SMR NPP regulatory assessment, legal, licensing, permitting and planning/consenting, project delivery requirements

b. Being the Clients Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client’s independent expertise provider, with the Consultant developed in a collaborative manner, whilst the Client retains the controlling mind

c. Develop training programmes for Client and Consultant personnel.

d. Learning from Experience: inputting relevant good practice know-how, data, and technology from other relevant projects



5. Outline Scope of the Owner’s Engineer 

a. Design Assurance:

· Review of the Consultant(s) Master Information Delivery List and identification of deliverables to be submitted for review / approval on behalf of the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client. 

· Review and acceptance of project deliverables on behalf of the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client: 

· Assurance of compliance of design deliverables (documents / data / models) with Health and Safety Executive (HSE), Quality, Legislation, Design Codes and Technical Standards. 

· Assurance of changes/deviations to design submissions and audit reports. 

· Assurance of compliance with the Client’s Requirements and Consultant’s Proposal. 

· Assurance of compliance with planning/consenting conditions. 

· Assurance of compliance with additional requirements, as applicable. 

· Attendance at key design and safety reviews / milestones, including: 

· Project gated reviews 

· Constructability reviews 

· Hazard and Operability (HAZOP) reviews 

· Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) reviews 

· Construction Design and Management (CDM) reviews. 

· Support to the management of Project requirements, including technical advice on any changes to these requirements throughout delivery. 

· Review and technical support to the production of contracts / technical specifications / performance requirements for Owner’s Scope work packages. 

b. Construction and Commissioning Assurance 

· Assurance on construction and commissioning activities to ensure compliance with all relevant requirements. 

· Review of Inspection and Test Plans (ITPs) (or equivalent) covering manufacturing, assembly, construction activities and identification of key witness and hold points. 

· Attendance at manufacturing and assembly witness and hold points. 

· Attendance at site to monitor and review construction and commissioning progress, including attendance at key activities and milestones during construction and commissioning (including work package handovers). 

· Review of key construction and commissioning documentation (records, certificates, quality assurance documentation etc.). 

· Review of relevant takeover documentation and assurance that this documentation meets all client, end user, and external stakeholder requirements. 

c. Delivery Assurance 

· Assurance of delivery compliance with Project requirements, including schedule, quality arrangements, HSE arrangements etc. 

· Review and support to the production of contracts / specifications / performance requirements for Owner’s Scope packages. 

· Review of weekly/monthly progress reporting from the Consultant(s). 

· Assurance of integrated project estimates of time, cost, and risk. 

· Review and support with the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client’s strategic risk identification and mitigation planning. 

d. Additional Resource Support 

· Provision of ad-hoc technical and delivery support resources for unplanned emergent work as needed by the Client to support / supplement the programme delivery teams at various times during the delivery of the project. This may include: 

· Employer’s HSE representative. 

· Provision of specialist technical expertise to supplement the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client’s own internal engineering teams, as necessary. 

· Support to permitting and consenting applications (including grid connection application) and assisting (if required) with public consultations and attending meetings / town halls on behalf of GBN. 

· Assist (if required) with the facilitation and moderation of discussions with the public and third parties aimed at resolving issues of a technical nature. 

· Stakeholder engagement support. 

· Review and assure any Consultant proposals on behalf of the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client, including any suggestions for improvements to technical requirements to help GBN assess whether they should be integrated or not. 

· Cost and time estimation support. 

· Assistance in the preparation of any technical documentation required for the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client to demonstrate their position if requested by external stakeholders. 

e. Owner’s Engineer Capabilities 

· Previous nuclear industry knowledge or parallel industry experience. 

· Experience working within the UK nuclear regulatory framework. 

· Expertise in provision of technical assurance advice for nuclear and/or major infrastructure programmes. 

· Previous experience in conducting LOD2 activities embedded within a client organisation will be advantageous, but not essential. 

6. Personnel/ Capability Requirements

a. The Consultants personnel will require the capabilities outlined in Annex A.

b. The Consultant must be able to implement both a dedicated Consultant function to provide consistent interpretation and approach to assurance activities, whilst also demonstrating sufficient flexible reach-back that will add expertise in a wide range of areas as required. 

c. The Consultant should identify how they will provide a dedicated Consultant function to the project (i.e. an embedded Core Team) that is able to: 

i. Manage the service plan of Consultant activities (including collaboration with the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client on identification of ‘drumbeat’ activities and response to short notice and unplanned emergent activities). 

ii. In collaboration with the Client, estimate the scope for task sheets required to conduct Consultant activities. 

iii. Maintain the Consultant capability/resource database, including personnel training/experience/competence and conflict of interest. 

The Consultant should identify the size of this Core Team and propose named individuals for these roles.  these individuals should be experienced in assurance of infrastructure project delivery with excellent leadership skills and are confident working across multiple disciplines, including engagement with legal, finance and commercial workstreams. 

The Consultants Core Delivery Team will co-ordinate and oversee requirements for tasks and Subject Matter Experts (SMEs) from within the Consultant’s organisation or subcontracts.  Whilst the Core Team is expected to provide a consistent level of support to GBN throughout the length of the contract, the use of reach-back capability from SMEs will flex in line with the activities being undertaken at different stages. 

7. General Arrangements @Review versus ISIT approach to task specification 

a. To sentence the service plan, the Client shall issue Task Orders to the Consultant. For the avoidance of doubt, the Client is not obliged by virtue of entering into this Agreement to instruct the Consultant to perform any Services under this Agreement other than those specified in an approved task order. 

b. The Client shall establish and implement a common task specification system in conjunction with the Consultant for all phases of the agreement scope of activities. This is expected to include, but is not limited to the following:

i. Specification of a scope of services to be performed and the pricing basis for those services

ii. Identification of key roles to be performed by the Consultant's personnel in respect of such services

iii. the required Deliverables and any associated Information to be relied upon, e.g. Documents for Review, Risk assessment, and Responsibilities together with any nuclear safety implications in respect of the relevant scope of services.

c. Following completion of each task, the Client Engineer Responsible and the Consultants will perform a post job debrief process (TBC). As part of this process, the Consultant will produce a task performance assessment scoring and the Client will produce its associated scoring, using the same metrics. These assessments will review performance during the task on the following topics (TBC): safety, delivery, quality, reporting, etc.



8. Health and Safety

a. The Consultant shall, in respect of all occupational health and safety matters associated with the Services, at all times comply with:

i. all Applicable Requirements (to be confirmed in the Contract or updated SoR) and

ii. the requirements of ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety Management System expectations or equivalent issued by a mutually recognised body.

b. Guidance can be found here:

i. https://ssip.org.uk/

ii. https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/Occupational-Health-and-Safety-ISO-45001/



9. Environmental 

a. The Consultant shall, in respect of all environmental matters associated with the Services, at all times comply with:

i. all Applicable Requirements (to be confirmed in the Contract or updated SoR) and

ii. the requirements of ISO 14001 Environmental Management Systems or equivalent issued by a mutually recognised body.

b. Guidance can be found here:

i. https://learn.supplychainschool.co.uk/local/tlactionplans/resource_intro.php?id=1082&modtype=resource



10. Quality management Systems

a. The Consultant shall apply a quality management system consistent with ISO 9001, and other applicable Client requirements (to be confirmed in the Contract or updated SoR).

b. The Consultant warrants and undertakes to the Client that the Deliverables, and any other deliverables required as part of the Services, shall:

i. conform in all material respects with ISO 9001 standards or be in such other form as the Client may from time to time reasonably specify; and

ii. be in a concise and logical format so as to be understandable to lay readers and (where appropriate) contain clear recommendations, and

iii. the Client reserves the right to audit the Consultant against the Quality Management System and in the event that any audit by the Client demonstrates, in the Client's opinion, that the standard of any Deliverable, or any other deliverable required as part of the Services, is below the ISO 9001 standards the Consultant shall promptly rectify such deficiencies at its sole expense.

@Consider alignment with: 

· ISO 19443:2018 QMS - specific requirements for application of ISO9001 by Supply Chain

· ISO 4450:2020 QMS - Guidance for the application of ISO19443:2018

· ISO 19011:2018 Guidelines for auditing management systems



11. Quality Plans

a. Where required by the Client’s Quality Assurance Plan, the Consultant shall provide Quality Plans that take due account of the guidance provided in ISO 10005 Quality Management - Guidelines for quality plans. The level of quality control or quality assurance required through these Quality Plans shall take into consideration the quality grade of the associated item, deliverable, or activity.

b. Where activities are subcontracted, the Consultant shall ensure that the sub-consultant or subcontractor provides a Quality Plan which shall link to activities on the Consultant’s Quality Plan, in order to ensure adequate control of quality activities throughout the supply chain.

c. The Consultant shall produce Quality Plans that identify all quality related activities that will be performed within the scope of that Quality Plan. This shall include all functions and features of the deliverable or item that require verification, and the methods by which this will be performed.



12. Information Security @ Review against ISFT, VOLUME 3 – GBN REQUIREMENTS Section 18: Export Controls and Security

a. The Consultant shall manage the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of project information in accordance with the standards and requirements of the Client, including the management of information marked as Sensitive Nuclear Information (SNI) as defined in the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001, The Energy Act (TEA) 2013 and nuclear security act under The Nuclear Industries Security Regulation (NISR) (2003).

b. The Consultant shall ensure and shall require that its subconsultant or subcontractors ensure that appropriate security measures are put in place for the control, creation, marking, transmission, storage of, and access to, SNI which is within the Consultant's or its ‘subconsultant or subcontractors' control or possession, such measures to be agreed with the Client, and to include:

i. SNI shall only be stored by the Consultant or its subconsultant or subcontractor at such locations as may be required by or agreed with ONR and/or the Client;

ii. the Consultant shall and shall require that its subconsultant or subcontractors shall mark SNI in accordance with the Government's classification scheme, as interpreted by the Client in accordance with the Client's information marking and handling procedure;

iii. the Consultant shall comply with the requirements of any security aspects letter issued by the Client to the Consultant and the Client's security policy for subconsultant or subcontractors; and

iv. access to SNI shall be on a strict "need to know basis" and only by those with appropriate security clearances (in accordance with the instructions of the Client).

c. 	The Consultant will comply with any policies procedures and instructions issued by

the Client in respect of Controlled Information.



13. Export Control Information and Other Compliance Requirements @ Review against ISFT, VOLUME 3 – GBN REQUIREMENTS Section 18: Export Controls and Security

a. The Consultant shall apply Export Control Information (ECI) management arrangements in compliance with the Client and UK (and US if applicable) Government requirements:

i. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/uk-strategic-export-controls

ii. https://www.energy.gov/nnsa/10-cfr-part-810#:~:text=The%20regulation%20has%20been%20modernized,transfers%20to%20foreign%20nationals%20working

b. Controlled Information definition: any information which is or may be subject to export controls or similar restrictions imposed on design, technology or products by any country or organisation, including the UK @ADD others countries/organisations.

c. Each party must not and shall require that its subconsultant or subcontractors shall not import, export, re-export or transfer, directly or indirectly, any Controlled Information contrary to the controls or restrictions to which such Controlled Information is subject nor undertake or fail to perform any act which would cause a breach of such controls or restrictions and will ensure that appropriate measures for marking and handling Controlled Information are established and maintained.

d. 	The Consultant shall be responsible for the procurement and maintenance of all necessary export and import licenses required by it for the performance of the Services and shall take all necessary measures to satisfy export and import controls concerning Controlled Information. The Client shall provide all reasonable support to the Consultant in connection with the Consultant's obligations under this Clause.

e. The Consultant will demonstrate and justify how these ECI arrangements are flowed down and evidenced through a formal mechanism to demonstrate compliance of all ECI arrangements in the Consultant and throughout its supply chain.  

f. the Client reserves the right to audit the Consultant against the ECI System and in the event that any audit by the Client demonstrates, in the Client's opinion, that the standard of any Deliverable, or any other deliverable required as part of the Services, is below the Client or Government requirements, including marking, handling and storing, the Consultant shall promptly rectify such deficiencies at its sole expense and support the Client @ADD interaction with Governments, Regulators, etc.

g. Sanctions: Each party shall comply, and the Consultant shall require that its subconsultant or subcontractors comply, with all applicable Laws, Government Approvals and similar restrictions in force from time to time relating to sanctions, including those of the United Kingdom, the United Nations, and the United States where applicable.

h. Re-export of Information: Each party represents and warrants that it shall not use any Services or any work product relating thereto or any items manufactured or developed as a result of the Services or work product (each of the foregoing referred to as the "Covered Materials") for the purposes of disturbing international peace and security, including (i) the design, development, production, stockpiling, or any use of weapons of mass destruction such as nuclear, chemical or biological weapons or missiles, (ii) the other military activities, or (iii) any use supporting these activities.

i. Both parties also represent and warrant that they shall not sell, export, dispose of, license, rent, transfer, disclose, or otherwise provide any of the Covered Materials to any third party whether directly or indirectly with knowledge or reason to know that such third party or any other party will engage in the activities described in Section 15h above

j. Both parties shall obtain these same representations and warranties from any third party to whom it sells, exports, disposes of, licenses, rents, transfers, discloses or otherwise provides any of the Covered Materials.

14. Sub-Contractors @Add compliance to main contract 

15. Planning @ADD further expectations for service plan/task specification

a. Service Plan requirements, including:

i. Long term training and development

ii. Overall capability of the Consultant to meet the Clients scheduled and emergent (ad-hoc) tasks

iii.  Client roles and responsibilities for intelligent customer/intelligent client technical review of the Consultants deliverables 

iv. etc

16. Verification of Work @ADD ISIT material where applicable

a. The ONR Safety Assessment Principles describe Verification as “The process of confirming, eg by use of objective evidence, that an activity was carried out as intended, specified or stated.”

b. The Consultants verification plan shall detail the scope and extent of the verification required per task (based on the QA grade for the work), in accordance with the Client agreed verification procedure.

c. @ADD Verifier requirements to be described

d. etc 

17. Continuous Improvement @ADD ISIT material where applicable

a. The Consultant, as part of continuous improvement, will:

i. Develop a plan, in support of the service plan, linked to the agreed Key Performance Indicators for continual improvement, to be endorsed by the Client.

ii. Utilise the task performance assessment scoring, as agreed with the Client, to provide lessons learned and associated areas/topics for improvement.

b. 

18. Audits @ADD ISIT material where applicable






ANNEX A – Roles, Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Authorities @Extend accordingly

1. The Consultant shall ensure that all personnel and any sub-contractors or sub-consultants appointed by the Consultant in accordance with this Agreement (at whatever level in the supply chain) are and shall remain for the duration of their involvement in the Project:

a. registered and accredited in accordance with the Applicable Requirements;

b. suitably qualified and competent for the role they are to perform; 

c. and familiar with any nuclear safety implications of their work

and shall, every six months or, if earlier, on such occasion when there is a change in the Consultant's personnel providing the Services, provide the Client with an up to date suitably qualified and competent professional record (expected to include role descriptions, accreditation, maintenance & storage of records, periodic review requirements, resource resilience assessment, skills development [gaps-risks and associated mentoring/supervision requirements], etc.).

2. The Consultant shall appoint the person(s) named as such in the Core team as the Consultant's Representative to direct and control the day to day performance by the Consultant of the Services. Such person(s), or any replacement approved from time to time by the Client, shall have full authority to act on behalf of the Consultant for all purposes in connection with this Agreement and (unless the Client agrees otherwise) shall represent the Consultant at each and every meeting in relation to the Project.



3. The Consultant shall ensure that, so long as the Project remains uncompleted, the Consultant's Representative and each Key Personnel member shall:

a. devote to the Project an amount of their time and attention that is deemed sufficient by the Client (acting reasonably);

b. not be assigned to any other project on a continuing basis without the prior written consent of the Client; and

c. at all times be accessible to the Client, the Agreement Manager, the Commercial Lead and the relevant Task Order leads (as appropriate) and available to attend meetings relating to the Project.

Nothing in this Clause Annex A3. shall prevent the Consultant's Representative carrying out their normal duties as an employee of the Consultant in respect of the Consultant's business, provided that the requirements of the Client in respect of the Project shall always be given priority over any other activities of the Consultant's Representative.

4. Client key roles in support of the operation of this agreement… @align with Client Org chart plus look ahead



a. Client 

i. leadership and management for the delivery of Intelligent Customer / Intelligent Client work 

ii. delivery safely, to the right quality, on time and within budget



b. Client

i. leadership direction/management of the group

ii. As per 2aii above



c. Client Engineer Responsible (ER)

i. specification of the work

ii. technical guidance and expert engineering support to ensure work is delivered 

iii. As per 2aii above



d. Consultant resources

i. Contract Management of the Agreement & Supply Chain Specialist advisors

ii. Core team roles & responsibilities

iii. Rate card roles, including a description of the Responsibility, plus Skill and Experience associated with each role



5. Technical Capabilities, the following skills and services will be required to deliver CONSULTANT activities:

1. Core Design Authority

2. Safety Case

3. BAT Case

4. Chemistry 

5. Civil Engineering 

6. Commissioning 

7. Control & Instrumentation 

8. Construction, incl. CDM

9. Conventional Waste 

10. Criticality 

11. Cyber Security (incl. Security by design) 

12. Decommissioning 

13. Electrical Engineering 

14. Environmental Protection 

15. Engineering Management 

16. Equipment Qualification

17. Emergency Planning & Response 

18. External Hazards 

19. Fault Studies

20. Fuel & Core Design

21. Human Factors

22. Internal Hazards

23. Leadership and Management for Safety, Supply Chain and Quality 

24. Mechanical Engineering

25. Protective Security (incl. Security by design) 

26. Probabilistic Safety Analysis (PSA) 

27. Radiological Protection

28. Radioactive Waste Management 

29. Reactor Core Physics

30. Requirements Management

31. Safeguards (incl. Safeguards by design)

32. Safety Case Analysis and Techniques (incl. Safety by design) 

33. Severe Accident Analysis (SAA)

34. Structural Integrity 

35. System Engineering 

36. Training



6. Programme Delivery Capabilities 

37. Planning and Scheduling 

38. Cost Estimating and Cost Management 

39. Risk Management 

40. Scope Management 

41. Change Management 

42. NEC Contracts 








Schedule 5 [bookmark: _Ref146061336]
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[bookmark: _Toc158194177]Performance Security

Part 1:	Parent Company Guarantee
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THIS DEED is made on	20[]

BETWEEN:

1. [] (No. ) whose registered office is at [] (the Guarantor); and

[] (No. ) whose registered office is at [] (the Client).

RECITALS

1. By an agreement made between the Client and [] (the Consultant) on [] (the Contract), as amended or varied from time to time, the Consultant has agreed to design and execute certain works in accordance with the terms of the Contract (the Works), as more particularly specified and defined in the Contract.

The Consultant is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.

The Guarantor has agreed with the Client, at the request of the Consultant, to guarantee the due and proper performance of the Consultant's obligations under the Contract upon the terms and conditions of this Guarantee.

the parties agree as follows:

1. [bookmark: _Toc149567588][bookmark: _Toc149729756][bookmark: _Toc187926587]Definitions and interpretation

In this Guarantee:

Dissolution means the bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, amalgamation, reconstruction, reorganisation, administration, administrative or other receivership, windingup or dissolution of any person, and any equivalent or analogous proceedings by whatever name known and in whatever jurisdiction, and any step taken (including, without limitation, the presentation of a petition or the passing of a resolution) for or with a view to any of the foregoing.

Obligations means all the duties, obligations, liabilities and debts of the Consultant and all warranties, covenants and undertakings given by the Consultant and all sums due from the Consultant (whether of a financial nature or not) under and pursuant to the Contract.

Parties means the parties to this Guarantee and Party shall mean either of them.

Unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, words and expressions used in this Guarantee shall have the meanings given to them in the Contract.

All references to the Contract shall be deemed to include any amendment, variation or supplemental agreement thereto.

Any reference to a Clause shall mean a clause of this Guarantee unless otherwise stated.

Clause headings are included for ease of reference and shall not constitute a part of this Guarantee, nor affect its interpretation.

In the event of any conflict between the Contract and this Guarantee, the latter will prevail.

[bookmark: _Ref139841773][bookmark: _Toc149567589][bookmark: _Toc149729757][bookmark: _Toc187926588]Guarantee and indemnity

If the Consultant fails to perform and satisfy any of the Obligations or if any of the Obligations become invalid or unenforceable for any reason the Guarantor will be liable for and shall indemnify the Client against all losses damages, costs and/or expenses which the Client may incur as a consequence of such failure, invalidity or unenforceability, provided that:

save for any costs and expenses incurred by the Client in connection with the enforcement or preservation of its rights under this Guarantee or any interest payable by the Guarantor, but otherwise notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Guarantee,  the liability of the Guarantor to the Client under or in connection with this Guarantee shall be no greater and of no longer duration than it would have been under the Contract (in the absence of any such invalidity or unenforceability) if the Guarantor had been named as the Consultant therein; and

save in relation to any such invalidity or unenforceability, the Guarantor shall be entitled to rely upon the same defences, limitations and exclusions as the Consultant is entitled to raise under the Contract.

The obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall be those of a primary and independent obligor so that, as between the Guarantor and the Client, no liability under this Guarantee shall be treated as discharged or in any way affected by:

any legal limitations, disability or incapacity relating to the Consultant or any other person whether or not known to the Client; or

any invalidity in, irregularity affecting or unenforceability of the obligations of the Consultant or any other person under the Contract; or

any liquidation, administration, merger, amalgamation, reorganisation or dissolution of the Consultant; or

any other event or circumstance whatsoever other than the due, proper and punctual performance and observance of all the Obligations which are to be performed or observed under or arising out of and in accordance with the Contract or which would be so to be performed or observed but for any such event or circumstance as is previously mentioned in this clause.

The Guarantor:

acknowledges and agrees that no variation of or alteration to the terms of the Contract or to the extent, nature or method of performance of the services therein referred to, and no allowance of time, waiver, forbearance, forgiveness, concession, indulgence compromise or other dealing under or in connection with the Contract or any right or remedy or security arising thereunder, and no other act, omission or default which (but for this provision) might have operated to release, exonerate or discharge the Guarantor or otherwise reduce, extinguish or adversely affect any liability of the Guarantor under the terms of this Guarantee shall in any way release, exonerate or discharge the Guarantor from any liability under the terms of this Guarantee or otherwise reduce, extinguish or adversely affect any such liability (save to the extent that it reduces, alters or affects the liability of the Consultant which is guaranteed), and the Guarantor hereby waives any requirement for notice to it of any such event;

confirms that it has full power and capacity to enter into this Guarantee and agrees that this Guarantee shall:

not be revocable by the Guarantor until the Obligations have been performed and all actual or contingent liabilities arising therefrom have expired;

be a continuing guarantee and shall be additional to and not in substitution for any rights or remedies that the Client may have against the Consultant under or arising out of the Contract or at law;

be additional to any other guarantee or security from time to time held by the Client; and

not be affected by any release or waiver of any such guarantee or security; and

remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the winding-up, liquidation, receivership, administration, voluntary arrangement or other composition with creditors (or any event analogous to any of them) of the Consultant or if the Consultant is unable to pay its debts (as defined by Sections 123(1) and 268(1) of the Insolvency Act 1986, as amended); and

agrees that the obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee and the Consultant under or arising out of the Contract are independent and several obligations, and accordingly that the Client shall not be obliged, before enforcing any of its rights or remedies under this Guarantee, to commence proceedings or take any other action against the Consultant or enforce any other guarantee or security from time to time held by the Client in respect of the Obligations, provided that any sums which are so recovered by the Client shall be treated as applied to reduction of the Consultant's liabilities and therefore in reduction of the Guarantor's liability under this Guarantee.

Where any discharge (whether in respect of the Obligations of the Consultant or any security for those Obligations or otherwise) is made in whole or in part or any arrangement is made on the faith of any payment, security or other disposition which is avoided or must be restored on insolvency, liquidation or other similar event, without limitation, the liability of the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall continue as if the discharge or arrangement had not occurred.

[bookmark: _Toc149567590][bookmark: _Toc149729758][bookmark: _Toc187926589]Preservation of rights

The obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee are in addition to and independent of any other security which the Client may at any time hold in respect of the Obligations.

[bookmark: _Ref530389348]This Guarantee is irrevocable and unconditional and neither the obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee nor the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon the Client by this Guarantee shall be discharged, impaired or otherwise affected by:

any suspension or variation to or amendment of the Contract or any suspension or variation to or amendment of any work and/or services required to be performed under the Contract (including, without limitation, any extension of time for performance and adjustment to the amount payable to the Consultant);

the termination of the Contract or of the employment of the Consultant under the Contract for any reason whatsoever;

any waiver or forbearance of any right of action or remedy the Client may have against the Consultant, or neglect by the Client in enforcing any right of action or remedy afforded under the Contract;

any bond, security or guarantee (other than this Guarantee) held or obtained by the Client in respect of the obligations of the Consultant under the Contract or any release or waiver thereof;

any provision of the Contract, or any of the obligations of the Consultant under the Contract, being or becoming illegal, invalid, void, voidable, unenforceable or ineffective in any respect;

any act or omission of the Consultant pursuant to any other arrangement with the Guarantor, any change in the relationship between the Guarantor and the Consultant or dispute or disagreement between them under or in relation to the Contract or otherwise;

any breach of the Contract by the Consultant or the Client or other default of the Consultant or the Client;

the Dissolution of the Consultant or any other person; 

any change in the status, function, constitution, control or ownership of the Consultant, the Guarantor or the Client; 

any failure of supervision or detection or prevention of any default of the Consultant under or in connection with the Contract;

any compromise of any dispute with the Consultant arising out of or in connection with the Contract; or

any other fact, circumstance, act, event, omission or provision of statute or law or otherwise which might operate to discharge, impair or otherwise affect any of the obligations of the Guarantor under this Guarantee or any of the rights, powers and remedies conferred upon the Client by this Guarantee or by law.

The Client shall not be obliged before enforcing any of its rights or remedies conferred upon it by this Guarantee or by law to take any step or action, including (without limitation):

to grant any time or indulgence to the Consultant;

to take any action in any court or arbitral proceedings or to obtain any judgment or award against the Consultant;

to make any claim against or any demand of the Consultant;

to enforce any other security held by it in respect of the obligations of the Consultant under the Contract; or

to pursue or exhaust any other right or remedy against the Consultant or any other person or entity.

In the event that the Client brings proceedings against the Consultant, the Guarantor shall be bound by any findings of fact, interim or final award or judgment made by an arbitrator or arbitrators or the courts in such proceedings.

[bookmark: _Toc149567591][bookmark: _Toc149729759][bookmark: _Toc187926590]No competition

[bookmark: _Ref530389395]The Guarantor must not (so long as the Consultant has any actual or contingent obligations pursuant to the Contract) by reason of performance by it of its obligations under this Guarantee or on any other ground:

claim or recover by the institution of proceedings or the threat of proceedings or otherwise (whether on the basis of an indemnity or otherwise) any sum from the Consultant or claim any set-off or counterclaim against the Consultant; or

take the benefit (in whole or in part and whether by way of subrogation or otherwise) of any rights of the Client under the Contract or otherwise; or

claim or prove in a liquidation or other insolvency proceeding of the Consultant in competition with the Client in respect of any payment by the Guarantor under this Guarantee or otherwise be entitled in competition with the Client to claim or have the benefit of any security which the Client has or may hold for any monies or liabilities due or incurred by the Consultant to the Client.

If the Guarantor receives any sums from the Consultant in respect of any payment by the Guarantor under this Guarantee, the Guarantor must hold such monies in trust for the Client so long as any sums are payable (contingently or otherwise) under this Guarantee.

The Guarantor undertakes to the Client that it has not taken and will not take any security from the Consultant in respect of the Guarantor's obligations under this Guarantee and any security taken and all monies received by the Guarantor in breach of this provision will be held in trust for the Client as security for the obligations of the Guarantor.

[bookmark: _Ref530389428]Until all the Consultant's Obligations have been irrevocably satisfied in full, the Client may place and keep any money received or recovered from the Guarantor in relation to the Consultant's Obligations in a suspense account.

[bookmark: _Toc149567593][bookmark: _Toc149729761][bookmark: _Toc187926591][bookmark: _Ref530387536]Payment

All sums payable by the Guarantor under this Guarantee shall be paid free and clear of all deductions or withholdings for or on account of any present or future taxes, duties and/or other charges, other than those required by law.  If, at any time, any applicable law requires the Guarantor to make any deduction or withholding from a sum payable hereunder that would not be applicable if such payment was done by the Consultant, the Guarantor will gross up the payment so that the net sum received by the Client will equal the full amount that the Client would have received if the payment had been made without the deduction or withholding.

[bookmark: _Ref149208520][bookmark: _Toc149567594][bookmark: _Toc149729762][bookmark: _Toc187926592]Waiver of relevant rights

[bookmark: _Ref530387527]For the benefit of the Client and the Consultant, the Guarantor waives any right or remedy that it has or may have to subrogation, indemnification or payment on any other basis by the Consultant and any other remedy against the Consultant (each a Relevant Right) by reason of or in connection with the performance of the Guarantor's obligations under this Guarantee in circumstances where the Consultant promotes, enters into, or implements a voluntary arrangement (under Part 26 of the Companies Act 2006).  Damages shall not be an adequate remedy for the Client or the Consultant in respect of a breach of this clause and the parties shall consent to any application brought by the Client or the Consultant for injunctive relief to prevent any such Relevant Right being enforced.

[bookmark: _Ref327288674][bookmark: _Ref530389523][bookmark: _Toc149567596][bookmark: _Toc149729764][bookmark: _Toc187926593]Assignment

The Client may assign the benefit of, and its rights under, this Guarantee to any person providing finance in connection with the Works or the completed Works or the site of the Works or any person to whom the Contract is assigned, without having to obtain the consent of the Guarantor.

[bookmark: _Toc149567597][bookmark: _Toc149729765][bookmark: _Toc187926594]Third party rights

Except for the Consultant's rights under Clause ‎6, a person who is not a party to this Guarantee has no rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of this Guarantee.

[bookmark: _Toc149567598][bookmark: _Toc149729766][bookmark: _Toc187926595]Partial invalidity

If any provision of this Guarantee is or becomes invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any law, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not be affected or impaired in any way.

[bookmark: _Toc149567599][bookmark: _Toc149729767][bookmark: _Toc187926596]Governing law 

This guarantee and any dispute, controversy, proceedings or claim of whatever nature arising out of or in any way relating to this Guarantee or its formation (including any noncontractual disputes or claims), shall be governed by and construed in accordance with English law.

[bookmark: _Toc149567600][bookmark: _Toc149729768][bookmark: _Toc187926597]Jurisdiction

The Parties irrevocably agree that the courts of England shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and decide any suit, action or proceedings, and/or to settle any disputes, which may arise out of or in any way relate to this Guarantee or its formation and, for these purposes, each party irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of the courts of England. Nothing in this clause shall affect the ability of the Client to enforce any judgment against the Guarantor in any jurisdiction. 

[bookmark: _Toc149567601][bookmark: _Toc149729769][bookmark: _Toc187926598]Notices

All demands and notices to be given under this Guarantee must be in writing and sent by hand or courier or prepaid first-class post or recorded delivery to the address of the relevant party set out in Clause 12.2 or such other address as that party may by notice in writing nominate for the purpose of service and:

any demands or notices sent by prepaid first-class post or recorded delivery will be deemed (in the absence of evidence of earlier receipt) to have been delivered at 9.00 a.m. on the second business day (which expression means a day (excluding Saturdays) on which banks generally are open in the City of London for the transaction of normal banking business) after posting; and

any demands or notices sent by courier will be deemed to have been delivered on the date and at the time that the courier's delivery receipt is signed.

[bookmark: _Ref327288683]Unless notified otherwise, all demands and notices shall be addressed to the parties as follows:

		[The Guarantor]

		



		Address:

		[]



		Attention:

		[]



		

		



		[The Client]

		



		Address:

		[]



		Attention:

		[]







IN WITNESS whereof this deed has been executed and delivered on the date first above written.



[Drafting note: execution blocks to be inserted]


Part 2:	Legal Opinion




Form of Legal Opinion

[TO BE TYPED ON THE HEADED NOTEPAPER OF THE PARENT COMPANY GUARANTOR'S LAWYERS]

[Client]



Dear Sirs,

[NAME OF PARENT COMPANY] (Company Registration: [NUMBER]) (the Parent Company) Incorporated in [COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION] (the State)[footnoteRef:16] [16:  Drafting Note: If dealing with a company incorporated in the United States of America, this should be drafted as "Incorporated in the state of [ ] in the United States of America".] 


1. [bookmark: _Toc149567624][bookmark: _Toc149729794]Introduction

Our opinion is being sought on the guarantee by the Parent Company of the subsidiary's obligations in a contract (contract number [NUMBER]) (the Agreement) intended to be entered into between [SUPPLIER NAME](registered number [NUMBER]) (the Supplier) and [Client] in relation to [CONTRACT].

We are lawyers to the Parent Company and we are qualified to give this opinion.

[bookmark: _Toc149567625][bookmark: _Toc149729795]Documents examined and investigations made

For the purposes of this opinion we have examined the following:

[a photocopy of] the duly executed parent company guarantee between the Parent Company and the Client which contains the guarantee obligations to be given to you by the Parent Company (the Parent Company Guarantee);

the up to date copies of the [certificate of incorporation of the Parent Company – local law equivalent] and the [memorandum and articles of association of the Parent Company – local law equivalent] which have been certified by the [company secretary] of the Parent Company to be true and up to date copies of the Parent Company's constitutional documents;

[bookmark: _Ref149561825]a [certified] copy of the minutes of the meeting of the Parent Company's [board of directors] held on [DATE] at which a resolution was passed authorising the execution of the Parent Company Guarantee by the Parent Company;

evidence that any and all necessary authorisations and approvals and consents of the appropriate authorities in the State have been obtained and are in full force and effect to:

authorise the execution of the Parent Company Guarantee by or on behalf of the Parent Company;

authorise the performance by the Parent Company of its obligations under the Parent Company Guarantee; and

permit the payment and remittance by the Parent Company in pounds sterling of all payments to be made in the manner provided for in the Parent Company Guarantee; and

such laws, regulations, records and documents which are necessary for the purpose of expressing this opinion.

[bookmark: _Toc149567626][bookmark: _Toc149729796]Scope of this Opinion

This opinion is confined to the laws of the State and we express no opinion on any matter so far as it may be affected by the law of a country other than the State.

In this opinion:

references to the law of the State include any law which has been passed in the State but which is not yet in force, any regulations or generally applicable requirements made or imposed by any State Authority and any treaty or international convention which the State has signed; and

references to any "State Authority" are references to any governmental, official or judicial authority or body in the State and references to a "State Court" are to any court having judicial authority in State.

[References to]:

the laws of the State in this opinion are to the laws of the state of [STATE] and all and any federal laws of the United States of America which are applicable in the state of [STATE] in relation to the opinions expressed in this Opinion.

State Authorities and State Courts include those federal authorities and courts having authority or jurisdiction in the state of [STATE].][footnoteRef:17] [17:  Drafting Note: This is required where the guarantor is a company incorporated in the United States of America] 


For the purposes of this opinion, we have assumed that the Parent Company Guarantee is, as regards the Parent Company and each of the other parties, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with its terms under English law.

This opinion may be relied upon by you and your successors in title and assignees as Client in respect of the Agreement.

[bookmark: _Toc149567627][bookmark: _Toc149729797]Opinion Given

Subject to the assumptions and qualifications set out in this opinion, we give the opinions set out in this clause 4.

The Parent Company is a validly existing [body corporate] duly incorporated with limited liability and has legal personality under the laws of the State.

At the date of this opinion, no steps have been taken or threatened to wind up the Parent Company, to terminate its existence or to appoint a receiver, manager, administrator, liquidator, custodian, trustee or similar official in respect of it or otherwise to place its business or any of its assets outside the control of its directors.

The Parent Company has full corporate power to execute the Parent Company Guarantee and to comply with its obligations in the Parent Company Guarantee.

The resolutions of the directors of the Parent Company passed at the meetings referred to in clause ‎2.1(c):

are valid under the Parent Company's constitutional documents and the laws of the State;

are sufficient corporate authorisation for the Parent Company to execute the Parent Company Guarantee and to enable the Parent Company to comply with its obligations in the Parent Company Guarantee; and

do not need to be filed, recorded or registered with any State Authority;

All other necessary action, including the approval and consents of shareholders or debenture holders has been taken to authorise the execution of the Parent Company Guarantee and to enable the Parent Company to comply with its obligations in the Parent Company Guarantee.

The Parent Company Guarantee is in a proper form to be enforced under the laws of the State.

The Parent Company Guarantee has been executed on behalf of the Parent Company [affixing its common seal in the presence of] [by] a duly authorised officer or officers of the Parent Company and such execution has been attested in a manner which fulfils all relevant requirements of the laws of the State.

The Parent Company Guarantee constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations of the Parent Company enforceable in accordance with its terms.

There has been obtained and is in full force and effect every consent, approval or authorisation by any State Authority which is either necessary or advisable in connection with:

the execution by the Parent Company of the Parent Company Guarantee; 

the validity or enforceability of the Parent Company Guarantee; or

the effectiveness or priority of any obligation of the Parent Company under the Parent Company Guarantee.

No provision in the Parent Company Guarantee will contravene the Parent Company's constitutional documents or State laws.

None of the following steps is either necessary or advisable to ensure that the Parent Company Guarantee is valid or admissible in evidence and none of those steps will be necessary in connection with any proceedings or other steps to enforce the Parent Company Guarantee:

the execution of the Parent Company Guarantee as a notarial act or in any other form;

the registration, filing or recording of any Parent Company Guarantee or any form relating to the Parent Company Guarantee with any State Authority;

the payment of any stamp, registration fee or other documentary tax to any State Authority in relation to the Parent Company Guarantee.

If the Parent Company becomes bankrupt or subject to any other insolvency procedure or to the protection of insolvency laws the obligations of the Parent Company under the Parent Company Guarantee will remain valid, binding and enforceable.

It will not be necessary to obtain any leave from a State Court or other State Authority before enforcing the Parent Company Guarantee and this position will not change if the Parent Company becomes bankrupt or subject to any other insolvency procedure or to the protection of insolvency laws.

The Parent Company is entitled to make all payments under the Parent Company  Guarantee without any deduction or withholding in respect of any taxes in the State.

The choice of English law to govern the Parent Company Guarantee is valid and binding under the laws of the State and the courts of the State would apply English law in interpreting or determining the validity of the Parent Company Guarantee and the performance of the Parent Company's obligations under the Parent Company Guarantee.

The submission by the Parent Company to the jurisdiction of the English courts in the Parent Company Guarantee is valid and binding under the laws of the State.

The courts of the State would recognise the validity of any proceedings in the English courts which are commenced by the service of process on the process agent appointed in or pursuant to the Parent Company Guarantee.

A judgment or order of an English court in respect of any claim under the Parent Company Guarantee would be recognised and enforced by the courts of the State without any re-trial or re-examination of that matter.

Neither the Parent Company nor any of its assets is entitled to any immunity from service of process, suit, judgment, execution or attachment (including prejudgment attachment) in respect of any obligation under, or security interest created by, the Parent Company Guarantee.

The courts of the State will give judgment in Sterling.

It is not necessary in order for you to exercise or enforce any of your rights under the Parent Company Guarantee that you should be licensed, registered or otherwise authorised to carry on business in the State.

You will not be deemed to be resident, or to carry on any business, in the State or be subject to any tax in the State as a result of executing or enforcing the Parent Company Guarantee.

The Parent Company is not engaged in any proceedings, legal or otherwise, before any State court or other State Authority which could materially or adversely affect the financial condition, business or operations of the Parent Company or impair the Parent Company's ability to comply with its obligations in the Parent Company Guarantee.

[bookmark: _Toc149567628][bookmark: _Toc149729798]Assumptions

Our opinion is subject to the following assumptions and qualifications:

we have assumed the genuineness of signatures, and that copies of documents examined by us are true and complete copies of the originals;

we have assumed that the Parent Company Guarantee will be or has been delivered by or on behalf of each of the parties to it;

claims may become time barred or may become subject to defences of set-off or counterclaim notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in the Parent Company Guarantee; and

the failure to exercise a right of action for more than a certain period may operate as a bar to the exercise of such right or may constitute a waiver of such right.

Yours faithfully



[EXECUTION BY PARTNER OR EQUIVALENT SIGNATORY]




Part 3:	Sub-Contractor Collateral Warranty

[bookmark: _Hlk188471691]THIS DEED is made on	20[]

Between:

1. [insert name of the Client] whose registered office is at [] (the Client), which expression shall include its successors in title or assigns; 

[insert name of Sub-Contractor] whose registered office is at [] (the Sub-Contractor);

[insert name of Consultant] whose registered office is at [] (the Consultant).

Recitals

1. The Client has engaged the Consultant to provide professional owner's engineer services in relation to the design, engineering, manufacture, supply, installation, construction, completion and commissioning of a small modular nuclear reactor power plant and the ancillary facilities upon which it is dependent at [] (the Project).

The Sub-Contractor has been engaged by the Consultant under an appointment (the Sub-Contract) dated [insert date] to perform certain services (the Sub-Contract Services) in connection with the Project.

Under the Sub-Contract the Sub-Contractor has agreed to give the Client the warranties and rights set out in this deed.

The Consultant is a party to this deed to acknowledge the rights of the Sub-Contractor and the Client should the Client take over the Consultant's position under the Sub-Contract.

THE PARTIES AGREE AS follows:

1. [bookmark: _Ref161917878]The Sub-Contractor warrants that it has complied and will continue to comply with the Sub-Contract.  In the event of any breach of this warranty:

the Sub-Contractor shall be entitled in any action or proceedings by the Client to rely on any term in the Sub-Contract and to raise the equivalent rights in defence of liability (except for any rights of set-off or counterclaim) as it would have if the Client had been named as a joint client with the Consultant under the Sub-Contract and it owed its duties to the Client separately; and

the obligations of the Sub-Contractor under or pursuant to clause ‎1 shall not be released or diminished by the appointment of any person by the Client to carry out any independent enquiry into any relevant matter.

The Sub-Contractor further warrants that it has exercised and will continue to exercise in the performance of the Sub-Contract Services that degree of skill, care, prudence, foresight and operating practice which would reasonably and ordinarily be expected from time to time of a skilled and experienced owner's engineer, engineer or other appropriate consultant (engaged in the same type of undertaking as that of the Sub-Contractor). In the event of breach of this warranty the provisions of clause ‎1 shall apply.

The Client has no authority to issue any direction or instruction to the Sub-Contractor in relation to the Sub-Contract unless and until the Client has given notice under clause ‎5 or clause ‎9.

The Client has no liability to the Sub-Contractor in respect of amounts due under the Sub-Contract unless and until the Client has given notice under clause ‎5 or clause ‎9.

[bookmark: _Ref161917888]The Sub-Contractor agrees that it shall, if so required by notice in writing given by the Client and subject to clause ‎10, accept the instructions of the Client or its appointee to the exclusion of the Consultant in respect of the Sub-Contract Services upon the terms and conditions of the Sub-Contract. The Sub-Contractor shall assume that the Client may give a notice under this clause and shall not enquire whether the Client may give that notice. The Consultant acknowledges that acceptance of the instructions of the Client to the exclusion of the Consultant shall not constitute any breach of the Sub-Contractor's obligations to the Consultant under the Sub-Contract.

The Sub-Contractor shall not exercise any right of termination of its employment under the Sub-Contract without having first:

copied to the Client any written notices required by the Sub-Contract to be sent to the Consultant prior to the Sub-Contractor being entitled to give notice under the Sub-Contract that its employment under the Sub-Contract is terminated; and

[bookmark: _Ref161917922]given to the Client written notice that it has the right under the Sub-Contract forthwith to notify the Consultant that its employment under the Sub-Contract is terminated.

[bookmark: _Ref161917927]The Sub-Contractor shall not treat the Sub-Contract as having been repudiated by the Consultant without having first given to the Client written notice that it intends so to inform the Consultant.

[bookmark: _Ref161917941]The Sub-Contractor shall not:

issue any notification to the Consultant to which clause ‎6(b) refers, or

inform the Consultant that it is treating the Sub-Contract as having been repudiated by the Consultant as referred to in clause ‎7

before the lapse of 14 days from receipt by the Client of the written notice by the SubContractor which the Sub-Contractor is required to give under clause ‎6(b) and clause ‎7.

[bookmark: _Ref161917892]The Client may, not later than the expiry of the 14 days referred to in clause ‎8, require the Sub-Contractor by notice in writing and subject to clause ‎10 to accept the instructions of the Client or its appointee to the exclusion of the Consultant in respect of the Sub-Contract Services upon the terms and conditions of the Sub-Contract. The Consultant acknowledges that the Sub-Contractor shall be entitled to rely on a notice given to the Sub-Contractor by the Client under this clause ‎9 and that acceptance by the Sub-Contractor of the instructions of the Client to the exclusion of the Consultant shall not constitute any breach of the Sub-Contractor's obligations to the Consultant under the Sub-Contract. Provided that, subject to clause ‎10, nothing in this clause ‎9 shall relieve the Sub-Contractor of any liability it may have to the Consultant for any breach by the Sub-Contractor of the Sub-Contract or where the Sub-Contractor has wrongfully served notice under the Sub-Contract that it is entitled to terminate its employment under the Sub-Contract or has wrongfully treated the Sub-Contract as having been repudiated by the Consultant.

[bookmark: _Ref161917912]It shall be a condition of any notice given by the Client under clause ‎5 or clause ‎9 that the Client or its appointee accepts liability for payment of the sums due and payable to the Sub-Contractor under the Sub-Contract and for performance of the Consultant's obligations including payment of any sums outstanding at the date of such notice. Upon the issue of any notice by the Client under clause ‎5 or clause ‎9, the Sub-Contract shall continue in full force and effect as if no right of termination of the Sub-Contractor's employment under the Sub-Contract, nor any right of the Sub-Contractor to treat the Sub-Contract as having been repudiated by the Consultant had arisen and the Sub-Contractor shall be liable to the Client and its appointee under the Sub-Contract in lieu of its liability to the Consultant.  If any notice given by the Client under clause ‎5 or clause ‎9 requires the Sub-Contractor to accept the instructions of the Client's appointee, the Client shall be liable to the Sub-Contractor as guarantor for the payment of all sums from time to time due to the Sub-Contractor from the Client's appointee.

If the employment of the Sub-Contractor under the Sub-Contract is terminated before service of any notice under clause ‎5 or clause ‎9, then if required to do so by notice served by the Client not later than 10 weeks after the date of such termination, the Sub-Contractor shall enter into a new contract with the Client or its appointee for the carrying out and completion of the Sub-Contract Services on the same terms as the Sub-Contract but with such revisions as the Client shall reasonably require to reflect the altered circumstances. Forthwith upon the execution of such new contract, the Client or its appointee shall pay to the Sub-Contractor an amount equal to the sum which, immediately before termination of the Sub-Contractor’s employment, was owing to the Sub-Contractor by the Consultant under the Sub-Contract in respect of the Sub-Contract Services completed but in respect of which payment was not made.

To the extent that the intellectual property rights in any and all Material have not already vested in the Client or the Consultant, the Sub-Contractor grants to the Client an irrevocable, royalty-free, non-exclusive licence to copy and use all existing and future plans, drawings, specifications, schedules, reports, models, calculations, correspondence and other documents (including any computer software developed by the Sub-Contractor and used to generate them and any designs contained in them) (the Material) prepared or provided by or for the Sub-Contractor for or in connection with the Project and to reproduce the designs and content of them for any purpose relating to the Project including, without limitation, the construction, completion, maintenance, letting, sale, promotion, advertisement, reinstatement, refurbishment and repair of the Project. Such licence shall enable the Client to copy and use the Material for the extension of the Project but shall not include a licence to reproduce the designs contained in them for any extension of the Project. The Client shall be permitted to assign the licence and/or grant sub-licences without the consent of the Sub-Contractor.

Where the Sub-Contract requires the Sub-Contractor to take out and maintain professional indemnity insurance, the Sub-Contractor shall, upon request, provide to the Client evidence that the insurance required is being maintained.  If the insurance is no longer generally available at commercially reasonable rates, the Sub-Contractor shall notify the Client immediately and co-operate with the Client and the Consultant in seeking means by which the Sub-Contractor can be protected against professional liability claims arising out the Sub-Contract Services.

Any notice to be given by one party to another pursuant to this deed shall be duly given if delivered by hand or sent by prepaid first-class post or by Recorded Signed for or Special Delivery post (or the equivalent forms of post current at the date of the notice) to the recipient at such address as it may from time to time notify to the sender or (if no such address is then current) its last known principal business address or (where a body corporate) its registered or principal office.  Where sent by post in that manner, it shall, subject to proof to the contrary, be deemed to have been received on the second Business Day after the date of posting. 

Notwithstanding the rights contained in this deed the Sub-Contractor shall have no liability to the Client for delay under the Sub-Contract unless and until the Client serves notice pursuant to clause ‎5 or clause ‎9.  For the avoidance of doubt, the Sub-Contractor shall not be required to pay liquidated damages in respect of the period of delay where the same has been paid to or deducted by the Consultant.

The Sub-Contractor hereby warrants to the Client that: 

except as provided under deeds of warranty required pursuant to the Sub-Contract, it shall not without the prior written approval of the Client, at any time for any reason disclose to any person or publish or make any statement concerning the Sub-Contract, this deed or the Project to which the Sub-Contract Services relate.

it shall treat all information obtained under, arising from or in connection with the Sub-Contract, this deed and the Project as confidential, and that other than for the purpose of providing the Sub-Contract Services, it shall not disclose any information or documents concerning the Sub-Contract to any other person; and 

it shall not, without the prior written consent of the Client, disclose any information obtained by it concerning the Client or the Project to any other person. The Client may require as a precondition to the granting of such consent that any such third party provides a confidentiality undertaking in terms satisfactory to the Client. 

Clause 16 does not apply to the disclosure of any information: 

which is already in the public domain at the time of its disclosure other than by breach of these provisions; 

disclosed by the Sub-Contractor to its professional advisers provided that such recipients agree in writing to be bound by the terms of these confidentiality provision; and 

which is required to be disclosed by any applicable law or statutory requirement, the regulations of any stock exchange, any taxation authorities or by an order of a court or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction or any relevant regulatory body. 

This deed shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of England and the English courts shall have jurisdiction over any dispute or difference between the Sub-Contractor and the Client that arises out of or in connection with this deed.

[bookmark: _Toc66898329]IN WITNESS whereof this deed has been executed on the date first above written.

[bookmark: bmkFParts]
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Great British Nuclear Procurement for Owner’s Engineer Interim Statement of Requirements

1. Introduction

1.1. Context

Great British Nuclear (GBN) intends to contract an Owner’s Engineer (OE) as part of GBN’s Small Modular Reactor (SMR) programme. The OE will provide essential independent assurance to GBN’s Intelligent Customer and Intelligent Client capability, supporting the deployment of first-of-a-kind (FOAK) nuclear technology in the UK and facilitating GBN’s goal to reach a Final Investment Decision (FID) for up to two SMR projects.

GBN is intending to establish an independent project development company (the ‘DevCo’) to be solely responsible for the successful delivery of an SMR Project (and hold all necessary licences and consents to do so). DevCo (hereafter referred to as the “Client”) will work alongside a contracted Delivery Partner (DP) for delivery support, procurement, integration, and delivery assurance, and an Owner’s Engineer organisation (hereafter referred to as the “Consultant”). The OE will provide subject matter expertise in technical and programmatic assurance within the Client’s Lines of assurance model at level 2 and specification, oversight, audit, review and advice of specific task deliverables.

Prior to the Client being established the SMR Project and associated site activities will be managed by a GBN client team, established within GBN, supported by the supply chain as necessary. The combination of GBN client capability and supply chain support will form an Integrated Project Team (IPT).

To maintain pace with the target of achieving up to two FIDs, it is necessary to develop this initial foundation capability within GBN ahead of the Client; this capability is designed to enable the SMR project(s) to mobilise and successfully deliver the activities required to progress the SMR project(s) to concept design.

A Client/Consultant Owners Engineer framework seeks to enable the Client’s ability to access expert supply chain resources as well as allowing increased flexibility and efficiency in accessing the full range of technical services the supply chain has to offer; the role of the Consultant OE within the Client is specified in the Target Operating Model (TOM).

The following specification of requirements identifies the role & responsibilities of the Consultant function, and the required capabilities and delivery approach.  

This GBN OE interim Statement of Requirements (SoR) has been produced to support the Procurement Specific Questionnaire (PSQ) stage such that potential bidders can understand whether they would wish to participate. Further definition of GBN’s OE expectations will be provided in the final Statement of Requirements, which will form part of the subsequent GBN OE final Invitation To Tender (ITT).





1.2. Project Delivery

A TOM has been established to support SMR Project delivery within GBN (Figure 1), which GBN will confirm in the Final Statement of Requirements. This near-term delivery model consists of an IPT providing Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client, Assurance, Delivery Management and Integration functions, with project delivery activities carried out by the SMR Technology Partner (TP) and a range of other delivery suppliers. Additional governance and assurance are provided by the wider GBN organisation (external to the SMR IPT).

It is anticipated that the Consultant contract would be awarded prior to the award of the TP contract, to allow for a period for integration and development of ways of working.  This means that the ‘Consultant’ awarded the Consultant contract would be part of a newly established IPT.

[image: ]

Figure 1: SMR Project Target Operating Model

2. Client Strategic Consultant requirements

The Consultants key specification, oversight, audit, review and advice role is to support the Client whilst ensuring that:

a. The Consultant will not make or approve any alterations to or omissions from the approved design or specification of any work, materials and/or goods, or the quality or quantity thereof, comprised in the Project without first obtaining the Client's prior written approval.

b. The Clients Responsible Designers [e.g. SMR Technology Partner] and other contractor deliverables are robust through effective technical review, project management, commercial support, review, representing the Client, where delegated, and deemed appropriate by the Client, supporting negotiations, audit, procurement activities and independent evaluation.

c. The Client has established a Design Authority (DA) strategy that will delegate DA roles and responsibilities to competent organisations through a design delegation system.  This will ensure that Design Intent is maintained through a ‘Manage the Design Lifecycle’ process; it is anticipated that the Owner's Engineer will embed with the Client and hold a number of delegated DA roles throughout the design and construction phases of the project.

To underpin this role, the Client requires a Consultant who is committed and aligned to not only the success of the delivery phase of the programme, but to the long term safe, secure and reliable SMR Nuclear Power Plant operations at the Clients chosen site(s).

Example elements could include:  

a. As the Intelligent Customer and Intelligent Client for the SMR design, The Client, will need to develop and maintain the capability to assess and accept the SMR design using assessment criteria produced in line with UK regulatory expectations and relevant codes and standards.  It is anticipated that this formal approval of the design reference will be performed with the Consultant providing specification, oversight, audit, review and advice as appropriate to the Client.  

b. Initial Production of the functional specification and responsibility for setting the associated project master schedule demand requirements providing the Consultant with a clear basis for assessment and on-going maturity.  

c. Development/appointment of a Principal Designer and Principal Consultant under Construction, Design and Management (CDM) regulations with the Consultant assisting with competency assessment and supporting other Client duties such as preparing the Client Brief, reviewing the Principal Designer’s Health and Safety Plan and the Principal Consultant’s Construction Phase Plan.  

d. Formal Approval of Consultants terms of engagement and scope to be developed in a collaborative manner with the Consultant, whilst The Client retains the organisational Controlling Mind.  

e. Management of regulatory interfaces and interaction with extended ‘technical support contractor’ input from the Consultant.  

f. Internal Stakeholder management to facilitate smooth delivery of the Consultant capability.



3. Client to Consultant Integrated Governance and Alignment of Goals

The Client and Consultant will consider the following:

a. Alignment between the Client/Consultants vision, focus areas and respective organisations.

b. How executive oversight, governance and sponsorship of the relationship will be considered and managed.

c. How the overall health of the Project quality, programme or efficiency of the service and/or the Project will be reviewed and could be improved.

d. How management overview and direction for the development of the relationship will be performed, focussing on optimising outcomes and driving value, security of skills and efficiency of delivery.

e. How delivery risks, for the work set out in the service plan/task specifications, are identified, controlled and mitigated.

f. How the impact/interface with wider Client and Consultant strategic arrangements and business goals (risks and opportunities) will be reviewed and managed.

g. How strategic and management information, operational performance data and governance issues plus any relevant themes, will be utilised.

h. Review and agree the Service Plan (including review of the extant incentive proposals and outcomes).

GBN is developing a Project Delivery Plan (PDP) to briefly describe / signpost to material which covers how the Client intends to deliver the SMR Project(s).  The flow down (or cascade) of these PDP requirements between the Client and Consultant, including the associated communication between parties required to understand these requirements, will be captured in an OE project execution document. This document will be authored by the Consultant for Client review, comment and approval. This document will be produced to a format and content agreed with the Client, recording the organisational objectives, whilst clearly articulating the control of interfaces between all parties. These include but are not limited to:  

a. Collaboration – a long-term enduring partnership with client and supply chain delivered through relevant good practice, e.g. ISO44001 processes to be considered.  

b. 	Joint management, with clarity of Roles, Responsibilities, Authorities, and Accountabilities (R2A2), to ensure well governed delivery from the Consultant to the Client IPT and incentivised through the right Key Performance Indicators (KPI).  

c. 	Robust and efficient mobilisation of a team of experienced cross-discipline managers and delivery leads focused on reducing the risks for IPT start-up activities deployed from the Consultant.  

d. 	Joint organisation planning: the Client and the Consultant will review monthly (skills, numbers and organisation design) to update forecasts.  

e. 	Provision of suitably qualified and competent Consultant professionals to meet project requirements (e.g. schedule) with potential access to flexible Consultant resources through an extended supply chain to meet the challenges of scarce skills ready to receive the potentially significant volume of technical deliverables.  

f. 	Ensuring the Consultant drives their support in recognition of a clear Delegation of Responsibility by the Client Controlling Mind.  

g. 	Ensuring the Client Intelligent Customer and Intelligent Client have the ability to seek Consultant support through a graded approach technically delivered through a blended competence approach to drive increased delivery value.  

h. 	The Consultant will provide support to the delivery of Client scope, representing the Client, where delegated, and deemed appropriate by the Client.  

i. 	Interfaces and Relationships will be formalised through a project execution document to ensure that the correct lines of communication and touch points are known and utilised.  

j. 	The Consultant will assign a core team (including a primary single point of contact) who will be accountable for performance, and a further resource to support programming and project controls, along with other key function leads as required as strategic relationship partners to offload challenging problems.   

k. 	Delivery of cross project co-ordinated support on key UK Context challenge areas such as Equipment Qualification and Construction Design Management (CDM) 2015 delivery.  

l. 	The Consultant will work within robust management processes, as reviewed and agreed with the Client, to undertake document review and approval and ensure UK regulatory confidence in the Client/Consultant delivery model.  

The Consultant and its supply chain will assess the feasibility of providing a balance of co-location with The Client, TP, other Responsible Designers, DP and any other key suppliers with reach back to extended resource base, including extended light water reactor systems engineering, whilst ensuring conflicts of interest are managed. 



4. Scope of Requirements

The Consultant acts as a ‘client friend’ to the Client Intelligent Customer and Intelligent Client, providing specification, oversight, audit, review and advice supporting for decisions relating to design, scope, budget, risk, delivery, and contract compliance.  It also plays the role of subject matter experts to deliver independent technical and delivery lines of assurance on major design and build contracts. 

This Statement of Requirements identifies the Clients requirements and objectives, which may be modified, updated or replaced from time to time by the Client. The SoR is for the provision of a fully Independent Owners Engineering agreement to provide suitably qualified and competent capability and capacity across a broad range of nuclear and non-nuclear technical and programme areas providing specification, oversight, audit, review and advice, including:​

a. Support with independent assurance for project deliverables, e.g. reports, in-person attendance at key reviews/workshops, and assurance of supply chain processes/ delivery, etc. 

b. Support with assurance of change controls, from a technical feasibility perspective and the associated schedule and cost impact of the proposed technical change. 

c. Support with assuring information it is providing to be used in delivery of the project, and 

d. [bookmark: _Hlk199513331]Support with specification, oversight, audit, review and advisory capability to support the Client with delivering the project – e.g. support to the Client with deliverables. This may include provision of resource to augment the Clients team and delivery of technical tasks by having access to industry suitably qualified and competent professionals, including light water reactor technology subject matter expertise. 

e. During the Concept Design phase of the project, ahead of the appointment of a Delivery Partner, the Client will hold responsibility for Technical Integration of the design (both Technology Partner (TP) and Foundation Engineering (FEng) design work).  The Consultant will support the Client in discharging this responsibility by advising on the exchange of required design data, inputs and outputs between TP and FEng scope. This support will be provided either as embedded personnel or on a tasking basis.

The Consultant will support decision making relating to scope, budget, risk, delivery and contract compliance, whilst providing subject matter expertise to provide independent specification, oversight, audit, review and advice. The Consultants role includes, but is not limited to the following:

f. Providing assurance and support (e.g. specification, oversight, audit, review and advice) for the SMR regulatory assessment, legal, licensing, permitting and planning/consenting, project delivery requirements

g. Being the Clients Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client’s independent expertise provider, jointly with the Consultant, developed in a collaborative manner whilst the Client retains the Controlling Mind

h. Support requirements elicitation, specification, acceptance and Verification & Validation (V&V)

i. Develop training programmes for Client and Consultant personnel. Learning from Experience: inputting relevant good practice know-how, data, and technology from this and other relevant high hazard projects.  Jointly developing a “living repository” that will be maintained in order to support future GBN activities.



5. Example Outline Scope of Owner’s Engineer Tasks

a. Design Assurance:

· Review of the Clients Task Information Delivery Plan (TIDP) and Master Information Delivery Plan (MIDP) and identification of deliverables to be submitted for review / assurance on behalf of the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client. 

· Review of project deliverables on behalf of the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client, including but not limited to: 

· Assurance of changes/deviations to design submissions and audit reports. 

· Assurance of compliance with the Client’s Requirements and Consultant’s Proposal. 

· Assurance of compliance with planning/consenting conditions. 

· Assurance of compliance with additional requirements, as applicable. 

· Attendance at key design and safety reviews / milestones, including: 

· Royal Institute of British Architects adapted Life Cycle Management (LCM) approach, including Project gated reviews 

· Constructability reviews 

· Licensee hold point reviews

· Hazard and Operability (HAZOP) reviews 

· Control of Major Accident Hazards (COMAH) reviews 

· Construction Design and Management (CDM 2015) reviews. 

· Support to the management of Project requirements, including technical advice on any changes to these requirements throughout delivery. 

· Review and technical support to the production of contracts / technical specifications / performance requirements for Owner’s Scope work packages. 

b. Construction and Commissioning Assurance 

· Assurance on construction and commissioning activities to ensure compliance with all relevant requirements. 

· Review of Inspection and Test Plans (ITPs) (or equivalent) covering manufacturing, assembly, construction activities and identification of key witness and hold points. 

· Attendance at manufacturing and assembly witness and hold points, e.g. Factory Inspection Testing/Factory Acceptance Testing. 

· Attendance at site to monitor and review construction and commissioning progress, including attendance at key activities and milestones during construction and commissioning (including work package handovers). 

· Review of key construction and commissioning documentation (records, certificates, quality assurance documentation etc.). 

· Review of relevant takeover documentation and assurance that this documentation meets all client, end user, and external stakeholder requirements. 

c. Delivery Assurance 

· Assurance of delivery compliance with Project requirements, including schedule, quality arrangements, regulatory expectations, etc. 

· Review and support to the production of contracts / specifications / performance requirements for Owner’s Scope packages. 

· Review of weekly/monthly progress reporting from the Clients contract partners. 

· Assurance of integrated project estimates of time, cost, and risk. 

· Review and support with the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client’s strategic risk identification and mitigation planning. 

d. Additional Resource Support 

· Provision of ad-hoc technical and delivery support resources for unplanned emergent work as needed by the Client to support / supplement the programme delivery teams at various times during the delivery of the project. This may include: 

· Client’s HSSEQ representatives. 

· Provision of specialist technical expertise to supplement the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client’s own internal engineering teams, as necessary. 

· Support to permitting and consenting applications (including grid connection application) and assisting (if required) with public consultations and attending meetings / town halls on behalf of GBN. 

· Assist (if required) with the facilitation and moderation of discussions with the public and third parties aimed at resolving issues of a technical nature. 

· Stakeholder engagement support, including but not limited to review and assurance of presentation material or supporting information. 

· Review and assure any Consultant proposals on behalf of the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client, including any suggestions for improvements to technical requirements to help GBN assess whether they should be integrated or not. 

· Cost and time estimation support. 

· Assistance in the preparation of any technical documentation required for the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client to demonstrate their position if requested by external stakeholders. 



6. Consultant OE Capability Requirements

6.1. Consultant Organisational Capability

The IPT organisation is still developing, but the Client, in conjunction with the Consultant and other contract partners is expected to establish a sound organisational capability. This requires the following Consultant capability in support of the Client, including but not limited to: 

a. Previous experience and current nuclear industry new build knowledge or equivalent high hazard industry experience. 

b. Experience working within the UK nuclear regulatory framework. 

c. Expertise in provision of technical assurance advice, along with specification, oversight, audit and review for nuclear and/or major infrastructure programmes. 

d. Previous experience in conducting lines of assurance level 2 activities embedded within a client organisation will be advantageous. 

6.2. Consultant Personnel Capability 

a. The Consultants personnel will require the capabilities outlined in Annex A.

b. The Consultant must be able to implement both a dedicated Consultant function to provide consistent interpretation and approach to assurance activities, whilst also demonstrating sufficient flexible reach-back that will add expertise in a wide range of areas as required. 

c. The Consultant should identify how they will provide a dedicated Consultant function to the project (i.e. an embedded Core Team) that is able to: 

i. Manage the service plan of Consultant activities (including collaboration with the Intelligent Customer/Intelligent Client on identification of ‘drumbeat’ activities and response to short notice and unplanned emergent activities). 

ii. In collaboration with the Client, estimate the scope for task sheets required to conduct Consultant activities. 

iii. Maintain the Consultant capability/resource database, including personnel training/experience/competence and managing conflicts of interest.

iv. Provide ad-hoc technical and delivery support resources for unplanned emergent work as needed by the Client. 

The Consultant should identify the size of this Core Team and propose named individuals for these roles.  These individuals should be experienced in providing specification, oversight, audit, review and advice for major infrastructure project delivery with excellent leadership skills and are confident working across multiple disciplines, including engagement with legal, finance and commercial workstreams. 

The Consultants Core Team will co-ordinate and oversee requirements for tasks and Subject Matter Experts (SMEs) from within the Consultant’s organisation or subcontracts.  Whilst the Core Team is expected to provide a consistent level of support to GBN throughout the length of the contract, the use of reach-back capability from SMEs will flex in line with the activities being undertaken at different stages. 



7. General Arrangements

a. To sentence the service plan, the Client shall issue Task Orders to the Consultant. For the avoidance of doubt, the Client is not obliged by virtue of entering into this Agreement to instruct the Consultant to perform any Services under this Agreement other than those specified in an approved task order. 

b. The Client shall establish and implement a common task specification system in conjunction with the Consultant for all phases of the agreement scope of activities. This is expected to include, but is not limited to the following:

i. Specification of a scope of services to be performed and the pricing basis for those services

ii. Identification of key roles to be performed by the Consultant's personnel in respect of such services

iii. the required Deliverables and any associated Information to be relied upon, e.g. Documents for Review, Risk assessment, and Responsibilities together with any nuclear safety implications in respect of the relevant scope of services.

c. Following completion of each task, the Client’s responsible engineer or nominee and the Consultants task lead will perform a post job debrief process (to be jointly agreed). As part of this process, the Consultant will produce a task performance assessment scoring and the Client will produce its associated scoring, using the same metrics. These assessments will review performance during the task against relevant criteria, including but not limited to safety, delivery, quality, reporting, etc.



8. Health and Safety

a. The Consultant shall, in respect of all occupational health and safety matters associated with the Services, at all times comply with:

i. all Applicable Requirements (to be confirmed in the Contract or updated SoR) and

ii. the requirements of ISO 45001 Occupational Health and Safety Management System expectations or equivalent issued by a mutually recognised body.

b. Guidance can be found here:

i. https://ssip.org.uk/

ii. https://www.bsigroup.com/en-GB/Occupational-Health-and-Safety-ISO-45001/



9. Environmental

a. The Consultant shall, in respect of all environmental matters associated with the Services, at all times comply with:

i. all Applicable Requirements (to be confirmed in the Contract or updated SoR) and

ii. the requirements of ISO 14001 Environmental Management Systems or equivalent issued by a mutually recognised body.

b. Guidance can be found here:

i. https://learn.supplychainschool.co.uk/local/tlactionplans/resource_intro.php?id=1082&modtype=resource



10. Quality Management Systems

a. The Consultant shall apply a quality management system consistent with ISO 9001, and other applicable Client requirements (to be confirmed in the Contract or updated SoR).

b. The Consultant warrants and undertakes to the Client that the Deliverables, and any other deliverables required as part of the Services, shall:

i. conform in all material respects with ISO 9001 standards or be in such other form as the Client may from time to time reasonably specify; and

ii. be in a concise and logical format so as to be understandable to lay readers and (where appropriate) contain clear recommendations, and

iii. the Client reserves the right to audit the Consultant against the Quality Management System and in the event that any audit by the Client demonstrates, in the Client's opinion, that the standard of any Deliverable, or any other deliverable required as part of the Services, is below the ISO 9001 standards the Consultant shall promptly rectify such deficiencies at its sole expense.



11. Quality Plans

a. Where required by the Client’s Quality Assurance Plan, the Consultant shall provide Quality Plans that take due account of the guidance provided in ISO 10005 Quality Management - Guidelines for quality plans. The level of quality control or quality assurance required through these Quality Plans shall take into consideration the quality grade of the associated item, deliverable, or activity.

b. Where activities are subcontracted, the Consultant shall ensure that the sub-consultant or subcontractor provides a Quality Plan which shall link to activities on the Consultant’s Quality Plan, in order to ensure adequate control of quality activities throughout the supply chain.

c. The Consultant shall produce Quality Plans that identify all quality related activities that will be performed within the scope of that Quality Plan. This shall include all functions and features of the deliverable or item that require verification, and the methods by which this will be performed.

12. Information Security

a. The Consultant shall manage the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of project information in accordance with the standards and requirements of the Client, including the management of information marked as Sensitive Nuclear Information (SNI) as defined in the Anti-Terrorism, Crime and Security Act 2001, The Energy Act (TEA) 2013 and nuclear security act under The Nuclear Industries Security Regulation (NISR) (2003).

b. The Consultant shall ensure and shall require that its subconsultant or subcontractors ensure that appropriate security measures are put in place for the control, creation, marking, transmission, storage of, and access to, SNI which is within the Consultant's or its ‘subconsultant or subcontractors' control or possession, such measures to be agreed with the Client, and to include:

i. SNI shall only be stored by the Consultant or its subconsultant or subcontractor at such locations as may be required by or agreed with ONR and/or the Client;

ii. the Consultant shall and shall require that its subconsultant or subcontractors shall mark SNI in accordance with the Government's classification scheme, as interpreted by the Client in accordance with the Client's information marking and handling procedure;

iii. the Consultant shall comply with the requirements of any security aspects letter issued by the Client to the Consultant and the Client's security policy for subconsultant or subcontractors; and

iv. access to SNI shall be on a strict "need to know basis" and only by those with appropriate security clearances (in accordance with the instructions of the Client).

c. 	The Consultant will comply with any policies procedures and instructions issued by the Client in respect of Controlled Information.



13. Export Control Information and Other Compliance Requirements 

Export Control Information and Other Compliance Requirements 

a. The Consultant shall apply Export Control Information (ECI) management arrangements in compliance with the Client and UK (and US if applicable) Government requirements:

i. https://www.gov.uk/guidance/uk-strategic-export-controls

ii. https://www.energy.gov/nnsa/10-cfr-part-810#:~:text=The%20regulation%20has%20been%20modernized,transfers%20to%20foreign%20nationals%20working

b. Controlled Information definition: any information which is or may be subject to export controls or similar restrictions imposed on design, technology or products by any country or organisation, including the UK.

c. Each party must not and shall require that its subconsultant or subcontractors shall not import, export, re-export or transfer, directly or indirectly, any Controlled Information contrary to the controls or restrictions to which such Controlled Information is subject nor undertake or fail to perform any act which would cause a breach of such controls or restrictions and will ensure that appropriate measures for marking and handling Controlled Information are established and maintained.

d. The Consultant shall be responsible for the procurement and maintenance of all necessary export and import licenses required by it for the performance of the Services and shall take all necessary measures to satisfy export and import controls concerning Controlled Information. The Client shall provide all reasonable support to the Consultant in connection with the Consultant's obligations under this Clause.

e. The Consultant will demonstrate and justify how these ECI arrangements are flowed down and evidenced through a formal mechanism to demonstrate compliance of all ECI arrangements in the Consultant and throughout its supply chain.  

f. the Client reserves the right to audit the Consultant against the ECI System and in the event that any audit by the Client demonstrates, in the Client's opinion, that the standard of any Deliverable, or any other deliverable required as part of the Services, is below the Client or Government requirements, including marking, handling and storing, the Consultant shall promptly rectify such deficiencies at its sole expense and support the Client 

g. Sanctions: Each party shall comply, and the Consultant shall require that its subconsultant or subcontractors comply, with all applicable Laws, Government Approvals and similar restrictions in force from time to time relating to sanctions, including those of the United Kingdom, the United Nations, and the United States where applicable.

h. Re-export of Information: Each party represents and warrants that it shall not use any Services or any work product relating thereto or any items manufactured or developed as a result of the Services or work product (each of the foregoing referred to as the "Covered Materials") for the purposes of disturbing international peace and security, including (i) the design, development, production, stockpiling, or any use of weapons of mass destruction such as nuclear, chemical or biological weapons or missiles, (ii) the other military activities, or (iii) any use supporting these activities.

i. Both parties also represent and warrant that they shall not sell, export, dispose of, license, rent, transfer, disclose, or otherwise provide any of the Covered Materials to any third party whether directly or indirectly with knowledge or reason to know that such third party or any other party will engage in the activities described in Section 13h above

j. Both parties shall obtain these same representations and warranties from any third party to whom it sells, exports, disposes of, licenses, rents, transfers, discloses or otherwise provides any of the Covered Materials.



14. Planning 

a. Service Plan requirements, including:

i. Long term training and development

ii. Overall capability of the Consultant to meet the Clients scheduled and emergent (ad-hoc) tasks

iii.  Client roles and responsibilities for intelligent customer/intelligent client technical review of the Consultants deliverables 



15. [bookmark: _Hlk199511464]Verification of Work

a. The ONR Safety Assessment Principles describe Verification as “The process of confirming, e.g. by use of objective evidence, that an activity was carried out as intended, specified or stated.”

b. The Consultants verification plan shall detail the scope and extent of the verification required per task (based on the QA grade for the work), in accordance with the Client agreed verification procedure.

16. Continuous Improvement

The Consultant, as part of continuous improvement, will:

a. Develop a plan, in support of the service plan, linked to the agreed KPI’s for continual improvement, to be endorsed by the Client.

b. Utilise the task performance assessment scoring, as agreed with the Client, to provide lessons learned and associated areas/topics for improvement.

17. Performance Review

The Consultant's Representative shall meet on a nominal monthly basis (or at such other intervals as agreed with the Client, acting reasonably, may notify to the Consultant) and be accessible to the Client’s representatives to discuss the progress of the Services.

18. Documents Review

a. The Consultant shall provide to the Task Order Project Manager the Documents for Review at the times stipulated in the relevant Task Order(s). If no times are stipulated, such Documents for Review shall be provided in sufficient time for the Client to review and comment upon them and for the Consultant to be able to act upon such comments in accordance with the Programme.

b. Where the Consultant proposes to depart from any of the Documents for Review previously submitted for the Client's review, it shall submit an explanation setting out details of such departure for the Client's review.

c. The Client is not bound to review or comment on any Documents for Review submitted for its review. The Client shall make any comments on Documents for Review properly referred to it in accordance within a reasonable time having regard to the requirements of the Programme. 

d. No examination or lack of examination nor any comments, approval or disapproval by the Client in relation to any Document for Review shall relieve the Consultant of any of its obligations, risks or liabilities under the contract.



Bidders should note that this GBN OE interim Statement of Requirements has been produced to support the Procurement Specific Questionnaire stage of the Competition to provide sufficient detail to allow potential bidders to understand whether they would wish to participate.  GBN may further refine its requirements and expectations prior to the Invitation to Tender (ITT) stage of the competition, including, but not limited to the following areas:  audits, obligations of the Client, the Consultant's demonstration of personnel competency, copyright, competition, suspension of services, sub-contracting, confidentiality and publicity and the management of individual employees  conflicts of interest insofar as they may be working across multiple projects and multiple employers.  These will be set out in final form in the final Statement of Requirements, which will be issued as part of the Invitation to Tender (ITT). 


19. Terms and Acronyms

		Acronym/Term

		Meaning



		Controlling Mind

		The licensee retains primary responsibility for safety. The Safety Management Prospectus should confirm the licensee as the ‘body corporate’ and ‘controlling mind’. It should be clear that there will not be undue interference from parent body organisations and their owners, and that adequate financial resources will be made available to allow the licensee organisation to meet its statutory obligations.



		CDM

		Construction, Design and Management



		COMAH

		Control of Major Accident Hazards 



		ECI

		Export Control Information 



		FEng

		Foundation Engineering



		FID

		Final Investment Decision



		FOAK

		First Of A Kind



		GBN

		Great British Nuclear



		HAZOP

		Hazard and Operability 



		IPT

		Integrated Project Team



		ITPs

		Inspection and Test Plans



		ITT

		Invitation To Tender



		KPI

		Key Performance Indicator



		LCM

		Life Cycle Management 



		MIDP

		Master Information Delivery Plan 



		NISR

		Nuclear Industries Security Regulation



		OE

		Owner's Engineer



		ONR

		Office for Nuclear Regulations



		PDP

		Project Delivery Plan



		PSA

		Probabilistic Safety Analysis 



		PSQ

		Procurement Specific Questionnaire



		SAA

		Severe Accident Analysis 



		SMR

		Small Modular Reactor



		SNI

		Sensitive Nuclear Information 



		SoR

		Statement of Requirements



		TEA

		The Energy Act 



		TIDP

		Task Information Delivery Plan 



		TOM

		Target Operating Model



		TP

		Technology Partner










20. Annex A – Roles, Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Authorities

1. The Consultant shall ensure that all personnel and any sub-contractors or sub-consultants appointed by the Consultant in accordance with this Agreement (at whatever level in the supply chain) are and shall remain for the duration of their involvement in the Project:

a. registered and accredited in accordance with the Applicable Requirements;

b. suitably qualified and competent for the role they are to perform; 

c. and familiar with any nuclear safety implications of their work

and shall, every six months or, if earlier, on such occasion when there is a change in the Consultant's personnel providing the Services, provide the Client with an up to date suitably qualified and competent professional record (expected to include role descriptions, accreditation, maintenance & storage of records, periodic review requirements, resource resilience assessment, skills development [gaps-risks and associated mentoring/supervision requirements], etc.).

2. The Consultant shall appoint the person(s) named as such in the Core team as the Consultant's Representative to direct and control the day-to-day performance by the Consultant of the Services. Such person(s), or any replacement approved from time to time by the Client, shall have full authority to act on behalf of the Consultant for all purposes in connection with this Agreement and (unless the Client agrees otherwise) shall represent the Consultant at each and every meeting in relation to the Project.



3. The Consultant shall ensure that, so long as the Project remains uncompleted, the Consultant's Representative and each Key Personnel member shall:

a. devote to the Project an amount of their time and attention that is deemed sufficient by the Client (acting reasonably);

b. not be assigned to any other project on a continuing basis without the prior written consent of the Client; and

c. at all times be accessible to the Client, the Agreement Manager, the Commercial Lead and the relevant Task Order leads (as appropriate) and available to attend meetings relating to the Project.

Nothing in this Clause Annex A, Section 3 shall prevent the Consultant's Representative carrying out their normal duties as an employee of the Consultant in respect of the Consultant's business, provided that the requirements of the Client in respect of the Project shall always be given priority over any other activities of the Consultant's Representative.

4. Technical Capabilities

The following technical skills and services will be required to deliver Consultant activities, including support to the Client regulatory licensing and consenting tasks:

1. Core Design Authority

2. Safety Case

3. BAT Case

4. Chemistry 

5. Civil Engineering 

6. Commissioning 

7. Control & Instrumentation 

8. Construction, incl. CDM

9. Conventional Waste 

10. Criticality 

11. Cyber Security (incl. Security by design) 

12. Decommissioning 

13. Electrical Engineering 

14. Environmental Protection 

15. Engineering Management 

16. Equipment Qualification

17. Emergency Planning & Response 

18. External Hazards 

19. Fault Studies

20. Fuel & Core Design

21. Human Factors

22. Internal Hazards

23. Leadership and Management for Safety, Supply Chain and Quality 

24. Mechanical Engineering

25. Protective Security (incl. Security by design) 

26. Probabilistic Safety Analysis (PSA) 

27. Radiological Protection

28. Radioactive Waste Management 

29. Reactor Core Physics

30. Requirements Management

31. Safeguards (incl. Safeguards by design)

32. Safety Case Analysis and Techniques (incl. Safety by design) 

33. Severe Accident Analysis (SAA)

34. Structural Integrity 

35. System Engineering 

36. Training and Operations



5. Programme Delivery Capabilities 

The following programme skills and services will be required to deliver OE activities: 

37. Planning and Scheduling 

38. Cost Estimating and Cost Management 

39. Risk Management 

40. Scope Management 

41. Change Management 

42. NEC Contracts 
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